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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear distinguished shareholders,

First of all, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all of you
for trusting and supporting Biocytogen. | am delighted to announce
on behalf of the Board the Company’s first annual report for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

In 2022, Biocytogen reaped inspiring results bucking multiple
challenges in the external environment. We saw a hike in operating
revenue, a continuous stream of technological innovations and
accelerating global cooperation, and secured listing on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in September. In the annual
report, we are very pleased to share with you Biocytogen’s results for
2022 and the outlook for 2023.

VIGOROUS PUSH FOR OVERSEAS MARKETS,
WITH PRE-CLINICAL BUSINESS BURGEONING

Our overseas business burgeoned in 2022, thanks to our solid
underlying technology and pre-clinical products and services that
persistently contribute to R&D in global pharmaceutical companies.
Original gene editing technology and high-efficiency teams enable
us to develop hundreds of distinctive and innovative animal and
cell models every year. We never stop looking for new clients,
tapping into new regions and expanding overseas markets for
pre-clinical research. By the end of 2022, we had cumulatively
developed more than 2,800 models to provide important tools for
scientific research and drug evaluation, and offered more than 2,000
pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy evaluation services to over
400 clients globally. We have faith that the business segment will stay
fast-growing.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Chairman’s Statement

PURSUE TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATIONS,
WITH PROJECT INTEGRUM GOING SMOOTHLY

In 2022, our RenMice platform for generating fully human antibodies
embraced a new member, namely the mouse RenNano, which
will broaden our R&D to fully human monoclonal antibodies and
nanobodies. On the back of the proprietary SUPCE technology for
large segment gene editing, we have set up a raft of platforms for
fully human antibodies including RenMab, RenLite, RenNano and
TCRm, which can enormously underpin R&D of drug forms of many
sorts such as monoclonal antibodies, bispecific antibodies, polyclonal
antibodies, bispecific antibody ADC, TCRm antibodies, cell therapy
and nanoantibody, etc.

Dependent on the RenMice platform, Project Integrum is making
steady progress. The Company expects to get the bulk of the project
done by the third quarter of 2023, and to generate 400,000-500,000
fully human antibody sequences for more than 1,000 innovative
targets, which can cater to the antibody development needs of
pharmaceutical companies of all kinds.
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SEEK BUSINESS COOPERATION, WITH
DIVERSIFIED BUSINESS MODELS ADVANCING
GLOBALIZATION

We have been upholding diversified and flexible business models
and made a major breakthrough in 2022. Pre-clinical products
and services business sustained a steady growth, laying a sound
foundation for corporate development; antibody development
business led to ample potential of growth for our revenue and
long-term prospects, including licensing of technological platforms,
co-development/out-licensing/transfer development of antibody
molecules, as well as cooperation in/transfer of clinical pipeline
products.

It is noteworthy that we have out-licensed our RenMice platform to
well-known pharmaceutical companies such as Merck KGaA, Beigene
and Janseen under Johnson & Johnson for antibody development.
The recognition from these multinationals has highlighted Biocytogen’s
outstanding strength in innovation. In respect of antibody molecules,
we have entered into out-licensing/co-development agreements with
pharmaceutical companies at home and abroad including Merck
KGaA, ADC Therapeutics, Nanjing Chia-Tai Tianging Pharmaceutical
Company and Hansoh Pharma, aimed at complementing each other’s
advantages and improving resource utilization.

In 2022, our Company adjusted the priority level of drug pipeline
development, put in place 11 well-selected antibody drug product
pipelines including fully human monoclonal antibodies, bispecific
antibodies and bispecific antibody ADC, made the strategic decision
to seek co-development or transfer development in pipeline products
with our partners, and drew support from worldwide pharmaceutical
industry players to accelerate globally the phase Il/lll clinical R&D
and commercialization of all our antibody drug pipelines. Among
our six clinical-stage drug candidates, four of them have reached
out-licensing or transfer deals with the US-based Tracon and
Syncromune, and made progress in R&D. Here are some examples.
YHO05 ADC (also known as RC118), which we out-licensed to
RemeGen, has been granted two orphan drug designations by the
U.S. FDA and is currently going smoothly in clinical research; the
YHO008 fully human dual antibody, independently developed by us,
has been approved by both the FDA and the NMPA for clinical trials,
and we have entered into an exclusive out-licensing agreement for
YHOO08 in Greater China with Chipscreen NewWay, a holding company
of Chipscreen Biosciences Co., Ltd.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Chairman’s Statement

We have pushed harder for international presence by setting up an
innovation center in Germany, Europe in 2022, Moreover, we are
enlarging the experimental facility in Boston, the USA and broadening
globally business cooperation to expedite the Company’s globalization
drive.

LOOK TO THE FUTURE, COMMITTED TO
BECOMING THE GLOBAL HEADSTREAM OF
NOVEL ANTIBODY DRUGS

As an international biotechnology company that relies on technological
innovations to drive drug development, we will pursue innovations in
the underlying technology, work hard to stand at the forefront of the
industry, leverage our innovative drug R&D platforms across the chain,
accelerate the completion of Project Integrum to access high-quality
antibody molecules with abundant epitope recognition, and establish
or deepen partnerships to gain commercial returns in both the short
term and the mid-and-long term and to jointly broaden our global
presence.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board and all the staff in
Biocytogen, let me extend heartfelt gratitude to all our partners and
investors for their support as always. In 2023, we will take big strides,
maintain the momentum of growth and strive to become the global
headstream of novel antibody drugs to guard human health.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Mr. Shen Yuelei

March 27, 2023

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

5



6

EEENWED T

Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Overview

Founded in 2009, we are a global biotechnology company
that drives the R&D of novel antibody- based drugs and
revenue-generating pre-clinical research services company. In
contrast to traditional chemical drugs, where drug manufacturers
synthesize the drug via precise formulas, biologics are
manufactured in living organisms and are larger, more complex
molecules. In addition, the pre-clinical research service industry
is mainly composed of the CRO services prior to the IND, which
includes drug discovery and pre-clinical services. Drug discovery
is a systematical process that requires interdisciplinary efforts to
design effective and commercially feasible drugs, and early drug
discovery is the fundamental of drug discovery.

Our business model, correspondingly, consists of drug
development business and pre-clinical research services,
which are two distinctive business segments. Our drug
development business includes (i) antibody development
business that we utilize our own antibody discovery platforms
RenMice to form 400,000 to 500,000 antibody sequences
library for more than 1,000 targets which have the potential
to identify potential therapeutic antibody molecules and via
out-licensing or collaboration with partners to suit their various
antibody modalities and continuous innovation requirements;
(ii) research and development of oncology and autoimmune
disease therapeutics. We are aimed at advancing clinical
development and commercialization through collaboration with
other pharmaceutical companies. Our pre-clinical research
services include gene editing, pre-clinical pharmacology and
efficacy evaluation, and animal models selling. Our capabilities
are validated through our years of services to multinational
companies and domestic biotechnology companies and
evidenced by our in-house clinical-stage drug candidates.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Products and Pipeline

As of December 31, 2022, we had strategically designed and
built a selective antibody drug pipeline of 11 drug candidates,
including six clinical stage candidates and five pre-clinical stage
candidates.

Four out of our drug candidates are without-licensing
arrangements with different collaborators. All of our drug
candidates were discovered through our own antibody discovery
platforms. Relying on our unique antibody development platform,
we continue to generate more promising antibody drug molecules
for innovative drug targets. Through the large animal translational
medicine platform, we continue to improve the success rate of
clinical translation. On the other hand, our overall R&D strategy
is to self-direct the early clinical development of drug molecules,
and then enter into co-development/transfer development with
biotech and biopharmaceutical companies which will primarily
drive the acceleration of the Phase Il/Ill clinical development
and commercialization of individual antibody drug molecules.
We currently have no plans to invest our own resources to lead
Phase Il clinical development and commercialization in the near
future.

Our pipeline includes drug candidates targeting novel targets
or drug candidates with differentiated efficacy or safety
profiles demonstrated in clinical studies. Our Core Products
include (i) YHOO3, a humanized IgG2 agonistic monoclonal
antibody targeting the CD40, a costimulatory protein found
on antigen-presenting cells; and (ii) YHO001, a humanized
anti-CTLA-4, 1gG1 monoclonal antibody. In addition to internal
development, we intend to proactively explore and build strategic
and synergistic partnerships with leading biopharmaceutical
companies. We believe that the complementary expertise and
resources of our partners and us will increase the success
probability of our drug candidates and maximize their clinical
and commercial value on a global scale.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREZRREBRARMOER The following chart summarizes our pipeline and the development
ERRFIREEY R FREIRAE status of each drug candidate as of the date of this report:
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Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Biocytogen and Tracon have partnered to develop YHOO1 for
selected indications and Biocytogen will receive a double-digit
tiered net sales royalty on the North American market. Biocytogen
retains development and commercialization rights outside of
North America.

Biocytogen has granted Syncromune the rights for development
and commercialization of the intratumoral combination therapy
containing YHO002. Biocytogen is entitled to receive upfront
payments, milestone payments, and tiered net sales royalties.

Biocytogen has licensed the YHOO05 antibody to RemeGen
and has received upfront payments and milestone payments.
Biocytogen is entitled to collect more licensing fee from
RemeGen for the development of YHO05-ADC.

Biocytogen is in collaboration with ISU ABXIS to develop a
tri-specific antibody based on the YHO03 sequence.

Biocytogen and Chipscreen Biosciences Co., Ltd.'s holding
company, Chipscreen NewWay, have reached an exclusive
clinical development and commercialization agreement for the
YHOO08 bispecific antibody in Greater China, including mainland
China, Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan. Biocytogen retains
global rights for YHO08 outside of Greater China.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

9



10

EEEFWED T
Management Discussion and Analysis

6 MWRIHEMT :

CDA40: a5 rE40

CTLA-4: ARSHETHEAREEER4

0X40: XIETNFRSF4 - BREEEF
REBRKKEL

4-1BB: XTETNFRSFO * BRETE T
REBREMEY
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MET: ME - FRAREET
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MRCT: LREHRAR
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Full term of each abbreviation used:

CD40:

CTLA-4:

0OX40:

4-1BB:

Claudin18.2:

PD-1:

HER2:

TROP2:

EGFR:

MET:

ADC:

CMC:

MRCT:

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022

Cluster of Differentiation 40

Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte-Associated protein 4

Also known as TNFRSF4, Tumor Necrosis
Factor Receptor Superfamily, member 4

Also known as TNFRSF9, Tumor Necrosis Factor
Receptor Superfamily, member 9

Also known as CLDN18.2, an isoform of
Claudin18

Programmed Death-1

Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2

Human trophoblast cell-surface glycoprotein 2

Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor

Mesenchymal-Epithelial Transition Factor

Antibody Drug Conjugate

Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls

Multi-regional Clinical Trial(s)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PRODUCTS SELF-DEVELOPED

Our Core Products

YH003 — a humanized 1gG2 agonistic monoclonal antibody targeting
CD40

YHO0O03 is one of our Core Products. YHOO3 is a recombinant,
humanized agonistic anti — CD40 IgG2 monoclonal antibody (mAb).

We initiated the research and development of YH003 in 2017. We are
conducting a Phase | clinical trial in Australia to evaluate the safety,
tolerability, efficacy and pharmacokinetics of YHOO3 in combination
with toripalimab in patients with advanced solid tumors, with the
RP2D identified in April 2021. Data from the Phase | clinical trial
demonstrated a favorable safety and efficacy profile of YH003. We
also obtained the IND approval from the NMPA for a Phase | clinical
trial of YHOO3 in advanced solid tumor patients in China.

Data from the Phase | clinical trial combined with PD-1 in Australia
is set out below. The study was completed and database lock was
performed in August 22, 2022. A total of 26 patients (20 in part |
dose escalation stage and 6 in part Il expansion stage) were enrolled
and received at least 1 dose of trial treatment. Subjects in part |
dose escalation stage received YH003 at 0.03, 0.1, 0.3, 1 and 3mg/
kg and Toripalimab at a fixed dose of 240mg. Only one DLT was
reported from 1 subject in Part 1 dose escalation stage, with grade 3
hypertransaminasemia from cohort 4 of 1 mg/kg dose during the run-in
phase, and recovered one month later. No MTD was achieved during
the part | dose escalation stage and RP2D was determined 0.3mg/
kg. Most of these TEAEs are mild or moderate, grade 1-2. Grade 3 or
above were reported in 65.0% subjects in part | and 16.7% subjects
in part Il. 10 subjects (n=10, 50.0%) experienced serious TEAEs in
part | dose escalation stage and 1 subject (n=1, 16.7%) experienced
serious TEAEs in part Il expansion stage. None are treatment-related
serious TEAEs in both part | and part Il.
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PR was observed in 2 subjects. One subject with ocular melanoma
achieved PR since the first tumor assessment in week 10. It was
notable that this subject achieved a tumor assessment of CR in
August 2022, after nearly 2 years of study treatment. The other subject
with NSCLC achieved PR at first tumor assessment in week 10. SD
was observed in 3 subjects with Merkel cell carcinoma, NSCLC and
gastroesophageal cancer, respectively. Among them, the subject with
NSCLC, his SD was recorded up until database lock.

We received the IND approval for the Phase Il MRCT from the U.S.
FDA in June 2021, from the TGA in August 2021, from the MedSafe
in November 2021, from the NMPA in October 2021 and from the
Taiwan FDA in November 2021. We are conducting a Phase |l MRCT
in patients PDAC to explore safety and the efficacy of YHOOS3 in
combination with toripalimab in the U.S., mainland China, Australia,
New Zealand, and Taiwan and have completed the dosing of the first
patient in Australia in December 2021.

Phase Il international multicenter study of YHO03 in combination
with toripalimab in patients with PDAC was designed to evaluate
the antitumor activity of YHOO3 in combination with toripalimab with
or without chemotherapy in subjects with PDAC. As of December
31, 2022, the first-line treatment 2C cohort for pancreatic cancer
enrolled a total of 47 subjects; the second-line treatment 2B cohort for
pancreatic cancer enrolled a total of 45 subjects.

Phase Il clinical trial of YHOO3 in combination with PD-1 plus
chemotherapy for the treatment of mucosal melanoma in China
to evaluate the efficacy and safety of YHOO3 in combination with
pembrolizumab and albumin paclitaxel in the first-line treatment
of patients with unresectable/metastatic mucosal melanoma. As of
December 31, 2022, 9 evaluable subjects in this study initially showed
a good clinical benefit, no new safety signals, and good safety and
tolerability.

YHOO03 in combination with PD-1 and YHOO1 for the treatment of
advanced solid tumors, a Phase | international multicenter clinical trial
in China and Australia designed to evaluate the safety, tolerability
and pharmacokinetics of the combination of YH003, YHOO1 and
pembrolizumab in subjects with advanced solid tumors. As of
December 31, 2022, a total of 12 subjects have been enrolled.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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YHO003 — Collaboration with ISU ABXIS

In 2022, we entered into collaboration with ISU ABXIS Co., Ltd
(“ISU ABXIS") to grant ISU ABXIS to use the sequence of YH003 to
construct several sets of tri-specific antibodies through its technology
platform for the development of therapeutic agents against a variety of
tumor types.

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET YH003 SUCCESSFULLY.

Other Products
YH004 — a humanized anti-4-1BB Agonists

YHO004 is a humanized anti-4-1BB IgG1 antibody, with a unique
mechanism of action that differentiates itself from other anti-4-1BB
antibodies.

We have initiated a Phase | clinical trial of YH004 in Australia and
have completed the dosing of the first patient in December 2021. We
have also received IND approval from the U.S. FDA in October 2021.
We have received the approval for the IND applications by the NMPA
on January 7, 2022. The Phase | clinical trial is a FIH, multi-center,
open-label and Phase | dose escalation study of YH004 as a single
agent in subjects with advanced solid tumors or relapsed/refractory
non-Hodgkin lymphoma. We are also conducting for a Phase | clinical
trial of YHOO4 in China. As of December 31, 2022, 8 subjects were
enrolled and received 0.01 mg/kg (n=1), 0.03 mg/kg (n=1), 0.1 mg/
kg (n=3), and 0.3 mg/kg (n=3) dosing. 2 subjects had a best efficacy
assessment of SD. All adverse events associated with YH004 were
mild or moderate (Grade 1 or 2).

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET YH004 SUCCESSFULLY.

YHO012 and YHO013 — two bi-specific ADCs

YHO12 and YHO13 are two bi-specific ADCs developed using our
RenlLite platform, which are intended for the treatment of solid tumor.
YHO012 and YHO13 are currently at the CMC stage.
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WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP
AND MARKET YH012 AND YH013 SUCCESSFULLY.

YHO15 — a fully human IgG1 antagonistic monoclonal antibody
targeting CD40

YHO015 is based on RenMice our fully human antibody mouse platform
and a unique in vivo drug screening strategy to rapidly obtain fully
human antibodies with good in vivo and in vitro inhibitory activity and
physicochemical properties. Meanwhile, the mutation modification of
the Fc end of the antibody reduced the ADCC effect, prolonged the
half-life of the drug, reduced the frequency of dosing, and had better
clinical application value. CD40 inhibitors have the potential to be
developed into drugs for autoimmune diseases, multiple sclerosis and
organ transplantation. YHO15 is currently at the CMC stage.

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET YH015 SUCCESSFULLY.

YHO016 and YH0O17 — two novel molecules

YHO16 and YHO17 are two novel molecules developed using our
RenMice platform, which are intended for the treatment of solid tumor
and immune diseases respectively. YHO16 and YHO17 are currently at
the discovery stage.

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP
AND MARKET YH016 AND YH017 SUCCESSFULLY.

PRODUCTS CO-DEVELOPED

Our Core Products

YHO001 — a humanized anti-CTLA-4 IgG1 monoclonal antibody

YHO0O1 is one of our Core Products. YHOO1 is a recombinant
humanized anti-CTLA-4 IgG1 monoclonal antibody.

We initiated the research and development process of YHO0O01 in
2017. We completed a Phase | clinical trial in Australia to evaluate the
safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of YHO01 when combined
with toripalimab in patients with advanced solid tumors, with the RP2D
identified in April 2021. Data from the Phase | clinical trial showed a
favorable safety and efficacy profile of YHOO1.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Data from the Phase | of YHOO1 combined with PD-1 in Australia is
set out below. As of the data as cut-off date of December 31, 2022,
YHO001 was well tolerated up to 4.0 mg/kg dose levels when combined
with toripalimab. Among 26 evaluable patients out of 29 enrolled
patients, five patients achieved PR and 11 patients achieved SD. We
are conducting a Phase | clinical trial of YHOO1 as a single agent
in patients with advanced solid tumors in China. YHO001 was well
tolerated up to 6.0 mg/kg dose levels.

We received the U.S. FDA approval in June 2021, the Taiwan FDA
approval in October 2021 and the NMPA approval in November
2021 for the Phase Il clinical trial. We have reached an agreement
with Tracon in the United States to explore indications such as
sarcoma and other indications. The Phase I/l clinical trial of YHOO01 in
combination with envafolimab and doxorubicin for the treatment of soft
tissue sarcoma patients was approved by FDA in August 2022, and
dosed the first patient in November 2022.

In addition, we intend to explore research in more types of indications
through more co- development with existing and more partners.

YH001 — Collaboration with Tracon

Study on YHOO01/KNO35SAR101 is a Phase I/l clinical trial sponsored
by Tracon Pharmaceuticals expected to enroll 176 patients at multiple
cancer centers in the U.S.. The primary objective of the Phase |
portion of the study is to evaluate safety and tolerability and determine
the recommended Phase Il dose of YHOO1 when given in combination
with the PD-L1 antibody envafolimab or given in combination with
envafolimab and doxorubicin in patients with advanced or metastatic
sarcoma. The primary objective of the Phase Il portion of the study
is to determine the objective response rate of envafolimab, YHOO1
and doxorubicin in patients with leiomyosarcoma and dedifferentiated
liposarcoma who have not received immune checkpoint inhibitors
or doxorubicin, and to determine the objective response rate of
envafolimab and YHOO1 in patients with alveolar soft parts sarcoma
and chondrosarcoma who have not received immune checkpoint
inhibitors. The study began enrollment in November 2022 and Phase |
data are expected available at the end of 2023.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

15



16

B E R A D AT

Management Discussion and Analysis

BABRARLERNMERIE
FEYHOO1 -

HtEm

YH002— —EE#ZSYHO0T 891
OX40&E #;

YHO0022—TEIA AFBEOX405752 ([TNFRSF4 )
BEENEHEAREIgGTINE - HRME

ERAFBETFIH 20 BRESR
| BAB| 23R8 T - AFFAYHO02H %2

M MEURERGHNERBEALET
YHOO2 T R BRI BB TR E N & A
M EE RP2D o M1 5/ ¥ I 2 i 28
TYHOO2 BB RIFZ 2IE -

BMEESHREE R REBRFDAMINDHL
A ERE R EREITYHO2 1 BB By
HRR R A5 -

BRMEETBERBAFNGHGAERES
FEHEITYHOO2HE S YHOO1 B R IR S5

YH002 — #2Syncromune & 1€

202246 « B PIEER IR P R &) E B A& 1 2
ZENGF]SyncromuneF I RERHH - AL
[R) 59 3 A0 i 2L E A Syncrovax™ R T 59
BREEREE Mz EA T —REMHL
FERE L - Syncromune 5 B YH002
MEMFMER D AN BRREREE - &
% & FRBEHYHOO1 RYHOO3EARETE
HEMER DM AEEEE - Syncromune
1518 R YH002 + YHOO1 & YHOO3 48X K
Syncrovax™E AR B R 2R ME XL
- BEWE  RASESRIENES
TERAEBEFGNEMNR  BRAZEME
ERRBAFARERNHEENSIERE
A% o Syncromune IEfEE#TE AR 1218 A
[AIFDA$ZZIND

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET YH001 SUCCESSFULLY.

Other Products

YHO002 — an anti-OX40 mAb, with potential to combine with YHOO1

YH002 is a recombinant humanized IgG1 antibody that targets the
human OX40 receptor (the “TNFRSF4"). We are currently conducting
a FIH, multicenter, open-label and Phase | dose- escalation study
in Australia to evaluate the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics
and determine the MTD/RP2D of YH002 in subjects with advanced
solid malignancies. Preliminary data from the Phase | trial have
demonstrated a favorable safety profile of YHO02.

We have received the IND approvals from the NMPA and the U.S. FDA
for Phase | clinical trials of YH002 as a single agent in China and the
u.s..

We are conducting a clinical trial of YHO02 in combination with YHOO1
in patients with advanced solid tumors in China and Australia.

YH002 — Collaboration with Syncromune

In 2022, we entered into a license agreement with Syncromune, a
clinical-stage U.S. biopharmaceutical company, to jointly develop
and commercialize an intratumoral immunotherapy based on
Syncrovax™ technology, a next-generation personalized oncology
therapy. Syncromune will acquire an intratumoral immunotherapy
consisting of YHO02 and other active ingredients. It has subsequently
been agreed that YHOO1 and YHOOS3 are also included in the scope
of the collaboration as selected active ingredients. Syncromune
will acquire exclusive global development and commercialization
rights to Syncrovax™ therapeutics consisting of YH002 and YHOO1
and YHO003. Pursuant to the agreement, we will receive a upfront
payment assessed on the clinical value of the antibody molecules, key
development and regulatory milestone payments, and royalties based
on sales. Syncromune is preparing the submission of IND to FDA in
the next 12 months.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



BHERRVERIBRERIE

EYHO002 -
YH008 — —&#1PD-1/CD40 45 2 14 11 g

YHO08 2 ARG B E BB H7LPD-1/CD40
R E L o YHOO08ZE 1 HIPD-1#) [FBF
HUECD40 - BRI EREREKHA - YH008
BUECDA0BEEEURNPD- 102X XER -
A8 R BB IR IE SN IR R M RUE o

BRIFIE D RIR2022%12 A 202343 A%
BEBFDA KB R4 E B i EITIHIRIK

B W TIYHOOS M I E M B ERE T
AEPHEXABHE - LXEW&TYHOOSE’\]
ZRMERNZY  THERAMIEE

HREHE -

YH008 — B E Y& tE
20232 A27H « N SEE RGN £

MEERO BRI ([HEEW] —KR
LBRBSFRGAETHRAR - REAE :

688321.SH) A2 % Bt /88 12 B B &P AT 1L
EMBAM AR A B ([HOSEFIE]) EREX
PER(REPRKRE B BRPINGE
Hh[EE ) BR PR B3 & i ¥ L YHOOS B 214 4
ROBRXERZ - BB EEREBYHO08
EKEPEEEDM\%EE*%?& o RIEWRE

/u%ﬁﬂzﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁu%%:AEMWEE%?E

%H BARE360E ETH)EEH
?”‘E%iﬁ?ﬁ* - NEBARKE196AEITTH

BEHERREBNRARBEE FENS R
RAFEERE - BT S2HARA
AER2023F 227 A2 R °

EEEWED AT

Management Discussion and Analysis

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET YH002 SUCCESSFULLY.

YHO008 — an anti-PD-1/CD40 bi-specific antibody

YHO08 is an anti-PD-1/CD40 bi-specific antibody for the treatment of
solid tumors. YHO08 activates CD40 while simultaneously inhibiting
PD-1. The results of in vitro and in vivo experiments show that
the activation of the CD40 pathway by YHO008 depends on the
cross-linking effect of PD-1, avoiding non-specific activation outside
the tumor microenvironment.

We received the U.S. FDA approval in December 2022 and NMPA
approval in March 2023 for the Phase | clinical trial, which is a
first-in-human study of YHO0O08 in subjects with advanced solid
malignant tumors, in order to assess the safety and tolerability of
YHO0O08, as well as to determine the MTD or the recommended.

YHO008 — Collaboration with Chipscreen Biosciences

On February 27, 2023, Eucure Biopharma has reached an
exclusive license agreement with Chipscreen NewWay Biosciences
(“Chipscreen NewWay”), a holding subsidiary of Shenzhen
Chipscreen Biosciences Co., Ltd. (“Chipscreen Biosciences”,
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
688321.SH) for the clinical development and commercialization of
YHO0O08 bispecific antibody in Greater China (including Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan). Eucure Biopharma reserves YH008's
global rights outside Greater China. Under the agreement, Chipscreen
NewWay will pay Eucure Biopharma an upfront payment of RMB40
million, a potential development milestone payment of up to RMB360
million, a potential sales milestone payment of up to RMB196 million,
as well as tiered royalties on net sales. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated February 27, 2023.
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WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET YH008 SUCCESSFULLY.

YHO005 — Collaboration with RemeGen

YHOO5 is an anti-Claudin 18.2 antibody generated using our Claudin
18.2 knock-out mice. We have out-licensed Claudin 18.2 antibody
YHO005 to RemeGen to develop a YH005 ADC, which is also known
as RC118. On September 6, 2017, we entered into an exclusive
Technology Transfer Agreement (the “RemeGen Agreement”) with
RemeGen concerning the development and commercialization of the
RC118 which we have transferred the global rights of YHO005. The
RC118 has obtained approval for Phase | clinical trials in Australia
in August 2021, and has obtained approval for Phase | clinical trials
in China in September 2021. The clinical studies are currently in
smooth progress and ongoing dose creep study demonstrates good
safety and tolerability. The RC118 has been granted two orphan drug
designations by the U.S. FDA for the treatment of gastric cancer,
including gastroesophageal junction cancer, and pancreatic cancer.

RemeGen initially reached out for co-development of YHOO05 after our
successful development of Claudin 18.2 knock-out mice. We entered
into collaboration with RemeGen as the tumoral and tissue-specific
expression of Claudin 18.2 has great potential for ADC drugs. We
believe our collaboration with RemeGen is win-win for both parties and
contributes to the value maximization of YH0O05.

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP
AND MARKET AND YH005 SUCCESSFULLY.

PROJECT INTEGRUM (FE E#)

Project Integrum (FEEHL) is our proprietary large scale fully human
antibody screening program that discovers promising antibody
sequences and antibody molecules for internal drug development
or external monetization. Project Integrum is our key R&D project.
On the one hand, it may provide co-development, out-licensing,
transfer development and other collaboration opportunities with
generated antibodies. We have entered into collaborations with many
drug discovery companies through upfront fees, milestone fees and
royalties for the transfer of a large number of antibody molecules/
sequences generated by Project Integrum. At the current stage, most
of the annual sales revenue is from upfront fee and a small amount of
milestone fee. In the future, as more antibody molecules/sequences
are transferred, the growth of milestone fee and royalty revenue will
become very significant, which is a very important source of revenue
for us in the future. On the other hand, it helps to enhance our product
pipelines and complement our developments of our Core Products.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



HE2022F 128318 TEENERIE
A P EHLEKO RenMabF a7
680 % ESEBL AR - WAL EKO RenLite
FRRBR T 260 % LB ERA - FH5HE 2023
FE=FE  KAMEZTKTEERHKRE
S IE - 1A LEE400,000E500,0001E
RE 1,000 2 EBIFES M2 ARME T
E-ZzhBEBEREdslZHtEeE &2
ARSPBEERUNMBIREN - FRE
ANBREBE  URESAERHRENR
B REEERAETR K o

EEEFE  RMEH21IRRUEREY
BT ARIERS4IEHRAFRE ERESE
EBEFEEGE - BIEETRMMerck
Healthcare KGaA » ADC Therapeutics *
BMARBER R EARERERRAA

EREE2ARNEENRenMice ¥ &

H A% T RenMice ¥ & » £EEH
PARERENBENEREUNEE -
M RenMice FEm=ETRIMNASR

BN WEREENE - B2 ART
B/ ERenMab - 2 ARBAEHE/E
RenlLite X & AJRE /B RenNano °
HEMRRenMab r BEMAZET — @258
TCR(TCRm)E T F & - ARETE AR
SRS M o

B MM RenMice F A F NR® - 52
BRI - BE2022F12 A31
B BACEI7TRANENERRERR R
BREMBIEEN T (HltiMerck Healthcare
KGaA - Xencor » BESMNREEEYE
B)ERBEERARAERE  ZEQA
HARMNBIE=F - 8520224612
A318  ZXHAABEHME40MEER -
RenMice i 1lf ¥ & KM #5 Tk P9 82 S0
BEMR - BERBFEEDK - R2023F3
B AARHBHR (REEESBREULENF
ZO)EINERERE o BHEFE 2N
AAIBEA2023F3A8H 2 AE -

EEENWED M
Management Discussion and Analysis

As of December 31, 2022, Project Integrum is progressing well, we
have knocked out more than 680 target genes in target KO RenMab,
and more than 260 target genes in target KO RenlLite. It is expected
that by the third quarter of 2023, we will have completed most of
the work on Project Integrum, and are expected to obtain a library
of 400,000 to 500,000 fully human antibody sequences covering
more than 1,000 innovative targets. This antibody library is of high
quality and rich in diversity, and can fully and adequately cover all
antigenic epitopes of targets, forming a fully human antibody library
to meet the different antibody development needs of various partner
pharmaceutical companies.

In terms of cooperation, we have reached 34 co-development/
out-licensing/transfer development deals with 21 pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies, including but not limited to Merck
Healthcare KGaA, ADC Therapeutics, Hansoh Pharma and Nanjing
Chia-Tai Tianging Pharmaceutical Company.

RenMice platforms for generation of a diverse repertoire of fully
human antibodies

We have developed RenMice platforms to generate a diverse
repertoire of fully human monoclonal antibodies and bi-specific
antibodies. Our RenMice platform consist of three different
chromosome engineered mice with fully human immunoglobulin
variable domains replacing mouse counterparts, namely RenMab,
a fully human antibody mouse, RenLite, a fully human common light
chain mouse and RenNano, a fully human heavy chain only mouse.
Based on RenMab, we have developed a new T Cell Receptor-Mimic
(TCRm) technology platform for drug development of antibodies
against intracellular targets.

Our RenMice platforms are competitive and validated through
external licenses. As of December 31, 2022, we reached license
and trial collaboration agreements with 17 well-known multinational
pharmaceutical companies and leading pharmaceutical companies
such as Merck Healthcare KGaA, Xencor, BeiGene and Innovent,
all of which are independent third parties of us. As of December 31,
2022, the licensees have initiated 40 projects in total. The licensing
of the RenMice technology platform will allow us to receive upfront
fees, milestone fees and royalty. In March 2023, the Company
entered into the license agreement with Janssen, one of the Janssen
Pharmaceutical Companies of Johnson & Johnson. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated March 8, 2023.
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RenMab

Our RenMab platform uses RenMab mice for the discovery and
generation of fully human monoclonal antibodies. Our in-house
developed RenMab mice are transgenic mice with full human
heavy chain variable region and kappa light chain variable region
replacement in situ. RenMab mice carry the full human immunoglobulin
variable region repertoire, which have an intact immune system and
are healthy even after gene editing.

This proprietary, megabase-scale gene editing technology enables the
efficient replacement of the entire murine immunoglobulin heavy chain
and kappa light chain variable domains (including distal Vk) with the
corresponding human immunoglobulin variable domains in situ. Thus,
our RenMab mice are as healthy as regular wild-type mice, and well
suited to knock out drug target genes. The knockout mice are an
essential building block of our Project Integrum.

With the full human heavy and light chain variable region, RenMab
mice are able to produce a diverse repertoire of antibodies. This then
allows us to optimize and select antibodies with the best specificity
and affinity at subnanomolar ranges in the lead antibody screening
process.

RenlLite

Our RenlLite platform uses RenLite mice to produce diverse bi-specific
antibodies with high affinity and to generate bi-specific ADCs. In our
RenLite mice, the mouse heavy chain antibody gene variable region
is replaced with full human heavy chain variable region in situ, which
results in diversified heavy chain repertoire similar to that of humans.
In contrast, the kappa chain variable domain has been replaced by a
single fixed human common kappa light chain. Presence of the single
human common kappa chain ensures light chain complementarity to
seamlessly resolve the light chain and heavy chain mismatch issues
often seen in bi-specific antibody platforms, thereby greatly reducing
the difficulty of CMC process development.

In addition to bi-specific antibodies, our RenlLite mice are able to
generate antibodies for bi-specific ADCs. Our bi-specific ADCs can be
used to effectively target two tumor-associated antigens and deliver
the payload specifically to tumor cells, overcoming the non-tumor
cytotoxicity of traditional ADC drugs. YHO012 and YHO13 are bispecific
antibody ADC molecules generated by Rentile platform, currently at
CMC stage.
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RenNano

Our RenNano platform uses RenNano mice to produce heavy chain
antibodies on the basis of RenMab mice with further modification
on antibody heavy chain constant region. Compared to few other
nanoantibody models in the world, our RenNano mice carry the
complete human antibody heavy chain variable region gene in an in
situ swap, producing a fully human single chain antibody fragment
sequence that can be used for drug development without further in
vitro humanization, saving significant time and expense, and reducing
the risk of subsequent development. Based on the rapid reproductive
capacity of mice and the proven technology for preparing mice
monoclonal antibody, RenNano mice can be used for high-throughput
development of fully human heavy chain antibodies at scale compared
to other single chain antibody fragment animals such as alpacas.
Immunization of RenNano mice with a variety of different antigens
resulted in heavy chain antibodies with diverse complementarity
determining region 3 sequences and abundant recognition epitopes.
These antibodies bind antigen independent of the light chain and have
a high affinity at the nM level. Experiments have shown that antibodies
derived from RenNano have good biological functions in vitro and
in vivo. Due to its simple structure and no pairing, it is suitable for
modular assembly, and even more so, for the construction of more
innovative drug-forming forms such as dual antibodies, multibodies
and CAR-T.

TCRm Platform

TCRm platform (the “TCRm Platform”) is heavily modified based on
RenMice to become HLA/RenMab to produce fully human antibodies
that accurately recognize intracellular MAP epitopes and produce
antibodies against intracellular antigens. HLA/RenMab is designed
to break through the limitations of traditional antibody therapy that
mainly targets cell membrane surface antigens, such as PD-1 and
PD-L1, or soluble antigens, as well as the immune escape of tumor
cells caused by the usually low affinity of antibodies that recognize
the TCR of tumor antigens for the corresponding antigens. The TCRm
Platform focuses on screening antibodies with much higher affinity
and specificity than TCR by replacing them with antibodies that can
effectively target intracellular antigens. Based on the advantages
of HLA/RenMab mice, we can obtain fully human antibodies that
recognize MAP epitopes and produce antibodies against intracellular
antigens in one step, while ensuring in vivo affinity maturation and
screening of antibodies with better affinity and specificity than TCR.
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The fully human antibody sequences obtained from the TCR-like
antibody technology platform provide more candidates for subsequent
antibody-related drugs, CAR-T and other fields. It provides additional
intracellular targeting options for targeted removal of specific
abnormal cells such as tumor cells, infected cells, and senescent
cells. In addition, TCR-like blocking antibodies can also be screened
for specific cells that are attacked by self-exempt diseases to avoid
damage to normal tissues.

PRE-CLINICAL RESEARCH SERVICES

Our pre-clinical research services primarily include CRO services such
as pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy evaluation, R&D and sale
of innovative target animal models, and gene editing customization
service business. These services line is an important business
segment for the Company. The rapid sales revenue growth and higher
profit level have continuously generated business cash flow for the
Company and buttressed the soundness our financial conditions.

In the business line of pre-clinical CRO services such as
pharmacological efficacy evaluation, the Company continuously
expands the categories of CRO services. Meanwhile, the Company
complements the overseas sales team. A German subsidiary in Europe
was established in 2022 and the experimental facility in Boston, U.S.
was enlarged, in the hope of better serving overseas pharmaceutical
customers and leveraging the proportion of overseas sales. These
measures achieved significant sales growth in 2022.

Pre-Clinical Pharmacology and Efficacy Evaluation

Our pharmacology team, which is based in China and the U.S., has
built expertise in testing novel therapeutics such as mAbs, CAR-Ts,
gene therapy and other therapeutic modalities for immuno-oncology,
immune and autoimmune diseases as well as metabolic diseases
to support drug discovery and development worldwide. Our
services utilize a large collection of genetically humanized mouse
models for checkpoint inhibitors an cytokine/cytokine receptors,
highly immune-deficient B-NDG mice and their variants, including
CDX models and engineered cell line models, among others. Our
pharmacology services include in vivo efficacy, PK/PD, biomarker
assessments, toxicology and safety evaluation, in vitro immune cell
and cytokine profiling and cell functional assays. Our pre-clinical
pharmacology studies have supported a number of IND applications
and clinical trials. We have completed more than 2,000 drug
evaluation projects for approximately 400 partners globally.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



B2 B EEANB YRR MREHR
75 48 B R TE R PR A B 3% B3R fik AR 75 69
EX -HYERRBEERANS MEL R
E - RBEARBEEREPD  2EEER
BERRRRERGALIREBMENA
NER  BEREMHDEEE - HAER
5 50 B P A %5 T 2R 2 A A AR A S B
HRECRNIEE MEME - BE BB —
Fo-NRGHRBBEBRE  ROUBEERE
% = YR FE T ROFIR B Fe Ak B B RTER o
A B APT R B IR AT B2 38 B2 AT (il 1 AR 75 1R
7 - B8 B AR RE O R G A A B Y 3R I R0
P o

A EIEEEE
BAEESEKEKRINMELBELRTE
FREEEREBREEL - UnEEFP R
SRR - BAFYWABEENARIENER
MESREMEABERNARCARE
ZEANBEERAREBTHARARER K
RBEEF BBE G AR - @8 AREHE
BERANRICNEAES TEEEER
i S ARBEMARAED T (BRE
EE - CREME  ADC - RES) #H
RSB B o - BB TRE
T (BRERLES) BEAERMARERHTE
HEBNBEHERKTE - ZEERY
BETREZNREBEEL  YAKRS
T E ) R 3 1L B PR A RR 9T BN R PR BT 7R 0 8
e -

BERERIN  BREESRBEITNET £
BRABRCNETRETETAIELENR
REA SRR RB LA ERFER
HEFI TR ERGREREE BZHAE
Al - B P e R

BPERERNEANEYRBAASRE
EhERE )  RBREAEMRE  XBOTF
EERE BB REY TG - (FR
BARNINETR  HANEINEIEERSE
BRESEARS T AREFST - JR
T NKEERARNIIEEREE - FIFIH
fRE BB A HMNEEIR B 8E ) Ak

BEYFERE T ERNPoC K MoA -

EEENWED M
Management Discussion and Analysis

We determine our fee rates for pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy
evaluation services primarily based on types of animal used and types
of service provided. Animal fees are set by types of animals utilized,
and service fees are determined by allocation of staff resource,
duration and materials required for the projects based on the type of
services such as oncology PD, immune reconstitution and autoimmune
disease. Duration of our agreements with customers on pre-clinical
pharmacology and efficacy evaluation services is based on complexity
of the project, which typically lasts for no longer than one year.
Payment terms are set by project and we are generally entitled to
upfront payments and project closing payments by our customers.
As we are a service provider for our pre-clinical pharmacology and
efficacy evaluation, the intellectual rights relating to the project belong
to our customers.

In Vivo Pharmacology Capabilities

Our in vivo pharmacology team has successfully developed and
validated hundreds of syngeneic and xenogeneic tumor models
to meet the scientific objectives of our clients. The animal models
include our internally generated humanized mice and humanized
cell lines carrying functional human genes that express identified
human therapeutic targets or customized targets per clients’ interests.
Employing the humanized cell lines and the humanized mice results in
a tailored therapeutic strategy with a complete biology to evaluate the
efficacy of different types of human therapeutic molecules (monoclonal
antibodies, bi-specific antibodies, ADCs, vaccines, etc.) against the
therapeutic targets of interest. Furthermore, tumor cell implantation
through different routes including orthotopic injection delivers favorite
translatable data to support clinical studies. All these models cover
broad immune-therapeutic areas and greatly increase translation from
pre- clinical research to clinical studies for drug development.

Besides the tumor models, in vivo pharmacology services have also
developed several translatable immune and autoimmune inflammatory
disease models and metabolic disease models in both wild- type
and humanized mice to extend our research and services to broader
therapeutic areas and better support our clients in their research and
drug development.

Our model-based in vivo efficacy services have high scale screening
capabilities to support molecule selection, drug comparison, or drug
evaluation by in vivo activity assessment. Complementary to our in
vivo capabilities, our in vitro pharmacology services include immune
cell profiling, cytokine profiling, primary T, NK, and macrophage
cell-based functional assays, among others. Our integrated in vivo
capabilities and in vitro pharmacology capabilities enable us to
provide a complete PoC and MoA for drug development.
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Pharmacokinetics (PK) & Pharmacodynamics (PD)

Antibody drug pharmacokinetics are deeply influenced by target
expression (target-mediated clearance) and FcRn (neonatal Fc
receptor) expression, which can extend antibody half-life. Because
human antibodies have different affinities to the targets, and FcRn
expressed in animal species differ from that expressed in human, the
PK profile of human antibodies from animals may not be translatable
to human. Our humanized mice could express human therapeutic
targets, and FcRn humanized mice enable more translatable
evaluation of human antibody PK in mice, which could help to address
these issues. Due to the growing limited availability of non-human
primates, humanized mice may have increased value in non-clinical
PK and toxicity studies for biologic drug development.

Utilizing target humanized mice and FcRn humanized mice, we have
established a comprehensive PK/PD service platform in which we
perform a series PK/PD studies to characterize drug exposure, predict
dosage requirements, understand concentration-effect relationships,
establish safety margins and efficacy characteristics, and develop the
drug’s product profile to support drug development and clinical trials.
The PK/PD evaluation is also supported by our in vitro capabilities.
Also, cell-based assays including ADCC and CDC assist with ex vivo
or in vitro PD evaluation and identification of the MoA.

Small Animal Toxicology and Safety Study

Humanized mice can provide favorite translatable results in the
toxicology and safety evaluation of drug candidates and are
recommended by the FDA. We have established toxicology and
safety evaluation platforms using our humanized mice and highly
immune deficient B-NDG mice. Our comprehensive toxicology and
safety readouts include blood biochemistry liver and renal function
evaluation, histopathology evaluation, CRS evaluation, ADA test
and more, which are the common side effect tests for current
immunotherapy. We believe our pre-clinical toxicology and safety
evaluation provides very predictive data to support drug candidate
evaluation and may guide the design of clinical studies.
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Gene Editing

Our gene editing technology lays the solid foundation for our antibody
discovery and development platforms. Leveraging our advanced gene
editing technologies, we have launched Project Integrum, developed
three transgenic RenMice platforms and created a comprehensive
set of antibody discovery and animal model platform. Gene editing
is a technique for making specific modifications to segments of an
organism’s DNA, which is usually used to achieve modifications such
as the addition and deletion of specific DNA segments, deletions and
substitutions of specific bases. Gene editing can make permanent
changes in the genome of an organism, and these changes can take
place throughout the body or in specific tissues. Models such as
animals or cell lines obtained by gene editing technology can simulate
specific physiological, pathological and cellular characteristics of
humans, and thus play an important role in studying the functions of
genes, elucidating the genetic evolution of organisms, the molecular
mechanisms of disease occurrence and providing relevant evaluation
of drugs for disease treatment.

In the area of gene editing customized services, we have shifted
the focus to overseas pharmaceutical company customers and
emphasized to serve internal R&D and innovations so as to enhance
the profit level and value contribution of the gene editing business
line.

Our Gene Editing Technology

We have developed powerful gene editing platforms, SUPCE, CRISPR/
EGE and ESC/HR, through more than a decade of dedicated research,
which serves as our driving force for underlying technological
innovations. Since our establishment, we have been providing
customized gene editing services based on animals as well as cells to
meet the needs of basic science research and drug development of
our customers. Leveraging our advanced gene editing technologies,
we have completed approximately 4,300 customized gene editing
projects for our clients and self-developed approximately 2,800 gene
edited animal and gene edited cell model products.

Compared with other common gene editing technologies that can
only edit gene fragments less than 30,000 bases at a time using
plasmid, our proprietary in-house developed SUPCE technology
allows for megabase-scale chromosomal editing, with high stability
and reproducibility. Our SUPCE technology is well validated by
our RenMice platform, which was successfully developed applying
this technology. We achieved full length in situ gene replacement
for diverse antibodies in RenMice and produced very healthy mice

retaining a strong immune system.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

25



26

EEEFWED T
Management Discussion and Analysis

FE IR

BMEZRHERKR NERABRH
EHERFRERY  SKREQMREERETE
ERAMNBYLARRER - ZERAKA
WMEREHAERBSE o - BPITNRME
sgRNAE f#52 MsgRNATE Al S — &
I EAREERRS -

J ERSMHERFERSE - RMEE
WEXE DEMTEHERRSER
%o NBHRIE - £wBHE - BHE
g hoe - BEFEAFEMAUNERA
MERSE  AUESEAERTEAR
ERDEMEBEENEESY o /)
BTAREFMAS  EHA2  EQE
HEREGRARREREZNEY -
B/NEARLE - REBEMSK RS EE
ANEBESHBEUNE - B35 A ERRA
FEE ) ERBER - BAIEAKRA
BERMEMNESC/HRFIER CRISPR/
EGEmERGERIMAKRE //INE
RHUTHERGFERS - WIMIBIEL
BRE NERRETERREE
i REERFEREHN/ NERRE
ZH®IEC57BL/6 * BALB/c * DBA2
FINOD-scid * KERAREXZBIE
Sprague Dawley 2 Wistar ©

o  HRMABENERGRBERY - HER
ERGEEASY  AREELASR
JTE - EEERRANERNEER - BE
WEREERDAEMR  SHERE
- EYHERERRE  ERaE
EMRPERFSEEM - HAEAE
MESC/HRMEKX CRISPR/EGEH) £
RfmEmiriet s RARXERRE
AR5

o HRAREERRY - HIRMENK
B NERABROESERRER
BARBEEERRS -

ERZFENBLMRAMEMER - R
EREARESC/HRMERBRERMAMER
CRISPR/EGE ) £ #R #8 KA1l o

Customized Services

We mainly provide customized gene editing services based on rat/
mouse and cell lines, and the final products are animal or cell line
models with specific genotypes, genotype detection reports and
project closure reports. In addition, we also provide a series of gene
editing experimental services such as sgRNA plasmid construction
and sgRNA activity detection:

° Animal-based Gene Editing Services. We are mainly engaged in
customized gene editing services for rat/mouse. Mice are easy
to handle, have a short life cycle, high reproductive capacity,
and have similar genomic and physiological characteristics to
humans, thus are often used as animals of choice for studying
human gene function and disease mechanisms. Mice are also the
most intensively studied animal for genomics, transcriptomics,
proteomics and genetic phenotyping. Rats have a higher
similarity to humans in terms of nervous system compared to
mice and are often used as pharmacodynamic models in related
fields. We provide customized gene editing services for rat/
mouse using mature and stable ESC/HR-based and CRISPR/
EGE-based gene editing technologies. We perform gene editing
modification based on several rat/mouse strains. The mouse
strains for which gene editing services are provided mainly
include C57BL/6, BALB/c, DBA2 and NOD-scid, and the rat
strains mainly include Sprague Dawley and Wistar.

° Cell Line Based Gene Editing Services. Compared with gene
editing animal models, cell line models have the advantages of
convenience, short cycle time and low cost. Stable cell lines play
an important role in gene function research, recombinant protein
preparation, drug screening and target validation, tumor therapy
and other research. We provide a variety of cell line gene editing
services using ESC/HR-based and CRISPR/EGE-based gene
editing technologies.

° Gene Editing Experimental Services. We provide customized
gene editing services based on rats and mice as well as cell
lines along with supporting experimental services.

We have mastered ESC/HR-based gene editing technology and
CRISPR/EGE-based gene editing technology based on our years of
dedicated research and technical accumulation.
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Animal Model Selling

Leveraging our advanced gene editing technologies, we have created
a comprehensive set of antibody discovery and disease mouse
models by editing the gene of mice, creating animal models suitable
for in vivo efficacy evaluation. Our antibody discovery and disease
mouse models include more than 2,800 unique gene-edited mouse/
cell line projects.

The combination of an extensive portfolio of animal models and
large-scale animal production and in vivo efficacy studies has enabled
us to successfully conduct large-scale in vivo antibody discovery
and screening for our own internal pipeline and initiatives as well as
providing disease animal models and in vivo pharmacology services to
biotechnology and large pharmaceutical company clients worldwide.

In the business line of R&D and sales of innovative animal models,
the company keeps launching hundreds of new animal models in the
market every year, while expanding the customer base at home and
abroad, and leveraging the scale of the animal facility in Nantong,
Jiangsu Province, to provide more customers with better animal model
products. These initiatives ensure that the Company made satisfactory
sales growth in 2022.

Animal Models

Animal models that mimic human pathological environments through
the modification of key genes are essential tools in the current
drug development process. Drug evaluations using these models
are considered the “gold standard” for validating the efficacy of
pre-clinical drugs. Based on the gene editing humanized mouse
model, we have developed mouse models for tumor and autoimmune
diseases, which are used for gene function research and drug
development. Using marketed and self-developed antibody drugs for
in vivo drug efficacy testing in mice, combined with physiological,
biochemical, blood, toxicity and other factors, we are able to verify the
validity of the models and sell disease model mice to our customers.
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Current disease types are mainly focused on tumor and autoimmune.
We are actively investigating new animal models and cellular assay
models, constructing tumor models using gene-edited humanized
mice, testing the inhibitory effects of anti-tumor antibody drugs,
chemotherapy drugs and targeted small molecule drugs on tumor
growth, and providing more data support for drug screening of tumor
drugs and clinical declarations. For autoimmune, we are focusing on
inducing autoimmune diseases (asthma, experimental autoimmune
encephalomyelitis, psoriasis, etc.) in gene-edited humanized mice and
testing the therapeutic effects of cytokine-based antibody drugs.

In addition to tumor and autoimmune diseases, we are further
expanding the disease areas of animal models, such as neurological,
cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, to provide pre-clinical in vivo
and in vitro drug efficacy testing for drug development.

(i) Humanized Mice
Immune Checkpoint and other Humanized Mice

Most human antibody drugs can only recognize and interact with
human antigens, and due to species differences, pre-clinical
pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic evaluation and testing
cannot be performed directly with wild-type mice. Therefore, it
is necessary to humanize mouse immune checkpoints as well as
other targets such as GPCR and express human-related antigens
in mice, so that human antibody drugs can produce normal drug

responses in mice.

Relying on an efficient and stable gene technology platform and
a scientific and standardized model animal production center,
we considered the factors that may interfere with the expression
of humanized proteins, carried out detailed evaluation and made
a precise design for each subject and developed a series of
immune checkpoint and other humanized mice based on the
genetic background of C57BL/6. In order to ensure that the
mouse model is fully humanized, we excluded the influence of
external environment factors on the expression and signaling
of humanized proteins, and provided an effective model and
powerful tool for drug validation of immune checkpoint and other
targets antibodies.
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Cytokine and Cytokine Receptor Humanized Mice

The mechanisms of cytokine involvement in autoimmune diseases
have been studied in depth. AbbVie has developed adalimumab,
which targets TNF , and has been approved by the FDA for 10
indications, including rheumatoid arthritis and psoriatic arthritis.
Other antibodies targeting cytokine also have good market
prospects in autoimmune diseases and oncology.

Cytokines usually have complex signaling pathways. By studying
the mechanism of action of cytokines, we have humanized the
key cytokines or cytokine receptors in mice, allowing the in vivo
evaluation of the efficacy and pharmacological effects of human
cytokine or cytokine receptor antibody drugs in mice. We believe
such coverage can meet a substantial majority of the pre-clinical
drug evaluation needs of cytokine or cytokine receptor antibody
drugs for pharmaceutical companies.

Severe Immunodeficient (B-NDG) Mice

B-NDG (NOD.CB17-Prkdcscid IL2rgtm1/Bcgen) mice, which we
independently developed, are obtained from mice with NOD-scid
genetic background by IL2rg gene knockout. B-NDG mice have
a severe immunodeficient phenotype, lack mature T-cells, B-cells
and NK cells, and are deficient in cytokine signaling, making
them ideal drug development vehicles for human hematopoietic
stem cells, human peripheral blood mononuclear cells, human
tumor cells or tissue transplantation.

The intellectual properties of our animal models for sale
generally belong to the Company. As our model animals would
generally not be applied directly towards a product candidate
of our clients, there were no intellectual properties allocation
discussions with our clients of animal models during the
Reporting Period. We typically enter into framework agreements
with our clients for a term of one to five years and take clients’
work orders under such framework agreements. We decide fee
rates and payment terms together with our clients considering
multiple factors, including the development cost of certain
model animals, breeding expenses, and quantity requested. We
generally require our clients to make full payment within a month
after the invoice date. Generally neither our client nor us have

the right of termination unless a force majeure event occurs.
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Models for Human Immune System Reconstitution

In order to solve the problems of maintenance and differentiation
functions of hematopoietic cells and restricted development of
immune cells in severely immunodeficient mice, we have developed a
series of second-generation products based on B-NDG mice to meet
different research needs. For example, B-NDG B2m KO plus mice can
delay the GVHD effect in PBMC reconstitution model, thus achieving a
longer dosing window without affecting the half-life of antibody drugs.
Additionally, B-NDG hIL15 mice can better promote the immune
reconstitution of human NK cells and B-NDG hTHPO mice do not need
irradiation to be reconstituted, thus can avoid radiation damage to
mice.

MARKETING AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

We procure business through the efforts of our marketing and
business development teams and customer referrals. Our marketing
and business development team is dedicated to increasing our brand
awareness, expanding our global customer base and strengthening
our relationships with existing customers to drive more business
opportunities.

Income from pre-clinical business related to CRO of the Company
continues to maintain rapid growth and a relatively high gross profit
level, and we keep long-term business cooperation with nine top ten
overseas pharmaceutical companies. The total revenue of overseas
business and its proportion of our total revenue continue to increase.
We set up a new subsidiary in Heidelberg, Germany in 2022, and are
enlarging the scale of the experimental facility in Boston. In addition,
we will recruit more business developers with abroad bases to actively
explore overseas markets. In the future, we will further complement
overseas investment and improve the amount and proportion of our
overseas sales revenue.

Based on the RenMice platform, our antibody discovery platforms
continue to produce potential antibody molecules and have reached
co-development/licensing agreement with domestic and foreign
pharmaceutical companies at different stages. Our antibody discovery
business has continued to grow at a high rate since 2020, while
maintaining a very high gross profit margin. Our customer base
has expanded from well-known domestic biotech companies to
famous pharmaceutical companies around the world, and the upfront
payment, milestone payment and royalties of a single contract keeps
improving.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this
report, we had not commercialized any of our Core Products on the
market. We have not formulated any definitive pricing policy for our
Core Products yet. We are accelerating the development of our clinical
and preclinical product pipeline by entering into collaborations with
a number of domestic and international pharmaceutical companies.
In the future, we will continue to pursue this product development
strategy and enter into more collaborations with pharmaceutical
companies to advance and commercialize our pipeline.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We are committed to providing innovative services to support our
customers’ groundbreaking and complex new drug R&D projects
in China and around the world. Towards this goal, we have
constantly invested in improving our technologies and advancing
our service capabilities, as well as actively participated in major
government-sponsored research projects. Such investments have
allowed us to remain at the forefront of the latest technology trend in
our industry, develop novel solutions for our customers and maintain
our competitive position. We strive to further enhance our technical
capability through internal research and development as well as
collaboration with our partners and customers.

We are dedicated to enhancing our pipeline by leveraging our leading
in-house research and development capabilities, which spans from
early drug discovery to clinical development. As of December 31,
2022, our R&D team has discovered and/or developed our current
pipeline of 11 drug candidates.

To cultivate a high-quality talent pool and ensure delivery of
professional services, we have developed on-site training programs
that provide training courses on a variety of cutting-edge scientific
and technical topics, as well as also tracking, evaluating and reporting
each employee’s training progress.

As of December 31, 2022, we had approximately 550 R&D personnel
in three service centers for pre-clinical research services. A large
number of them cover both drug development and preclinical research
services. For details, among our R&D personnel, approximately
100 were responsible for gene editing and animal models selling,
approximately 150 were responsible for pre-clinical pharmacology and
efficacy evaluation, approximately 230 were responsible for antibody
development and approximately 50 were responsible for clinical
development.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, our R&D expenses
were RMB558.5 million and RMB699.2 million, respectively. The R&D
expenses on the Core Products was RMB105.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, accounting for approximately 15.0% of the
R&D expenses during the same period.

Manufacturing
Animal Model Production

We have established animal model production centers, including three
animal facilities encompassing a total of approximately 55,000 sqg.m.
animal facilities. Our large facilities allow us to have a broad set of
genetically engineered mice, disease mouse models and aged small
animal with a significant cost advantage.

Collaboration with CROs and CDMOs

CROs and CDMOs, as our supplier, conduct and support our
research and development and clinical trials of our pipeline products.
The pre-clinical CROs mainly provide us with services related to
pre-clinical toxicity and safety evaluations, such as animal studies,
of our Core Products in accordance with our study design and under
our supervision. We collaborate with our CDMO partners for the
manufacturing of a portion of our drug candidates, in particular our
Core Products, to supply for use in pre-clinical studies and clinical
trials. For details, please refer to “Supplier” and “External Business
Development” in this report.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT

We have a quality management department that devotes resources to
the quality management of our products. Based on our novel idea to
develop antibody drugs, we have established our own quality control
system with reference to the ISO9001, GMP and GLP systems. Our
quality control system devotes significant attention to quality control
for the designing, research and development, manufacturing, testing
and transportation of our products and product candidates. Our
management team is actively involved in setting quality policies and

managing our internal and external quality performance.

As of December 31, 2022, our quality management department
consists of approximately 45 employees. Our quality management
team members have rich experience in quality management and
successful drug filings to the U.S. FDA and the NMPA.
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SUPPLIERS

Suppliers are important business partners of the Group, and the
selection and management of suppliers are directly related to the
quality of the Group’s products. Therefore, relying on an excellent
supply chain management to ensure the quality of our suppliers and
products is a top priority. In order to effectively standardize and
manage our supplier selection process, we have formulated a series of
policies to provide a system guarantee for supplier access, selection,
approval, monitoring, and evaluation and clarified the responsibilities
of internal procurement personnel.

Before selecting a supplier and signing a contract with it, we will
conduct due diligence to evaluate the price, quality, reputation, ability,
and technology of the potential supplier to deliver products and
services, and may request it to send samples, product trial inspection
or on-the-spot investigation by personnel will be included in our
qualified supplier database after being reviewed by the purchasing
department. We also require suppliers to provide corporate
certifications, including but not limited to quality and/or environmental
management system certifications, to ensure compliance with national
and international standards. At the same time, in accordance with
the policies related to supplier selection, we regularly conduct
assessments and assessments of all suppliers to verify the
effectiveness of their quality systems and service performance, and
the assessment results serve as the basis for supplier evaluation.
For suppliers who cannot meet the basic procurement requirements
and whose assessment results are eliminated, all departments must
immediately terminate cooperation with them and replace them with
suppliers with better performance.

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had approximately 1,000
suppliers, of which more than 900 were from China. For the year
ended December 31, 2022, we conducted assessments for major
suppliers to examine whether their supply performance meets our
requirements for quality, service, and price. Our main suppliers
include suppliers of materials, assets, and services.
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EXTERNAL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In line with industry practice, we collaborate with CROs and CDMOs
to conduct and support our research and development and clinical
trials of our pipeline products, in particular our Core Products. Our
CRO partners are usually reputable or multinational companies that
primarily engage in biopharmaceutical development, biologic assay
development, clinical development, clinical trials management,
pharmacovigilance and outcomes research. The pre-clinical CROs
mainly provide us with services related to pre-clinical toxicity and
safety evaluations, such as animal studies, of our Core Products
in accordance with our study design and under our supervision.
We engage CROs for the clinical trials of our clinical-stage
products, in particular our Core Products. CROs generally provide a
comprehensive suite of services to assist us in the implementation and
management of clinical trials, including trial preparation, source data
verification, clinical safety management, data management and report
preparation. Our CDMO partners are usually multinational companies
that primarily engage in the development and manufacture of drugs.
We collaborate with our CDMO partners for the manufacturing of a
portion of our drug candidates, in particular our Core Products, to
supply for use in pre-clinical studies and clinical trials.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the expenses for CROs
and CDMOs attributable to the research and development of our
Core Products were RMB71.4 million. We select CROs and CDMOs
based on various factors, such as academic qualifications, industry
reputation and compliance with relevant regulatory agencies and
cost competitiveness. In addition, we consider their ability to facilitate
site selection, timely recruit patients and conduct complex clinical
trials efficiently with high quality. We typically enter into a general
service agreement with a CRO or CDMO for clinical trial management
services under which we execute separate work orders for each
clinical development project. We closely supervise these CROs and
CDMOs to ensure their performance in a manner that complies with
our protocols and applicable laws, which in turn protects the integrity
and authenticity of the data from our trials and studies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Intellectual property rights are important to our business. We develop
and use a number of proprietary methodologies, analytics, systems,
technologies, trade secrets, know-how and other intellectual property
during the conduct of our business. As of December 31, 2022, we
had 263 registered trademarks, 105 registered patents and 4 software
copyrights, and filed 300 patent applications in 5 countries or regions.
We also have 5 issued patents and 30 filed patent applications in
relation to our Core Products.

IMPACT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

In the middle of 2022, affected by the prevention and control
policies in Shanghai, the enroliment of clinical subjects in the our
research pipeline was affected and the clinical progress slowed
down, resulting in weakening of the competitive advantages of some
of the our R&D pipelines in the competitor position among similar
products in the market. In view of changes in the commercial value
of pipelines, especially for the clinical research progress of YH001
for the treatment of NSCLC and HCC. For example, since March
2022, many hospitals in China have allocated their resources to the
prevention and treatment of COVID-19, thus our clinical trials of Core
Products in some of the hospital sites were temporarily delayed.
We have been closely monitoring the progress of our clinical trials
throughout China by maintaining frequent communication with the
medical institutions that cooperate with us, and as of December 31,
2022, we had not experienced and did not anticipate that there will
be any material adverse effects on our collaboration with third party
service providers for our clinical development. Clinical progress has
inevitably been affected by the epidemic, which led to changes in the
market competition situation faced by pipeline products. Therefore,
the Company needs to adjust its research and development strategies
according to the market competition situation that each pipeline
product faces.

In the fourth quarter of 2022, due to the prevalence of the Omicron
variant of COVID-19 in China, attendance rates of our employees
in Beijing, Shanghai, and Jiangsu were affected accordingly and
severely dropped, and attendance rates of domestic and foreign
customers were also influenced, resulting in delays in the delivery of
orders for the our CRO business. Saved as disclosed above, as of the
date of this report, COVID-19 pandemic had not led to a material and
adverse impact on our business, financial conditions and results of
operations.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this report.

OVERVIEW
REVENUE

For the year ended December 31, 2022, all our revenue was
generated from services related to our pre-clinical research
services (which include gene editing, pre-clinical pharmacology
and efficacy evaluation and animal models selling) and
antibody development business. The following table sets forth a
breakdown of our revenue for the periods indicated:

BZE2022F12A31HIEFE HE2021F12A31HIEFE

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

AR¥BF R % AR®BFT %
W 2 Revenue RMB’ 000 % RMB’'000 %
ERRE Gene editing 61,075 11.4 51,146 14.4
& PR i 5438 2530 57 Pre-clinical pharmacology and 176,069 33.0 105,607 29.8

efficacy evaluation

HAB WS Animal models selling 169,328 31.7 107,555 30.3
SR Antibody development 126,887 23.8 88,606 25.0
Hh Others 522 0.1 1,641 0.5
et Total revenue 533,881 100.0 354,555 100.0

W mEE2021F12A31ALEFE
MHANRE354.6 58T IN50.6%
EHE2022F12A31BLEFENLY
ARME33 9088 - ZEMEEZ
AT BR R A 2218 BERGT A - X E)
PISHE A EE P B RO MR I IR HEED o

SHERA
BMMHEREDEATRE - 18
R BAER A -

HERAREZ2021F12A31H
IHFEHHARB107.1HE TN
32. 7% EEE 202212 A31 B IEHE
EHHARK1421BET » BRI
R AR R RS g A — K o

Revenue increased by 50.6% from approximately RMB354.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to approximately
RMB533.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
increase was mainly driven by the increase in revenue from our
pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy evaluation, animal models
selling and antibody development.

COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales consists of staff costs, cost of suppliers and
overhead costs.

Cost of sales increased by 32.7% from approximately RMB107.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to approximately
RMB142.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which
was generally in line with the increase in our revenue in the

Reporting Period.
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GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT
MARGIN

The gross profit, representing revenue less cost of sales,
increased by 58.4% from approximately RMB247.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021 to approximately RMB391.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in
the gross profit was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue
from our pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy evaluation,
animal models selling and antibody development. Gross profit
margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue. The
gross profit margin increased from 69.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to 73.4% for the year ended December
31, 2022. The slightly increase was primarily attributable to
the growth of our antibody development business which is of a
comparatively high gross profit margin.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the total other gains and
losses, net were approximately RMB86.7 million, representing an
increase of 238.7% as compared with approximately RMB25.6
million in the corresponding period last year.

Other gains and losses, net, consist of net (loss)/gain on disposal
of property, plant and equipment, change in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL, interest income, government grants (including
amortization of deferred income), gain on disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL, net realised losses on derivative financial
instruments, net foreign exchange gain and others. The increase
in total other gains and losses, net was mainly due to our gain
from disposal of interest in an associate, change in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL and net foreign exchange gain.
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NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF
BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Our biological assets mainly represent mice for breeding and
selling. For mice that remained as the Company’s biological
assets at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company
recognized the change in the fair value of these biological
assets, less costs of disposal at the period-end. The net change
in fair value of biological assets is recognized as profit or loss.
Net change in fair value of biological assets represents the
difference in fair value from the beginning to the end of the
period and does not generate actual cash inflow or outflow. The
fair values of biological assets are determined using the market
approach and cost approach. Recent unit trading price and
adjustment factors, which are based on the characteristics of the
biological assets, were used in the calculations of fair values. A
significant increase or decrease in the quantity in stock as well
as the estimated unit market price would result in a significant
increase or decrease in the fair value of the biological assets.

Our net change in fair value of biological assets decreased by
60.2% from approximately RMB9.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to approximately RMB3.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to the lower
increase in the number of humanized mice in stock during
2022 as compared to 2021. The stock level of humanized
mice increased approximately 1,000 heads in 2022, while
we recorded a increase of approximately 7,600 heads in the
number of humanized mice in stock during 2021. The unit price
of different product lines did not fluctuate materially during the
corresponding period hence it did not have material impact on
the net change in fair value of biological assets.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our selling and
marketing expenses were approximately RMB50.2 million,
representing an increase of 19.5% as compared with
approximately RMB42.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2021. The increase was mainly due to increased salaries which
was generally in line with the increase in our revenue in the
Reporting Period.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
EXPENSES

Our general and administrative expenses increased by 40.0%
from approximately RMB188.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to approximately RMB263.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to increased
staff costs as a result of increased salaries and listing expenses
charged to our consolidated statements of profit or loss.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Our research and development expenses increased by 25.2%
from approximately RMB558.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to approximately RMB699.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, because of (i) our increased
staff costs as a result of our increasing number of research
and development employees and increased salaries; (ii)
our increased direct material costs; and (iii) our increased
depreciation and amortization expenses.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our research and
development expenses:

MR R&D expenses
BE2022F12A31BLEFE #HZE2021F12A31BIEFE
Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
AR¥T T % AR®TR %
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
BIMA(TEIE  Staff costs (excluding share-
fefn 2 ) based payment) 223,155 31.9% 172,680 30.9%
ZONEEMAREE  Commission and technology
service fee 140,203 20.1% 126,296 22.6%
BEMEBAR Direct material costs 161,166 23.1% 111,404 19.9%
W& 2 1~f Share-based payment 9,751 1.4% 15,453 2.8%
Bl R ERERIEE Testing and laboratory
processing fee 25,308 3.6% 21,230 3.8%
TERBHEAS Depreciation and
amortization expenses 92,230 13.2% 65,691 11.8%
Hth Others 47,354 6.7% 45,731 8.2%
699,167 100.0% 558,485 100.0%
REBESRELRER LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

AEBEEIHFT—ERFHRESF
BY  BEERERARBFMNEE
RHEESHKT  WRERSREK
PP E - RMEHE - BAURER
BBREESIZNRDESHR - &
MAEBREREASREELR
T BRERRE  RRATEEEY
HEIRTS ~ EA B E LB -

HZE2022F12A318 © HRMAETT
FEGRESBFHAARKEG626.68
BT MEBZE2021F12A31845
AR®E466.48 8T - BN EER
ARESENEEMBIIEFE -

The Group monitored and maintained a level of cash equivalents
deemed adequate to finance our operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. During the Reporting Period,
we relied on equity financing as the major sources of liquidity.
We also generated cash from our revenue from our service
offerings, including gene editing, pre-clinical pharmacology and
efficacy evaluation services, animal models selling and antibody
development.

As at December 31, 2022, our cash at bank and on hand totaling
approximately RMB626.6 million, as compared to approximately
RMB466.4 million as at December 31, 2021. The increase was
mainly as a result of net proceeds received from the Global
Offering.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

39



40

EEEFWED T
Management Discussion and Analysis

TREI AL BN PR A E N F R LR
ERERERNGPRENE AR
MR MRS EBWERONIT

The following table sets forth a condensed summary of the
Group’s annual consolidated statement of cash flows for the
periods indicated and analysis of balances of cash and cash
equivalents for the periods indicated:

HZE2022F HZ=20214

12A31HLEFEE 12R31HILFE

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021

ARETT AREFIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

KRB TR F 5 Net cash used in operating activities (303,266) (365,778)

WEEB AR S FHE Net cash used in investing activities (153,738) (84,131)

EEE TSR R Net cash generated from financing activities 587,200 219,440

RERBLEEMRLFE Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 130,196 (230,469)

EREEHTE Effects of foreign exchange rate changes 14,241 (380)

M1 A1EBE S RIS EEY Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 466,445 697,294
RERNESRESZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the

end of the year 610,882 466,445

B H R A

HE2022F12A31HILFE » B
MARBHOARESBABET  BEHE
2021F 12 A31HIEFEMHARE

39.4EEILIEMNA2.4%  TEZMRN
HERENSEM -

g™
HZE2022F 12 A31HIEFE » M
HAEHAOBARKOSESE T * MAE
E2021F12A31 B ILFEEAT

FEEE

AR EMRRE - RPIREZE2022F
12A31BIEFEREZE2021F12A4
S1HLEEEDREEXBEHARE
602 2B E T RHARKE456E8
7750

o

FINANCE COSTS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, finance costs were
approximately RMB56.1 million, representing an increase by
42.4% from approximately RMB39.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021, primarily due to the increase in interest on
lease liabilities.

INCOME TAX

Our income tax was approximately RMBO0.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, and nil for the year ended December
31, 2021.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the foregoing, we incurred losses of approximately
RMB602.2 million and approximately RMB545.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022 and the year ended December
31, 2021, respectively.
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BANK AND OTHER LOANS AND GEARING
RATIO

As at December 31, 2022, the Group’s outstanding loans were
approximately RMB178.8 million (December 31, 2021: nil).
Short-term bank loans included loans from the Bank of Nanjing,
the Bank of Shanghai and the Bank of Communications, with a
term of one year and an annual interest rate of 3.65% to 4.8%.
Others loans were from Beijing Daxing Development Finance
Leasing Co., Ltd. under the sale and leaseback agreements
which was considered as a mortgage loan in substance, and the
loans will be paid in the next five years with an effective annual
interest rate of 6.0%.

The Group monitored its capital sufficiency using gearing ratio.
As at December 31, 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio (total
debt (including bank and other loans and lease liabilities) as a
percentage of total equity as of the end of the Reporting Period)
was 1.43 (December 31, 2021: 0.84).

NET CURRENT ASSETS

The Group's net current assets, as at December 31, 2022 were
approximately RMB313.3 million, while net current assets of
approximately RMB427.7 million as at December 31, 2021.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates
between USD and other currencies in which the Group conducts
business may affect the Group’s financial condition and results of
operations.

In response to the foreign exchange risk, the Company seeks
to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk by minimizing its
net foreign currency position to reduce the impact of the foreign
exchange risk on the Company. During the Reporting Period, the
Group entered into a contract related to hybrid foreign currency
derivative which contains a foreign currency forward component
and some options component, with a commercial bank. The
contract has been fully settled at the year end. The management
of the Company will continue to monitor closely its foreign
currency exposure and requirements and to arrange hedging
facilities when necessary.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our total capital
expenditure amounted to approximately RMB410.6 million,
primarily including investment in facility and office building, and
purchase of scientific equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

In July 2022, the Group signed sale and leaseback agreements
with Beijing Daxing Development Finance Leasing Co., Ltd.
(hereinafter referred to as “Daxing Development”) to sell and
lease back certain machinery and equipment amounting to
RMB60,305,873 to Daxing Development. The rent will be paid
in installments within the next five years. It is considered as a
mortgage loan in substance with an annual effective interest rate
of 6.0%.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As of December 31, 2022, we did not hold any significant
investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Doma Biopharmaceutical (Suzhou) Co., Ltd (“Doma”) was
incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary in September 2021
with an initial paid-up capital of RMB10 million. In May and
December 2022, the Company and several investors reached
joint investment agreements respectively. Several investors
increased the capital of Doma by a total of RMB940 million and
the Company subscribed RMB200 million as well, resulting in the
dilution of the Company’s equity in Doma from 100% to 18.26%.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended December 31,
2022, we did not conduct any other material acquisitions or
disposals. For details, please refer to the Prospectus.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of December 31, 2022, we had 1,348 employees in total,
including 921 employees in Beijing, 354 employees in Jiangsu
Province, and 73 employees in other regions of China and
overseas.

In compliance with the relevant PRC labor laws, we enter into
standard confidentiality and employment agreements with our
employees covering matters such as terms, wages, bonuses,
employee benefits, workplace safety, confidentiality obligations
and grounds for termination.

To remain competitive in the labor market, we provided various
incentives and benefits to our employees. We invest in continuing
education and training programs, including internal and external
training, for our management staff and other employees to
upgrade their skills and knowledge. We also provide competitive
salaries and stock incentive plans to our employees especially
key employees. We believe our benefits, working environment
and development opportunities for our employees have
contributed to good employee relations and employee retention.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSET

Save as disclosed in this report, we had not authorized any plan
for the material investments or acquisition of capital asset as of
the date of this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company held a Board meeting on March 6, 2023 to
propose issue of A Shares and listing on the Sci-Tech Board
of the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The issue of A Shares will be
subject to the approval by the Shareholders by way of special
resolutions at the extraordinary general meeting and the class
meetings, as well as the approvals by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. For
details, please refer to the announcements dated March 6, 2023
and March 15, 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any

material subsequent events after December 31, 2022 and up to
the date of this report.
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The Company is relying on the innovation of the underlying
technology platform to drive drug development. On the one
hand, we continue to increase investment in the innovation
of the underlying technology platform to ensure that we can
be at the forefront of innovative drug R&D, so as to achieve
continuous and in-depth cooperation with top drugs at home
and abroad. By continuously transferring or authorizing the
developed potential antibody molecules/sequences, we can
ensure more sustainable long-term benefits. On the other hand,
through flexible and diverse clinical co-development/transfer
development, the Company has reached clinical development
cooperation with many pharmaceutical companies to accelerate
the clinical advancement of the drug R&D pipeline. Furthermore,
we will continue to increase resource investment in pre-clinical
R&D products and service lines to ensure continued expansion
of business scale and steady growth in sales revenue. We aim to
achieve our goal and mission through the following strategies:

o We will continue to make efforts to establish partnerships
with leading pharmaceutical companies in China and
globally. Accelerating the completion of the R&D of Project
Integrum, through the establishment of 400,000-500,000
fully human antibody sequence libraries covering more than
1,000 innovative targets, and achieving antibody molecules/
sequences transfer/authorization cooperation with more
domestic and abroad pharmaceutical companies, to
deepen cooperation by obtaining upfront fee, milestone fee
and royalty cooperation. With the transfer of more antibody
molecules/sequences in the future, we will gain huge
commercial returns.

. We will continue to increase investment to ensure that
the pre-clinical R&D product and service business line
continues to maintain a high profit level with rapid growth.
On the one hand, leveraging our leading gene editing
platform, we plan to develop new disease mouse models
with various tumors, autoimmune diseases, cardiovascular
and cerebrovascular diseases, metabolic diseases, and
neurological diseases to provide differentiated in vivo
pharmacological and pharmacodynamics services to meet
the needs of our customers. On the other hand, we will
continue to explore the overseas drug R&D service market,
and promote the rapid growth of the Company’s overseas
sales revenue.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Leveraging our strong clinical development team and
abundant clinical resources, we plan to promote our product
pipeline globally to accelerate the commercialization of our
drugs. In the future, our overall R&D strategy will be to lead
the early clinical development of drug molecules, and then
reach co-development/transfer development with many drug
R&D companies, and accelerate the Phase II/IIl clinical
R&D of each antibody drug molecule and commercialization
with the major partners. We will not invest its own resources
in the short term to lead Phase Il clinical trials and drug
commercialization. We endeavor to reach cooperation
arrangements with more partners to improve the speed of
drug discovery and development.

We believe technology is key to our platform and services,
and plan to advance our overall technology levels. We
plan to apply them to TCR based therapy, research on the
mechanism of immune response and more. For our NK
cells humanized mouse models, we also plan to make them
applied to NK cells receptor antibody drug screening, and
to achieve facilitated multiple antibodies drug development
due to the inclusion of multiple immune checkpoints in
the NK cells gene cluster, which can greatly simplify the
process of antibody drug development. The development
of bi-specific antibodies and bi-specific-antibody drug
conjugates (ADC drugs) would be one of the important
segments of our business in the future, which we believe
present significant efficacy and safety advantages. We plan
to achieve their development by leveraging our RenLite fully
humanized antibody mouse platform.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Shen Yuelei (Jt AE), aged 53, is one of the founders of our
Group. Dr. Shen joined our Company as a Director and manager in
November 2009 and is currently serving as chairman of the Board and
general manager of our Company, and as an executive Director of our
Company. Dr. Shen is responsible for the overall strategic planning
of our Group and supervises and oversees the management of our
business. Dr. Shen is the chairperson of our strategy development
committee and a member of our nomination committee.

Dr. Shen possesses extensive experience in managing biotechnology
companies and strategic planning. He has served for many years at

our subsidiaries, including those as set out below:

DA EHE B ERAE
Name of company Position Period of service
BRERULR) EMITIEARAF BExER E:REE 201456 A e

Biocytogen (Beijing) Biological
Engineering Co., Ltd

BRERIHEREYRMBERAA

Biocytogen Jiangsu Co., Ltd.

BFEAIEMERBRERAT

Haimen Hechuang Animal Experiment
Technology Co., Ltd

HANEER X (AR BR AT

Eucure (Beijing) Biopharma Co., Ltd

BIOCYTOGEN BOSTON CORP

BIOCYTOGEN BOSTON CORP
MEEMELR (L) ERAF

Maple Veterinary Hospital (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

Chairman of the board, director and
manager

EER EEFELRE

Chairman of the board, director and
general manager

WITESE

Executive director

BEERNTES

B

BER

General manager and executive director
Director

Chairman of the board

BERES
President and director
PITEEFRCE

Executive director and manager

Since June 2014

2014510 A i
Since October 2014

20164F2 A
Since February 2016

202148 A
201853 AE 202049 A
2020F9 A £ 202148 A
Since August 2021
From March 2018 to
September 2020
From September 2020 to
August 2021
201846 A #E
Since June 2018
20204F3 A 8
Since March 2020
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Dr. Shen served as a technician of the China Pharmaceutical and
Biological Products Control Institute (FFBI%E%EMEREEFT) from
July 1995 to May 1997. From March 2004 to October 2008, he was a
post-doctoral researcher at the Howard Hughes Medical Institute of
the New York University.

Dr. Shen graduated from Wuhan University (£ AXZ) in the PRC
with a bachelor’s degree in virology in July 1992 and from the
National Institutes for Food and Drug Control (FEI& & %R & E
f7Eft) (formerly known as the National Institute for the control of
Pharmaceutical and Biological Products (71 %54 W @& EFT))
in the PRC with a master’s degree in immunology in July 1995. From
June 1997 to June 2003, he studied immunology and virology under
the biomedical sciences doctor of philosophy program at the graduate
school of biomedical sciences at the University of Massachusetts at
Worcester in the United States, and was conferred with a doctor of
philosophy degree in June 2004.

Dr. Shen was the founding member and manager of BIOCYTOGEN,
LLC, a company incorporated in the U.S., and a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company prior to its voluntary deregistration on
June 30, 2021. BIOCYTOGEN, LLC was engaged in the selling
of the Group’s gene editing services. Dr. Shen confirmed that
(i) BIOCYTOGEN, LLC was insolvent immediately prior to its
deregistration with substantially all of its then indebtedness owed to
the other entities within the Group; (ii) he is not aware of any actual or
potential claim which has been or could potentially be made against
him as a result of the deregistration of BIOCYTOGEN, LLC; and (iii)
there was no wrongful act on his part leading to the deregistration of
BIOCYTOGEN, LLC.

Dr. Ni Jian ({2f8), aged 51, is one of our founders, our executive
Director and is primarily responsible for overseeing our Group's
operations and management. Dr. Ni joined our Company as a Director
and legal representative in November 2009. Dr. Ni is a member of our

remuneration and evaluation committee.
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Dr. Ni possesses extensive experience in operating and managing
biotechnology companies. She has served for many years at our
subsidiaries, including those as set out below:

BREE (LR EMIRBRAA
Biocytogen (Beijing) Biological
Engineering Co., Ltd
BRERIHERNEYRMBER LA
Biocytogen Jiangsu Co., Ltd.
ERIE BRI (b)) AR QA

Eucure (Beijing) Biopharma Co., Ltd

EUCURE BIOPHARMA BOSTON CORP
EUCURE BIOPHARMA BOSTON CORP

BIOCYTOGEN BOSTON CORP.
BIOCYTOGEN BOSTON CORP.

Bz IR A R

Position Period of service
= 2014F6 A2
Director Since June 2014

Bx 2014F10 A %8

Director Since October 2014
EER 201842 AZE 202049 A
EEREKE 20182 A& 202148 A

Chairman of the board From February 2018 to
September 2020
From February 2018 to

August 2021
201845 A

Since May 2018

Director and general manager

BE - EFF - AERWE
President, director,

treasurer and secretary
AEFRMWE

Treasurer and secretary

201846 A
Since June 2018

R+ 20099 A MABrigham and
Women’s Hospital (15 i B8 2207 2k 251 B
HIE) MEBBEESHREBE - K2016
9 A% Z{FAYouhoe Biopharma Inc. &
Youhoe Biopharma Limited (¥ &RAR
AIEEIEROIZERAR) WES -

R R 1993410 AE 1997411 AEH
BEEMEMERREMETELCEMNE -
7B+ R 2004F12 BE200746 A BT
EBR LA ZLangone Health ) ZEEIRT -
200756 AE2008F 6 A RIEEmHBEE
DAREBERAERAE TSR - 20084
8 AZE 200948 A & 1 = B0 4 B8 2T Ml B
Dana-Farber Cancer Institute¥&{E % & %
FlEh - 20144F9 A Z 20184 4 A LT EE i
BB EERERBRBHARFBHIT -
B2020F5 ARREHRMEETHERZA

Dr. Ni joined the Department of Pharmacy at Brigham and Women’s
Hospital, a teaching affiliate of Harvard Medical School, as a
senior pharmacist in September 2009. In September 2016, she
was appointed as a director of Youhoe Biopharma Inc. and Youhoe
Biopharma Limited, both of which are holding companies without any
interest in our Company.

Dr. Ni served as a biochemical technician at the China Institute for
the Control of Pharmaceutical and Biological Products (7 Bl %,
YRR EFT) in the PRC from October 1993 to November 1997.
From December 2004 to June 2007, she was a pharmacist at New
York University Langone Health in the United States. From June
2007 to June 2008, she was a resident pharmacist in West Virginia
University Hospital’'s Inpatient Pharmacy in the United States. From
August 2008 to August 2009, she served as a resident pharmacist at
the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, which is affiliated to the Harvard
Medical School in the United States. She then served as an adjunct
professor in the School of Pharmacy at the Massachusetts College of
Pharmacy and Health Sciences in the United States from September
2014 to April 2018. Since May 2020, she has been a partner of Eucure
Evergreen.
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In May 2004, she received a doctorate degree in pharmacy from
the Massachusetts College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences in the
United States. In October 2020, she obtained her master’'s degree in
public health from Columbia University in the United States.

Dr. Zhang Haichao (3R¥&i#), aged 43, is our executive Director and
senior operation director of animal center, and is primarily responsible
for overseeing our Group’s operations and management and animal
model business line. Dr. Zhang joined our Company in December
2009 and served as the head of the department of molecular biology
till March 2012. From March 2012 to October 2015, Dr. Zhang was
the marketing director of our Company. From September 2015 to July
2019, she was a supervisor of our Company. She has served as an
executive Director of our Company since July 24, 2019.

Dr. Zhang also holds various positions at our subsidiaries, including
those as set out below:

BREEIHLIRNEYREMERA R
Biocytogen Jiangsu Co., Ltd.
BREE (LR AW IRERAA

Biocytogen (Beijing) Biological Engineering

Co., Ltd
HANBEER () ARAE
Eucure (Beijing) Biopharma Co., Ltd

52 A B

Position Period of service

BE 2014F10 A %8
Supervisor Since October 2014
= 201410 A e
Supervisor Since October 2014
5% 20209 A& 202148 A
Director From September 2020 to

August 2021

SR1E 72004 46 A £ 7 BA At Al 88 A 2
RSEY BT A - 201166 KT
EMABREHEB LB -

Dr. Zhang obtained a bachelor's degree in biochemistry from Hebei
Normal University (JAIdbRT#3AZ) in the PRC in June 2004. In June
2011, she obtained a doctorate degree in Chinese medicine from
China Pharmaceutical University (FFBI2:%:} X2 in the PRC.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Yiliang (BiZ& R ), aged 51, is our non-executive Director. Mr.
Wei is primarily responsible for overseeing our Group’s operations and
management. Mr. Wei joined our Company as a Director in September
2015. Mr. Wei is a member of our strategy development committee
and audit committee.

Mr. Wei possesses extensive experience in operating and managing
biotechnology companies. He served for many years at our
subsidiaries, including those as set out below

NEEMHE B ERHE

Name of company Position Period of service

BREBIHEREYEMERR BE% 201512 A8

Biocytogen Jiangsu Co., Ltd. Director Since December 2015

BREE (LR £AYIEERAA £F 20164F1 A

Biocytogen (Beijing) Biological Engineering Director Since January 2016
Co., Ltd

RMBEER (b)) BRQF) B% 2016512 A Z 202148 A

Eucure (Beijing) Biopharma Co., Ltd Director From December 2016 to

August 2021

BELAEBE2016F 2 AREMTRHKAIENRE
ERARATKESRALIE - 1998F9 A
F2016F 1 AR ERRSMELERE
BRAR (ABTFESHREEERL R - H
2EMBARRIREZRERARAARN
NAREERT  TERFREETE) -

B AEN1993F 7 AEFE I E T
PrEUS i TR 2 24 - B 200946 A
T R B B BB ER R TR B (AT AR B BB B B R
BT ) USR8 T -

Mr. Wei has been serving as a director and general manager of SDIC
Venture Capital Co., Ltd (Bl EI¥IEEEEERAF]) since February
2016. From September 1998 to January 2016, he worked in the
China SDIC High-tech Industry Investment Corporation (FFEE# 5
HEXREBMR AR, formerly known as China High-tech Investment
Group (FEIR#TIE£EAR])) whose wholly-owned subsidiary High-
Tech Investment Development Co., Ltd. (8 EEZREER QA
was an investor shareholder of our Company, primarily engaging in
investments management.

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from
Northwest Institute of Light Industry (FE3LE T %28) in the PRC in July
1993, and a doctorate degree in finance from the Chinese Academy of
Fiscal Sciences (F BI8f B EIEMF%ET) (formerly known as the Research
Institute for Fiscal Science of the Ministry of Finance (B4 EEBEA B £
B92F)) in the PRC in June 2009.
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Dr. Zhou Kexiang (AT #), aged 59, is our non-executive Director
and is primarily responsible for overseeing our Group's operations and
management. Dr. Zhou joined our company as a Director in March
2018. Dr. Zhou is a member of our strategy development committee.

Dr. Zhou also holds various positions at our subsidiaries, including
those as set out below:

NEER B EREAME
Name of company Position Period of service
ERIE BRI (b)) AR QA B% 201852 A% 202148 A
Eucure (Beijing) Biopharma Co., Ltd Director From February 2018 to
August 2021
BREEIHEARNEYREMERAA] 5% 201812 A8
Biocytogen Jiangsu Co., Ltd. Director Since December 2018
BREE (LR EMIRERAT 5% 201965 A
Biocytogen (Beijing) Biological Engineering Director Since May 2019

Co., Ltd

EE+B2015F 12 AREERRBEREAR
B2 (ORI AR AR RERE S aLE
REZ AERERE - WH AR
EIHBREFXFECERARARNES -

At TApollomics Inc. WIEHITE
Fo-HRABTEMRARBEERESRE
FERE - FHERTHYE  LRSEARQ
Al & Apollomics Inc. A FEEE R &8 -
A LT ApollomicsEZR B I T2 3
# E AR AIEE 8. 10 RFT I (E A 88 KR F [

Bo

ABTMR1984F 7 AT+ ERM AT BRKE
(AIBE—EBAB)NREFE22 L2
fif » FA199047 A K% 199346 A /L1854t
RABEETNBNFTEEZEEGRAF
IR ARBRER (AELRERAR) HE
B+ R4 -

Dr. Zhou has been a general manager and director of the equity
investment department of CMBI Capital Management (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (BIREBEEARERE ORI BRAF) since December 2015,
responsible for equity investment. Furthermore, he is currently
a director of Jiangsu China Merchants Bank Industrial Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (I#BREXESEEFRAF]).

Dr. Zhou is currently serving as a non-executive director of Apollomics
Inc.. As Dr. Zhou is not involved in the daily management an operation
of our Company and of Apollomics Inc. given his non-executive
roles in both companies as an investor board representative, the
directorship held by Dr. Zhou in Apollomics would not give rise to any
material competition issue under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Dr. Zhou received his Bachelor of Science degree in military medicine
from Southern Medical University (F3/52#:IKE formerly known
as First Military Medical University (8—Z2X2)) in China in July
1984, and his M.D. and Ph.D. degrees from Peking University Health
Science Center (1t RAEZEEEIR formerly known as Beijing Medical
College (It REFRIKE)) in China, as recognized by the Academic
Degree Evaluation Committee (Z2AIFFFZEE) of Peking University
Health Science Center in July 1990 and June 1993.
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Ms. Zhang Leidi (R&#), aged 43, holds a master's degree in
finance from Guanghua School of Management of Peking University
(AR AREBNEERERT). From July 2003 to February 2010, she worked
as a consultant, senior consultant and project manager at Roland
Berger Strategy Consultants. From March 2011 to September 2011,
she worked as a part-time consultant at Roland Berger Strategy
Consultants. From October 2011 to September 2016, she worked
as a senior director of Direct Investment Department at China Life
Investment Holdings Limited. During the period from March 2019 to
April 2022, she was a director of Bloomage Biotechnology Corporation
Limited (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock
Code: 688363). She has been serving as a managing director of China
Life Equity Investment Limited since October 2016. She has also been
serving as the chairperson of management committee of China Life
Equity Investment Limited since April 2020.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Hua Fengmao (E&EX) aged 54, joined our Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in July 2021.
He is primarily responsible for providing independent opinion and
judgment to the Board. Mr. Hua is the chairperson of our remuneration
and evaluation committee and a member of our audit committee and
nomination committee.

Mr. Hua has been the chairman of China Finance Strategies
Investment Holdings Ltd. (FEE RS EERBR AR since
August 2014. He has also served as the chief executive officer of
ChemPartner PharmaTech Co., Ltd. (EEEX#BERHBRAF)
("Chempartner”), a contract research organization company that is
involved in pharmaceutical research and development and listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300149), since July 2021.
Since August 2021, he has been a director of Chempartner. As Mr.
Hua is not involved in the daily management and operation of our
Company and given his non-executive role in our Company, the chief
executive officer and a director role held by Mr. Hua in Chempartner
would not give rise to any material competition issue under Rule
8.10 of the Listing Rules. From July 2003 to October 2005, Mr. Hua
was a licensed representative of CITIC CLSA Capital Markets Co.,
Ltd. From April 2008 to August 2014, Mr. Hua worked at BOCOM
International Holdings Company Limited (REBBERAERAT]), a
financial services company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3329), and his last position was managing director in
the private equity department. From July 2018 to April 2021, Mr. Hua
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was the chief financial officer of Viva Biotech Holdings Limited (##dn
FRNE (&) BBR2AF]) (“Viva Biotech”), a biotechnology company
that provides drug discovery services and is listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1873). From July 2018 to June 2021, he
was an executive director of Viva Biotech. From November 2020 to
June 2021, he was the chairman of the board of directors of Zhejiang
Langhua Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (W TEAZERZEHR A F]). Since
July 21, 2021, Mr. Hua has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Shanghai NewMed Medical Co., Ltd. (/84K
BRI AR AT, an applicant seeking to list on the Main Board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He has been an independent non-
executive director of Sirnaomics Ltd., a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2257), and of Lepu Biopharma
Co., Ltd. (Z£ZEEMRERNBRAF]), a biopharmaceutical company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2157), since
December 2021. He has also been an independent non-executive
director of Ferretti S.p.A., a company listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 9638), since December
2021.

Mr. Hua obtained his bachelor’s degree in English from Shanghai
International Studies University (LE/&9NHFEKE) in the PRC in July
1989, and a master’s degree in business administration from the
International University of Japan (BFEKZ) in Japan in June 1997.

Dr. Yu Changyuan (M&3&), aged 60, joined our Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in December
2020. He is primarily responsible for providing independent opinion
and judgment to the Board. Dr. Yu is the chairperson of our nomination
committee and a member of our audit committee and remuneration
and evaluation committee.

Dr. Yu has been a professor at the School of Life Science and
Technology, Beijing University of Chemical Engineering Technology
(kR IREBEGREZHEFMER) since March 2005, and an
independent director of Beijing Yigiao Shenzhou Technology Co., Ltd.
(At REBEMNEEIRMD AR AE]), a biotechnology company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 301047), since March
2020. From August 2002 to December 2004, he was a post-doctoral
researcher at the China Academy of Traditional Chinese Medicine (F
B R R AT 7T B ).
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In May 1990, Dr. Yu obtained a master’s degree in medicine from the
School of Traditional Chinese Medicine at Shaanxi University (BRFaep
BEE20t) in the PRC. In July 2002, he obtained a doctorate degree in
medicine from Xiangya Medical College of Central South University (/1
A MIEE 2PT) in the PRC.

Ms. Liang Xiaoyan (R##), aged 56, joined our Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in December
2020. She is primarily responsible for providing independent opinion
and judgment to the Board. Ms. Liang is the chairperson of audit
committee and a member of nomination committee and remuneration

and evaluation committee.

Ms. Liang has been a partner of the accounting firm ShineWing
Certified Public Accountants (fE:k & HEIEAT) in Beijing, PRC
since November 2000 and an independent non-executive director of
EFORT Intelligent Equipment Co Ltd (BRKXBFLEEEERMHBBRAR]), a
company principally engaged in the manufacture of industrial robots
that is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688165),
since June 2019. Since December 2018, she has been a director of
Beijing Rongce Financial Consulting Co., Ltd. (It RESRB & BEMARE
E/NCIIN

Ms. Liang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from the Central
University of Finance and Economics (FR R B4 KEZ formerly known as
AR S BERT) in the PRC in June 1988. In July 1999, she obtained
a postgraduate degree in accounting in the PRC as recognized by the
Academic Degree Evaluation Committee (B2fIFFEZEE). Ms. Liang
is a member of the Beijing Institute of Certified Public Accountants (3t
RaMEstaineg).
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SUPERVISORS

Ms. Li Yan (Z#F), aged 34, joined our Group in December 2009 and
has been a Supervisor of our Company since July 2019. She was
appointed as chairman of our Supervisory Committee in December
15, 2020 and has been the director of the president’s office since July
2015. From March 2013 to July 2015, Ms. Li served as office director
of our Company. From July 2012 to March 2013, Ms. Li was head of
office of our Company.

Ms. Li has been a supervisor of Maple Veterinary Hospital (Beijing)
Co., Ltd (MEEWER (L) AR A7) since March 2020 and of
Eucure (Beijing) since September 2020.

Ms. Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from Renmin
University of China (Bl ARKEZ) in the PRC in January 2014.

Ms. Sun Chunli (2&), aged 42, joined our Group in March 2010.
She was appointed as a Supervisor in December 2020, and the
director of human resources of our Company in August 2020.

Ms. Sun was the head of the molecular biology team in the gene
editing department at our Company from February 2010 to August
2012, and was promoted to the position of technical director of
the same department from September 2012 to April 2014. She was
later appointed as the director of the quality department from May
2014 to July 2015 and as the deputy director of the department
of comprehensive security from August 2015 to July 2020 at our
Company.

Ms. Sun obtained a bachelor’'s degree in biotechnology from Hebei
University of Science and Technology (AIdERHEAER) in the PRC
in June 2004. In July 2007, she obtained a master’'s degree in
biochemistry and molecular biology from Hebei Agricultural University
(bR EKXE) in the PRC.
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Dr. Yao Jiawei (Zk{E#), aged 40, joined the Company in June 2012.
He currently is the senior director of the gene editing department.
Dr. Yao received a master’s degree in Biological Engineering from
Tianjin University (KZAXEZ) in June 2008 and a doctor’'s degree in
pharmaceutical engineering from Tianjin University in June 2012.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Shen Yuelei (Jt AE), aged 53, is our chairman of the Board,
executive Director and general manager. For the biography of Dr.
Shen, see “— Directors — Executive Directors” for details.

Dr. Ni Jian (f2%), aged 51, is our executive Director. For the
biography of Dr. Ni, see “~Directors — Executive Directors” for details.

Dr. Zhang Haichao (3R/&#), aged 43, is our executive Director and
senior operation director of animal center. For the biography of Dr.
Zhang, see “— Directors —Executive Directors” for details.

Ms. Zhu Yan (%), aged 58, joined our Group in December 2011
and has been the vice president since July 2015 and our deputy
general manager since December 2020.

From August 1988 to March 1999, Ms. Zhu joined Shougang General
Hospital (Hifi#2%F) as a physician. Her last positions there were
deputy director and attending physician of its cardiovascular disease
prevention and control Institute. She was recognized as an attending
physician by the Beijing Intermediate Professional and Technology
Qualification Evaluation Committee (It RM R FE MBS TE
Z8%) in November 1995 while she was working there. She was
awarded the Third Prize for Ministry of Health Science and Technology
Progress Award (&4 SR 26 =% 42) by the Chinese Academy of
Medical Science Institute of Cardiovascular Diseases (F1EZER| £
B O M ERAFRAT) in June 1998. She was also awarded the Prize for
Progress of Science and Technology of Beijing (1t = RIE i # 45 58)
for the study on prevention and treatment of hypertension among the
Shougang community (& i+t [E A& S MMEREPAMTT) by the Beijing
People’s Government (It Rm AREAT). Afterwards, she worked in
various companies in the PRC. From March 2010 to October 2011, she
was the director of the department of strategic development of Beijing
Hyundai Gundam Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (It RBREEEVRMAER
RA)).

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Ms. Zhu obtained a bachelor's degree in preventive healthcare
from Harbin Medical University (WGEEEEIRE) in the PRC in July
1988. She obtained a master's degree in business management
from Tsinghua University (8% X2) in the PRC as recognized by the
Academic Degree Evaluation Committee (2T Z E€) of Tsinghua

University in January 2005.

Dr. Guo Chaoshe (ZB#&&), aged 52, joined our Group in October
2013 and has been the vice president of the marketing department
since July 2015 and our deputy general manager since December
2020.

From July 2006 to November 2010, and from February 2011 to
November 2013, he was a fellow at the Boston Children’s Hospital, a
teaching affiliate of Harvard Medical School in the United States. From
October 2013 to June 2015, he was the research and development
director of our Company.

In July 1999, Dr. Guo obtained a master’'s degree in physiology from
Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences of Peking Union Medical
College (IERIBAMERIKE) in the PRC. In November 2003, he
obtained a doctorate degree in biochemistry from the University of
Gottingen in Germany.

Dr. Yang Yi (#%3%), aged 44, joined our Group in November 2016.
He has been our chief scientific officer since January 2020, and our
deputy general manager since December 15, 2020.

Dr. Yang was a post-doctoral fellow at the Littman Lab of New York
University from 2008 to 2014. Since July 2014, he has been a tenure-
track assistant professor in the department of microbiology and
immunology within the College of Medicine in the Medical University
of South Carolina (MUSC). He then became the director of antibody
discovery of our Company from November 2016 to December 2019.
He has been chief scientific officer since September 2018, and has
been the director of drug research and development since January
2020.

Dr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in biology in July 1999 and
with a master’s degree in microbiology in July 2002 from Fudan
University (28 K£) in the PRC. In May 2008, he obtained a doctorate
degree in immunology from the University of Connecticut in the United
States.
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Dr. Lin Qingcong (#EH&), aged 58, joined our Group in February
2018 and has been our deputy general manager since December
2020. He has also been serving as CEO of BIOCYTOGEN BOSTON
CORP since February 1, 2018.

He was a post-doctoral researcher at Albert Einstein College of
Medicine from February 1999 to August 2001 and at Harvard Medical
School from 2001 to 2002. From 2002 to 2005, he was director of
gene modification laboratory at the Harvard-Partners Center for
Genetics and Genomics. From 2005 to 2009, he was a senior scientist
and principal scientist at the Global Biotherapeutic Technologies
department of Wyeth Pharmaceutical Co Ltd (acquired by Pfizer Inc.
in 2009). He also worked at the immune protein screening group of
Pfizer Inc. between 2010 and 2013. From January 2014 to February
2018, he worked at Shenogen Pharma Group (1t I EE BRI AR
‘A 7]) and his last position was senior vice president.

Dr. Lin obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in biology (cell biology)
from Wuhan University (EUZAZ) in the PRC in July 1984. He then
obtained a Master of Science degree from Wuhan University in the
PRC in August 1987. In January 1999, he obtained a doctorate degree
in philosophy from the Albert Einstein College of Medicine in the
United States.

Dr. Li Zhihong (&%), aged 53, joined our Group in March 2019.
He has been the deputy general manager of our Company since
December 2020, and our chief regulatory and strategy officer of the
Eucure (Beijing) since March 2019. Dr. Li has clinical development
and review experience in several therapeutics areas including
oncology. He worked at Pfizer Inc., and was as staff fellow at Food
and Drug Administration of the United States from May 2009 to
December 2017.

Dr. Li obtained a bachelor's degree and a master's degree in
pharmacy in July 1992 and in June 1995 respectively from Beijing
Medical University (It REEIKE) in the PRC. In March 2007, he
obtained a doctor of philosophy degree from the University of
Minnesota in the United States.
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Ms. Wang You (E#f), aged 43, joined our Group in October 2019.
She has been our deputy general manager since December 2020, and
the chief operation officer of Eucure (Beijing) since October 2019.

From May 2004 to May 2012, Ms. Wang was a laboratory assistant,
project coordinator, senior project coordinator, associate project
manager, project manager, associate business development manager
and business development manager of Q Squared Solutions (Beijing)
Co., Lid. (REEHEEME (JbR) BRAF]). She was also the Asia
Regional Pre-Analytical Services and Investigator Manager at Q
Squared Solutions (Singapore) Co., Ltd. between May 2012 and July
2013. From July 2013 to July 2014, she held the role of associate
business development director at IQVIA China (X E&+HE (REFR)).
From September 2014 to August 2018, she served at Paraxel China
Co., Ltd. (1525 25t (L/8) BR7A7F]) as she was the director
of business development, head of business development in China,
and senior director of portfolio management. From September 2018
to October 2019, she was the head of Biotech Delivery Unit at IQVIA
China (X E#&+H=).

Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in medicine from Chongging
Medical University (EEEEIAZ) in the PRC in July 2003.

Dr. Yu Zhaoxue (ER82), aged 59, joined our Group in April 2020 and
has been our deputy general manager since December 2020.

Dr. Yu joined Emory University as a postdoctoral fellow in October
2000. He then joined Alexion Pharmaceutical Inc., a biopharmaceutical
company listed on the NASDAQ (stock code: ALXN) from September
2006 to December 2016 as a senior scientist Ill. Since January 2017,
he has been the director of the complement system department at
Achillion Pharmaceutical, Inc., a company delisted from NASDAQ.
From October 2018 to March 2020, he worked at Gemini Therapeutics,
Inc., a medicine company listed on the NASDAQ (stock code: GMTX).

Dr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in medicine in July 1987 and
a master's degree in anatomy in June 1992 from Hubei University
of Medicine (j#1LE8Z3T) in the PRC. In July 2000, he obtained a
doctorate degree in medicine from Zhongshan Medical University (7
IIEERIK2) in the PRC.
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Mr. Liu Bin (2I38), aged 54, has been our chief financial officer since
May 2020.

He was the financial controller at ABB Xi'an Power Capacitor Co., Ltd.
(ABBFILZE HERZEARAA]) from March 2003 to April 2007. He was
the chief financial officer at Shiji Tianle Wholesale Asset Portfolio (it
Rt REFEEEEME) from June 2010 to January 2016, and also
at Xinjiang Keda Julong Equity Investment Partnership (s@fIAE
BB EARAELE). He was also the vice president of finance
of Hitevision Co., Ltd. (B&RHERMNBERAF), a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002955), from December
2018 to December 2019.

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor's degree in applied mathematics in June
1990 from Huazhong University of Science and Technology (ZEF Y
AZ) in the PRC. He also obtained a Master of Science degree from
the University of Akron in the United States in August 1995. In August
1998, he obtained a master’'s degree in business administration
from the Arizona State University in the United States and a master’s
degree in international management from the Thunderbird School
of Global Management (formerly known as the American Graduate
School of International Management) in the United States.

Mr. Wang Yongliang (£ %), aged 38, joined our Group in July
2017. He has been our deputy general manager since July 2021 and
our Board Secretary since December 2020.

Mr. Wang worked at SinoChem Group (R EIF /L& B2 F]) from August
2010 to February 2014. From February 2014 to September 2015, he
was a senior investment manager of China SDIC High-tech Industry
Investment Corporation (FEBERMEZREFR AT, formerly
known as China High-tech Investment Group (FES#IREEERA]))
whose wholly-owned subsidiary High-Tech Investment Development
Co., Ltd. (2#REZHEAMRAF]) was an investor shareholder of our
Company. He was also a senior investment manager, vice president
and deputy investment director of Harvest Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (EEREEEARAF]) from October 2015 to July 2017.
Since July 2017, he has served as an assistant to the chairman of the
Board of our Company.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Mr. Wang was awarded a Bachelor of Science degree with chemistry
as his major from Nankai University (FFIAZ) in the PRC in June
2007. In June 2010, he obtained a Master of Science degree with
macromolecular chemistry and physics as his major from Nankai
University (FIFIAZ) in the PRC.

Dr. Chen Zhaorong (BRJE%), aged 64, has been our deputy general
manager. He has also been the chief medical officer of Eucure
(Beijing) since June 2021.

Dr. Chen was the representative of Sanofi China (ABIZLIFEER
BEBEFREAF]) and the vice president of GlaxoSmithKline China (&
BELR(FEIREBER AT EEHAF]). He also worked as the chief
medical officer of CASI Pharmaceuticals, Inc, a biopharmaceuticals
company listed on NASDAQ (stock code: CASI). From November 2016
to December 2017, he served as the chief medical officer of Phagelux
(Nanjing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd. GFH%ZR(BR)EVRIBEERAR]).
He was also the chief medical officer of Chime Biologics (Wuhan)
Co., Ltd (SRE(EE) £MEsFR A F), formerly known as Xikang
(Wuhan) Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (ERE(EZ)EMEEBRAT]),
from January 2018 to January 2020, and the chief medical director of
Shanghai Langyu Health Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (_E/&3p&E#EEE
R (£E)BR AR, formerly known as H/EBEEAMRMARAR).

Dr. Chen obtained a bachelor’'s degree in medicine in August 1983
and a master’'s degree in pharmacology in October 1985 from
Shandong Medical University (IIFRERIAKXZ) (formerly known as
Shandong Medical College (IR %2F3)) in the PRC. In May 1989,
he obtained a doctorate degree in philosophy from the University of
Adelaide in Australia.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance with a view to safeguarding the interests of Shareholders
enhancing corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles as set out in the CG code in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the period from the Listing
Date to the date of this report, the Company has complied with all the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code apart from the deviation
below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of the
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. As at the date of
this report, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company were held by Dr. Shen Yuelei. Details in relation to
the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are set out
under the section headed “Board of Directors — Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” of this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and is responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board delegates
certain responsibilities to various dedicated committees in accordance
with relevant PRC laws, regulations, the Articles and the Listing Rules.

The Board has developed and regularly evaluates the Company’s
corporate culture system to ensure that it matches the pace of
the Company’s development. Directors and senior management
lead by example and conduct regular training to enhance their
ability to fulfill their own policies in order to uphold the Company’s
values and strategies. In addition, the Board has established an
accountability system to take appropriate action in the event of
misconduct in order to protect the interests of the Company. In terms
of internal management, the Board actively promotes an open and
effective internal questioning environment and provides effective
communication channels for employees to express their views. The
Board also provides rewards and punishments for the performance of
employees at all levels, and actively promotes the cultivation of talents
to drive the operation and research and development of the Company.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with the standards of applicable laws and regulations, and
have acted in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders
at all times.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



BB RE
E?%@Ezfﬁﬂjﬂi”‘ﬂﬁﬁﬁikikﬁﬁ )
RERAKEMAEAREREREERE -
[\ e T 3R % A P A B B ~¢E\%A1*EE’U§
SHEMAERS  REBERRAFAWE - MU
REMBRPBREEEH -

PREEHN AV RENESHEREE
HURRABIWENER KR - UEERY
?%%@E%&Fﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ”&%ﬁ% &
ETERTEBEEBRTSRBIEEE
R BRBARAREE-

il

RARZHEERE - ﬁBZ&M\hTJ?ETZé$
ERERE - RIVEARRZHARER
ERDBEFTSHBRAGHME -

RABRERH BEEGRBMNO)BRES
A ”7% B)BHITEE - =(3)AIEH
TEER=Q)EBBUIERITES - HIIW

71

BITEE

AAEBL (BFR)
it
T

HHTEE

MERELE
EEIEES
REHEXL

BUFHITEE

£HE
[
g

[t
it
n
t

#ﬁﬁn?«k

S
Zhi
P

JE:)
=3

&

AR

Vs

ARFEE  BEREMERMOEES
BRAABRE 8 EERERERE] -

Duesapa

Corporate Governance Report

Delegation of Management Function

The Board is responsible for making all major decisions of the
Company including monitoring of all major policies of the Group and
overall strategies, risk management and internal control systems,
notifiable and connected transactions, nomination of directors and
company secretary, and other significant financial and operational
matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the company secretaries, with a
view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Each Director is entitled to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the management. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board or general meeting prior to any significant
transaction is entered into according to the Articles.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board currently consists of nine
(9) Directors, including three (3) executive Directors, three (3)
non-executive Directors and three (3) independent non-executive
Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Dr. Shen Yuelei (£ A &) (Chairman)
Dr. Ni Jian (f52£2)
Dr. Zhang Haichao (55/878)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Yiliang (35 R)
Dr. Zhou Kexiang (JE A %)
Ms. Zhang Leidi (3R & %)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hua Fengmao (&%)
Dr. Yu Changyuan (%i&i&)
Ms. Liang Xiaoyan (2B k)

The biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and senior

management of the Company are set out in “Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management” of this report.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the
Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other material
relationships among members of the Board and senior management.

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views

From the Listing Date to the date of this report, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors representing at
least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company recognizes the importance of board independence to
corporate governance. In particular, the following mechanisms are in
place in order to ensure that there is a strong independent element on
the Board which is key to the Board’s effectiveness:

In assessing whether a potential candidate is qualified to become
an independent non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee
and the Board will consider, among others, whether the candidate
is able to devote sufficient time on performing his/her duties as
an independent non-executive Director, and the background and
qualification of the candidate, in order to assess whether such
candidates are able to bring independent views to the Board.

In considering whether an independent non-executive Director should
be proposed for re-election, the Nomination Committee and the Board
will assess and evaluate the independent non-executive Director’s
contribution to the Board during the term, in particular, whether the
independent non-executive Director was able to bring independent
views to the Board.

The Company will ensure that there are channels (in addition to
independent non-executive directors) where independent views
are available, including but not limited to availability of access by
directors of the Company to external independent professional advice
to assist their performance of duties.

The Company has implementable and effective mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board from the
Listing Date to the date of this report. The Directors are entitled to
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company
is of the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of our Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company. The principal particulars of these service contracts
comprise (a) a term of three years which is equivalent to the term
of the Board; and (b) termination provisions in accordance with
their respective terms. Our Directors may be re-appointed subject
to Shareholders’ approval. The service contracts can be renewed
pursuant to our Articles of Association and applicable rules.

Each of our Supervisors has entered into a contract with our Company.
Each contract contains provisions relating to compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, observation of our Articles of Association and
resolution of disputes by means of arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, we have not entered, and do not propose
to enter, into any service contracts with any of our Directors or
Supervisors in their respective capacities as Directors or Supervisors
(other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within
one year without any payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation)).

Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of a Director's responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by regular
meetings with senior management of the Company to understand the
Group’s businesses, governance policies and regulatory environment.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The training records of the Directors during the year ended December
31, 2022 and up to the date of this report are summarized as follows:

SHEBETERR"
Participated in continuous

B Directors professional development*

HITES Executive Directors

L AEELT Dr. Shen Yuelei y

fRigEL Dr. Ni Jian V

wREBELT Dr. Zhang Haichao y

FHITES Non-executive Directors

BEREE Mr. Wei Yiliang v

AL Dr. Zhou Kexiang y

REHZ LT Ms. Zhang Leidi V

BIFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors

B Mr. Hua Fengmao \/

WREE L Dr. Yu Changyuan V

PR+ Ms. Liang Xiaoyan V

- HEBARBREMINEA LR
A EE e S B EARR M R

EZgeBRREAE
EBENEREFLERER

EEERTHOTAEREC S NEBRTE
EXeRTHNE EX223EEFAH
RELIR  RNEBF X ARKZHE
ERTHE HBBEFRASAEES
B o

ARAARERLETBEBRET MR LT
HEIZE2022F 12 A1 HHIME BITMAE
E29E UWEBRIEHZ202256 A
S0 IEREANREEZFRHERRER
BEBRREAE  2RESHAELREZMK

S
A

*

Attended training/seminar/conference arranged by the Company or other
external parties or read relevant materials

Board Meetings and General Meetings
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the Board
should meet regularly and Board meetings should be held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals involving
active participation, either in person or through electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors.

As the Company was only listed on the Listing Date, two Board
meetings were held during the period from the Listing Date to
December 31, 2022 for reviewing and approving unaudited interim
results for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and proposing
extraordinary general meeting. All Directors attended these two
meetings.
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The Company expects to convene at least four regular Board
meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in
accordance with code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code.

The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
general meeting from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022 are set

TS @ out below:
HERE, HERE
EEEERRE RERAREIREH
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Board Number of General
=4 Directors Meeting(s)* Meeting(s)**
HAEEL Dr. Shen Yuelei 2/2 11
s+ Dr. Ni Jian 2/2 1/1
RGHEL Dr. Zhang Haichao 2/2 1/1
BERKE Mr. Wei Yiliang 2/2 1/1
[EEIEE3c Dr. Zhou Kexiang 2/2 11
SREBR A T Ms. Zhang Leidi*** N/A N/A
TEA i A
HNBELE Mr. Huang Xiaolu*** 2/2 1/1
ERKEE Mr. Hua Fengmao 2/2 1/1
W RERIG L Dr. Yu Changyuan 2/2 1/1
R T Ms. Liang Xiaoyan 2/2 11
* B ZE2022F12A31HIEFE - AREIH A * Two Board meetings were held during the year ended December 31, 2022

202249 A M2022F 10 ARITMAES

-

= HZE2022F12A31BULEE - ARAR
2022F 11 A7 BBIT—IREGERIRR RS -

o REBLITHR2022F 11 A7THEZRT - &
S AER2022% 11 A7TBEHT -

EFEEEFHRES
E=EgeRERBAANAR T EH A
4ARGREERHNAAEH B9
SHBAEI P EEB B (DE
AR (INEREFNEANITROE
B R(V)BPEANGS - BEERHREM
B AR -

EBEEHERFAEEOREIERY
M- HEERNEEANEREEEE
GRESLEL  EERRHDRAERD
ARRRE - REHRTORE -

on September 2022 and October 2022, respectively.

** One extraordinary general meeting was held during the year ended
December 31, 2022 on November 7, 2022.

***  Ms. Zhang Leidi was appointed on November 7, 2022. Mr. Huang resigned
on November 7, 2022.

Practices and Conduct of Board Meetings

A written notice of Board meetings shall be served 14 days before
the date of a regular meeting and five days before the date of an
extraordinary meeting. The notice of a Board meeting shall specify (i)
the date and venue of the meeting; (ii) the duration of the meeting; (iii)
the reasons for holding the meeting and the matters to be discussed;
and (iv) the name, telephone number or other contact information of
the contact person.

The Board shall keep minutes of its decisions on the matters
considered at its meetings. The Directors attending the meeting and
the person taking the minutes shall sign the minutes of the meeting.
The minutes of the Board meeting shall be kept as records of the
Company for a period of not less than ten years.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual.

The roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company are not separate and are both performed by
Dr. Shen. In view of Dr. Shen’s experience, personal profile and his
roles in our Company, Dr. Shen is the Director best suited to identify
strategic opportunities and focus of the Board due to his extensive
understanding of the Company’s business as the chief executive
officer. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the chairman
and the chief executive officer in the same person has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The
balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will not
be impaired and this structure will enable the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and effectively.

The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles
of chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company at a time when it is appropriate by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board delegates certain responsibilities to various dedicated
committees in accordance with relevant PRC laws, regulations, the
Articles and the Listing Rules, namely the Strategy Development
Committee, Audit Committee, the Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee and the Nomination Committee. All Board committees of
the Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Strategy Development Committee, Audit Committee,
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’'s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.
From the Listing Date and up to the December 31, 2022, each Board
committees conducted its duties according to their terms of reference
under the Code A.2.1.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under the section headed “Corporate Information” of this report.
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Strategy Development Committee

The Strategy Development Committee consists of four Directors,
namely Dr. Shen Yuelei (JtA &), Dr. Zhou Kexiang (BA#), Mr. Wei
Yiliang (k3% K ) and Ms. Zhang Leidi (58& ). Dr. Shen Yuelei (LA &)
currently serves as the chairperson of the committee.

The primary duties of the Strategy Development Committee are to
study and advise on the long-term strategy and major investments of
our Group.

The attendance records of the Strategy Development Committee are
set out under “Attendance Record of Directors”.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of four Directors, namely Ms. Liang
Xiaoyan (ZBE#), Mr. Hua Fengmao (¥ &%), Dr. Yu Changyuan (&
ix) and Mr. Wei Yiliang (B8%& R). Ms. Liang Xiaoyan (Z2EEFE) currently
serves as the chairperson of the committee, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control system of our Group,
liaise with the external auditor of the Company and review the
Company’s compliance with CG Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial results and report
for the year ended December 31, 2022 and significant issues on
the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems and
internal audit function, appointment of external auditors, engagement
of non-audit services and relevant scope of works and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties. The risk
management and internal control systems are reviewed on an annual
basis by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the Company’s compliance with CG Code during the period from the
Listing Date to the date of 2022 Interim report.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under
“Attendance Record of Directors”.
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Remuneration and Evaluation Committee

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee consists of four
Directors, namely Mr. Hua Fengmao (ZER %), Ms. Liang Xiaoyan
(RH:3), Dr. Yu Changyuan (Mif&i&), and Dr. Ni Jian ({Zf&). Mr.
Hua Fengmao ([ X) currently serves as the chairperson of the
committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee
are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee are
to review and make recommendations to the Board regarding the
remuneration package and assessment standard for our Directors
(including individual executive Directors) and senior management, as
well as their remuneration policy and proposals; and to review and/
or approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated
based on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed
regularly.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee has reviewed and determined the policy for the
remuneration of executive Directors, accessed the performance of
executive Directors, approved the terms of executive Directors and
also reviewed the share scheme related matters.

The attendance records of the Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee are set out under “Attendance Records of Directors”.

The remuneration of Directors and Supervisors consists of Directors’
fee, salaries and other benefits, performance-based bonus, retirement
benefit scheme contributions and share-based compensation, which
are determined based on the evaluation of each Directors’ and
Supervisors’ individual performance and market trends in 2022. Details
of the Directors’ and five highest paid individuals’ remuneration are
set out in note 9 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The remuneration payable to the senior management of the Company
(who are not the Directors) for the year ended December 31, 2022 is
shown in the following table by band:

FHEE (ARBT) A

Remuneration Band (RMB)

Number of individuals

1,000,000 & LA
1,000,001% 1,500,000
1,500,001 % 2,000,000
2,000,000 £

1,000,000 and below
1,000,001 to 1,500,000
1,500,001 to 2,000,000
Above 2,000,000

~N = NN O

REEES

REAZEeHEOEERMAR - ABKRES
T FRXAELE  REFXLEIRLAEE
T BMREBTEMETZEEGEE -

REZARHBEBETLL EEATH
FBERE REZERGNTEREAR
EAEFRERERENE B L ER
R -

RFBESENRE - ABRAEKE - 18
ZEBEREEZEOIE (BEHE 2
B HEER  TEER  EOREE -
FB AL R A R S R R 18
RRBEBOEN) UREARREEE ST
EHR(TEESESTBE]) MABEHE
EEEMINER - REZEEHBRVE
BimkihEEREFTELTLMAGE
B THBEZSFRM NBREPR -
REREGERTHIERE  REES
REBRERE -

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four Directors, namely Dr. Yu
Changyuan (Mifi&), Mr. Hua Fengmao (Z[& %), Ms. Liang Xiaoyan
(ZEE3#) and Dr. Shen Yuelei (£ AE), Dr. Yu Changyuan (Ki&ig)
currently serves as the chairperson of the committee.

The terms of reference of Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations
to the Board regarding the appointment of Directors and senior
management.

In evaluating the Board’s structure, size and composition, the
Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects
(including integrity, education, professional qualification, work
experience, required skills, knowledge and experience as well as the
ability to devote sufficient time and attention to deal with the affairs
of the Company) as well as factors concerning board diversity as set
out in the Company’s board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption. During
the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has conducted it
primary duty to propose Director and senior management.
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Selections procedures of directors including: (i) the Nomination
Committee shall discuss with the relevant departments of the
Company, study the requirement for new Directors and senior
management and prepare written reports accordingly; (ii) the
Nomination Committee may search for candidates of Directors
and senior management within and outside the Company and
its subsidiaries (and associated companies); (iii) the Nomination
Committee shall collect all information about the occupation,
academic qualifications, titles, detailed working experience and all
part-time job experience of the selected candidates and prepare
written reports accordingly; (iv) the Nomination Committee shall obtain
consent from the nominees regarding the nomination of candidates for
directors and senior management; (v) the Nomination Committee shall
convene a meeting to review the qualification of selected candidates
according to the employment requirements for Directors and senior
management; (vi) the Nomination Committee shall submit to the Board
its proposals and information on the candidates prior to the election
of new directors and the appointment of new senior management; and
the Nomination Committee shall carry out follow-up work according to
the decision and feedback of the Board.

The structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors have been
reviewed by the Board and the Board considered that an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board was maintained for
2022.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee are set out
under “Attendance Record of Directors”
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Attendance Record of Directors

The attendance records of each Director at the committees’ meetings

HEZESSENREIHTIOT from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022 are set out below:
HEAL2FRH
Attendees/Number of Meetings
B it e
RREEE Z£88 EZREEE REZEE
Strategy Remuneration
Development Audit and Evaluation Nomination
S Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee
HITES Executive Directors
LAEELT Dr. Shen Yuelei 11 A N/A TEF N/A 11
RemL Dr. Ni Jian TEA N/A TEA N/A 111 TEA N/A
FEHBELT Dr. Zhang Haichao TERA N/A TR N/A A N/A TER N/A
FHTES Non-executive Directors
BERLE Mr. Wei Yiliang 11 11 T N/A TEA N/A
AR EELT Dr. Zhou Kexiang 11 A N/A TER N/A TER N/A
REBLT Ms. Zhang Leidi 11 A N/A TEA N/A A N/A
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
EREEEE Mr. Hua Fengmao T N/A 11 11 11
WREBT Dr. Yu Changyuan A N/A 11 1/1 11
Rt Ms. Liang Xiaoyan A N/A 11 1/1 11
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BOARD DIVERSITY

In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain
high standards of corporate governance, the Board has adopted
Board Diversity Policy, which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. The Board Diversity
Policy sets out the criteria in selecting candidates to our Board,
including but not limited to gender, skills, age, ethnicity, knowledge,
cultural and educational background, professional experience and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to our Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
overall management and strategic development as well as knowledge
and experience in areas such as biology, medicine, finance and law.
They obtained degrees in various majors including biology, pharmacy,
medicine and computer science. We have three independent
non-executive Directors with different industry backgrounds, namely
investment banking, medicine and accounting, representing one-third
of the members of our Board. Furthermore, our Board has a diverse
age and gender representation. We have also taken, and will continue
to take steps to promote gender diversity at the Board level of our
Company. Our Board comprises five male members (including one
executive Director, two non-executive Directors and two independent
non-executive Directors) and four female members (two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and one independent
non-executive Director). Taking into account our existing business
model and specific needs as well as the different background of our
Directors, the composition of our Board satisfies our Board Diversity
Policy. Furthermore, we also have witnessed a balanced gender ratio
in the workforce with a male to female ratio of approximately 3:7 as at
December 31, 2022.

The Group strives to achieve the goal of employee diversity to
the maximum extent possible with gender diversity taking into
consideration in staff recruitment. For the Group, recruitment is
considered regardless of gender, as any position in the Group does
not require any ability or skill that is considered to outperform another
gender. The Group reviews the diversity policy from time to time
to ensure the sustainability and effectiveness of the policy and will
continue to review the diversity.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and ensuring
the diversity of the Board. The Nomination Committee monitors and
evaluates the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy from
time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness. As reviewed and
suggested by the Nomination Committee, the Board was of the view
that the Board has achieved diversity in terms of gender, age and
skill, knowledge and professional experience, and considers that the
Board Diversity Policy is effective. It is currently not required to set
any measurable objectives for implementing the said policy.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
and Supervisors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules.

As the Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
September 1, 2022, the Model Code and Company’s code of conduct
were not applicable to the Company before the Listing Date.

Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and Supervisors,
and they have confirmed that they have complied with our Company’s
code of conduct regarding Directors’ and Supervisors’ securities
transactions from the Listing Date to the date of this report.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company, are also subject to the
Model Code. No incidents of non-compliance with the Model Code by
the relevant employees of the Company were noted by the Company
from the Listing Date to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2022.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required
by the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The management of the Company has provided sufficient explanation
and information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the financial information and
position of the Company in order to put forward such information to
the Board for approval.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 179 to 185 of this report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the
annual general meetings to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report and auditor’s
independence.

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended
December 31, 2022 amounted to RMB3,000,000 and RMB250,000
respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROLS

Key Principles of Risk Management

INTERNAL

We recognize that risk management is critical to the success of
our business operation. Key operational risks faced by us include
changes in general market conditions and the regulatory environment
of the Chinese and global biologics markets, our ability to develop,
manufacture and commercialize our drug candidates, and our ability
to compete with other pharmaceutical companies. We also face
various market risks. The Board acknowledge that it is responsible
for the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness annually. However, such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. In particular, we are
exposed to credit, liquidity and currency risks that arise in the normal
course of our business.
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We have adopted a series of risk management policies which set out a
risk management framework to identify, assess, evaluate and monitor
key risks associated with our strategic objectives on an ongoing basis.
The following key principles outline our approach to risk management:

o The relevant departments in our Company, including but not
limited to the finance department and the human resources
department, are responsible for implementing our risk
management policy and carrying out our day-to-day risk
management practice. Each department is responsible for
identifying and evaluating risks associated with its working
scope. In order to standardize risk management across our
Group and set a common level of transparency and risk
management performance, the relevant departments will (i)
identify the source of the risks and potential impact, (ii) monitor
the development of such risks, and (iii) prepare risk management
reports periodically for our office of the president’s review.

° Our office of the president and quality control department will
coordinate, oversee and manage the overall risks associated with
our business operations and quality control, respectively, mainly
including (i) reviewing our corporate risk in light of our corporate
risk tolerance, (ii) maintaining a key risk list and leading
corresponding risk management activities, and (iii) organizing
revision and update of the key risk list. Our office of the president
will be responsible for carrying out the risk prevention and
management activities with relevant department and conduct
irregular reviews.

° Our office of general manager, will be responsible for (i)
reviewing the risk management information collected by our
office of the president every year, (ii) reviewing annual risk
management report of the Company, and (iii) overseeing office of
president to promulgating annual risk evaluations.

Internal Control

Our Board is responsible for establishing and ensuring effective
internal controls to safeguard our Shareholder’s interest at all times.
Our internal control policies set out a framework to identify, assess,
evaluate and monitor key risks associated with our strategic objectives
on an ongoing basis.
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Below is a summary of the internal control policies, measures and
procedures we have implemented or plan to implement:

We have adopted various measures and procedures regarding
each aspect of our business operation, such as related party
transaction, risk management, protection of intellectual property,
environmental protection and occupational health and safety. We
provide periodic training about these measures and procedures
to our employees as part of our employee training program.

Qur internal audit department conducts audit field work to
monitor the implementation of our internal control policies,
reports the weakness identified to our management and audit
committee and follows up on the rectification actions.

Our Directors (who are responsible for monitoring the corporate
governance of our Group) with help from our legal advisers, also
periodically review our compliance status with all relevant laws

and regulations on an annual basis.

We have established an audit committee which (i) makes
recommendations to our Directors on the appointment and
removal of external auditors, and (ii) reviews the financial
statements and renders advice in respect of financial reporting
as well as oversees internal control procedures of our Group.

We have engaged Guotai Junan Capital Limited as our
compliance adviser to provide advice to our Directors and
management team until the end of the first fiscal year after
the Listing regarding matters relating to the Listing Rules. Our
compliance adviser provides support and advice regarding
requirements of relevant regulatory authorities in a timely manner.

We have engaged a PRC law firm to advise us on and keep
us abreast with PRC laws and regulations related to issue of
A shares. We will continue to arrange various trainings to be
provided by external legal advisers from time to time when
necessary and/or any appropriate accredited institution to update
our Directors, senior management, and relevant employees on
the latest PRC laws and regulations.
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We continue to seek advice from law firms in the United States,
German and other jurisdictions where we currently operate or
may operate in the future to keep us abreast of applicable local
laws and regulations after the Listing. We will continue to arrange
various trainings to be provided by external legal advisors from
time to time when necessary and/or any appropriate accredited
institution to update our Directors, senior management, and
relevant employees on the latest laws and regulations in the
jurisdictions in which we currently operate or may operate in the
future.

We introduced standards in accordance with American
Association for Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care
(AAALAC) recommendations, with principles of reduction,
replacement and refinement, to perform high standards of
animal welfare. We established an Institutional Animal Care and
Use Committee (IACUC) committee to review the scientifically
and necessity of animal production, use, and transportation,
and to conduct comprehensive assessments of the purposes
of experiment, expected benefits, and harm and death of
animals. We aim to prevent unnecessary animal experiments and
reduce unnecessary animal experiments, and follow applicable
regulations, industry best practices and ethical standards for
experimental animal operations.

We maintain strict confidentiality and privacy policies regarding
the collection, analysis, storage and transmission of the data of
our subjects and clinical trial results. Our project manager and
data manager prepare and review study protocols to ensure
compliance with GCP requirements, including confidentiality
and privacy requirements. We will monitor project progress
continuously against the guidelines of ICH GCP and China GCP
and make corrections as needed. Our IT team are responsible
for, from technical perspective, ensuring the usage, maintenance
and protection of pre-clinical and clinical data to comply with our
internal policies and applicable laws and regulations.
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Investment Risk Management

We engage in short-term investments with surplus cash on hand. Our
investment portfolio primarily consisted of time deposits and wealth
management products. Our primary objective of short-term investment
is to preserve principal, and increase liquidity without significantly
increasing risks. Under the supervision of our Chief Financial Officer,
our finance department is responsible for managing our short-term
investment activities. Before making any investment proposal, our
finance department will assess our cash flow levels, operational
needs and capital expenditures. Our investment policy, provides the
guidelines and specific instructions on the investment of our funds.

Our investment strategy aims to minimize risks by reasonably and
conservatively matching the maturities of the portfolio to anticipated
operating cash needs. We make our investment decisions on a
case-by-case basis after thoroughly considering a number of factors,
including but not limited to macro-economic environment, general
market conditions and the expected profit or potential loss of the
investment. Our portfolio to date has been required to hold only
instruments with an effective final maturity of 12 months or less, with
effective final maturity being defined as the obligation of the issuer to
repay principal and interest.

We believe that our internal investment policies and the related risk
management mechanism are generally effective.

Inside Information Policy

The Company has put in place an internal policy for the handling
and disclosure of inside information in compliance with the SFO.
The internal policy sets out the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely
manner and provides the Directors, senior management, and relevant
employees of the Company a general guide in monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures have
been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and use of
inside information are strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has regularly reviewed
and enhanced its risk management, internal control systems and
inside information disclosure policy. We believe that our Directors
and members of our senior management possess the necessary
knowledge and experience in providing good corporate governance
oversight in connection with risk management and internal control.
The Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and considers these
systems effective and adequate in general.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. For this purpose, the Company has set up a website
(https://www.biocytogen.com.cn), where relevant latest information,
the up-to-date state of the Company’s business operation and
development, the Company’s financial information and corporate
governance practices and other data are available to the public.
The Board reviewed the Shareholder’s communication policy and
considers it is effective.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meetings, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

The forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on May 25,
2023. The notice of the annual general meeting will be published and
dispatched in due course in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules.

Constitutional Documents

The Company’s existing Articles of Association has been approved
by the fifth meeting of the first session of the Board of Directors of the
Company, the third extraordinary general meeting of Shareholders
of the Company in 2021, and the amendments thereto have been
approved by the sixth and seventh meetings of the first session of
the Board. The Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. From the Listing Date to
the date of this report, the said Articles of Association did not have
any change.

Communication Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy has regularly been reviewed by the Board
during the Reporting Period and confirmed its effectiveness.
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DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by our Company since the
Listing Date and up to the date of this report. We currently expect
to retain all future earnings for use in the operation and expansion
of our business, and do not have any dividend policy to declare or
pay any dividends in the near future. The declaration and payment
of any dividends in the future will be determined by our Board, in
its discretion, and will depend on a number of factors, including
our earnings, capital requirements, overall financial conditions and
contractual restrictions.

PRC laws require that dividends be paid only out of our distributable
profits. Distributable profits are our after-tax profits, less any recovery
of accumulated losses and appropriations to statutory and other
reserves that we are required to make. As a result, we may not have
sufficient or any distributable profits to make dividend distributions
to our Shareholders, even if we become profitable. Any distributable
profits not distributed in a given year are retained and available
for distribution in subsequent years. Our dividend distribution may
also be restricted if we incur debt or losses or in accordance with
any restrictive covenants in bank credit facilities, convertible bond
instruments or other agreements that we or our subsidiaries may enter
into in the future.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with the Shareholders through various
communication channels. Information of the Company is disseminated
to the Shareholders in the manners including (i) delivery of annual
and interim results and reports to all Shareholders; (ii) publication of
announcements on the annual and interim results and issue of other
announcements and Shareholders’ circulars on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company in accordance with the continuing
disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; and (iii) the general
meeting of the Company is also an effective communication channel

between the Board and the Shareholders.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Convening Shareholders’ General Meetings

The general meetings shall be divided into the annual general
meetings and the extraordinary general meetings. The annual general
meeting shall be convened once a year, and shall be held within six
months after the prior accounting year ends.

Extraordinary general meetings shall be held whenever necessary.
The Board shall hold the extraordinary general meeting in two months
upon the occurrence of the following events:

° The number of directors falls short of the number required by the
Company Law or is less than two-thirds of the number required
by these Articles of Association;

° The uncovered loss of the Company reaches one-third of the
total paid-in share capital of the Company;

° Upon request(s) by shareholder(s) individually or collectively
holding more than 10% (inclusive of 10%) of the Company’s
shares;

. As deemed necessary by the Board or proposed by the
Supervisory Committee;

° Other circumstances required by the laws, regulations and these
Articles of Association.

Shareholders’ general meetings shall be convened by the Board in
accordance with the laws. When the Board is unable or fails to perform
its duty to convene the Shareholders’ general meeting, the Supervisory
Committee shall convene and preside over the meeting promptly. In
the case of failure to convene and preside over the Shareholders’
general meeting by the Supervisory Committee, Shareholders holding
10% or more of the shares of the Company separately or in aggregate
for more than 90 consecutive days shall have the right to convene and
preside over the meeting on their own.
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A notice of the general meeting stating the date and venue of the
meeting and the matters to be considered at the meeting shall be
given to all shareholders 21 days before the meeting. A notice of
extraordinary general meeting shall be given to all shareholders 15
days prior to the meeting.

General meeting shall be presided over by the chairman of the Board.
If the chairman is unable or fails to discharge his/her duties, half or
more of the directors shall designate a director to preside over the
meeting. If no chairman of the meeting has been designated, the
Shareholders present shall elect one person to be the chairman of the
meeting. If for any reason the Shareholders fail to elect a chairman,
then the Shareholder (including his proxy) present in person or by
proxy who holds the largest number of shares carrying the right to
vote thereat shall be the chairman of the meeting.

The chairman of the Supervisory Committee shall preside over the
general meeting convened by the Supervisory Committee. If the
chairman of the Supervisory Committee is unable or fails to fulfill his/
her duties, one supervisor jointly elected by more than half of the
supervisors shall preside over the general meeting.

A representative elected by the convener(s) shall preside over the
general meeting convened by the shareholders.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Unless otherwise provided in these Articles of Association,
Shareholders holding, individually or jointly, 3% or more of the
Company’s shares may submit a temporary motion and present a
written proposal to the conveners 10 days before the date of the
general meeting. The convener of the general meeting shall, within
two days after receiving the proposal, send a supplementary notice
detailing the temporary motion in accordance with the relevant rules
of the Stock Exchange where the Company’s shares are listed to
notify other shareholders, and include in the agenda of the proposed
meeting matters that fall within the terms of reference of the general
meeting and submit them to the general meeting for consideration.
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Save as specified above, the convener shall not change the proposal
set out in the notice of general meeting or add any new proposal after
the said notice is served.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal

with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

BeER Contact Details

kb PRI R ARERRAYBEE XM E L2125k

Address: 12 Baoshen South Street Daxing Bio-Medicine Industry Park Daxing District, Beijing PRC
B : ir@bbctg.com.cn

Email: ir@bbctg.com.cn
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For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wang Yongliang (£7k%), who has been appointed as one of
our joint company secretaries, is also our deputy general manager
and Board Secretary. For the biography of Mr. Wang, see “Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” for details. Mr. Wang was
appointed as one of our joint company secretaries on July 5, 2021,
with effect from August 8, 2022.

Ms. Au Wai Ching (B2 &) has been appointed as one of our joint
company secretaries with effective from August 8, 2022. Ms. Au
currently serves as a senior manager of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a corporate service provider in corporate
services. She is an associate member of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom. She obtained a bachelor’s degree
in business administration and a master's degree in professional
accounting and corporate governance from the City University of Hong
Kong.
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Mr. Wang Yongliang is the primary corporate contact person at the
Company of Ms. Au Wai Ching.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, each of Mr. Wang
Yongliang and Ms. Au Wai Ching has undertaken over 15 hours of
professional training to update their skills and knowledge.

Ms. Au Wai Ching has also been appointed as one of authorized
representatives under the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Report

The Board presents this directors’ report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company consist of drug development
business and pre-clinical research services. Our drug development
business includes (i) research and development of oncology and
autoimmune disease therapeutics and (ii) our antibody development
business that we utilize our own antibody discovery platforms to
identify antibodies which have the potential to become our drug
candidates and out-license or collaborate with partners for potential
therapeutic antibody molecules. Our pre-clinical research services
include gene editing, pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy
evaluation, and animal models selling. Further details of our business
operation are set out in “Management Discussion and Analysis — |.
Business Overview” of this report.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principle activities during the ended December 31, 2022.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 are
set out in the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 186 to 192
of the report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

As at December 31, 2022, there was no Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

No dividend has been declared and paid by the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2022 (2021: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the issued shares of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2022 are set out in note 34 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 34 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had no distributable reserves.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on September 1,
2022. A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and equity of the Group for the previous financial years since the
year ended December 31, 2020, being the date to which the earliest
published results of the Group were made up, as extracted from the
published audited financial information and financial statements, is set
out on page 311 of this report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 28 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company had not breached any terms of its loan agreements that are
significant to the Group’s operations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 13 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

GUARANTEES TO AFFILATED COMPANIES

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company had not
provided financial and guarantees to affiliated companies of the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a waiver from strict
compliance with the requirements of Rule 8.08(1) of the Listing
Rules to reduce the minimum public float of our Company to the
higher of (a) 16.42%; (b) such percentage of H Shares to be held
by the public immediately after completion of the Global Offering
and before the Over-allotment Option is exercised; and (c) such
percentage of H Shares to be held by the public upon any exercise
of the Over-allotment Option, of the enlarged issued share capital of
the Company. Based on the information that is publicly available to
the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors
confirm that the Company has maintained the aforesaid minimum
public float required by the Stock Exchange as at the date of this
report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION INFORMATION
FOR HOLDERS OF H SHARES

The holders of H Shares shall pay relevant tax and/or exemption in
accordance with the following provisions:

According to the Individual Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic
of China (R #EARLMBAEAFBEE)) and its implementation rules,
dividends paid to individuals by the PRC companies are generally
subject to an individual income tax levied at a flat rate of 20%. For an
individual who has no domicile in the PRC and is not resident in the
territory of the PRC or who has no domicile in the PRC and has been
resident in the territory of the PRC for less than 183 days cumulatively
within a tax year, his/her receipt of dividends from a PRC company is
normally subject to a PRC withholding tax of 20% unless specifically
exempted or reduced by an applicable tax treaty and other tax laws
and regulations.

Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues
Concerning Withholding the Enterprise Income Tax on Dividends
Paid by Chinese Resident Enterprises to Holders of H Shares who are
Overseas Non-resident Enterprises (Guo Shui Han [2008] No. 897)
KERPEERMEXMBIIHRIEERPERRIRERERMKB XM
S A BRI EN BN K[2008]8975%)), a PRC resident enterprise,
when distributing dividends for 2008 and for the years afterwards to
holders of H Shares who are overseas non-resident enterprises, shall
withhold the enterprise income tax at a flat rate of 10%. A non-PRC
resident enterprise which is entitled to a preferential tax rate under
an applicable tax treaty or arrangement may, directly or through its
agent or withholding agent, apply to the competent tax authorities for
a refund of the excess amount of tax withheld.
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Pursuant to the “Notice on Taxation Policies concerning the Pilot
Program of an Interconnection Mechanism for Transactions in the
Shanghai and Hong Kong Stock Markets” (Cai Shui [2014] No.81)
(KBAREERET 5 5 5 8 B B I 5L R B B85 HUR 6938 & )3 i1
[2014]815%)) and the “Notice on Taxation Policies concerning the
Pilot Program of an Interconnection Mechanism for Transactions
in the Shenzhen and Hong Kong Stock Markets” (Cai Shui [2016]
No.127) KBRABREM S X I EMEBEHIHABEERKEEN B
FN B FE[2016]1275%)) jointly promulgated by the Ministry of Finance,
the State Administration of Taxation and the CSRC, for dividends
derived by Mainland individual investors from investing in H Shares
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange through Shanghai Hong
Kong Stock Connect or Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect, H-share
companies shall withhold individual income tax at a tax rate of 20%
for the investors. For mainland securities investment funds investing
in shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange through Shanghai
Hong Kong Stock Connect or Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect,
the above rules also apply and individual income tax shall be levied
on dividends derived therefrom. Dividends derived by mainland
enterprise investors from investing in shares listed on Hong Kong
Stock Exchange through Shanghai Hong Kong Stock Connect or
Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect shall be reported and paid
by the enterprise investors themselves. H-share companies will not
withhold or pay enterprise income tax on their behalf in the distribution
of dividends. For dividends derived by mainland resident enterprises
where the relevant H shares have been continuously held for more
than 12 months, the enterprise income tax thereon may be exempt
according to the tax law.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview and performance of the Year

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
and analysis on the Group’s future business development and the
financial and operational key performance indicators employed by
the Directors in measuring the performance of the Group’s business
are set out in “Financial Summary” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this report, and form part of this directors’ report.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company has implemented company-wide environmental policies
and standard operating procedures that include management systems
and procedures relating to emissions of air, water and other media;
waste water generation and treatment and handling, use, storage,
treatment and disposal of hazardous substances.

We are currently in the progress of rapid development and we are at
an early stage of laboratory operations. We plan to rely on CDMOs
for the manufacturing of our antibodies and partially rely on CROs for
our clinical development and other activities. As a result, the current
nature of our business does not expose us to a substantial risk of
environmental matters, including climate-related matters, and we do
not expect the potential risks of such matters will have a material
adverse impact on our business, strategy and financial performance.

We strive to operate our facilities in a manner that protects the
environment. Our operations involve the use of hazardous and
flammable materials, including chemicals and biological materials,
and may also produce hazardous waste products. We have
implemented detailed policies and protocols to manage hazardous,
toxic and flammable chemicals. These policies and protocols
include (i) adoption of materials that cause minimum environmental
concerns to the extent possible; (ii) environmental protection training
for employees whose job involves handling of waste and material
disposal; and (iii) formulating and implementing company-wide
detailed procedures and standards in managing environmental related
risks. We plan to make preparations for environmental control and
considerations in the design process, and we will follow regulatory
rules and industry standards for the disposal of waste and hazardous
materials, including making relevant filings with annual budget to
the local environment regulators each year. We will also designate
personnel and staff to specifically monitor and enforce the compliance
of our operations with environment laws, and regulations.

For more details, please refer to “Environmental, Social and

Governance Report” of this report for our work in respect of

environmental protection, social and governance during the year.
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Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

We may be involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course
of business from time to time. During the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this report, the Group had complied with the laws,
regulations and regulatory requirements of the places where the
Group operates in all material respects, including the requirements
under the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules, the SFO and the
Corporate Governance Code for, among other things, the disclosure
of information and corporate governance. During the Reporting Period
and up to the date of the report, none of the Group and the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management of the Company were subject to
any investigation initiated or administrative penalties imposed by the
CSRC, banned from entering the market, identified as inappropriate
candidates, publicly condemned by stock exchanges, subject to
mandatory measures, transferred to judicial organs or held criminally
responsible, and none of them were involved in any other litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceedings which would have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

We recognize that various stakeholders, including our employees,
customers, suppliers and other business associates, are key to
Group’s success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating and cultivating strong relationship
with them.

The details of an account of the Company’s key relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a significant
impact on the Company are set out in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of the Company on page 132 to 178 of this
report.
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Key Risks and Uncertainties and Risk Management

There are certain risks involved in our operations, many of which are
beyond our control. We have categorized these risks and uncertainties
into: (i) risks relating to our business and industry, (ii) risks relating
to our financial position and need for additional capital, and (iii) risks
relating to our doing business in China.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

Risks Relating to the Research and Development of Our Drug
Candidates

° We face fierce competition from existing products and product
candidates under development in the entire oncology market
and competition in therapeutic areas such as oncology and to
which our products belong is extremely fierce. Our competitors
may discover, develop or commercialize competing drugs
earlier or more successfully than we do. If we fail to effectively
compete with our competitors, our competitive position in our
target markets may be undermined, our drug candidates, if and
when approved, may fail to be commercially successful and our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
could suffer.

° Development of product candidates in combination with other
therapies could expose us to additional risks.

. Our business and prospects depend substantially on the success
of our Project Integrum. If we are unable to discover and develop
new antibody drugs or successfully monetize the antibody
molecules screened and selected, our business and profitability
may be affected.

. Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive

process with uncertain outcomes, and results of earlier studies
and trials may not be predictive of future trial results.
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We invest substantial resources in research and development to
develop our drug candidates and enhance our technologies but
we cannot assure you that our research and development efforts
will be successful. Furthermore, failures in our research and
development efforts may reduce demand for our products and
harm our business and future prospects.

If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials,
our clinical development activities may be delayed or otherwise
adversely affected and this may have a material adverse effect
on our prospects.

Risks Relating to Commercialization of Our Drug Candidates

If we are not able to obtain, or experience delays in obtaining,
required regulatory approvals, we will not be able to
commercialize our drug candidates, and our ability to generate

additional revenue will be materially impaired.

The actual market size of our drug candidates might be smaller
than expected and our future approved drug candidates may
fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians,
patients, third-party payers and others in the medical community
that would be necessary for their commercial success.

The market opportunities for our drugs and drug candidates may
be limited to those patients who are ineligible for or have failed
prior treatments and may be small.

The commercialization of our drug candidates, if approved, may
be subject to uncertainties from national, provincial or other
third-party drug reimbursement practices and unfavorable drug
pricing policies or regulations, which could harm our business.

We have no experience in launching and marketing drug
candidates. If we are unable to build and manage our sales
and marketing capabilities either by ourselves or through third
parties, we may not be able to successfully generate product
sales revenue.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Risks Relating to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We have entered into collaborations with our partners and may
form or seek additional collaborations or strategic alliances or
enter into additional licensing arrangements in the future. We
may not realize any or all benefits of such alliances or licensing
arrangements, and disputes may arise between us and our
collaboration partners, which could adversely affect our business
operations and financial condition.

We work with various third parties to develop our drug
candidates. If these third parties do not successfully carry out
their contractual duties or meet expected timelines, we may not
be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or commercialize, our
drug candidates, and our business could be materially harmed.

We depend on a stable and adequate supply of equipment,
consumables and other goods and services from our suppliers.
A significant price increase or interruption of such supplies could
potentially disrupt our operations.

Risks Relating to Providing Our Services

A reduction in customer demand for or spending on gene editing
services, animal models, pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy
evaluation services, and other services could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

We face increasing competition. If our service and product
quality does not meet customers’ standards or evolving needs,
we may lose or fail to attract customers. Our inability to compete
effectively may result in downward pricing pressure and reduced
demand for our products and services.

Delay or failure of payment by our customers could harm our
cash flows and profitability.

Animal testing may expose us to potential liabilities and
oppositions by special-interest groups, which might disrupt our
facilities or tarnish our reputation.
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Risks Relating to Extensive Governmental Regulations

All material aspects of the provision of research and development
services and the research, development, manufacturing and
commercialization of our drug candidates are heavily regulated.

The regulatory approval processes for pharmaceutical products
are time consuming, costly and inherently unpredictable.
Any failure to comply with existing or future regulations and
industry standards or any adverse actions by the drug-approval
authorities against us could negatively impact our reputation
and our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

Safety, efficacy or other adverse issues arising with our drug
candidates could interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials, delay or
prevent regulatory approval, limit the commercial profile of an
approved label, or result in significant negative consequences
following any regulatory approval.

We are subject to stringent privacy laws, information security
policies and contractual obligations related to data privacy
and security, and we may be exposed to risks related to our
management of the medical data of subjects enrolled in our
clinical trials and other personal or sensitive information.

We may be directly or indirectly subject to applicable
anti-kickback, false claims laws, physician payment transparency
laws, fraud and abuse laws or similar healthcare and security
laws and regulations in China and other jurisdictions, which
could, in the event of noncompliance, expose us to criminal
sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational
harm and diminished profits and future earnings.

Changes in government regulations or in practices relating to
healthcare industry, including healthcare reform and compliance
with new regulations may result in additional costs.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property Rights

We currently do not own any material granted patent in respect
of the RenMice platforms and material invention patent in respect
of the Core Products. If we are unable to obtain and maintain
patent protection for our technology and drug candidates through
intellectual property rights, or if the scope of such intellectual
property rights obtained is not sufficiently broad, third parties
could develop and commercialize products and technologies
similar or identical to ours and compete directly against us.

Our current or any future patent applications may not be
successful and any patent rights we or our licensing partners
have may be challenged and invalidated even after issuance,
which would materially adversely affect our ability to successfully
commercialize any product or technology.

Changes in patent law could diminish the value of patents
in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our drug
candidates.

Pilot program that provisionally implements the Foreign
Investment Risk Review Modernization Act of 2018 may restrict
our ability to acquire technologies and assets in the U.S. that are
material to our commercial success.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our
intellectual property, which could be expensive, time consuming
and unsuccessful. If we are sued for infringing, misappropriating
or otherwise violating the intellectual property rights of third
parties, such litigation could be costly and time consuming and
may materially and adversely affect our business and financial
condition.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets,
our business and competitive position would be harmed. We may
be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or advisors
have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their
former employers, and we may be subject to claims asserting
ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.

If our trademarks, trade names and product names are not
adequately protected, then we may not be able to build brand
recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be
adversely affected.
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Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all
potential threats.

Risks Relating to Our General Operations

We may fail to sufficiently and promptly respond to rapid
scientific and technological changes, clinical demand and
market changes in the pharmaceutical industry.

We are exposed to risks of breach of contractual obligations,
product liability, personal injury, wrongful death and other
potential liabilities.

Our success depends on our key senior management members
and our ability to attract, train, motivate and retain highly skilled
scientists and other technical personnel.

If we fail to effectively manage our anticipated growth or execute
on our growth strategies, our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects could suffer.

We face risks related to natural disasters, health epidemics (such
as the COVID-19 outbreak) and other outbreaks of contagious
diseases, civil and social disruptions and other factors beyond
our control.

Environmental, social and governance matters may impact our

business and reputation.

If we become a party or are subject to litigation, legal disputes,
claims, administrative proceedings or other administrative
measures, such involvement may divert our management’s
attention and result in costs and liabilities, and there is no
assurance that the results of the legal proceedings would favor
us.

We are subject to risks inherent in international operations.

Changes in international relations including trade or investment
policies, in particular the ongoing conflicts between the U.S.
and China, may have an adverse effect on our business and
expansion plans.
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If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws
and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties
or incur costs that could materially adversely affect the success
of our business.

Increased labor costs could negatively affect our ability to
operate efficiently and have an adverse impact on our revenues
and profitability.

If our internal risk management and control system is not
adequate or effective, and if it fails to detect potential risks in
our business as intended, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

If our brands fail to maintain a positive reputation, many aspects
of our business and our business prospects could be adversely
affected.

If our internal risk management and control system is not
adequate or effective, and if it fails to detect potential risks in
our business as intended, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

If our brands fail to maintain a positive reputation, many aspects
of our business and our business prospects could be adversely
affected.

Our listing may be impeded and our business operations may be
adversely affected by the Measures for Cybersecurity Review or
the Regulation on the Administration of Cyber Data Security (Draft
for Comments).

If we suffer breach, failure or disruption in or to our information
systems, it could compromise sensitive information related to our
business and expose us to liability or reputational harm, and our
ability to effectively manage our business operations could be
adversely affected.

Our business benefits from certain preferential tax incentives,
the expiration of or changes to which could adversely affect our
profitability.
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o We have limited insurance coverage, and any claims beyond our
insurance coverage may result in our incurring substantial costs
and a diversion of resources.

Risks Relating to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional
Capital

° We have incurred significant net losses since our inception, and
we expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future and may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to
achieve or maintain profitability. Investors are at risk of losing
substantially all of their investments in our Shares.

° We are exposed to risks in connection with the fair value change
of financial assets at FVTPL and at FVOCI.

o We may not be able to fulfill our obligations in respect of contract
liabilities.

o Share-based payment may cause shareholding dilution and have
a negative effect on our financial performance.

o We are exposed to certain risks through our investment in
associates.

° We are exposed to changes in fair value of our derivative
financial instruments.

o The impairment of our contract cost, prepayments and other
receivables may affect our business operations.

o We have a limited operating history, especially our drug
discovery operations, which may make it difficult to evaluate our
current business and predict our future performance.

o We may need additional financing to fund our operations, and
if we are unable to obtain such financing, we may be unable to
complete the development and commercialization of our drug
candidates.

o Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our shareholders,
restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our
technologies or drug candidates.
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Our results of operations are subject to biological asset fair value
adjustments, which are non-cash in nature and can be highly
volatile and are subject to a number of factors.

The appraisal value of our properties may be different from their
actual realizable value and are subject to uncertainty or change.

Risks Relating to Our Doing Business in China

Adverse changes in political, economic and other policies of the
Chinese government could have a material adverse effect on
the overall economic growth of China, which could reduce the
demand for our products; and could otherwise materially and
adversely affect our business, operations or competitive position.

There are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
enforcement of PRC laws, rules and regulations.

You may experience difficulties in effecting service of
legal process and enforcing judgments against us and our
management.

We are a PRC enterprise and we are subject to PRC tax on our
global income, and the dividends payable to investors and gains
on the sale of our H Shares by our investors are subject to PRC
tax.

Payment of dividends is subject to restrictions under PRC law
and regulations.

Future changes in laws, regulations or enforcement policies in

China could adversely affect our business.

Governmental control of currency conversion, and restrictions on
the remittance of Renminbi into and out of China, may adversely
affect the value of your investment.

Inflation in the PRC could negatively affect our profitability and
growth.
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° Our business benefits from certain financial incentives and
discretionary policies granted by local governments. Expiration
of, or changes to, these incentives or policies would have an
adverse effect on our results of operations.

° We may be restricted from transferring our scientific data abroad
or using human genetic resources collected in China.

° Any failure to comply with the PRC regulations regarding
contribution of social insurance premium or housing provident
funds may subject us to fines and other legal or administrative

sanctions.

Key Principles of Risk Management

We recognize that risk management is critical to the success of
our business operation. Key operational risks faced by us include
changes in general market conditions and the regulatory environment
of the Chinese and global biologics markets, our ability to develop,
manufacture and commercialize our drug candidates, and our ability
to compete with other pharmaceutical companies. We also face
various market risks. In particular, we are exposed to credit, liquidity
and currency risks that arise in the normal course of our business.

We have adopted a series of risk management policies which set out a
risk management framework to identify, assess, evaluate and monitor
key risks associated with our strategic objectives on an ongoing basis.
The following key principles outline our approach to risk management:

o The relevant departments in our Company, including but not
limited to the finance department and the human resources
department, are responsible for implementing our risk
management policy and carrying out our day-to-day risk
management practice. Each department is responsible for
identifying and evaluating risks associated with its working
scope. In order to standardize risk management across our
Group and set a common level of transparency and risk
management performance, the relevant departments will (i)
identify the source of the risks and potential impact, (ii) monitor
the development of such risks, and (iii) prepare risk management
reports periodically for our office of the president’s review.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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° Our office of the president and quality control department will
coordinate, oversee and manage the overall risks associated with
our business operations and quality control, respectively, mainly
including (i) reviewing our corporate risk in light of our corporate
risk tolerance, (ii) maintaining a key risk list and leading
corresponding risk management activities, and (iii) organizing
revision and update of the key risk list. Our office of the president
will be responsible for carrying out the risk prevention and
management activities with relevant department and conduct
irregular reviews.

° Our office of general manager, will be responsible for (i)
reviewing the risk management information collected by our
office of the president every year, (ii) reviewing annual risk
management report of the Company, and (iii) overseeing office of
president to promulgating annual risk evaluations.

For the measures related to the risks, please refer to “Corporate
Governance Report” in this report.

PROSPECTS

A description of the future development in the Company’s business is
provided in the Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion
and Analysis on page 5 and page 44 to 45 respectively of this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the Reporting Period of the Company are set
out in “Management Discussion and Analysis — II. Financial Review” of
this report.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering
(including the partial exercise of the Over-allotment Option) amounted
to approximately HK$537.0 million (equivalent to RMB436.3 million)
after the deduction of underwriting fees, and related expenses in
connection with the exercise of the Global Offering.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Group had used the net proceeds from
the Global Offering for the following purposes:

EFRERE BZ2022F  #Z2022F
FRABHN 2REE 12A31ACHA 12A31 AKBA
BAl  FEREFRE  FAENERE FERE
(%) BEER BEER BEER
Utilized net Proceeds
Approximately Net proceeds proceeds up unused as
% of total net  from Global to December of December
proceeds Offering 31, 2022 31, 2022
(%) HKS$’ million  HK$’ million  HK$’ million
(A) AEBROERNE—SERT (A)  Fund further clinical research and
BRHEES development of our Core Products 70 376.0 12.0 363.9
(i) AYHOO3HFFE IR ()  Fund the research and
HES development of YH003 35 188.0 4.0 184.0
(i)  AYHOO1BIER R (i) Fund the clinical research and
BRHES development of YHOO1 35 188.0 8.1 179.9
(B) REZMNTEEHARBEY (B) Fund antibody drug discovery and
RERARRERES development in connection with
Project Integrum 15 80.6 35.3 45.3
(i) BATEERTH (i) Investment in the facilities
SR ME R AR AN BE 4 construction and purchase of
VIR T A R R R equipment used for antibody
LA drug discovery under Project
Integrum 5 26.9 0.3 26.6
(i) ZNTEEMME (i) Cover staff costs in Project
TR Integrum 5 26.9 21.3 5.6
(i) ARTEEMHR (i) Trial consumables and other
BERERECE costs in antibody discovery and
Sh RSz R E AR AR development for Project Integrum 5 26.9 13.8 13.1
(C) EMEMERERMBKARE (C) Pre-clinical and clinical development
KRB of other pipeline products 10 53.7 9.8 43.9
(i) ARMENEETD (i) Fund upcoming clinical trials of
YHOO2F& iR i B i YH002
HES 3 16.1 - 16.1
(i) ABEMAIYHOO4ER (i) Fund clinical trials of YH004
KAREHES 2 10.7 0.6 10.1
(i) ARMOETERE (i) Fund pre-clinical trials of several
249 (R3EYH008 - drug candidates, including
YHO0Q09 * YHO006 - YHO008, YH009, YH006, YHO010,
YHO10 * YHO12 X% YHO012 and YH013
YHO13) B /R A 75
RHEES 5 26.9 9.2 17.7
(D) AfEEEELRHEM—RARMA (D) Working capital and other general
7 corporate purposes 5 26.9 7.5 19.4
@zt Total 100 537.0 64.7 472.3
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*

The amounts have been rounded to the nearest million.

The Company intends to use proceeds that had not been utilized as
of December 31, 2022 in the same manners and proportions as stated
under the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus. It is expected that all remaining unutilized net proceeds
will be fully utilized by December 31, 2026. The expected timing of the
utilization of the remaining proceeds is based on the Group's view that
such timing will vary depending on current and future developments in
market conditions.

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

List of Directors and Supervisors

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
directors’ report were:

Directors
Executive Directors

Dr. Shen Yuelei (7t AE) (Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer and General Manager)

Dr. Ni Jian ({7 62)

Dr. Zhang Haichao (55/87)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Yiliang (B8&R)

Dr. Zhou Kexiang (JE A #£)

Mr. Huang Xiaolu (E/]N&) (resigned on November 7, 2022
due to an adjustment of work commitments)

Ms. Zhang Leidi (5RE %) (appointed on November 7, 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hua Fengmao (ZE=EX)
Dr. Yu Changyuan (Ki&ix)
Ms. Liang Xiaoyan (Z2HEE7E)

Supervisors

Ms. Li Yan (Z=8F) (Chairman of the Supervisory Committee)
Ms. Sun Chunli (R&E)
Dr. Huang Rui (&%) (resigned on November 7, 2022

due to an adjustment of work commitments)

Dr. Yao Jiawei (Bk{E#) (appointed on November 7, 2022)
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Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

The biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company are set out in “Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management” of this report.

Changes in Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
Change in Directors and Composition of Board Committees

Mr. Huang Xiaolu, who was the non-executive Director and a member
of the Strategy Development Committee and was primarily responsible
for overseeing our Group’s operations and management, resigned on
November 7, 2022 due to an adjustment of work commitments.

Ms. Zhang Leidi was appointed as the non-executive Director and
a member of the Strategy Development Committee on November
7, 2022, and is primarily responsible for overseeing our Group's
operations and management.

Change in Supervisors

Ms. Huang Rui, who was the Supervisor responsible for exercising
supervision over the Directors and senior management of the
Company, resigned on November 7, 2022 due to an adjustment of
work commitments.

Dr. Yao Jiawei was appointed as the Supervisor on November 7,
2022, and is primarily responsible for exercising supervision over the
Directors and senior management of the Company.

Change in Senior Management

During the Reporting Period, there was no change in senior
management of the Company.

Service Contracts of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management

We have entered into a contract with each of our Directors and
Supervisors in respect of, among other things, compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and
applicable provisions on arbitration.

Each of our Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company. The principal particulars of these service contracts
comprise (a) a term of three years which is equivalent to the term
of the Board; and (b) termination provisions in accordance with
their respective terms. Our Directors may be re-appointed subject
to Shareholders’ approval. The service contracts can be renewed
pursuant to our Articles of Association and applicable rules.

Annual Report 2022
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Each of our Supervisors has entered into a contract with our Company.
Each contract contains provisions relating to compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, observation of our Articles of Association and
resolution of disputes by means of arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, we have not entered, and do not propose
to enter, into any service contracts with any of our Directors or
Supervisors in their respective capacities as Directors or Supervisors
(other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within
one year without any payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation)).

Remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and Five Highest-Paid
Individuals

The Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company
receive their remuneration in the form of salary and allowances,
employer’s contribution to pension schemes, annual bonuses and
independent directors’ fees.

The remuneration of Directors and Supervisors consists of Directors’
fee, salaries and other benefits, performance-based bonus, retirement
benefit scheme contributions and share-based compensation, which
are determined based on the evaluation of each Directors’ and
Supervisors’ individual performance and market trends in 2022.

The remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and senior management
of the Company is determined with reference to factors including
the salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management
of the Company, employment conditions of other positions in our
Company and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Details of remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and five highest
paid individuals (excluding Directors and Supervisors) are set out in
note 9 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this report.

For the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any Director, Supervisor or any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. None of the Directors or Supervisors has waived any
emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Retirement Benefits

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to these retirement benefits schemes is to make
the specified contributions. During the Reporting Period, no forfeited
contributions had been used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contributions.

Consideration Provided to Third Parties for Making Available
Directors’ Services

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Group
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services.

Information about Loans, Quasi-Loans and Other Dealings in
Favor of Directors, Bodies Corporate Controlled by or Entities
Connected with Directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based on the
performance of individual employees and are reviewed regularly.
A review of the employees and remuneration policies of the Group
during the year is set out in “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Il. Financial Review — Employees and Remuneration Policies” of this
report.

Confirmation of Independence from the Independent
Non-executive Directors

The Company has received the annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Hua
Fengmao, Dr. Yu Changyuan and Ms. Liang Xiaoyan, pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has duly reviewed their
respective confirmations of independence, and considers that all
independent non-executive Directors have been independent for the
year ended December 31, 2022 and remain so as of the date of this
report.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Directors’, Supervisors’ and Single Largest Group of
Shareholders’ Interests in Competing Business

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors, Supervisors and
the Single Largest Group of Shareholders or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a director
or supervisor of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

Conflict of interests between the Group and our Controlling
Parties

The Company has received the annual confirmation from the
Controlling Parties in respect of the conflict of interests between
the Group and our Controlling Parties, and the Controlling Parties
confirmed that there was no conflict of interests between the Group
and our Controlling Parties from the Listing Date to the date of this
report.

The independent non-executive Directors also reviewed whether there
was any conflict of interests between the Group and our Controlling
Parties. The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that there
was no conflict of interests between the Group and our Controlling
Parties from the Listing Date to the date of this report.

Directors’, Supervisors’ and Single Largest Group of
Shareholders’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements and
Contracts of Significance

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or Supervisor or the Single Largest Group of Shareholders or their
connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies
Ordinance) had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, has
been entered into or was subsisting during the Reporting Period.
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EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had adopted four Employee
Incentive Schemes, namely the Baiao Evergreen Scheme that was
adopted on December 26, 2017, the Baiao Changsheng Scheme that
was adopted on July 29, 2019, the Eucure Evergreen Scheme that
was adopted on September 10, 2020, and the Eucure Changsheng
Scheme that was adopted on September 23, 2020, in relation to
the four respective Employee Incentive Platforms, namely Baiao
Evergreen, Baiao Changsheng, Eucure Evergreen, and Eucure
Changsheng. The four Employee Incentive Platforms, in aggregate,
held 54,695,160 Shares (comprising 16,854,300 H Shares and
37,840,860 Domestic Shares), representing approximately 13.69%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report. The Company currently has no plan to make further grant
of share awards or otherwise effect any dealings in share awards
pursuant to the Employee Incentive Schemes that will be subject
to the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Where
applicable, the Company will comply with the relevant Listing Rules in
relation to subsequent dealings of share awards under any Employee

Incentive Scheme.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



TREIBEMNES  2REEE (RTE
ERIN REMES (ABYE=H) D
2022F 12 A1 HRZEE BB FEEEHN

ERESABENFENERRN AR :

DS

EEERE
Directors’ Report

The following table sets out the aggregate effective interests in
each of the Employee Incentive Platforms and the equivalent
aggregate number of underlying Shares held by our Directors, senior

management (other than the executive Directors) and other employees

who are Independent Third Parties, respectively as at December 31,

2022:

RESHBFEN REEEZEEMREN

R (%)

Effective interests
in the Employee
Incentive

HisHEEE AH
Number of
relevant other
employees
relative to the
specified interest

HERDEE

Number of

Employee Incentive Platform Platform (%) range underlying Shares
BRES EE 1865 E% 3,485,987
Baiao Evergreen Directors: 18.65 Directors: 3,485,987
Hib = RERE : 30.00 Hib S RERE - 5,606,601

Other senior management: Other senior management:

30.00 5,606,601

B5E 1 8.67 B5% 11,619,683

Supervisors: 8.67 Supervisors: 1,619,683

Httfg 8 : 42.68 HiES : 7,976,409

Other employees: 42.68 Other employees: 7,976,409

0.08 - 0.35 51 15,570 - 64,910

0.08 -0.35 51 15,570 - 64,910

0.42 - 2.67 30 77,870 — 498,370

0.42 - 2.67 30 77,870 — 498,370

4.67 - 5.33 872,130 - 996,730

4.67 - 5.33 872,130 — 996,730
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RESBEFEHN HEEESEEEEN

EERBTA B (%) HibHEEE AH HEROHE
Number of
relevant other
Effective interests employees
in the Employee relative to the
Incentive specified interest Number of
Employee Incentive Platform Platform (%) range underlying Shares
EE&32 TE 5947 EE 11,179,440
Baiao Changsheng Directors: 59.47 Director: 11,179,440
Hib S AERE :8.13 Hip@MEEE - 1,516,680
Other senior management: Other senior management:
8.13 1,516,680
HihgE : 32.40 HinfgE : 5,951,520
Other employees: 32.40 Other employees: 5,951,520
0.01 -0.15 61 2,160 - 28,800
0.01 -0.15 61 2,160 - 28,800
0.16 - 0.25 79 30,240 - 46,800
0.16 - 0.25 79 30,240 - 46,800
0.27 - 0.38 13 49,680 — 72,360
0.27 - 0.38 13 49,680 - 72,360
0.40 - 0.43 7 78,480 - 75,960
0.40 - 0.43 7 78,480 - 75,960
0.45 -3.70 10 83,160 — 689,410
0.45 - 3.70 10 83,160 — 689,410
EHRES BE:875 TE 577,440
Eucure Evergreen Directors: 8.75 Directors: 577,440
HMEREERE : 76.32 Hip@MEILE - 3,632,400
Other senior management: Other senior management:
76.32 3,632,400
HihgE : 14.93 Hih{g 8 : 549,000
Other employees: 14.93 Other employees: 549,000
0.61-0.75 3 28,800 - 35,640
0.61-0.75 & 28,800 - 35,640
1.04 -1.57 4 49,680 — 74,880
1.04 -1.57 4 49,680 — 74,880
3.39 - 3.91 1 161,280 — 186,120
3.39 - 3.91 1 161,280 - 186,120
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RESBEFEHN HEEESEEMEEN

EEHBTE BB (%) HiHEEEAR HEROHE
Number of
relevant other
Effective interests employees
in the Employee relative to the
Incentive specified interest Number of
Employee Incentive Platform Platform (%) range underlying Shares
A S £%:99.20 £% 112,499,698
Eucure Changsheng Director: 99.20 Director: 12,499,698
HibSRAERE 075 HtmREEE : 94,004
Other senior management: Other senior management:
0.75 94,004
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Supervisors: 0.05

BE%E 0 0.05 2% 1 6,298

Supervisors: 6,298

Pursuant to the scheme documents (the “Scheme Documents”)
and the award agreements (the “Award Agreements”), participants
of the Schemes include our Company’s core employees and senior
management members. The Award Agreements further provided that
the following individuals may not be selected as participants to the
Schemes (as applicable): (i) individuals who have not entered into an
employment contract with our Company or any of our subsidiaries, or
there is no actual labor relations between such individuals and our
Company or any of our subsidiaries; (ii) individuals who are forbidden
to hold the position of director, supervisor or senior management
pursuant to the PRC Company Law; (iii) employees who have been
convicted of crime or in violation of administrative law in the last three
years prior to the adoption of the Schemes; and (iv) individuals who
are not suitable to hold Shares or the continuing holding of Shares
of such individuals may affect the completion of the Global Offering
pursuant to the specifications of the relevant regulators.

The sole general partner of each Employee Incentive Platform is Dr.
Shen. Thus, in effect, all management powers and voting rights of
the Employee Incentive Platforms reside with Dr. Shen. All selected
participants do not have any voting rights in our Company. The
selected participants will be granted awards in the form of economic
interest in the Employee Incentive Platforms as a limited partner of
the relevant Employee Incentive Platform. Upon becoming the limited
partner of the Employee Incentive Platforms, the selected participants
indirectly receive economic interest in the corresponding number of
underlying Shares held by the Employee Incentive Platforms.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

113



114

EEEWRS

Directors’ Report

RARMEEBAESEERBETEE
BEFANRESETL2EZEB BT
BRARFNHERFRKRE  UREKRER
BIEEEEIETERABHEARSEE S
FHE BT o

RIERBHBBNGER  REESGE
HEZ ANEZ2EETSHE #E - Z
AEERAEREBLEPOERIAEM
TARZERRIERBEAERBET -

ARNA A ESKAE R E R A EZ AR
/A%E%m%$$ﬁh%@ﬁﬁﬂﬁé
BB E e EREETE Y

é%A’IK&%iMREWHAEiF*
ST KN (NBRBRKRERIELSERER
AR KARRAEFHE EIE - HE

BHYRAT RS - RETER : (IER
FEFERAEG  ERENBRAWED

BERERTE BIAERSEHARRRTT

ﬁﬁ%1¢:0WﬁWH$§P~EAW'
(VARRERETEFZZARZEENE
BRBTenEZFTaBEa  (VIER

%Kg£$ﬂﬂﬁ$ﬂw%mEMﬁﬁ$

o (ViDERARARRA KRG - EEELE
K9%AEM%OW@%%E%:MM%E

FIERT (N ABSEERZEE 175
BB BEARTEBREKN (XA

BBEERIRRNME - WB R EERE
E*ﬁ%ﬁ%&&%%%*ﬁﬁK@ﬂ&

BEIBLE KX ¢ (xi)REHEBR © (xii)
L;“} 1E2HERERERFER © (xi)A
BE2EERTATEWMBRE  R(xiv)HR

RERDBEINZENEMREEH ()
ZiymEa EEBRBEBR]  (vi)ZE(xiv)
SEAAEmBREER] -

Economic interests will be paid by the Company by way of cash
dividends to the relevant selected participants through the relevant
Employee Incentive Platform proportionate to such selected
participant’s subscription of amount of equity interests in that specific
Employee Incentive Platform with reference to such Employee
Incentive Platform’s relative holding of Shares in the Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the Employee Incentive Schemes, the
selected participants may not dispose of, transfer, pledge or
otherwise encumber his or her interest in the limited partnership for
the repayment of debt without the written consent of the Board.

The Company may require selected participants to transfer their
partnership interests held by any of the Employee Incentive Scheme
to the sole general partner upon occurrence of the certain events in
respect of such selected participant, primarily including (i) death or
declaration of his/her death or disappearance by a people’s court;
(ii) the termination of labor contract or employment due to retirement,
resignation with Company’s consent, and incapacity resulting from
work injury, redundancy, dissatisfactory performance; (iii) unable to
perform original duties after a certain period of medical treatment of
illness or not-job-related injury and no alternative arrangement can
be offered by the Company; (iv) completion and non-renewal of the
labor contract; (v) the Company has decided that it is not advisable
for the selected participant to hold such partnership interests in
the Employee Incentive Platforms; (vi) other exit events which are
considered having no adverse effects on the Company; (vii) violation
of rules and regulation of the Company causing a loss of not less than
RMB200,000; (viii) conviction of criminal offense; (ix) neglection of
duties, misconduct and corruption of the selected participant causing
significant damages to the Company; (x) the acceptance or solicitation
of bribes, misappropriation and steal of properties, disclosure
of business and technical secrets by the selected participants
causing significant damages to the Company or its reputation; (xi)
unapproved resignation; (xii) the selected participant participated
in unauthorized competitive businesses; (xiii) the dismissal of the
selected participant due to his/her misconduct; and (xiv) other exit
events which are considered having adverse effects on the Company
((i) to (vi) together, the “Positive Exit Events”; (vii) to (xiv) together,
the “Negative Exit Events”).
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Subject to any lock up requirements under applicable laws and
regulations, the selected participants involved in either Positive Exit
Events or Negative Exit Events may (as the case may be) (i) retain
his/her entitlement; or (ii) dispose of his/her relevant entitlement to
economic interests pursuant to the rules of the relevant Employment
Incentive Platform. An exception to such entitlement is that in the
event of death or declared death or disappearance by a people’s
court during any applicable lock-up period after Listing or in the case
of incapability for the civil conduct, the relevant selected participant’s
partnership interest held in the respective Employee Incentive
Platforms shall be purchased by the general partner or a third party
designated by the general partner at a price that is equivalent to 80%
of the average price of the Shares in five trading days prior to the
purchase, and the proceeds thereof be allocated to the successor of
the participant within 30 days after the exit is known. If such purchase
is impracticable, the corresponding number of Shares held by the
relevant Employee Incentive Platform that correspond to the interest
of such selected participants shall be disposed of by the relevant
Employee Incentive Platform within three months after the expiry of
the lock-up period and the proceeds of the disposal shall be paid to
the successors of the participant and the relevant selected participant
shall be removed from the partnership. However in the event of
Negative Exit Events, the Company may demand that the relevant
selected participant pay compensation for damages (if any) of the
Company caused by the Negative Exit Event.

As of the December 31, 2022, the aggregate number of Shares
underlying the awards granted to the Directors, Supervisors and
senior management members was 40,218,231 Shares representing
10.07% of our Company’s total issued share capital.

SHARE AWARDS SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share awards scheme on November
22, 2022. No new shares were or are to be issued or allotted under
the Scheme. Nonetheless, since the Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
covers, among others, share schemes involving existing shares of
listed issuers, the Scheme is governed by the relevant requirements
under the Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as may be applicable.
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A summary of the Scheme Rules is set out below:

Purposes and objectives

The purposes and objectives of the Scheme are (i) to recognise
the contributions by certain Employees and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group.

Participants

The participants of the Scheme consist of full-time employees of the
Group.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Scheme shall be valid
and effective from the Adoption Date to the end of the period of ten
years commencing on the Adoption Date, except in respect of any
non-vested Awarded Shares granted hereunder prior to the expiration
of the Scheme, for the purpose of giving effect to the vesting of such
Awarded Shares or otherwise as may be required in accordance with
the provisions of the Scheme. The remaining life of the Scheme as at
the date of this report is approximately 9.5 years.

Administration

The Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board in
accordance with the Scheme Rules and the terms of the Trust Deed.
The Trustee shall hold the Trust Shares, the Awarded Shares including
the returned shares and the related income in accordance with the
terms of the Trust Deed.

Scheme limit and maximum individual limit

The Board shall not make any further award of Awarded Shares which
will result in the number of H Shares awarded by the Board under the
Scheme exceeding 5% of the issued shares, amounts to 19,969,921
Shares, i.e. 18.03% of the issued Shares as at the date of this report,
of the Company as at the Adoption Date. The maximum number of
H Shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee under the
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued shares of the Company as
at the Adoption Date (i.e. 3,993,984 Shares).

Operation

The Board may, at any time and from time to time at its absolute
discretion after having regard to the Scheme Rules and subject to
compliance with the Listing Rules, the Articles, PRC Company Law
and any other applicable laws and regulations, either before or after
identification of the Selected Employee(s) cause to be paid an amount
of cash to the Trustee for the purchase of the Shares on the market as
Trust Shares.
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Grant of Awarded Shares

Subject to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from time to time, at its
absolute discretion select any Employee as a Selected Employee for
grant of an Award. Until so selected, no Employee shall be entitled to
participate in the Scheme. No consideration or any form of purchase
price is payable upon acceptance of Award.

In determining the number of Awarded Shares for a Selected
Employee, the Board may take into consideration matters including
(without limitation), the general financial condition of the Group and
the rank and performance of the relevant Selected Employee.

The Board is entitled to impose any conditions (including, without
limitation, the performance, operating and financial targets and other
criteria, if any, to be satisfied by the Selected Employee), as it deems
appropriate in its sole and absolute discretion before the Awarded
Shares can vest. The Board shall inform (i) such Selected Employee
the number of Awarded Shares, the vesting conditions and the vesting
schedule and (ii) the Trustee the relevant information of the Selected
Employee and the relevant conditions of the Awarded Shares.

Any Award shall be personal to the Selected Employee and shall not
be transferrable or assignable to any other person prior to the Vesting
Date, except for and to the extent permitted by the applicable laws
and regulations (including the Listing Rules), any company that is
wholly owned by the Selected Employee or a trust which the settlor is
the Selected Employee, and no Selected Employee shall in any way
sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in
favour of any other person over or in relation to such Award or the
related income or any of the Returned Shares under the Scheme prior
to the Vesting Date.

Vesting of Awarded Shares

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Scheme and the fulfillment
of all relevant vesting conditions, the respective Awarded Shares
held by the Trustee on behalf of a Selected Employee pursuant to
the terms of the Scheme Rules shall vest in such Selected Employee
in accordance with the vesting condition (if any) and the Trustee
shall cause the Awarded Shares to be transferred to such Selected
Employee on the Vesting Date(s), provided that the Selected
Employee remains at all times after the grant of the Award and on
each relevant Vesting Date(s) an Employee. Where any Awarded
Shares and the related income which is in the form of Shares are not
vested in any Selected Employee for whatever reasons in accordance
with the Scheme Rules, all such unvested Awarded Shares and the
related income shall become Returned Shares for the purposes of the
Scheme.
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Lapse of Award
(1) Total Lapse

In the event that prior to or on the Vesting Date, under the following
circumstances and subject to the terms of the Scheme, the Award
shall, unless the Board otherwise agrees, lapse forthwith, and the
relevant Awarded Shares shall not vest on the relevant Vesting Date
but shall become Returned Shares for the purpose of the Scheme: (i)
the relevant Selected Employee ceases to be an Employee, (ii) the
Subsidiary by which a Selected Employee is employed ceases to be
a Subsidiary of the Company (or of a member of the Group), or (iii)
an order for the winding-up of the Company is made or a resolution is
passed for the voluntary winding-up of the Company.

(2) Partial Lapse

In the event that prior to or on the Vesting Date, under the following
circumstances and subject to the terms of the Scheme, the relevant
part of the Award made to such Selected Employee shall, unless the
Board otherwise agrees, lapse forthwith and the relevant Awarded
Shares shall not vest on the relevant Vesting Date but shall become
Returned Shares for the purpose of the Scheme: (i) a Selected
Employee is found to be an Excluded Employee (in this context
only applicable to any person in class (i) of Excluded Employee as
defined in the definitions); or (i) a Selected Employee fails to return
duly executed transfer documents prescribed by the Trustee for the
relevant Awarded Shares within the stipulated period.

(3) Death or retirement by agreement

Notwithstanding the above, in respect of a Selected Employee who
died or retired by agreement with a member of the Group at any time
prior to or on the Vesting Date, all the Awarded Shares of the relevant
Selected Employee or rights thereto shall be deemed to be vested on
the day immediately prior to his death or the day immediately prior to
his retirement with the relevant member of the Group.

Restrictions

No Award shall be made by the Board and no H Shares or payment
(as the case may be) shall be delivered or made to the Trustee and no
instructions to acquire H Shares shall be given to the Trustee under
the Scheme where any Director is in possession of inside information
in relation to the Group or where dealings in H Shares by Directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the Listing Rules and all
applicable laws from time to time.
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Alteration of the Scheme

The Scheme may be altered in any respect by a resolution of
the Board provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect
materially and adversely any subsisting rights of any Selected
Employee under the Scheme Rules, subject to exceptions.

Voting rights

For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee holding unvested Trust Shares
of the Scheme, regardless whether such Trust Shares have been
granted to the corresponding Selected Employees as Awarded Shares
or not, shall abstain from voting, whether directly or indirectly, on
matters that require Shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules,
unless otherwise required by law to vote in accordance with the
beneficial owner’s direction and such a direction is given.

Termination

The Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of:

(i)  the end of the period of ten years commencing on the Adoption
Date, except in respect of any non-vested Awarded Shares
granted hereunder prior to the expiration of the Scheme, for
the purpose of giving effect to the vesting of such Awarded
Shares or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Scheme; and

(i) such date of early termination as determined by the Board
provided that such termination shall not affect any subsisting
rights of any Selected Employee hereunder.

Upon termination of the Scheme, all Shares and non-cash income
remaining in the trust fund of the Trust shall be sold by the Trustee.
The net proceeds of aforesaid sale and such other funds remaining
in the Trust shall be remitted to the Company forthwith after the sale.
For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee may not transfer any Shares
to the Company nor may the Company otherwise hold any Shares
whatsoever (other than its interest in the proceeds of sale of such
Shares mentioned above).
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During the period from the Adoption Date to December 31, 2022,
no awards have been granted, vested, cancelled or lapsed, in
accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, no participant
with options and awards has been granted and to be granted in any
12-month period exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company in issue, and no related entity participant or service provider
with options and awards has been granted and to be granted in any
12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the issued share capital of the
Company in issue, under the share schemes of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed from the period of the Listing Date to
December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this report between the
Company and a person other than a Director or any person engaged
in the full-time employment of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not conduct any
non-exempt connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, no related party transactions
as set out in note 37 of Notes to Financial Statements of this
report constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company and lts Associated Corporations

As of December 31, 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

REBEER RAXRFRE
ROPHER ROPHEFER
BEE B2 BETHRASHE RHER 54 HEEAE BYBEI S
Approximate Approximate
Percentage of Percentage of
Shareholding Shareholding
in Relevant in Total
Name of Director/Supervisor/ Number of Class of Share of the
Chief Executive Class of Shares Capacity Securities Shares Company
LABEELO®
(IEEL ) JE LRt BEREAA
Dr. Shen Yuelei®® Unlisted Shares  Beneficial owner 26,394,840 9.1% 6.6%
FE LR [N
(“Dr. Shen”) Unlisted Shares Interest of spouse 29,004,840 10.0% 7.3%
FE LTk R EE R
Unlisted Shares Interest in 37,840,860 13.1% 9.5%
HAx% controlled
H Shares corporations 16,854,300 15.2% 4.2%
HREEAR)BEMNZRNERRET —ZB-_FFRH
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B EE BETBABHE RGES

REBER REAQBFE

ROPOER ROPHER

3% HEEAE LS L S=
Approximate Approximate

Percentage of Percentage of

Shareholding Shareholding

in Relevant in Total
Name of Director/Supervisor/ Number of Class of Share of the
Chief Executive Class of Shares Capacity Securities Shares Company
RiEHLe
(M7EL]) JE LR EnEAA
Dr. Ni Jian® Unlisted Shares  Beneficial owner 29,004,840 10.0% 7.3%
IE LRk [N
("Dr. Ni") Unlisted Shares Interest of 64,235,700 22.3% 16.1%
HA% spouse
H Shares 16,854,300 15.2% 4.2%
B3 Note:

(1) WRER2022F12A31 A TR H A
399,398,420 % % {5 (£215288,616,500 %
JE LR K 110,781,920 B HAR) 5+ & -

(2) MABTAEREE BRER HNES
REMER (HARERRTE) ME—
LTBEBARE—EBEAEBA Bt -
AMETHERAEEZNBEERETAR
EFEEN37,840,860IELTRHD R
16,854,300 RHAR Z ## 2k - BIMERE o=
A A#7526,394,840 8 FE LAY ©

(38) “hEIHfETARE Bt LELH
RABHEB RIS LA H29,004,840% 3
MR ZERS  MAEFTRRAEREAF LT
TR H 264,235,700 % 3E E TR &
16,854,300 % HP% 2 #E2S ©

BEXFBEESN  BEALAEE &
BB THA B R AL 75 (AR
EEMARG - ARG RERERHER
5 R IS5 AR R AR BT
5P BB 51T AR A A R R B BB 32 A A
BRRAR -

(1)  The calculation is based on the total number of issued Shares,
399,398,420 Shares, including 288,616,500 Unlisted Shares and
110,781,920 H Shares, as at December 31, 2022.

(2) Dr. Shen is the sole general partner and the sole managing partner
of Biao Evergreen, Baiao Changsheng, Eucure Evergreen and Eucure
Changsheng, which are employee shareholding platforms. Dr. Shen,
therefore, is deemed to be interested in the 37,840,860 Unlisted Shares
and 16,854,300 H Shares held by these four limited partnerships. He also
holds 26,394,840 Unlisted Shares as beneficial owner.

(8) Dr. Shen and Dr. Ni are spouses. Dr. Shen, therefore, is deemed to be
interested in 29,004,840 Unlisted Shares which Dr. Ni holds, and Dr. Ni is
deemed to be interested in 64,235,700 Unlisted Shares and 16,854,300 H
Shares which Dr. Shen holds.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Supervisors or chief
executives of the Company had registered an interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



TERROERIRE

HZE2022F12A31H * BARRIMESE
HABEEREHM UTAL (EIELIF
BENEE  EERAQARSITERAS)R
BROSABEBRMDGT - HEREZSHREBE
1EBIFEXVERSE 2 K 35 SRS AR AR
AIFBEYE BN ARRREESARPE
150155 336 157817 B M & 2 it i s sl

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests or Short Positions

EEEWRS

Directors’ Report

As of December 31, 2022, to the knowledge of the Company and the
Directors after making reasonable inquiries, the following persons
(other than the Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the
Company as disclosed above) have interests or short positions in
Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO and recorded in the register required to be maintained by the

B Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
RIEEER RAERTRAE
RAD A YRR BETHER
TERBARSA 42 %5l Eg) EHEE BHRBES BHBES
Approximate Approximate
Percentage of  Percentage of
Shareholding  Shareholding
in Relevant in Total Share
Number of Class of  Capital of the
Name of Substantial Holders Class of Shares  Capacity Securities Shares Company
Bl - E ) EREAA
SDIC Shanghai Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 42,133,320 14.6% 10.5%
BR (L8 AIXREER
BRARW F TR X EE R
China Investment (Shanghai) Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 42,133,320 14.6% 10.5%
Venture Capital corporations
Management Co., Ltd.®
BRI FE LR EREAA
SDIC Shenzhen Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 18,996,120 6.6% 4.8%
HREEAR)BEMNZRNERRET —ZB-_FFRH
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RIEEER RAERTRAE
BRAD A YRR BETHER
TERBARSA B 42 55! Eg) EHHE BHABES BRBEAE
Approximate Approximate
Percentage of  Percentage of
Shareholding  Shareholding
in Relevant in Total Share
Number of Class of  Capital of the
Name of Substantial Holders Class of Shares  Capacity Securities Shares Company
BRAIZEREERERARO I Lk REHEE R
China Venture Capital Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 72,937,440 25.3% 18.3%
Management Co., Ltd.® corporations
TRBEREHEEREFRARO FE LR X EE R
China Venture Capital High-Tech Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 72,937,440 25.3% 18.3%
Industry Investment Co., Ltd.® corporations
Gk gl FE LRk XEHEEER
SDIC? Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 72,937,440 25.3% 18.3%
corporations
EREREERNDEBRLA® e ) REHEE R
Weike Holdings Group Co., Ltd.® Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 30,804,120 10.7% 7.7%
corporations
HA% X EE R
H Shares Interest in controlled 4,528,500 4.1% 1.1%
corporations
Al AR ST AE© FE LRk R E R
Mr. He Chengming® Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 30,804,120 10.7% 7.7%
corporations
HA% X EE R
H Shares Interest in controlled 4,528,500 41% 1.1%
corporations
FRERAK &3R5 FE LR EREAA
Zhaoyin Chengzhang Qihao Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 22,602,960 7.8% 5.7%
BRFARR© F TR ERBEAA
Zhaoyin Langyao® Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 6,433,560 2.2% 1.6%
FE LRk R E R
Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 22,602,960 7.8% 5.7%

corporations
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R R RAERTRAE
BRAD A YRR BETHER
TERBARSA B 45 %5l Eg) EHHE BHABES BB
Approximate Approximate
Percentage of  Percentage of
Shareholding  Shareholding
in Relevant in Total Share
Number of Class of  Capital of the
Name of Substantial Holders Class of Shares  Capacity Securities Shares Company
RYTHRRRRRERERH
¥ (ERAE)O FE LRk R E R
Shenzhen Zhaoyin No.4 Equity Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 29,036,520 10.1% 7.3%
Investment Partnership corporations
(Limited Partnership)®
PEHEREESIEEEO I Lk REHEE R
National Social Security Fund Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 29,036,520 10.1% 7.3%
Board of Trustees® corporations
BB RIBAR F TR EREAA
Zhaoyin Chengzhang Shijiuhao Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 19,060,920 6.6% 4.8%
B S B ORI
BRAEO FE LRk XEHEEER
China Merchants International Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 19,060,920 6.6% 4.8%
Financial Holdings corporations
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.("®
RBERE AR FE LRk EREAA
CMB International Capital™ Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 3,074,400 1.1% 0.8%
FE LA Xt EE R
Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 48,097,440 16.7% 12.0%
corporations
E#f HAZ EREAA
Astral H Shares Beneficial owner 26,088,480 23.5% 6.5%
CMBI Private Equity Series HA% XEHEERER
SPC-Biotechnology Fund | SP"  H Shares Interest in controlled 26,088,480 23.5% 6.5%
corporations
CMBI Private Equity Series HA% ZERHEEE R
SPC-Biotechnology Fund V SP"@  H Shares Interest in controlled 26,088,480 23.5% 6.5%
corporations
HREEAR)BEMNZRNERRET —ZB-_FFRH
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RIS RERARE
BRAD PR AR BERRRFR
TERBARSA B 5 ER £27) EHYE BRBEAE BRBEAE
Approximate Approximate
Percentage of  Percentage of
Shareholding  Shareholding
in Relevant in Total Share
Number of Class of  Capital of the
Name of Substantial Holders Class of Shares  Capacity Securities Shares Company
ARgE HA& ERAEA
BioVeda H Shares Beneficial owner 20,291,400 18.3% 51%
InnoVeda Medtech, Ltd.(™® HE% ZEGEEER
H Shares Interest in controlled 20,291,400 18.3% 5.1%
corporations
HRIASREROBRAEM FE LRk A E R
China Life Insurance Co., Ltd.("¥ Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 23,519,160 8.1% 5.9%
corporations
FRASRE (£E) 2 F0® F LR X EE R
China Life Insurance Unlisted Shares Interest in controlled 23,519,160 8.1% 5.9%

(Group) Company('®

GEX

(1)

BIER2022F12 431 AB TR KA
399,398,420 % % {5 (£21%288,616,500 %
FE LT K 110,781,920 8 HAR) 7 & -

AELTABRES BRER HhIEE
RERER(HEAEERRTE) ME—
TREABARE—EEABA Bt
AT HERAEEZNBEERETEAE
DEFEHH37,840,860F EHRMD K&
16,854,300k HiR 2 # % « WIMERE R
A A 26,394, 840 % FE E TR ©

AT EBFEETARS - Bt - hE L
RAEARGIETIFHE29,004,8400%3F £
MRHZEZ  MRELHKAEELE
T Fr#H 264,235,700 3 E D &
16,854,300 g HAR 2 2 ©

B (LB RIEREERBRARARRE
LEREREEA  Eit - B&R(LF)A
¥RBERERAPNEKAEARR LG
58 242,133,320R Ik ETHRR 1) 2 2k ©

corporations

Notes:

(1)

(4)

The calculation is based on the total number of issued Shares,
399,398,420 Shares, including, 288,616,500 Unlisted Shares and
110,781,920 H Shares, as at December 31, 2022.

Dr. Shen is the sole general partner and the sole managing partner
of Biao Evergreen, Baiao Changsheng, Eucure Evergreen and Eucure
Changsheng, which are employee shareholding platforms. Dr. Shen,
therefore, is deemed to be interested in the 37,840,860 Unlisted Shares
and 16,854,300 H Shares held by these four limited partnerships. He also
holds 26,394,840 Unlisted Shares as beneficial owner.

Dr. Shen and Dr. Ni are spouses. Dr. Shen, therefore, is deemed to be
interested in 29,004,840 Unlisted Shares which Dr. Ni holds, and Dr. Ni is
deemed to be interested in 64,235,700 Unlisted Shares and 16,854,300 H
Shares which Dr. Shen holds.

China Investment (Shanghai) Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. is the
general partner of SDIC Shanghai. China Investment (Shanghai) Venture
Capital Management Co., Ltd., therefore, is deemed to be interested in
42,133,320 Unlisted Shares which SDIC Shanghai holds.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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BEEFRINEBEEA Bt - BIRAIZE
REEBBRARGEAREEREEREF
211,808,000 8% 3 1 B 17 B B 3% F 1|
#5.218,996,1200% FF LTk () 2 #Ea ©
B B (L8 BIEREEEARAR]
ARREIEREEEARARIZEZEWE
A ALBRRAIRXREEEBRARE
RERBHZ (LE)AEREEERBRA
B A R42,133,320 % JE LR D 2 #E2% o

TPEEESHEXREEGRARARE
FYIHEREBA  BEHAI4%ER
E¥E At PEBBRESHEXER
EERARWEAERERFINBEZ
18,996,120 A8 3k E TR 19 2 2k o S5 -
PEEREHEEREARADFAEK
BN EEEERARI0%ME EITHR
KRB PEEERHEEREERA
AR ARERRAIXREEERBRAR
BHEM72,937 44008 I L TRR 1D 2 #E s o

ERFEPEERSNEELRERRAA
72.36% KB BITIRA - it - BIRER A
BEETEBRREHEXKREERARAFA
#972,937,440% 3E TR 2 #E%s o

#RHE R EBAR D AR Q[ ABERRYIE
BREEA(BHEHI84%ERABER)
RBEREROAEREZA (FFEH508%F
REBEDR) Bt #RIEREBRN A
FRA R AR B A 30,804,120 IF £ A%
1 (B 2F %5 11,808,000 % I L f 15
KB #3575 18,996, 120 % FE_E (D)
IR o U EAREEZ —#B(F
) K EFR AR (F554,528,500 8 HAR)
AAEMIEREERGERARZEHES -
i #E BHZE B & B AR 1) A R A 7] B (2] A& fp 5t
4 HEHA43.8% °

RIBARAEREBRRERNDBERAEA -
BHEHIIBREMREG R - AL - B
RPBERAEEBRERERTAED
22,602,960 3 E AR 1D 2w o AT
BEERERELEERECE (AREE)
kA4 eREESEES ARIBHED
BEREBA > DRFAEHRARA.9% K
A0%EMRAEBER - Bt - FINHRIESE
FRERESCBRCE(BREYE) RE2E
EREECESTSWRAERBIRARE
H#929,036,520% I ETHAR 19 < #Eas o
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China Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. is the general partner of each
of SDIC Ningbo and SDIC Shenzhen. China Venture Capital Management
Co., Ltd., therefore, is deemed to be interested in 11,808,000 Unlisted
Shares which SDIC Ningbo holds and 18,996,120 Unlisted Shares which
SDIC Shenzhen holds. In addition, China Investment (Shanghai) Venture
Capital Management Co., Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd., and therefore, China Venture
Capital Management Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in 42,133,320
Unlisted Shares held by China Investment (Shanghai) Venture Capital
Management Co., Ltd..

China Venture Capital High-Tech Industry Investment Co., Ltd. is a limited
partner holding 49.4% limited partnership interests in SDIC Shenzhen.
China Venture Capital High-Tech Industry Investment Co., Ltd., therefore,
is deemed to be interested in 18,996,120 Unlisted Shares, which SDIC
Shenzhen holds. In addition, China Venture Capital High-Tech Industry
Investment Co., Ltd. holds 40% issued capitals of China Venture Capital
Management Co., Ltd.. China Venture Capital High-Tech Industry
Investment Co., Ltd., therefore, is deemed to be interested in 72,937,440
Unlisted Shares which China Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. holds.

SDIC holds 72.36% issued capitals of China Venture Capital High-Tech
Industry Investment Co., Ltd.. SDIC, therefore, is deemed to be interested
in 72,937,440 Unlisted Shares which China Venture Capital High-Tech
Industry Investment Co., Ltd. holds.

Weike Holdings Group Co., Ltd. is a limited partner holding 38.4% limited
partnership interests in SDIC Shenzhen and a limited partner holding
50.8% limited partnership interests in SDIC Ningbo. Weike Holdings Group
Co., Ltd., therefore, is deemed to be interested in 30,804,120 Unlisted
Shares which SDIC Ningbo is interested in 11,808,000 Unlisted Shares
and SDIC Shenzhen is interested in 18,996,120 Unlisted Shares. Moreover,
one of our Cornerstone Investors, namely, VEKEN (HONGKONG)
ECONOMIC AND TRADE CO., LIMITED (4%l (F%) &Z AR A F]), which
holds 4,528,500 H Shares, is wholly owned by Weike Holdings Group Co.,
Ltd.. Weike Holdings Group Co., Ltd. is in turn owned as to 43.8% by Mr.
He Chengming ({a]#ap).

Zhaoyin Langyao is a limited partner holding 99.8% limited partnership in
Zhaoyin Chengzhang Qihao. Zhaoyin Langyao, therefore, is deemed to
be interested in 22,602,960 Unlisted Shares, which Zhaoyin Chengzhang
Qihao is interested in. Shenzhen Zhaoyin No.4 Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) and National Social Security Fund Board
of Trustees are limited partners holding limited partnership interests of
41.9% and 40% in Zhaoyin Langyao, respectively. Shenzhen Zhaoyin No.4
Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) and National Social
Security Fund Board of Trustees, therefore, are deemed to be interested in
29,036,520 Unlisted Shares which Zhaoyin Langyao is interested in.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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(10) HBRFEERESEIER ORI ER QB ABR
KRBAREOEREZA  FHHI.9%
EREBEZ - FAit - BREFSHIER
CFRID BRRARIEEBEABERK KRB
SEFEE R919,060,920 % I AR D 2 A a o

(11) BEBRBEABBEKRER - BEK
ERUERBRABROLEBAEA
bt BREFER KR AEEBRAKRE
% BERERBRARRBREABRBAEDN
48,097 440 3F Lk 2 #ERS ©

(12) CMBI Private Equity Series SPC-
Biotechnology Fund | SPXCMBI Private
Equity Series SPC-Biotechnology Fund
V SPHBIFAEEMH18.3% K81.7%HE
ITIRA - Eitt - CMBI Private Equity
Series SPC-Biotechnology Fund | SP
K& CMBI Private Equity Series SPC-
Biotechnology Fund V SP#%48 A B £
$55126,088,480 [ H A% 2 25 ©

(13) InnoVeda Medtech, Ltd.##H B R =
HE2HEETHRA - At ' InnoVeda
Medtech, Lid. R AEE B REEFHEH
20,291,400 HA% 7 #E 25 ©

(14) REASRBREROER QB AG)EFHKE
(EB)REREEREREPL (BREE)
HBREBAN FEHET49%BREEE
o MBSKE(LE)REEERERE
Pl (BRA%) #5746 14,296,3203F £
B R(i)IHESERRERERDL (B
REE)WEREEAREH0.0%ARE
B MIGERSERREREPL(F
RA®) 69,222,840 3 LTI ©
It FEASRBIRG AR A RER B
BEBRE(LE) BREERERERL
(BERE®) RIHESFERREREFR D
(BR&%) #HEE+£123,519,160% I L
Mk 2 s o

(15) FEASRE (£E) ARFAFBEASZR
KR AR A F168.37% % » AL - AE
ABRE (£8) RRAIGRAEETEAS
RERMDBRATIFAEMN23,519,160/% 3E
WD 2= o

B ECETHEEEE SN - 12022F 128318 -
BARREERESITBABRA - &
FREMALT (EIERARESTEZETH
AB)RBRMSABBERO P A A =Sk
KA (SRS RABRARNRRIRIEES
REAE&HIZE 336 IRBFERIERM)

(10)

(1)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

China Merchants International Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is
a limited partner holding limited partnership interests of 99.9% in Zhaoyin
Chengzhang Shijiuhao. China Merchants International Financial Holdings
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., therefore, is deemed to be interested in 19,060,920
Unlisted Shares, which Zhaoyin Chengzhang Shijiuhao is interested in.

CMB International Capital is a general partner of Zhaoyin Chengzhang
Qihao, Zhaoyin Chengzhang Shijiuhao and Zhaoyin Langyao. CMB
International Capital, therefore, is deemed to be interested in 48,097,440
Unlisted Shares, which Zhaoyin Chengzhang Qihao, Zhaoyin Chengzhang
Shijiuhao and Zhaoyin Langyao are interested in.

Each of CMBI Private Equity Series SPC-Biotechnology Fund | SP and
CMBI Private Equity Series SPC-Biotechnology Fund V SP holds 18.3%
and 81.7%, respectively, of the issued capital of Astral. CMBI Private
Equity Series SPC-Biotechnology Fund | SP and CMBI Private Equity
Series SPC-Biotechnology Fund V SP, therefore, are deemed to be
interested in 26,088,480 H Shares, which Astral is interested in.

InnoVeda Medtech, Ltd. holds all issued capital of BioVeda. InnoVeda
Medtech, Ltd., therefore, is deemed to be interested in 20,291,400 H
Shares, which BioVeda is interested in.

China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. is (i) a limited partner holding 74.9%
limited partnership interests in China Life Chengda (Shanghai) Healthcare
Equity Investment Center (Limited Partnership), which in turn holds
14,296,320 Unlisted Shares, and (ii) a limited partner holding 60.0%
limited partnership interests in Jiangsu China Life Jiequan Equity
Investment Center (Limited Partnership), which in turn holds 9,222,840
Unlisted Shares. China Life Insurance Co., Ltd., therefore, is deemed
to be interested in 23,519,160 Unlisted Shares in total, which China
Life Chengda (Shanghai) Healthcare Equity Investment Center (Limited
Partnership), Jiangsu China Life Jiequan Equity Investment Center (Limited
Partnership) holds.

China Life Insurance (Group) Company holds 68.37% interests in China
Life Insurance Co., Ltd., and therefore it is deemed to be interested in
23,519,160 Unlisted Shares which China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. holds.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, the Directors

and the chief executives of the Company were not aware of any other

person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)

who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying

shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



% R A 8 175
R AR - AR 73 48 5] 4 AR
i -

ESROSEEENER

BARSHAWEEIN B LHBEHE2022
F12A31 A L HRERER - AQ7]K
HARAIM B AR BB LR LB E
EREFRBUBARTREMNHAMEE
MR EREMESHNR  EHSEES
FEEBHISHEATFREFARBALR
A XA {A] Al A B A i A S (B A R Y RE
HETTEEIZFEN -

EEFRERX

KABR2022F12A31BItFEAES
= EELEATERERREESTRRE

FEREFRHEER

RBEHA - AEBSANESHAER
BRAE13.11% « REBRIRAARFER
E@EBUAR22.04% °

BWEHAR  ARRNIERF BIEREMN
EYEMAT - BEPEMGIRER
AIA RPN EYRAM AT - ARBEE
—FRESBANMEERMNETSE -

RIBEHA > REBRRHHEERELRSE
BB IRAEREEN7.00% » AEE T DR HER
EAKEABRERR19.63% °

MEEEFEARSETHEA (EER L
MR HERARR (BEEMAFAERR
AIEBITHRAS%IA L) RAKBERMAEXRE
FPHRASBEHNARRERTHEEETAES
o

o

B

EEERE
Directors’ Report

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time from the period of
the Listing Date to December 31, 2022 was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable
the Directors or the Supervisors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the equity
or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had
exercised any such right.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance policies
for its Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 13.11% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 22.04% of the Group’s total revenue.

During the Reporting Period, primary customers of the Company
consist of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including
Chinese and overseas pharmaceutical companies and small-to-
medium-sized biotechnology companies. The Company continued to
enlarge and diversify our customer base throughout the year.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest supplier accounted
for 7.00% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 19.63% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or the Group’s five largest suppliers.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the period from
the Listing Date to December 31, 2022.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
litigation or arbitration.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS AND EXECUTION

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
custody, contractual or lease arrangements, nor were there such
arrangements carried forward to the Reporting Period from the
previous period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has been committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance with a view to safeguarding the interests of the
Shareholders.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as
set out in the CG Code to the Listing Rules. The CG Code has been
applicable to the Company with effect from the Listing Date and was
not applicable to the Company before Listing Date.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code since the Listing Date
up to the date of this report, except for the deviation from the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Details are set out in “Corporate
Governance Report” in this report.

Annual Report 2022
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2022 have been audited by KPMG, certified
public accountants. There is estimated to have no change in auditors
between 2022 and 2023.

A resolution for the appointment of KPMG as the auditors of the
Company for the 2023 financial statements will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on May 25, 2023.
The notice of the AGM will be published and dispatched in due course
in the manner as required by the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
RECORD DATE

The H share register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, May 22, 2023 to Thursday, May 25, 2023, both days
inclusive, in order to determine the eligibility of the holder of H shares
to attend and vote at the AGM to be held on Thursday, May 25, 2023.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms
must be lodged with the Company’s H share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (for H Shareholders), or to the Company’s
registered office at 12 Baoshen South Street, Daxing Bio-Medicine
Industry Park, Daxing District, Beijing, PRC (for the Unlisted
Shareholders), for registration before 4:30 p.m. on Friday, May 19,
2023.

By order of the Board

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

Shen Yuelei

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 27, 2023
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

1. ERA®RE

1. ABOUT THIS REPORT

BREE (IR BEBRERHER Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“Biocytogen” or
AR([BEREE K AEE ][] the “Group” or “we”) is pleased to release its first Environmental,
1) RAEME—MIRR HERE Social and Governance Report (this “Report”) for disclosing the
BmE ([ARE]) UBRBEARERE Group’s environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) policies,
TEMSECHRAFELERATENIIR efforts and performance on corporate social responsibility and
% odekER(TESGHBE - Ik sustainable development.
RERHE -
1.1 WEER 1.1 Reporting Guidelines

NREBRBIFTER ETHR This Report has been prepared in compliance with

BB 8= +‘t<<fa CHERE
SR TESl) (TBCIES)) R
Mk  WMEBANRIRFFEIESD
FEROEZERE - W ESE

Appendix 27 of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guidelines (the “Guidelines”) of the Main Board
Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange. The content of this
Report complies with the disclosure principles and the

CEEBIDHIM [ TETHEFE “comply or explain” provisions set out in the Guidelines.

B RABRIEEE]-[2 This Report is also in line with the reporting principles of

fb)~ T3] R —80 ] MIBHR “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and “consistency”.

HIRE -

H5E21 ABEERIERBETREEZRE HERELARENBREIERSERZNER - URIFH
%%Eﬁiﬁ’] iFi&ml:l

Materiality This Report has identified and disclosed material ESG factors and the criteria for their
selection, as well as the engagement process and the results of stakeholders.

21 ARETFAERAZTRBHMEMANSARE  7E  REMGAEIER  URBEBBREZRNHK

Quantitative

T

Balance

—Et
Consistency

R EREPETHEA -
The statistical criteria, methods, assumptions, and calculation tools used to report GHG
emissions, as well as the sources of conversion factors, are described in this Report.

RBENMR T2 MAEE2022FHRE - BRFESRER  BRXERRAM TG P2
SRS SN -

This Report presents the Group's performance for 2022 in an unbiased manner to avoid

selections, omissions or presentation formats that may improperly influence readers’

decisions or judgments.

R ERBEBRPIEANR AR - - MBRE - HRRETBEENA -
The statistical methods used to disclose data in this Report are consistent. Changes, if any,
will be clearly stated in this Report.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

1.2 Report Scope

This Report covers the period from January 1 to December
31, 2022 (the “Year” or “Reporting Period”). Unless
otherwise stated, the scope of this Report is consistent with
the scope of the Group’s annual report for the Reporting
Period. The scope of data for environmental KPIs covers
the main locations of the Group’s business operations,
including Daxing Bio-Medicine Industry Park, Beijing and
Haimen Production Plant, Jiangsu.

1.3 Report Language

This Report is available in English and Chinese. In the event
of any discrepancy, the Chinese version shall prevail.

1.4 Approval of this Report

This Report was approved by the Board of Directors of the
Group (the “Board”) on March 27, 2023.

1.5 Report Feedback

The Group values your comments on this Report. If you
have any inquiries or suggestions, please feel free to
contact us through the following ways:

Address: 12 Baoshen South Street, Daxing Bio-Medicine
Industry Park, Daxing District, Beijing, PRC

Email: gm@bbctg.com.cn

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOVERNANCE

As an international biotechnology company with innovative
technology-driven new drug development, the Group is
committed to becoming a global generator of new drugs by
focusing on technological innovation, sustained new drug
production and safeguarding human health. Leveraging our
unique strengths in innovative drug development, we are
dedicated to developing innovative antibody drugs for patients
suffering from disease areas such as oncology, autoimmunity,
metabolism and anti-infection. This demonstrates our fulfillment to
our social responsibility. Meanwhile, we deeply integrate our ESG
philosophy into our business operations. That means we drive
sustainable corporate development by continuously improving
our high standards of governance to achieve long-term growth.
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2.2
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2.1

2.2

Board Statement

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group adheres
to the concept of sustainable development. To that
end, the Group actively fulfills its corporate social
responsibility and incorporates environmental protection
and environmental management into business decisions.
The Group has established an ESG management structure
to enhance ESG management. The Board is responsible
for the overall supervision of the Group’s ESG issues and
performance, regularly reviews, discusses and examines
and approves the Group’s ESG governance policies,
strategies and risks, and assumes full responsibility for all
ESG strategies and reporting. The Group has established
an ESG Committee to assist the Board in monitoring and
evaluating the performance of the Group’s ESG efforts.
The ESG Committee is assisting the Board in identifying
material issues and prioritizing them in order of materiality,
reporting regularly to the Board on the effectiveness of
the ESG system and the performance of the Group, and
preparing the annual ESG report. Moreover, we have
set environmental-related targets for our commitment to
reviewing the progress of ESG-related targets in the future
in order to monitor and improve our sustainability efforts.

ESG Management Structure

Biocytogen recognizes that an effective governance
structure is what enables the Company to deliver on its
commitment to sustainability. The Group has established
a four-level ESG management structure consisting of the
Board, ESG Committee, ESG working group and various
departments. Meanwhile, the Group has defined the
ESG management responsibilities to ensure the smooth
promotion of ESG works. The responsibilities are detailed as
follows:
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ESGZE®
(BEFEKER
EAEIREAEK)

ESG Committee
(Consisting of Board
members and senior

management)

ESGT{E/
(HAKIERSE
Bk B B E I A e EK)
ESG working group
(Led by the General
Manager and consisting
of members from the
President’s Office)

EEPI (BANEIRES -

HpEgEEIRE -

HEE - TIRBHE -
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Departments (Consisting
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of the Human Resources

Department, Supply Chain
Management Department,

Quality Department,
Engineering Operations
and Maintenance
Department, Safety

Management Department,

etc.)
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BRMBARNKEESGER T8t - RMEFEILIE - BfENE - BRHFRE
BEARESGEH

Review and approve the Group’'s ESG management policy, strategy and
annual work, including evaluation, prioritization and management of major
ESG issues

TEHIR T REBESGRI N B IR ER#EE

Regularly review and monitor the ESG performance and progress in
achieving the targets

MESGZ 8 @8 IKiE S

Assign authority to the ESG Committee

THREFFER AEEREMESSRLESGHEENER

Report regularly to the Board and make ESG-related recommendations to
the Board when appropriate

HE  BEREEEANESGEH

Evaluate, review and manage significant ESG issues

HIEESGHER T - i - FEIERER  HEFSHFL - WHSHEARR
1Ttk

Formulate ESG management policies, strategies, annual work and
objectives for approval by the Board and drive the implementation

HAIERHESGEE

Identify significant ESG issues

FEBMIERESGHRANABREE  HRZBESGEEHESLEER
NEE

Continuously track and review ESG performance and progress of targets
to ensure that ESG issues are properly managed and implemented
ZHREFREESGIRE

Participate in the preparation of the annual ESG report

RIBEBESGER 7 - RMEE TIERMEBLMITSIHESGHEATIE
Organize and execute all ESG-related efforts in accordance with the
Group’s ESG management policy, strategy and annual work

e K FMESGABEER - HIE RESGHEMMAMER

Collect and report internal ESG policies, systems and ESG-related
performance indicators

BSFEIAESGHRBUR K HIE

Comply with all ESG-related policies and systems
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2.3 HEHEMEESR 2.3 Communication with Stakeholders

AEFRSREKNERTBE -
BN E (BEEFE R
R/KREE - HERD - HE
TEHE BT BITREE#
B BHESERHE HERAMA
)N LERREHHMNEE
MEE - RMFERZEERSE
& MEERMOFOEFEE
TTERNER - REBRRER
NEEBRERERLE - LB
HERNEASHERERY
FoIBRNENBBEERE

The Group values close communication with our
stakeholders. The expectations and feedback from our
stakeholders (including the Board, shareholders/investors,
suppliers, media, industry associations, employees,
government and regulatory agencies, business partners,
communities and the public) are of paramount importance
to us. We have multiple channels to communicate effectively
with our stakeholders on an ongoing basis. The Group
believes that effective communication with our stakeholders
is essential and is thus committed to maintaining an
ongoing and active dialogue with all stakeholders. The key
stakeholder communication channels and ESG issues of

FEMESGEBAT ¢ concern are listed below:
FERFHE FTEBBRR B HWESGRE
Major Stakeholder Main Communication Channels ESG Issues of Concern
EEg sxghkaEENEE EHEE
Board Board and senior management team meeting Compliant operation
EEIRE (M0 : PHIMEEFR  FEQE - f1=E =5
NERBEE) Corporate governance
Information disclosure (e.g. interim and annual reports,
results announcements, announcements and
circulars, etc.)
B3R REE BREBEFAGHEEMBRRAE BREE
Shareholders/Investors  Annual general meeting and other general meetings Compliant operation
EERE (0 PHREEFR  FEQE - i1 repi]
NERBRE) Corporate governance

Information disclosure (e.g. interim and annual reports,
results announcements, announcements and
circulars, etc.)

REESGE

Investor conference

REEEW

Investor column

BEOR

Roadshow
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Major Stakeholder

BiE - HERERRS

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

FTEBBER
Main Communication Channels

FEHESGEE
ESG Issues of Concern

BT

Employees

T % B & e
Government and
regulatory authority

EEAERHY

Business partners

BTFM

Employee Manual

8 TAEBFISNER I B

Internal and external training for employees
BIREERMNEE (BERME BBEREE)
Channels for employees to express their opinions

(suggestion boxes, communication meetings, etc.)

8 TEBFE KRR

Employee activities and team building
mate B

Seminar/Lecture

T (nEEAT)

Publications (e.g., Biocytogen's in-house magazine)

WEHETERTA
Internal employee communication platform

TFHEERDS

Regular supervision and inspection

ERWE

Information disclosure

BN e

Lectures and symposiums

SEA@EPT - BEAMNEI

Participation in the training organized by relevant
departments and associations

TERTE B

Industry seminars/conferences
EEEE

Business meeting

HEER

Daily communication

BREE(XR)BEMNZRDERAF

BTHEIIRER

Employee training and
learning

BT #HMER

Employee compensation
and benefits

BT EZOER ARG
Compliance with national
laws and regulations

SR EER

Effective corporate
governance

BIRE A

Use of resources

BEERMER

Waste management

AEBEERBH

Business value and anti-
corruption

B LAl T

Technology and innovation

MegRKBEE

Strengthening business
cooperation

“ECCFER
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TERNDE FTEBERR B HWESGRE
Major Stakeholder Main Communication Channels ESG Issues of Concern
TERE TEXREMNE HEBITERRKREIE

Industry associations

HER
Suppliers

1HEe
Media

HEMAR
Community and the
public

Industry exchange and seminars

HEREEHE

Supplier management system
HEm AT

Supplier evaluation

HE#AR

Daily communication

S5

Meeting

NCIVN i

Company official account

UNGIVNS R o
Company official account update

Promoting industry
exchange and
cooperation

A EHEEE R
Sustainable supply chain
management

EEARER
Open and transparent
information

YRt Eg AT

Support for social welfare

BB AL BE

Advocating energy
conservation and
emission reduction
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ABETEAEBMRESGHERR
BEMNEZHE  DEFOHE
WHE  AEERMEFTE=
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JHEBEMHESGE®R - B2
BB MRENEBEET
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Materiality to Stakeholders
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2.4 Materiality Assessment

In order to identify the scope of the Group’s ESG practices
and disclosure priorities and to respond to stakeholders’
expectations, we commissioned a third-party consultant
to conduct an ESG materiality analysis in the Year. This
aims to identify the ESG issues that are most relevant to
the Group. After careful analysis, we have identified 29
ESG material issues that are applicable to the Group’s
business, including 18 highly material issues, 6 moderately
material issues and 5 general material issues, taking into
account the Group’s business development direction and
actual operating conditions, with reference to the disclosure
responsibilities as set out in the Guidelines, the trends
of the peers, and the material issues of the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (“SASB”). Finally, the results
of the prioritization of ESG issues are confirmed by the
Group’s Board of Directors and the management. We
make varying degrees of disclosure in this Report based
on the materiality of these material issues and take them
as important considerations in the development of our
ESG policy and strategy. The results of the materiality
assessment during the Reporting Period are as follows:

General Material Issues

—REEHE

Moderately to the Group
HAKEEHNEEN
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REEEN ERHE

SEEE  RIREML
BE R BN
RRERERE
BEEMBEE R
KERERER
BT REZERT
BITHFIREER
BEEFazs
ARER
HRIEERAE

BRER
EmEERARE
FE B B AT
RERPEALM

HERE
A ERE
EPEARE
RESMERZER
HEERE
AHREE

hEEE EBIZTRERN
BREEHEEE
B AR S B AR 48
RRRER
HBTERR
RIEZ DR
BRER

—REE BEMHER
BREHROERMN
MAERMENE
@y gt
e R
BE%RE

Materiality of Issues

Highly material

Moderately material

General material
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Material Issues

Climate change

Greenhouse gas emission

Energy consumption management

Waste discharge management

Water resource use management

Employee rights and benefits

Employee training and development

Occupational health and safety

Compliant employment

Sustainability management of supply
chains

Product quality and safety

Product R&D and innovation

Protecting customer privacy and data
security

Protecting intellectual property rights

Customer rights protection

Anti-corruption and integrity building

Community and public welfare

Compliant operations

Employee diversity and inclusion

Responsible marketing and promotion

Clinical trial specifications

Risk management

Driving the industry forward

Enhancing operational capacity to ensure
steady growth

Packaging material management

Drug and antibiotic resistance in the
environment

Medication affordability

Medication accessibility

Targeted poverty alleviation
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QUALITY ASSURANCE

Biocytogen is committed to becoming a leader in the research

and development of therapeutics for oncology and autoimmune

diseases. That means Biocytogen strives to bring safe,

accessible and reliable products and services to our customers

and patients by adhering to the bottom line of responsibility in

R&D and innovation, ensuring product quality and safety, and

improving customer service quality.

3.1

Innovation and R&D

The Group is dedicated to developing innovative antibody
drugs that meet patient needs. To that end, the Group
focuses on various disease areas such as oncology,
autoimmunity, metabolism and anti-infection. To be specific,
the Group now has more than 10 R&D pipelines including
monoclonal antibodies, bi-specific antibodies and ADC
drugs by leveraging its unique advantages in innovative
drug development. Backed by a strong clinical development
team and abundant clinical resources, we are making every
effort to advance our product pipeline with great potential
and accelerate clinical trials of drugs. As of December 31,
2022, we have strategically designed and built a selective
antibody drug product pipeline of 11 candidates, including
6 clinical stage candidates and 5 pre-clinical stage
candidates.
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BRTREER  BOFEREER In addition to internal development, we uphold the concept
BEIER  BEEPMMERERE of win-win cooperation. We have entered into strategic
REATMEBNETARE 8 cooperation with many global pharmaceutical companies
BYFREEESE - RARHEA N for the licensing of fully human antibody mice platform and
REEBEEY ET > FIRER antibody drug development. This accelerates the launch
BE - BIEE  AIERHNE of high quality drugs and benefits patients more quickly.
ENEMERERMEM - AIg We believe that our partners’ expertise and resources
INERAMERE LY R I AR - IR complement ours, which will thus increase the chances of
AREEYE D HER KRR success of our drug candidates and maximize the clinical
NEEERE - and commercial value of our drugs worldwide.

BRZM [ TEBHIFE
Case study: “Project Integrum (FE E1#i)” program

[TEEN I REMEENARER ARNEBHENS  EEEREEZANANTEYREIINIBERORES
FoFEBNESRMONEHMRIER - —FH HASREKNNBRESEREEY CREESEEY  ©
FERERHEMAERS - RMNBAERTEENMEENAENES T/ FIWRENK - BEREBMHEEHK
HTAZEMRAELRRIEERER - Z—FHE  HEPRREABMNERESR  UHARMOZOERME -

“Project Integrum (TEBM)”
that discovers promising antibody sequences and antibody molecules for internal drug development

is our proprietary large scale fully human antibody screening program

or external monetization. Project Integrum is our key R&D project. On the one hand, it may provide co-
development, out-licensing, transfer development and other collaboration opportunities with generated
antibodies. We have entered into collaborations with many drug discovery companies through upfront
fees, milestone fees and royalties for the transfer of a large number of antibody molecules/sequences
generated by Project Integrum. On the other hand, it helps to enhance our product pipelines and
complement our developments of our core products.

HZE2022612A310 - TRENERIEF - RMELELEKO RenMab™ ik T 680 % [ESEER - WLLEKO
RenLite i 7260 Z AL ERE  LAVENE - RMB BN RYUBER AWM R IEKS4BH AR BRE
i EEME RS BIEBR TR M Merck Healthcare KGaA + ADC Therapeutics * BIFR 2 B L R IE A KRS
BIBENE] -

As of December 31, 2022, Project Integrum was progressing well. We have knocked out more than 680
target genes in the target KO RenMab and more than 260 target genes in target KO RenlLite. In terms
of cooperation, we have reached 34 co-development/out-licensing/transfer development deals with 21
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including but not limited to Merck Healthcare KGaA, ADC
Therapeutics, Hansoh Pharma and Nanjing Chia-Tai Tianging Pharmaceutical Company.
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3.2 EmEEHEZE 3.2 Product Quality and Safety
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In order to provide safe and efficient products, the Group
attaches great importance to production quality management.
To that end, the Group strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations such as the Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FEARKMBAERLE%)), the Drug
Administration Law of the People’s Republic of China ((F#EEA
RHEMBEZREIRE)), the Good Manufacture Practices ((%%
MAEEGEEEMRE)) and the Code of Practice for the Quality
Management of Pharmaceutical Business (ZERELEEE
I£#5%0)). We have established the Management Measures of
Biocytogen for Cell Seed Bank (( B REB AR EFEELHRT)),
Standard Operating Procedures for External Inspection (%M
XRIBIZAEREIRTZ)), Regulations for Microbiological Testing
of Mice /NEMAEWBAIFRE)), Regulations for Handling
Post-Sale Problems of Laboratory Animals ( B&:E)E &M RE
BRIEHTE)) and the Regulations for Replacement of Laboratory
Mice (BRI EMEEIEMRE)) with reference to 1SO9001,
Good Manufacture Practices (“GMP”) and the Administrative
Measures for Good Laboratories Practice (‘GLP") (2:43EFg R AT
FE S EILIRE). This ensures the consistency, standardization
and accuracy in the process of the product storage, delivery for
external inspection, use, testing and recall operations.

Product quality is the lifeblood of the Group as it relates to
the results of research and development and the safety of
patients’ lives. The Group conducts comprehensive quality
control on samples at the beginning of the product life
cycle and requires high standards and quality for samples.
This minimizes errors in the research and development
and production processes, thereby reducing the risk of
product quality throughout the production process. The
Group’s Quality Department is responsible for monitoring
and inspecting the standard operating procedures of
the Company. The Group arranges for sample testing by
third-party testing organizations at least quarterly and
clearly sets out the template for preparation of sample
numbers before delivery. This ensures that samples will not
be swapped during delivery and thus secures the quality
and safety of the samples. The Group has specialized
facilities such as: Individually ventilated cage boxes and
isolators, which sample feces and biopsies once a month,
thus detecting abnormal animals in a timely manner to avoid
epidemic outbreaks. In addition, the Group collects and
records the operation process of samples using the modern
information technology, which greatly improves the quality of
samples and ensures they are safe, effective and stable.
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To reinforce our commitment to producing high quality and
safe products, we have established internal documents
entitled Regulations for Handling Post-Sale Problems of
Laboratory Animals ((ERBEMEERMBERERT)) and the
Regulations for Replacement of Laboratory Mice ((E&/)
EMEEEMBE)), which regulate the handling of different
types of after-sales problems of our laboratory animals after
shipment and ensure the identification and traceability of all
affected products. Our Marketing Department is responsible
for sending customer-related post-sales feedback to all
relevant departments to discuss, track and confirm the
implementation of the recall process. In response to the
recall, we will investigate the cause and develop corrective
and preventive measures to prevent the recurrence of such

incidents.

The Group’s current products do not involve pharmaceuticals,
but only cells and animal models. During the Reporting
Period, there were no incidents where the Group had to recall
products for safety and health reasons.

Customer Services

It is vital to the Group that we actively maintain our
relationships with our customers to improve customer
satisfaction and maintain a good reputation for the
Company. We strictly abide by the Consumer Rights and
Interests Law of the People’s Republic of China (FFE AR
HMEY B E#EZE)) and have formulated the Management
Rules for Handling Customer Complaints (& P& #f Bz 18 & I8
#8A1)) in order to standardize customer complaint handling
procedures and improve after-sales service in the market.

In order to collect customers’ opinions comprehensively,
we set up diversified and smooth consultation and
complaint channels, and customers can make complaints
in person, by phone, by letter and online. Once we receive
a complaint, all employees in the marketing group of our
marketing department are responsible for following up
on the customer complaint until the customer is satisfied.
For customer complaints, the Group arranges exclusive
departments to follow up within a specified period of time
according to the process of handling complaints, giving
answers and proposing proper solutions.
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B - TR - IR A8 IR

Face-to-face complaints, complaints by phone, complaints by letter and complaints online
TIHEERA

Marketing Department Receiver:

. BECRFEAREEHRB)PERFEELTZATHNM  UREBEEFPERFANTHIEZEEHFIETRE

o Fill in the complaint information and the main responsible department in the Complaint Opinion and
Handling Instructions ((1%#F & 2 K EEIE 43 )), and assign it to the designated department for follow-
up according to the content of customer complaints

<L

. ERANE ARREENLS EfEE

o Product rat and mice and cell line related business: Product Manager

. EHIANR - MM REERET - Sl - EETER

° Customized rat and mice and cell line related business: Technology Group, Gene Targeting Department
. ERRGEER - ERREE

° Pharmacokinetic services: Product service

. IRIGREELR - MIRFEHRAAEMBFIRERIALRE

. Service attitude: Director level or above in the department of the subject of the complaint

BRAEE -

Receiver supervision:

. EBEPIREAB 24/ NS ANERFRL VL EE

o Initial response to the complaint within 24 hours from the relevant staff in the business unit

J E¥BHPIBEALET2INRRNGEATSERREERER

o The head of the business unit will give the investigation result and handling opinion within 72 hours
BIFARE :

Callback by the receiver:

. ERERFERTERE  UEBRFELAREEFFA)FAESBERLERER

o The customer satisfying with the results of the complaint fills in the investigation and handling results
in the Complaint Comments and Handling Instructions ({1Z3F = 5 M EEHEA))

. WHNWE - EFAEEROEIRFEERPIE E—RER

o If still not satisfied, the receiver should report to the higher level of the department being complained about
ERIERIELR

Summary of complaints received :

J BERFARTAERRE - RABAAMBHEARFERBRAZHENEEE

o The receiver will summarize all complaint documents to the sales assistant supervisor on the last day
of the month

. HEMEBEETERMBEAAZENMAHBARFELEFRBRERMNF X EAEBIPIEEETER - &
BEBZERTFIRIAAMER

o The sales assistant supervisor will register all relevant complaints that occurred this month in
electronic form for the record and send to the relevant business department director for notification.
The paper documents are properly kept and submitted to the Company for filing

ZERHFREE
Flowchart for handling complaints
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During the Reporting Period, the Group received 45
complaints about its products and services, all of which
have been resolved.

SOUND DEVELOPMENT

Biocytogen operates its business with high standards of business

ethics and integrity. As a responsible pharmaceutical technology

company, the Group has established various policy initiatives

including anti-corruption, information and privacy, intellectual

property, product information and advertising monitoring and

supply chain management. That is how we can safeguard the

quality of the Group’s products and sales, thereby enhancing the

value the Group brings to society.

4.1

Anti-corruption

The Group places a high value on a corporate culture
of business integrity and transparency and adopts a
zero-tolerance approach to any form of embezzlement. We
strictly abide by the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China (#FzEARKEFMEFE)), the Law of the People’s
Republic of China Against Unfair Competition ((FF# A
REMBR FNEEHFE)) and the Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FZEARKEMEAFE)) and
other relevant laws and regulations. We have formulated
the Anti-Commercial Bribery Management Regulations (=
FIEBRREIRMRE)), requiring all employees and business
partners of the Group to be honest and law-abiding,
perform their duties with integrity, and strictly prohibit
any commercial bribery. All employees shall sign the
Anti-Bribery/Anti-Corruption Pledge (RFEl /R JEBF:A
Z£)) upon joining the Group to ensure that they are aware
of the Group’s rules on doing business ethically. As for
our partners, we have established the Biocytogen Integrity
Trading Agreement (BRZEEFHIEZHLEE)) to inform all
customers, suppliers, contractors and service providers of
the Company’s anti-bribery system.

To encourage employees and client companies with whom
we have business dealings to report corruption, the Group
has established a whistleblowing communication channel
for employees to report any irregularities on the premise of
confidentiality and strict prohibition of retaliation. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any violations
of relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery, fraud,
extortion and money laundering that had a material impact
on the Group, and the Group was not involved in any
corruption cases.
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4.2

The Group regularly provides anti-corruption training
courses to employees at all levels to promote ethical and
responsible conduct. During the Year, the Company also
provided anti-corruption training to Board members and
employees through the provision of reading materials
covering anti-corruption and anti-bribery topics.

Information and Privacy Protection

The Group attaches importance to the information security
and privacy protection of its customers and partners. That
means strictly complying with the laws and regulations
relating to information security, such as the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Personal
Information (HEARKEFMEEAEBREE)), the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Data Security & A
REMBEHELZ2L)), the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Network Security (FEARKEFMENELZE
/%)) and the Measures for the Administration of Internet
Information Services (B H#ABEERBEIERINE)). During
the Year, we did not experience any significant information
breaches, theft or loss of customer and subject information.

At the management level, we formulate the Information
Security Management Rules ({58 %2 & E4HA])), System
Account Management Regulations ( RXGEFEERE)),
Software Authentication Management Regulations (&4
IERR{EEIRHED) and Anti-virus Management Regulations
(PR EEEMT)). This clarifies the information security
management organization and its responsibilities, thereby
effectively managing information security risks. At the
technical level, we strengthen information outgoing
management through information system permission control,
network access restriction, outgoing file audit, Internet
behavior control, U disk control, terminal verification, screen
watermark, file encryption, etc. In this way, we prevent
information from unauthorized access or external disclosure,
and thus guarantee information and privacy security in all
aspects. We have used professional firewall and anti-virus
software to prevent any malicious intrusion.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group provided cyber
security awareness training and new employee induction
IT guide as a basic part of employee induction training for
the purpose of raising employees’ awareness of information
and privacy protection. The training covers regulatory
requirements, information security strategy and management,
Group rules and regulations, and personal information
protection. To enhance employees’ understanding of the
training content, we have provided training materials in the
form of a web-based training platform so that employees can
study regardless of time and location.

Intellectual Property Protection

As an innovation-driven company, we attach the utmost
importance to, respect and protect our intellectual property, while
respecting and protecting the intellectual property of others.
The Group pursues the filing of intellectual property in strict
accordance with the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Intellectual Property ((FRZE A B AN E&N:8 A 1
%)), the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China (R AR
HMBEFE)) and the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China K ZEARLMEFEZE)) and other relevant laws and
regulations. The Group has laid down the Intellectual Property
Manual of Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (B REEB MHEET
fift)) to regulate the research and development of its technologies
and the use of patents, and protect our intangible assets by
strengthening the management of intellectual property, in an
effort to propel its sustainable development. We regularly review
our internal policies and train our employees on intellectual
property protection to satisfy compliance requirements.

In respect of internal management, all employees are required
to sign confidentiality agreements to maintain the absolute
confidentiality of the intellectual property owned by the
Company. In R&D respect, the R&D Department is required
to conduct a search and investigation of intellectual property
before a project is initiated, and establish and manage a
document archive in the R&D process, so as to make the
project traceable and accurately define the ownership of
intellectual property of the R&D innovation results. In contract
management, if the Group signs contracts covering intellectual
property, it shall have the contracts reviewed and revised
by professional lawyers. This aims to specify the intellectual
property ownership and the terms of rights and obligations of
the parties lest disputes over intellectual property arise.

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained 105
registered patents and had 29 new registered patents.
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4.4 Advertising Information and Advertising Supervision

4.5

The Group stays true to fulfilling its social responsibilities. It
values the compliance of promotion activities, and complies
with the Drug Administration Law of the People’s Republic
of China (R #E ARLMBEIZEREIRE)), the Advertising Law
of the People's Republic of China (FEARLMEES
%)), the Measures on the Examination of Pharmaceutical
Advertisements ((Z2mEEBFENE)) and other relevant
laws and regulations. We have a zero tolerance for false
advertising information. We have mapped out the Code
of Practice for the Application of the Logos of Biocytogen
Pharmaceuticals and Biocytogen Animals (&R EE &
HEEY Logo EAMREL)), the Policy on Responding to
Inquiries from Media and Other Third Parties (&R EEE
HIRE R EAME = FEERAGE)) and Process of Writing,
Regulation and Distribution Process of Press Releases (¥
HERREEAEH REMITIZE)), to manage and regulate the
information disclosure, communication with the media,
response to inquiries from third party organizations and other
related aspects. Any information shall be reviewed by the
Marketing Department before it is disclosed. Exaggerated,
false or misleading content is strictly prohibited to ensure
the accuracy of information provided. We have a dedicated
internal media reception channel and a crisis response team
to record, classify, approve, execute and track crisis opinion
cases, to enhance the efficiency of crisis response.

During the Year, the Group was not involved in any litigation
on advertising, labeling and privacy matters related to the
products and services provided.

Supply Chain Management

Suppliers are the Group’s important business partners
whose selection and management are directly related to the
quality of the Group’s products. Therefore, it is of primary
importance to ensure the quality of our suppliers and
products by relying on excellent supply chain management.
To that end, the Group has formulated the Supplier
Management Regulations ((£EEEERE)), Tender
Procurement Process (B2 RIE)) and Procurement
Management Rules ((EEEEIZMMAI)), which provide a
policy guarantee for supplier access, selection, approval,
monitoring and evaluation, and specify the responsibilities
of internal procurement staff, with an aim to regulate and
manage the supplier selection process.
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Before selecting and contracting with a supplier, the
Group will conduct due diligence to assess the potential
supplier’'s price, quality, reputation, ability to deliver
products and services, and technology. Where necessary,
the Group may require the supplier to send samples or
products for trial inspection or organize personnel for field
inspection, before including the supplier in its qualified
supplier pool after audit by the Purchasing Department.
The Group also requires the supplier to provide corporate
certifications, including but not limited to quality and/
or environmental management system certification, to
ensure their compliance with national and international
standards. At the same time, we regularly assess and
evaluate all suppliers according to the Regulations on
Supplier Evaluation Management ({£RERFEEERT))
to verify the effectiveness of their quality systems and
service performance. For suppliers who fail to meet basic
procurement requirements and are eliminated based on
the evaluation results, each department must immediately
terminate cooperation with them and replace them with
better-performing suppliers.

In addition, we communicate our requirements of and
expectations on environmental and social responsibilities
to our suppliers and other partners, hoping to build a
sustainable and responsible supply chain together with
them on the basis of an ongoing, long-term partnership. In
selecting suppliers, we will consider their environmental and
social performance, whether they purchase environmentally
friendly products and services, and whether they consider
the health and safety of their employees and observe
business ethics, to reduce environmental and social risks in
the supply chain. We prioritize working with suppliers who
have a sustainable development philosophy and procuring
environmentally friendly products and services with less
environmental impact, such as choosing products that emit
less radiation or hazardous substances during installation
and use. Going forward, we call for stricter supplier review
management to ensure the sustainability of our supply
chain.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Group has approximately
1,000 suppliers of which more than 900 were from China.
During the Year, we evaluated our major suppliers to check
whether their performance met our requirements for quality,
service and price. Our major suppliers include those who
provide materials, assets and services.

BEING PEOPLE-ORIENTED

Adhering to the principle of being people-oriented, Biocytogen
considers employees as the most valuable asset, and looks
forward to the common growth with its employees. We remain
committed to creating a fair and mutually respectful work
environment, to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests
of our employees. We also provide appropriate resources to
support their development. We place a high value on employee
training and development, and constantly improve the talent
team through internal training and talent attraction. With attention
to the requirements of our employees, we constantly improve
employee satisfaction and share the fruits of development with
them to create a better future together.

5.1 Employment

Our employees are at the core of our business operations,
as valuable assets to us. We stay committed to creating
a compliant, fair and friendly working environment for
our employees. We protect the rights and interests of our
employees in strict accordance with the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((F#ZEARLMELEE)) and
the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hEARAMEALEARE)) and other relevant laws and
regulations. Our Employee Handbook (& TFff}) sets out
the guidelines on Biocytogen’s recruitment and termination,
promotion, compensation and benefits, working hours,
equal opportunity, anti-discrimination and diversity, and
labor standards, to see that employment is managed in a
lawful and standardized manner.
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We prohibit the employment of child labor and incidents of
forced labor in strict accordance with the Regulations on
Prohibition of Child Labor ({Z2IEEAETE)), the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors
((FREE AR FEMBIKRMKF AREL)) and other relevant laws
and regulations. In the recruitment process, we will verify
the original identity documents of the applicants to ensure
that they meet the minimum working age requirements.
We enter into employment contracts with our employees
on a voluntary basis and in accordance with the law,
which stipulate employees’ salary, position, dismissal and
grounds for termination of the contracts. In the event of any
irregularities, such as inaccurate status or age or forced
labor, the parties can immediately terminate the contracts to
protect their legitimate labor rights and interests. During the
Reporting Period, there were no incidents of child labor or
forced labor.

Recruitment and separation

In the recruitment process, we, upholding the recruitment
principles of “openness, fairness and equity” and observing
the Recruitment Management Regulations ((FHEEEIE
7E)), focus on objective factors such as the ideological
quality, moral quality, professional ability and development
potential of each candidate, and take the factors as
important indicators for selecting outstanding talents. The
Group guarantees that it will never discriminate against
any candidate based on gender, age, race, religion,
nationality, or disability, providing candidates with an equal
chance to be selected. Recruitment channels include
but are not limited to management recommendation,
internal recruitment, employee recommendation, external
recruitment, or re-employment. The Human Resources
Department will conduct open recruitment both internally
and externally to fill in vacant positions. Preference will be
given to internal standouts who meet the requirements of
recruitment positions. We also encourage employees to
recommend suitable candidates and reward the employees
with appropriate incentives after recommendation.
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Both the Group and the employees have the right to
terminate the contracts. Employees may terminate their
employment relationship with the Group on their own,
provided that they agree with their superiors and confirm
their last date of employment, and that they properly hand
over their work and return their belongings to their superiors
in alignment with their job requirements. The Human
Resources Department will arrange for separation interviews
with departing employees to understand the reasons for
their separation and suggestions for improvement, to
minimize the brain drain.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had 1,348 employees
as follows:

Ei1 B 20226 [
Indicators Unit 2022
EBRAH Total number of employees A Person 1,348
RERIE D HEB AR Number of employees by gender

B Male A Person 404
i Female A Person 944
WERERNEDHEEAZ  Number of employees by age group

0BT Below 30 A Person 560
30-50%% 30-50 A Person 731
505% A £ 50 and above A Person 57
BARENEDHEE AZ  Number of employees by type

MFEET Junior employees A Person 1,177
EEBAB Management A Person 171
ZinEE D HEBAK Number of employees by region

iR Northern China A Person 921
EH R Eastern China A Person 354
Ezpapse Southern China A Person 9
Hit (BEBRE) Others (including Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan) A Person 64
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Details of the Group’s employee turnover rate for the year
ended December 31, 2022 are as follows"

BE B 2022FF

Indicators Unit 2022

REBRAE Total employee turnover % 2457

RUEBEIDHESRAE Employee turnover rate by gender

B Male % 8.05

7% Female % 19.23

BRERANSSHWEBRAE Employee turnover rate by age group

30BRIAT Below 30 % 15.06

30-507% 30-50 % 11.95

5087 A £ 50 and above % 1.25

RWBESHEERKE Employee turnover rate by region

ESldiSod Northern China % 15.91

ERERIY Eastern China % 10.43

77 1 Southern China % 0.15

Hith (BIEBRA) Others (including Hong Kong, % 1.82
Macao and Taiwan)

TR EH Remuneration and promotion

AEEBIRAEEBRHEAER
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1 BIRKEAETE KR
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The Group is devoted to offering its employees competitive
remuneration and promotion channels, and expresses its
appreciation and recognition to those who have outstanding
performance and contribution. We specify the salary
structure of our employees in our Employee Handbook (&
TFf)) and will continue making adjustments in light of
the market conditions and salary levels in the industry, to
establish a scientific and rational salary system. Employee
performance evaluation and the Group’s business
performance are important factors influencing salary
adjustments. We have also introduced a performance bonus
policy to motivate employees to excel in their careers.

1 The employee turnover rate is calculated as follows: Number
of employees turnover + Number of employees at the end of
the year x 100%
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5.2

For purposes of implementing the Company’s organizational
strategy and business objectives, promoting the improvement
of team and individual performance as well as the
personal growth of employees, and enhancing the core
competitiveness of the Company, we examine, analyze,
and evaluate the work behavior and results of employees
and pass on the results in a comprehensive, systematic
and scientific manner through performance appraisal
every year. We and the employees will set and confirm the
performance goals before the start of the appraisal period,
and conduct self-summary and result evaluation within the
period. Department managers evaluate employees’ daily
work, provide comprehensive and true feedback to them,
and propose suggestions for improvement based on their
performance. The results of performance appraisal will be
used to determine the promotion and treatment of employees.

Talent Development

The Group places considerable value on talent
development, holding that employees are the key to
its long-term development. We have worked out the
Regulations on the Management of Employee Training 2
AIE THIEEME)) to improve employees’ professional
skills, management skills and other comprehensive
qualities systematically, and standardize the operations in
the training process, to achieve our development goals.
Training is classified into internal training and external
training. Internal training is organized and conducted
by our highly qualified and knowledgeable employees,
including learning and training among all subsidiaries
and branches of Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals; external
training is conducted by employees who leave their posts
and go outside of the Company or conducted by external
professional organizations engaged by the Company.

We have an Internal Training Plan and Effectiveness
Evaluation Form for Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals’
Subsidiaries/Branches (BREET /5 A rIAZHEIIHE
L EFTER)) and a Feedback Form of External Training
Effectiveness (HMNEBIEFIRREER)) to collect feedback
from employees after training. The forms are instrumental
for the Company understanding the needs of employees for
training courses and formulating annual training plans.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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During the Year, we organized a wide range of on-the-job
training activities, with the following topics: Health
and safety, quality control, information security, patent
protection, anti-corruption training, etc. to enrich
employees’ knowledge in different fields and improve their
comprehensive capabilities, so as to help achieve their
career planning objectives. During the Reporting Period,
100% of the Group’s employees were trained!, with the
training time per person reaching 3.75 hours.

B 20224
Unit 2022
BRHURBSSEENETIFTEAL2  Percentage of employees trained
by gender?
B Male % 70.03
geqiia Female % 29.97
e E PR NS Number of training hours per person
by gender?
B Male /NEF Hour 3.75
gk Female /NEF Hour 3.75
BTEAERETE S SHEIEIET Percentage of employees trained
Eal by type?
MHETL Junior employees % 87.31
BEIBEAB Management % 12.69
RTIREHEE I &85 AEEI Number of training hours per person
PR by type?
TF/ET Junior employees /NEf Hour 3.75
EBAB Management /NEE Hour 3.75
1 XINEIBEDLLEERZE 1 The percentage of trained employees is calculated as

FHEITRHE-BETHAAK
x100%

2 REREH2EEIEIRS
bt ZERIEI S 2 HEE 8
AH-ZHE THRZHx100%

3 RERIE S NS ERIE
T2+ ZERE TR
AEHx100%

follows: Total number of trained employees + Total number of
employees x 100%

2 Percentage of employees trained by category: Number
of employees trained in this category + Total number of
employees trained x 100%

3 Number of training hours per person by category: Total
training hours of employees in this category + Total number of
employees in this category x 100%
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The Group ensures that all employees enjoy fair and
equitable benefits. We have drawn up an Employee
Handbook ((BIFfH)) that sets out our welfare policies
to protect the rights and interests of our employees. The
Group pays “five social insurance and one housing fund”
for its employees in accordance with national statutory
requirements, including the pension insurance, basic
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, work injury
insurance, maternity insurance and housing provident fund.
We also state the working hours and overtime arrangements
for our employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FF#E A R AN
E 4 8% )). All employees are entitled to national statutory
holidays and the annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave, wedding leave, and bereavement leave.
Being concerned about the health of our employees, we
provide annual health checkups for all employees to keep
them informed of their health status.

We highly value the physical and mental health of our
employees and encourage them to achieve work-life
balance. By organizing various activities on a regular basis,
the Group relieves the work pressure and psychological
stress of the employees and enhances the cohesion and

team spirit among them.

o Celebration of Chinese traditional festival
. Celebration of employee’s birthday

° Group development program

o Education and training activities

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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5.4 Health and safety

Emphasizing the health and safety of its employees, the
Group is wedded to fostering a healthy and safe working
environment for its employees. We strictly comply with the
relevant laws and regulations such as the Work Safety Law
of the People’'s Republic of China ((FFEARLMBEZ 2 4E
EJ%)), the Fire Protection Law of the People’'s Republic
of China ({FZEARKFEDEFE)) and the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of

Occupational Diseases ({#ZE ARLMBIB XK AE)) .

The Employee Handbook also stipulates environmental and
safety management, covering the responsibilities of each
department and all levels of personnel, accident handling
procedures, and health, safety and environmental protection
measures. All employees are required to comply with the
standard operating procedures, hold relevant certificates,
and be provided with appropriate protective devices to
prevent accidents.

We should take precautionary measure to minimize the
occurrence of production safety accidents. The Group has
developed the Biosafety Management Regulations (&%)
Z2EIRHE)), the Management Rules for Occupational
Health (BEEBEAEIEMAI)) and the Management Rules
for Laboratory Safety (BEREL2EEMAI)) and set up an
effective emergency response mechanism for accidents. The
rules and regulations set forth the organizational structure
of safety accident prevention and related responsibilities,
production safety management requirements, emergency
handling procedures and precautions for post personnel,
to ensure the safety of personnel and property. The
responsibilities are detailed as follows:

Quality Department and Safety Management Department

o Responsible for establishing a special biosafety
leading group in full charge of the Company's
biosafety management, including: Developing the
biosafety management policy and the biosafety work
plan, organizing the publicity and training of biosafety
knowledge, checking biosafety implementation,
conducting biosafety testing and emergency drills, and
preparing annual reports
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Each business department

o Being the first person in charge of biosafety, assisting
in the daily biosafety supervision and management of
the department under the leadership of the special
biosafety leading group

BEER

TRRIELT Engineering Operations Department

e BEESR 5 HE O 4 e Responsible for the maintenance of instruments,
B RBIERETHE devices and facilities to see that they are intact and
3 effective

& EIRIEH Logistics Department
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o Responsible for the maintenance and inspection of
instruments and devices, and assisting in handling
biosafety emergencies, etc.

The Group conducts regular training and safety awareness
drills of employees, to enhance employees’ awareness
of health and safety and their ability to respond to
emergencies. This year, we have organized health and
safety training with different topics, including: induction
safety, basic fire safety knowledge, hazardous chemical
safety management, anti-terrorism planning and emergency
exercise, and safety month. The training is designed to
provide the most comprehensive and up-to-date information
about health and safety to raise the safety awareness of
all employees. We coordinate with relevant organizations,
departments and units to ensure the smooth implementation
of activities, and collect evaluation forms for safety training
effectiveness to further review and improve the training.
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During the Year, 548 working days were lost due to
work-related injuries, and the types of injuries are as
follows: animal bites, slips and falls, and traumas from sharp
objects. The EHS Department and the Quality Departments
of the Group have formulated the Safety Hazards and
Preventive Measures for Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals
Animal Center (BEREEBEBHWH LL 2B ERANEIE))
and conducted targeted training for relevant personnel
to enhance their safety awareness, so as to reduce the
number of work-related injuries. There were no work-related
fatal of employees over the past three years (including the
Reporting Year).

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Biocytogen is fully aware of its social responsibility and mission
to protect the ecological environment while its business
continues to grow. We have been actively responding to the
national call for energy conservation and emission reduction to
achieve a sustainable development characterized by concurrent
gaining of environmental, economic and social benefits by using
green approach to create a beautiful environment, identifying
and actively coping with climate change risks, and continuously
implementing energy management, water management, waste
management and air pollution prevention and control. We
strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations, such as
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC ((/# A R AFMBERER
#5%)), the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC ((#EEARKLMBKT/SEFIEE)), the Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the PRC ({2 A R HF1EI7K 55 2205
JAY%)), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Solid
Waste Pollution ((H 2 A R MBI E 88 EEY)5 RRENAE)) and
the Energy Conservation Law of the PRC (FFZEARKEFEIELH
fEJR)%)). During the Reporting Period, the Group did not violate
any laws and regulations relating to emissions of exhaust gases
and greenhouse gases, pollution discharges to water and land,
generation of hazardous and harmless waste, significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.
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In order to implement environmental management in the
daily operations, we have set up an Environmental, Social
and Governance Committee (“ESG Committee”) to provide
coordination, guidance and supervision. Our functional
departments and business units are responsible for the
implementation of specific environmental management measures.
The Group has taken into account our respective historical
consumption or discharge levels during the Track Record
Period, and has considered our future business expansion in a
thorough and prudent manner with a view of balancing business
growth and environmental protection to achieve sustainable
development. We will make continuous efforts in working towards
reduction of our electricity and water consumption, gas emissions
and density of hazardous wastes discharge. However, our
environmental data is fluctuating as our business development
and data collection are still in their infancy. In the future, we
will set base year and specific environmental targets at an
appropriate time to further promote sustainable development.

6.1 Discharge Management

The Group has established such internal management
systems as Environmental Protection Acceptance and
Monitoring Reporting on Completion of Animal Model
Application and Industrialization Base Project ((E=X&)
MEREEX(EMHEARTIRBTRERKENRE)),
Environment-friendly Pollution and Rainwater Discharge
Equipment Plan (CGR{REES - MK #ETE])), Biocytogen
Hazardous Chemicals MSDS Handbook ((HEZEEE

2t Z2HMSDSF)) and Hazardous Chemicals Safety
Management Regulations ((ER{tLEBERLTE2EEHR
TE)) to strictly regulate the discharge and disposal of
emissions, to reduce emissions produced in operation
and production, and to regularly detect the discharge
of pollutants with a view of minimizing the impact on the
ecological environment. This Year, the Group commissioned
a third-party professional testing company to test the
discharge of pollutants (exhaust gas, waste water and
noise) to ensure compliance.
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Exhaust gas discharge

The major types of exhaust emissions from our business
activities are dust, welding smoke, peculiar smell
(ammonia, hydrogen sulphide, odor concentrations), volatile
organic compounds, carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides
and non-methane total hydrocarbons. Such emissions
come from activities during construction and operation
(breeding and feeding, analytical experiments, biological
experiments, biochemical treatment processes and vehicle
exhaust). All exhaust gases are treated physically and
chemically to reduce the amount of pollutants released into
the atmosphere. These physical and chemical treatment
measures are set out below:

Physical treatment measures

. Covering and enclosure to avoid the open stacking of
dust-prone materials

o Using closed vehicles or sealed tarpaulin for waste
transport to avoid spilling along the way

. Rinsing or sweeping wheels of vehicles entering and
leaving the sites to avoid bringing soil into urban areas

. Strengthening overall planning and environmental
management, timing the construction reasonably,
and avoiding construction under adverse weather
conditions such as force 4 wind or above
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Chemical treatment measures

. Using activated carbon purification units, efficiently
purifying organic exhaust gas, and then discharging
orderly along the pipe from the vent located on the
roof

o Collecting peculiar smell with photocatalytic oxidation
method and integrated spoiler spray deodorization
equipment, decomposing macromolecular organic
matter and odor gas molecules, and then discharging
orderly along the pipe from the vent located on the
roof

B 2022%F
HHiEE Emission Indicator Unit 2022
FER R NMHC =% /K mg/m? 1.0
BE R Greenhouse gas emission

2974
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Greenhouse gas emissions from the Group’s operations
are derived from fuel consumption (Scope 1) and
electricity consumption (Scope 2) of production equipment
and transport vehicles. To mitigate our impact on
the environment, we minimize carbon emissions by
implementing emission reduction and improving energy
efficiency. For further details of these measures, please
refer to the sections “Exhaust Gas Emission” and the
“Energy Management” respectively.

To enhance our understanding of greenhouse gas emissions
within the Group, we carry out greenhouse gas emission
controls for the Group with reference to the Greenhouse
Gas Protocol (CREREBEEZTEE)) developed by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development, and to the ISO14064-1 set by
the International Organization for Standardization.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total greenhouse
gas emissions were 19,472.49 tonnes of CO. equivalent,
with an emission intensity of 0.20 tonnes of CO. equivalent
per square meter and 0.43 tonnes of CO. equivalent per
RMB1,000 expenditure®.

5 Expenditures include: Environmental protection equipment,
environmental assessment fees, environmental taxes, garbage
disposal fees, water fees, electricity fees, steam fees
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Wastewater discharge

The main sources of wastewater in our production and
operation are construction wastewater, domestic sewage,
water for flushing transport vehicles, water sprinkled to prevent
dustfall, concentrated brine from purified water preparation
and wastewater from cleaning in the experiments. After being
collected in an organized way, the wastewater generated
in the process of production and operation is first treated in
sedimentation tank and/or septic tank before being discharged
into public municipal pipes.

BEXEERIER B 2022F
Wastewater discharge indicator Unit 2022
BEXBE B E NI 118,998.0
Total wastewater discharge tonnes

1T [ ake z2r /A 41.0
Total suspended solids® mg/l

ElhEaEs 25/ B 4.3
BOD® mg/!

LB2FaE° 25,/ " 107.0
COoD# mg/l

RRRAS 25,/ A 2.2
Dissolved oxygen® mg/|

pH® - 7.0
pH®

EEYEE Waste disposal
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As a pharmaceutical technology company, we recognize
that the generation and treatment of waste is an important
part of the industry, and the disposal methods and
processes of waste should be standardized to protect the
health and safety of the community. The waste generated
in our production and operation can be divided into
hazardous waste (medical waste and chemical waste liquid)
and harmless waste (general industrial waste and office
waste). For different types of waste, we have developed
appropriate treatment measures according to the recycling
requirements to ensure the compliance with regulations
for disposing various waste, and minimize the generation
of waste. After being sorted and collected, our harmless
waste is transported by cleaners to the sanitation location;
hazardous waste is disposed of by qualified third-party
organizations.

6 Data of total suspended solids, BOD, COD, dissolved oxygen
and pH were collected from the production plant in Haimen,

Jiangsu Province
HREEAR)BEMNZRNERRET —ZB-_FFRH
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6.2

To reduce the generation of harmless waste, staff are
encouraged to use waste separation bins for paper, metal
and plastic recycling. In order to meet the requirements
of environmental protection, we rent staff computers and
office printers. When the equipment becomes outmoded,
we will contact the leasing company for maintenance and
recycling. Before purchasing office stationery, we assess
the amount of supplies we need to avoid overstocking.

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated 251.69
tonnes of hazardous waste and 170.20 kg of computer
waste, with a generation density of 0.0025 tonnes of
medical waste/m? and 0.002 kg of computer waste/m?;
0.0056 tonnes of medical waste/RMB1,000 expenditure and
0.004 kg of aging computer waste/RMB1,000 expenditure.
The Group generated 103.39 tonnes of harmless waste,
with a generation intensity of 0.001 tonnes/m? and 0.0023
tonnes/RMB1,000 expenditure.

Use of Resources

As our current business is thriving and our laboratory
operation is an its early stage, we plan to rely on
CDMO for antibody production, while in terms of clinical
development and other activities, we plan to hinge on
CRO, our contractual research organization. As a result,
the current nature of our business does not expose us to a
substantial risk of environment and natural resources, and
we do not expect the potential risks of such matters will
have a material adverse impact on our business, strategy
and financial performance. In spite of this, the Group
is committed to protecting the environment and natural
resources. This year, we adopted the following measures to
improve resource efficiency.
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Energy management

In our business operations, electricity and the fuel used for
production equipment and vehicles are the main sources of
our energy consumption. In order to save energy effectively,
we use energy saving equipment with energy targets
and avoid installing air conditioners in direct sunlight to
improve energy efficiency. We also divide different lighting
areas within the office area and set up independently
controlled light switches to encourage staff to switch off
air-conditioning and lighting systems when they don't
need to use the office. We also clean electrical appliances
regularly to maintain operating efficiency and enhance
energy efficiency as much as possible. In addition, we don't
limit the dressing of employees, so they can wear casual
clothes in work, and only in laboratory and production
settings it is necessary to wear the laboratory coats and
isolation gowns provided by the Company, in order to
reduce the usage of the air conditioning system.

In order to reduce combustion consumption, the Group
conducts regular inspection and maintenance for the fleet,
regularly inflates tires, maintains correct tire pressure,
and improves vehicle energy efficiency to reduce fuel
consumption and pollutant emissions. Appropriate training
is also given to drivers to ensure no idling vehicles and fuel

efficiency improvement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
19,472,190.01 kWh of electricity with a consumption
intensity of 195.57 kWh/m? and 434.48 kWh/RMB1,000
expenditure.
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6.3

Water management

Being aware of the water scarcity crisis worldwide, the
Group is committed to promoting water conservation and
implementing a number of measures in our operations to
enhance the effective use of water resources. We set up a
special rainwater collection pond to collect and reuse the
rainwater collected, such as the irrigation of grass and trees
in the park. We reduce the water pressure to the lowest
practicable level and check meter readings regularly. To
further reduce water usage, we use faucets and toilets
with water-saving labels in each restroom. Our business
operations rely on municipal water supply and there is no
issue with water sourcing.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed 110,233
tonnes of water with a consumption intensity of 1.11 tonnes/
m? and 2.46 tonnes/RMB1,000 expenditure.

Climate Change

The Group recognizes that climate change and extreme
weather may have foreseeable impacts on our business,
staff and stakeholders. We also have formulated the
Emergency Plan for Production Safety Accidents (4 2

T2 EWEZFEZ)), which stipulates the classification,
responsible organization, emergency procedure, relief
materials and measures for emergency accidents, so as to

ensure a due careful preparation.

We have initially identified the risks of climate change and
implemented a number of response measures to reduce
the immediate risks to us and our employees. Climate
change may pose tangible and transformational risks for
the Group, and the risks associated with it pose potential
consequences to the Group. We have developed measures
in response to the possible impacts.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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BERR
Potential Consequences

e HETWREREKTE TEMAK
EENEERK

° Impact on employees’ health and
increase in the Group’s electricity
demand

e BATHEXIRAZE HmyE
HE - EEERRM

° Electricity may be affected by high
temperature, which can affect
production and delay product
delivery

BERR
Potential Consequences

o RIREMLREEFMBFHETERRS
BRIBEMR  TTRRHAEENELER
B A

o Climate change has prompted
governments around the world to
implement stricter environmental
regulations, which may create
pressure on the operations of the
Group

o ZNHEHEBHEREERERETHL
ReRE

o Stakeholders are demanding
implementation of higher standards
for climate action

FEi 1 i

Countermeasures

o HIFEKEEEER  mEITREKEE
I R ERR

o Formulating disaster response
measures and providing disaster
response training and escape drills
to employees

o RREMABERRNAIRE

o Exploring the possibility of using

renewable energy sources

FEH i

Countermeasures

o  ERWIZEEMMEREREN

o Paying close attention to the updating
of laws and regulations in each
operating location

o TEREFEETABIETSRIAMNE
RIRE (OB BRZHTOHHE

o Actively communicating with
stakeholders, implementing climate
change mitigation measures and
responding to their expectations
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SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION

According to the China Annals of Tumor 2017 ({2017 RfEE &
L&), leukemia is the most common cancer in children. There
are approximately 7,000-8,000 new cases of leukemia in children
and 21,000-24,000 new cases of cancer in children each year.
This means that more than 20,000 families are facing challenges
every year, and more than 70% of affected children will undergo

long-term treatment to return to normal life.

The New Sunshine Ward School of New Sunshine Charity
Foundation offered 1,322 regular courses, and 3,339 one-on-one
tutoring and cultural courses in 36 classrooms nationwide in
April, providing 12,497 person-time services for 1,068 affected
children. It also conducted 4 activities for parents, providing 34
person-time services for 16 parents. 390 volunteers provided a
total of 4,209 person-time volunteer services. This charity project
helps sick children maintain and develop their learning and
social integration abilities, and greatly improves their quality of
life during treatment. They are more cooperative in therapy, and
to some extent, it helps parents relieve stress. They are able
to keep up with school learning faster and more smoothly after
returning to school.

Meanwhile, as of May 30, 2022, a total of 1,402 people from 76
teams of Biocytogen Love Ambassadors have participated in the
step donation activities, donating over 300 million steps with a
total amount of RMB50,000.
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Appendix |: Environmental Key Performance Indicators Summary Table

BERR By 2022F
Environmental Performance’ Unit 2022
BERBHRC

Greenhouse gas emission®

ERREREHN(BE—)® AE-—ERES 362.50
Direct greenhouse gas emission(Scope |)° tCOze

FERERBHR(BEZ) RE_E/iRE S 19,109.99
Indirect greenhouse gas emission(Scope I1)"© tCOqe

BERBEREE (BE—R) N R (- 19,472.49
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope | and Scope Il) tCOqe

BERBHHRRE

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions

BERBHEMEE (BTHXK) NE—EtiREE / FHAK 0.20
Greenhouse gas emission intensity (per square meter) tCO.e/m?

RERBHREE (BT AL RE R/ FrX 0.43

Greenhouse gas emission intensity (per RMB1,000 expenditure)'

BETRH

Energy consumption

tCO.e/RMB1,000 expenditure

INEENFERE TR 19,472,190.01
Purchased electricity consumption kWh
INEBNRAEE (BTAXK) TRE,/FHK 195.57
Purchased electricity consumption intensity (per square meter) kWh/m?

INEBHERRE (BT THAX)" TRE,/ Frix 434.48
Purchased electricity consumption intensity (per RMB1,000 expenditure)'  kWh/RMB1,000 expenditure
mERE Fr 114,000.00
Diesel oil consumption kg
EKARRE SR 22,931.90
Steam consumption m?

10

i

RRBBENEERE  EIRAEENEE
EEREWRTHEMEERE

BP2EBH [ EARERE  HERE
AEME — M= RIBERAERERIER

Hel AT EARERAEREBHR

BERORERE (BE1) FEASERERE
ERFBREREMOMEERMBERES
HEERE

MERERE (BE2) BEAEEEEMRN
&Eiﬁ’ﬂminm

X B BR&EE  BRERFGEER R
R SOREEE KB CEE - EA
=

10

11

The range of environmental data includes: Daxing Bio-Medicine Industry
Park, Beijing and Haimen Production Plant, Jiangsu

We calculate the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions with reference to
the “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting Guide on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange

Direct greenhouse gases (Scope 1) include those directly generated by
the Group from fuel consumption of production equipment and transport
vehicles

Indirect greenhouse gases (Scope 2) include those indirectly generated
by the Group’s power generation

Expenditures include environmental protection equipment, environmental
assessment fees, environmental taxes, garbage disposal fees, water fees,
electricity fees, steam fees
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Appendix I: Environmental Key Performance Indicators Summary Table

BERR By 2022F
Environmental Performance’ Unit 2022
KEFHFE

Water resource consumption

BREKE N 110,233.00
Total water consumption tonnes

BRAEE (BTHXK) YN WP 1.11
Total water consumption intensity (per square meter) tonnes/m?

BRAEE (BTITRAX)" N/ Fhx 2.46
Total water consumption intensity (per RMB1,000 expenditure)' tonnes/RMB1,000 expenditure

BEREY

Hazardous waste

BREERVELS N 251.69
Amount of medical waste generated tonnes

BREEDELETE (BFHK) D/ FHK 0.0025
Generation density of medical waste (per square meter) tonnes/m?

BEEREVELERE (BT D/ FrHx 0.0056
Generation density of medical waste (per RMB1,000 expenditure)' tonnes/RMB1,000 expenditure

BESKELS Fr 170.20
Amount of waste computers generated kg

BEEMELERE (BTHX) Fr/FHA 0.002
Generation density of waste computers (per square meter) kg/m?

BEEBREATE (BTRA)" Fr/Frhx 0.004
Generation density of waste computers (per RMB1,000 expenditure)' kg/RMB1,000 expenditure

BEBEY

Harmless waste

BEREYVELS N 103.39
Amount of harmless waste generated tonnes

BEERZVELEE (BTHK) NUE TRk 0.001
Generation density of harmless waste (per square meter) tonnes/m?

EEBEEPELTE (BTTAX)" N/ Fhx 0.0023
Generation density of harmless waste (per RMB1,000 expenditure)' tonnes/RMB1,000 expenditure

FRHFE

Paper consumption

HREE T 2,710.05
Amount of paper used kg

BREREEE (BT FTr/Frhx 0.060

Paper consumption density (per RMB1,000 expenditure)'

kg/RMB1,000 expenditure
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Appendix II: Index of HKEX’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide

EEAR HEED
Content of Indicators Relevant Section
A RIBEHE
A. Environmental
Al R —MRARE BEERIBERBIHN  MAKRIMOET AERE | 6. BERE
A1: Emissions General SREMNEEZN ¢ (QBE  k(b)EFHETABEALF | 6. Environmental Protection
Disclosure BWERERRADIGER -
Information on: (a) the policies; and(b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to exhaust
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and harmless
waste.
A1 B TER RARRA BB - 6B MER
The types of emissions and respective emissions data. | fii$x—IRFRBEVCEIEHE
6.1 Discharge management
Appendix I: Environmental
Key Performance Indicators
Summary Table
A1.2 B (BE1) kg REE (BE2) RERBEHNERT | 6 1HHNER
B Mgk —BRIR AR A RURIE R E
Direct (Scope 1) and indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse 6.1 Discharge management
gas emissions from energy use in total and intensity. Appendix |: Environmental
Key Performance Indicators
Summary Table
A13 FELAERENEEREE - 6AHER
Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. s — IR BERETIEEHE
6.1 Discharge management
Appendix I: Environmental
Key Performance Indicators
Summary Table
A1.4 PPEEREEENEERTE 61 E R
Total harmless waste produced and intensity. M —RREREWEEHE
6.1 Discharge management
Appendix I: Environmental
Key Performance Indicators
Summary Table
A15 HFATEI MR E B R R REREL R EMRRNSR - | 6. RERE
Description of emissions targets and the steps taken to | 6.15FRE 2
achieve such targets. 6. Environmental Protection
6.1 Discharge management
A1.6 HREBEERETEZEYNTE  REMMATINERE | 6. RERE

BERAEIELE FMERMOTH -
Description of how hazardous and harmless wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.

61BN ER
6. Environmental Protection
6.1 Discharge management

BREE(XR)BENZRDERAF

“ECCFER

173



174

Mgk — :

BT (RIE - HERERREES) RS

Appendix II: Index of HKEX’s Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

EEAR HREH
Content of Indicators Relevant Section
A2 : BRfEA —BRE EXERER (BEER - KREAMRME) SR - 6.28R{EM
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including 6.2 Use of resources
Resources Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials.
A2.1 BRERESMERER /SMEEER (WS - Kg0h) 8F2 | 6.28RER
REE - itk —IRBRRENEEHE
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type 6.2 Use of resources
(e.g., electricity, gas or ail) in total and intensity. Appendix I: Environmental
Key Performance Indicators
Summary Table
A2.2 BRKERTE - 6.2& R A
Water consumption in total and intensity. fier— IR HRERIEEHE
6.2 Use of resources
Appendix I: Environmental
Key Performance Indicators
Summary Table
A2.3 WA ATET LR E A m B E R RESE L B IZATERER | 6. RERE
B R o 6.2& Rk A
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and 6. Environmental Protection
results achieved. 6.2 Use of resources
A2.4 A SKEGERAOR ERIAEAERE - ARMETMAKE | 6. RERE
BEBRRENELAEMRRN LR - 6.2 R A
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 6. Environmental Protection
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives | 6.2 Use of resources
and results achieved.
A2.5 AR DABEMHNEERBEESBA(EE - WEHAN - BZMUEEMEEN
Total packaging material used for finished products #
and with reference to per unit produced. During the Reporting Period,
we did not have any packaging
materials.
3:BERRAER | —REKE HEBTAHRERRAEREKERT EHBE - 6.2 R {E A
A3: Environment and | General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact 6.2 Use of resources
Natural Resources Disclosure on the environment and natural resources.
A3.1 HREBETHHBRERAAERNEAZERERKNER | 6.28REH
BRATENTE - 6.2 Use of resources
Description of the significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them.
A4 BIRE ML —BRE &%‘J&W‘TE?« AREgUHBETAEEZENERRIRME RIRE L
A4: Climate change | General BEENBE 6.3 Cl|mate change
Disclosure Identification of policies on the significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer.
A4.1 HMBEERFIESHETAEEYENERAGERE | 6.3RKE L
B REHTH - 6A3 Climate change
Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer and the actions taken to manage them.
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Appendix II: Index of HKEX’s Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

EEAR HEED
Content of Indicators Relevant Section
B.AL S &
B. Social
B1: &R —MRARE BRHRRE BEREM  TERKE RE - FEE |5 UABK
B1: Employment General € 2l RE\UNREMFBREFE : (a)BK : & | 5. Being People-oriented
Disclosure (b)ETHEITABERZENHBEERATINER -
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
B1.1 B EEER  FRAEFISIRE SRS R - 51ATER
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age 5.1 Employment
group and geographical region.
B1.2 wIp - FRAMNMEBIDHESRKLE SAANTER
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 5.1 Employment
geographical region.
B2 fREZ S — MR BRREZEZIERERREEEREBENLEN : (a) | S4BRREZS
B2: Health and General B R(D)BTHEITABERYENBMZRKMRHIA | 5.4 Health and safety
Safety Disclosure BH o
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing
a safe working environment Vs protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
B2.1 BEZF (RRERFE) SFRAITHMABRLE - 5.4 ERT R
Number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of 5.4 Health and safety
the past three years (including the reporting year).
B2.2 RIBEAIEES - 5.4 2FMT R
Lost days due to work injury. 5.4 Health and safety
B2.3 TR B ERRET 2 - ARBERTRER | s4RRERS
Tk e 5.4 Health and safety
Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
B3 : R RIETI —MRAREE BRRABERTIFMANNBRRENER - HillF | 52ALEE
B3: Development General EEEIR 5.2 Talent development
and Training Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
B3.1 RURIRESER (WEREEE PREEEZS)ENM | 52ATEE
XIEEBEDLL ° 5.2 Talent development
The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).
B3.2 RUPIRESENESD BREETRZIGOTHRE - | 52ATEE
The average training hours completed per employee 5.2 Talent development
by gender and employee category.
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Appendix II: Index of HKEX’s Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

RIEBRITRERTE

Description of practices relating to selecting suppliers
to promote the use of green products and services
where the practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.

EEAR HREH
Content of Indicators Relevant Section
B4 : & T %8| —BRE BEMIEETHARFSTE : ()BXK : R(O)ETHETA | BAATER
B4: Labor standard | General BEATENBBERRAONER - 5.1 Employment
Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and(b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labor.
B4.1 s RIBE MBI R EE T KA T - 51ATER
Description of measures to review employment 5.1 Employment
practices to avoid child and forced labor.
B4.2 MR EERERBREEREBRERARRE LR o 51AT EE
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices | 5.1 Employment
when discovered.
B5 - ftERE R —MRARER IR EIRE Rt g EREUR - 4 5HERER
B5: Supply chain General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of | 4.5 Supply chain management
management Disclosure the supply chain.
B5.1 RS MHEEHE 4 5HEEER
Number of suppliers by geographical region. 4.5 Supply chain management
B5.2 W EAEREERNES  MERTEBRECIMNMER | 45HERER
HE URBBEGINNITRERTE - 4.5 Supply chain management
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B5.3 W EEBNEERSERONIRERESRARMNED - | 45HERER
AR BRNITRERTE 4.5 Supply chain management
Description of practices relating to identifying
environmental and social risks at each link of
the supply chain where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B5.4 R RN RES MERERRRBHED M | 45¢mEER

4.5 Supply chain management
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Appendix II: Index of HKEX’s Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

EBERE
Content of Indicators

HEBEG
Relevant Section

B6: EmEM*
B6: Product
Responsibility*

— R ERMREEGNRENERELZS B  SEKLRE |32EREEHERS

General FEARBEROTEDN © (a)BEK : R(0)BFHBETAREK | 33%FRE

Disclosure TENEERRAPINER - 42z BB HLIRE
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance | 4 4B EEBNEEEE
with relevant laws and regulations that have a | 3.2 Product quality and safety
significant impact on the issuer relating to health | 3.3 Customer services
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters | 4.2 Information and privacy
relating to products and services provided and | protection
methods of redress. 4.4 Advertising information and

advertising supervision

B6.1 BEEYREREMBHTRALR2HRFERMELKNE | 32EREENRS
oLt e 3.2 Product quality and safety
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

B6.2 RERNER RGO EE AREE X - 33K PRI
Number of products and service related complaints 3.3 Customer services
received and how they are dealt with.

B6.3 it EEE R RSB EEEENED 4 IMBERERE
Description of practices relating to observing and 4.3 Intellectual property
protecting intellectual property rights. protection

B6.4 HlEERTARRERERRESF - S2EmBERLE
Description of quality assurance process and recall 3.2 Product quality and safety
procedures.

B6.5 4 25 BMETLRE

HIUE B EHBRERALBECR - UREBRITRERA
A e

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

LABEERREEER

4.2 Information and privacy
protection

4.4 Advertising information and

advertising supervision
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Appendix II: Index of HKEX’s Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

EEAR HREH
Content of Indicators Relevant Section
B7 : RE® —BRE BEM B - HFR - BRFROLRER © ()% - k()& | 41RE)S
B7: Anti-corruption | General THREITABEAZENHEBEERARNNER - 4.1 Anti-corruption
Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and(b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money-laundering.
B7.1 REGBAHBTASHESREIZEENE SHAR | 41RESF
HEEE RAFRER - 4.1 Anti-corruption
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
B7.2 B s R R RRRT - UREBRITRERE - 41RES
Description of preventive measures and whistle- 4.1 Anti-corruption
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B7.3 HimESRE TRENRESE - 41RES
Description of anti-corruption trainings provided to 4.1 Anti-corruption
directors and employees.
B8 : fEEE —BRE B R2ERTHEEMEHRFENRREAELE | 7. 48R
B8: Community General B ERLRMEAPR 7. Social Contribution
Investment Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.
B8.1 EIEHEE (NHE BREE BIFTK BE X |7.4LEER
it 8BF)- 7. Social Contribution
Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labor needs, health, culture,
sport).
B8.2 EHEIHBMBHBER 7.HEER

Resources contributed to the focus area

7. Social Contribution
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38 3 B B AT R
Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Biocytogen
Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Biocytogen
Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (AREE(ILR)BERERNDE
[R/27]) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 186 to 310, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standard Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the People’s Republic of China, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BB
Independent Auditor’'s Report

FRET SR

MREAETEIRERMANEZHE - &
REAMGE M BHRRNEARREEN
FH - ZEFERNEMBHEBERESUHB
BERREABRRETRE - RATEH
ZEFREHEFNER -

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue Recognition
W ER

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(x).

BRI E IR AR 2(x) BT & 5 HE -

BRESEE
The Key Audit Matter

RANEHNAEEZESE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from the provision
of gene-editing services, pre-clinical pharmacology and
efficacy evaluation services, animal models selling and
antibody development.
SENREETERERHEERGFERT - BRAT IR
%ﬁ%%~@i@%%%&h%%%o

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration, which is the point in time when
the animals or closing reports are delivered to and
accepted by the customers, depending on the terms of
the contracts of different streams of revenue.

WHNERBAMRBOEHNEES TEPHRARREDERE
R HREP RN E Y & W IE%ﬁ&MW%%%’

BF TR RIRA) & #IEKTE -

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition

included the following:

HPEBRERRNETEFEEATSIE

e Understanding and evaluating the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
the Group’s key internal controls over revenue
recognition;

o THEEFE ESEEABWERRNERAIDENNR
BT B SEER

e |nspecting contracts, on a sample basis, to
understand the terms of contracts and assessing the
Group’s revenue recognition policies with reference
to the prevailing accounting standards;

o MWMEREAHN  UWTHMALOEKK  L2ERTITER
A BEEEORESEREE
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Revenue Recognition
W ER

BB RS

Independent Auditor’'s Report

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(x).

FLRE R IR T AR 2(x) BT & 5 HE -

BRESEE
The Key Audit Matter

BB NAEREZEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because the revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and therefore there is an inherent
risk of manipulation of the timing of recognition of revenue
to meet targets or expectations.

BPBRERRBNREREAEE  RRARKER BS
EHBERERER L — I%TE@%WE%%%%M%@
AR IR E B E i

Comparing, on a sample basis, revenue during the
financial year, to the underlying documents, such as
delivery notes or closing reports, (‘the Underlying
Documents”) to evaluate whether the selected
revenue transactions have been recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies;
PARRER DT S8 B B A e W s BRARRE XU (N B &
AR ENFRE) (MRS ) EITHE - AR B EHR
BHRIERCDHRE EEENSHHRERESR

Obtaining confirmations, on a sample basis, from
the customers to confirm the sales transactions
during the financial year and the outstanding trade
receivables at the financial year end. For unreturned
confirmations, performing alternative procedures
by comparing details of the transactions with the
Underlying Documents;

MERMEFIGER  UERVMERFEANHEERS R
MREERNAERE HRKNIE - HRARE BT
R HITERER - BRSF BRI EITER

Assessing, on a sample basis, whether revenue
transactions recorded before and after the financial
year end have been recognised in the appropriate
period by inspecting the Underlying Documents;

and
BBRE RN - WS %%%ﬁiﬁﬁ%%&ﬁ%
MR ERHEEEREE BRER

inspecting journal entries relating to revenue
recognition during the year which were considered
to meet specific risk-based criteria, enquiring of
management the reasons for such journal entries
and comparing with the Underlying Documents.
BEFARBR/TEE T RARREN B S ERBEN

Hihk  AREREAMACENRE - WHEBAX M
EITHE -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

REMBHRRREZHMEBE
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EENAEMBHRREAENE
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EEARERERR G LRI ESHM
B B B B 75 3R 5 2 R R BB A R DI Ry 3
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FrmEAEEHI B E
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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BY 2R E
Independent Auditor’'s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of

internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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s HEERASBALESITERNR
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BB TEY S ERERE By 545 1 -

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



ftEEAZESBEAENERT - HAET
PR IR RS M B RRNBA RS
B2 AMEKESEESER HMAEX
RN E S LRI - BRIBERER
TAHFLRAWRBEELER  RETKER
BERT  MRAERMAERMBEHE
BREFHEKNAERRBEELNAR
& BIPRETEERETBBZSERE -

EEREMESM
HEEEAD
BERIR
EITB105%
NFRESH#E
2023%F 3 A27H

BY 2R E
Independent Auditor’'s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yeung Ka Chun.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2023
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Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HZE2022F12A31B LFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(UAREST) (Expressed in RMB)
2022 20214
2022 2021
s AR¥F R AREFT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
&5 Revenue 4 533,881 354,555
HE AR Cost of sales (142,131) (107,115)
EF Gross profit 391,750 247,440
H s kBT Other gains and losses, net 5 86,710 25,569
EMBENAEBEZEFE  Net change in fair value of biological
assets 6 3,923 9,812
SHE R IR Selling and marketing expenses (50,248) (42,032)
—MRITBRAX General and administrative expenses (263,412) (188,120)
A Research and development expenses (699,167) (558,485)
ReEEE Loss from operations (530,444) (505,816)
LY ID %N Finance costs 7(a) (56,139) (39,425)
AEHE A RIEIE Share of loss of associates (14,770) (402)
BRELATE R Loss before taxation (601,353) (545,643)
PR Income tax 8(a) (804) -
FRER Loss for the year (602,157) (545,643)
FRHEHMEEWA (BRFiI%)  Other comprehensive income for the
year (after tax)
— BREIRINER B IREE - Exchange differences on translation
ME 5, =50 of financial statements of foreign
operations 1,441 581
FREZEBALTE Total comprehensive income for the
year (600,716) (545,062)
AT EEFERESE Loss for the year attributable to:
RN EERRR Equity shareholders of the Company (601,945) (545,576)
FEFE IR 2 Non-controlling interests (212) (67)
FRER Loss for the year (602,157) (545,643)
LUTEEERNZEWALLE : Total comprehensive income for the
year attributable to:
RAFRERRER Equity shareholders of the Company (600,504) (544,995)
eSS Non-controlling interests (212) (67)
FREEBALRE Total comprehensive income for the
year (600,716) (545,062)
BREE Loss per share
EARREE (ARE) Basic and diluted (RMB) 12 (1.58) (1.51)

F193E10AMMEBRZERA P THR

KI5 o

financial statements.
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A MR R
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

M2022%12A831R At 31 December 2022

(UAREST) (Expressed in RMB)
W12H31H
At 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
B 5E ARETx AREFT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
IRBEE Non-current assets
Y - BE LR Property, plant and equipment 13 1,599,079 1,390,945
mEE Intangible assets 14 30,652 6,055
REEE R AR ERS Interests in associates 16 197,944 9,685
HiIEmBEE Other non-current assets 17 52,861 21,860
1,880,536 1,428,545
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 19 18,604 15,140
X DN Contract costs 20 41,361 41,812
EMEE Biological assets 18 76,498 68,131
B SN IE Trade receivables 21 107,682 103,089
TE A R I8 K EL Ath FE U R TE Prepayments and other receivables 22 40,332 79,621
HEmesmaE Other financial assets 23 8,198 100,000
RITREFRE Cash at bank and on hand 24 626,621 466,445
919,296 874,238
REBAE Current liabilities
B 5 3oE MEN R Trade and bills payables 25 146,190 102,441
aHEE Contract liabilities 26 56,377 61,581
EAth FE AT RRIB Other payables 27 231,072 255,640
HRITREMER Bank and other loans 28 126,665 -
HEaE Lease liabilities 29 44,938 26,897
BIHATR 18 Current taxation 31 804 -
606,046 446,559
RBEEFE Net current assets 313,250 427,679
HEERABDER Total assets less current liabilities 2,193,786 1,856,224
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

720225124831 R At 31 December 2022

M12H831H
At 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
BisE AR®TT ARETT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
kRBER Non-current liabilities
EIEWA Deferred income 32 89,934 92,797
HEaE Lease liabilities 29 191,507 62,902
REAFE R A Long-term payables 33 709,359 448,554
HRITREMER Bank and other loans 28 52,170 -
1,042,970 604,253
EEZRE NET ASSETS 1,150,816 1,251,971
BEARKHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
%N Share capital 34 399,398 374,930
G Reserves 34 746,867 872,278
AATFERBRELEREE Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 1,146,265 1,247,208
IR RS Non-controlling interests 4,551 4,763
RS TOTAL EQUITY 1,150,816 1,251,971

20233 A27 HEE RS /ERRET
%o

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27

March 2023.

KAE
Shen Yuelei
BEHITE
CEO

F193E310ERNMEBRZEREPER
RH)—ED -
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Liu Bin
BEREABE
CFO

The notes on pages 193 to 310 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
B Z2022F12A31ALFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(UAREST) (Expressed in RMB)
ROARERRERL
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
#BR#
#Ri
k& ROEE  KENRE Efbf ZithR B B FERER BEs
Shares
held for Non-
Share Share  share award Other Accumulated  Exchange controlling Total
capital premium scheme reserve losses reserve Total interests equity
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000
W (REsMe)  (REsMd)  (KEsdd)  (HiEsdd) (F3E34(a))
Note  (Note 34(c)  (Note 34(d))  (Note 34(d))  (Note 34(d)) (Note 34(d))
H02E1B1RHAH Balance at 1 January 2022 374930 1515574 - 158,194 (802323) 83 1,247,208 476 1,251,971
NNFRELY: Changes in equity for 2022:
ERERREENASE Loss and total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - (601,945) 1441 (600,504) (@12 (600,716)
R Issue of new shares 34(c) 24,468 476,208 - - - - 500,696 - 500,696
ERRHZA Recognition of share-based payment 30(n) - - - 15,313 - - 15,313 - 15,313
R EEEEEE SR Purchase of own shares for share award
scheme 34(d) - - (18,9%6) - - - (18,986) - (18.986)
HMEBELTRESS Share of reserve change of an associate - - - 2538 - - 2538 - 2538
H02E12831 AKES Balance at 31 December 2022 399,398 1,991,802 (18,986) 176,045 (1,404,268) 2214 1,146,265 4551 1,150,816
ROARERRERE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Bx RHEE Hfbi 2itER BB & FERER BEs
Non-
Share Share Other  Accumulated Exchange controlling Total
capital premium reserve losses reserve Total interests equity
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETR  AREFR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R (Me)  (FEdd) (W) (Fist34(a)
Note (Note 34(c)) (Note 34(d)) (Note 34(d)) (Note 34(d))
R0 F1A1RHER Balance at 1 January 2021 360,000 1,219,464 130442 (256,747) 252 1,453,411 4830 1,458,241
01 FRELEY: Changes in equity for 2021:
FhEEREENASE Loss and total comprehensive income for
the year - - - (545,576) 581 (544,9%) (67) (545.06)
HEATEE Capitalinjecton into the Company ) 14930 296,110 - - - 311,040 - 311,040
ARG Recognition of share-based payment 30(n) - - 2752 - - 27752 - 27752
021 E12831 AES Balance at 31 December 2021 374,930 1,515,574 158,194 (802,323) 833 1,247,208 4763 1,251,971

E193E310E MM FEX
RE—E -

SZERAMBR

The notes on pages 193 to 310 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statements

HZE2022F12A31B LFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(UAEHZT)

(Expressed in RMB)

BZE12A31HLFE

Year ended 31 December

2022 20214
2022 2021
B+ ARETR AREFT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
REES Operating activities
BR71 AT BT 18 Loss before taxation (601,353) (545,643)
PATIHEB EH A% Adjustments for:
M - WEREETE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 13 171,034 126,481
| A = Amortisation of intangible assets 14 3,065 1,616
B TSR ZR Finance costs 7(a) 56,139 39,425
EMBEANRBESE Changes in fair value of
biological assets 6 (3,923) (9,812)
FEREHKARE Impairment of inventories and
contract costs 7(c) 3,387 1,807
B 5 WA R H A EURFTE Recognition of expected credit losses
HIEHEEEERR on trade receivables and other
receivables 7(c) 1,422 3,115
ZAREESEBEZE A Change in fair value of financial
EHBRZEMEEMN AR assets at FVTPL
BB 5 (19,269) (1,507)
HERARBEFEBEEE Gain on disposal of financial assets
SPABHIEREEMEES  at FVTPL
Wz 5 - (627)
o S B N A 2R A U R Gain on disposal of interests in an
associate 5 (25,427) -
THESMITADEREIEFE Net realized loss on derivative
financial instruments 5 2,414 -
HEME - BERZED Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
B (W) F5E plant and equipment 5 82 (385)
[EH (Wa), EBFE Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (16,568) 1,776
DMEHE R RIESE Share of loss of associates 16 14,770 402
B A Share-based payment expenses 30 15,313 27,752
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HZ12A31ALLEE
Year ended 31 December

BREE(XR)BEMNZRDERAF

2022 20214
2022 2021
B =k AR¥T R ARBTFT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BAeE Changes in working capital:
ﬁ%—?&é\.%"]ﬁﬁz$iﬂﬂ Increase in inventories and
contract costs (6,400) (29,963)
YA EE N Increase in biological assets (4,444) (4,474)
B 5 WA N Increase in trade receivables (4,593) (35,863)
TR FRIA F H At FE UK IR Decrease/(increase) in prepayments
WA /() and other receivables 31,688 (12,030)
B RENFIBEREMNEREIZN Increase in trade and bills payables 47,347 19,043
EoAth FE A 5RIEE A0 Increase in other payables 40,921 36,364
Eﬂﬁﬁﬁlﬁiﬁﬂ Increase in current taxation (804) -
HaECRD) /Em (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (5,204) 14,069
mkﬂﬁl?\(ﬂ/ )/ 1N (Decrease)/increase in deferred income (2,863) 2,676
RETDRARSFE Net cash used in operation activities (303,266) (365,778)
BRHE Tax paid - -
RETDRARS TR Net cash used in operating activities (303,266) (365,778)
RETEE Investing activities
BEWE  KE&EE - Payment for purchase of property, plant
BREAESH and equipment, intangible assets (240,271) (198,668)
BEEMESREESN Payment for purchase of
other financial assets (9,309) (540,000)
mEENENEE Capital contribution to an associate (400) -
HE—MHBAREEIBE  Decrease in cash due to
e disposal of a subsidiary (6,857) -
HEEMSREENSHIE  Proceeds from disposal of
other financial assets 101,464 649,780
HEWE - BB KRG Proceeds from disposal of
Fr5 38 property, plant and equipment 1,635 4,757
RETEHFMARSFE Net cash used in investing activities (153,738) (84,131)

—E2o—Fg®g 19
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statements

HZE2022F12A31B LFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HZ12A31ALLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022F 20214
2022 2021
B =k AR¥T R AREF T
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
RMEEE Financing activities
e Capital injection 34(c) 521,055 311,040
HRITREME RS RIE Proceeds from bank and other loans 24(b) 209,598 -
EERITREMER Repayments of bank and other loans 24(b) (29,987) -
XA EmRAE Payments for listing expenses (22,956) (26,805)
LEINEE e N Placement of restricted deposits (15,739) -
R BARE A 38 Payment of long-term payables 24(b) (17,214) (42,154)
ERITREMERFE Interest paid for bank and other loans 24(b) (4,057) -
BEEHERND Purchase of own shares 34(d) (18,986) -
ENAERENAREIT D Capital element of lease rentals paid 24(b) (21,572) (14,978)
ENEERSNF ST D Interest element of lease rentals paid 24(b) (12,942) (7,663)
RETEMESRSFE Net cash generated from
financing activities 587,200 219,440
RERBELEEY Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
#wmORd) B8 cash equivalents 130,196 (230,469)
EXETHHNTE Effects of foreign exchange
rate changes 14,241 (380)
MBE1ENEEREAES Cash and cash equivalents
Z£EY at 1 January 466,445 697,294
M12A31BNEER Cash and cash equivalents
REeEEY at 31 December 610,882 466,445
F193E 10BN T IENZERE B W The notes on pages 193 to 310 form part of these consolidated
KE—HD o financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in RMB)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (A R &EB (It R)E
BRI RH AR AR (the “Company”), formerly known as Beijing
Biocytogen Company Limited (“Biocytogen Limited”, bt H B &
EERSYEMBRAF), was established on 13 November 2009
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and was converted
into a joint stock company on 29 December 2020.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in providing gene editing services, pre-
clinical pharmacology and efficacy evaluation services, animal
models selling, antibody development and innovative biologic
drug research and development.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock
code: 2315.HK) on 1 September 2022.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
("1ASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. The Group has adopted
these amendments consistently for the periods presented.
None of these developments have had a material impact to
the financial statements of the Group. The Group has not
applied any new amendments that are not yet effective for
the current accounting period.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
and the Group’s interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set
out below:

- biological assets (see Note 2(h));

- other investment in debt and equity securities (see
Note 2(g)); and

derivative financial instruments (see Note 2(s)).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other

sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs
issued by the IASB to these financial statements for the
current accounting period:

o Amendments to |1AS 16, Property, plant and equipment:
Proceeds before intended use

. Amendments to |IAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous contracts —
cost of fulfilling a contract

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the amended
IFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment:
Proceeds before intended use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting the
proceeds from selling items produced before that asset is
available for use from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment. Instead, the sales proceeds and the related costs
should be included in profit and loss. The amendments do not
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets: Onerous contracts — cost of
fulfilling a contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the
contract includes both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly
to fulfilling contracts.

Previously, the Group included only incremental costs when
determining whether a contract was onerous. In accordance
with the transitional provisions, the Group has applied the
new accounting policy to contracts for which it has not
yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022, and has
concluded that none of them is onerous.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Business combinations under common control

Business combinations under common control involves
incorporating the financial statement items of the combining
entities or businesses in which the common control
combination occurs as if they had been combined from the
date when the combining entities or business first came
under common control of the controlling entity.

The assets and liabilities acquired are recognized at
the carrying amounts from the controlling shareholder’s
perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill
or gain on bargain purchase at the time of common control
combination. All differences between the cost of acquisition
and the amount at which the assets and liabilities are
recorded have been recognised directly in equity as part of
other reserve.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The results
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Merger accounting is adopted for
business combinations under common control in which all of
the combining entities are ultimately controlled by the same
controlling shareholder both before and after the business
combination and that control is not transitory.

The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-Group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year/period between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with Note 2(q),
depending on the nature of the liability.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or joint venture (see Note 2(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(1)(ii)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at

disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee's identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of
the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any
direct investment into the associate or joint venture that
forms part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change
in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see Note 2(c)
and Note 2(l)(ii)).
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results

Any acquisition-date excess over cost,

of the investees and any impairment losses for the year/
period are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, whereas
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

Associates (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate (after applying
the expected credit losses (ECLs) model to such other long-
term interested where applicable).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
the investment continues to be

not remeasured. Instead,

accounted for under the equity method.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(9)

Associates (Continued)

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(l)), unless classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (FVTPL) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
Note 37(e). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(Continued)
(i) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the
investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other net gains and losses, net.

(h) Biological assets

The biological assets of the Group mainly represent mice
for breeding and mice for selling. Biological assets are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell, except
for when the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Feeding costs and other related costs such as staff costs,
depreciation and amortisation expenses and utilities cost
incurred for raising mice are capitalised until the mice begin
to mate and is transferred to the Group’s mice for breeding.

Gains or losses arising from initial recognition of biological
assets at fair value less costs to sell and from a change in
fair value less costs to sell of biological assets are included
in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Note 2(1)(ii)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner
of the property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see Note 2(k)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs.

ltems may be produced while bringing an item of property,
plant and equipment to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. The proceeds from selling any such items
and the related costs are recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value,
if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Estimated useful lives
- Plant and buildings 20 - 40 years
- Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
- Vehicles, furniture, and others 3-10 years

Over the term of lease
50 years

- Leasehold improvement
- Right-of-use assets

- land use rights
- Right-of-use assets-others Over the term of lease
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and

its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(I)(ii)). Cost comprises direct costs of
construction as well as interest expense capitalised during
the periods of construction and installation. Capitalisation
of these costs ceases and the construction in progress
is transferred to property, plant and equipment when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the assets for their intended use are completed. No
depreciation is provided for in respect of construction in
progress until it is completed and ready for its intended
use.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

205



206

e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 EBEAREFEEE)

(1))

BREE (BEKRIN)

05 By O i SO A A R AR
RS o fHE R T AR &
BEERBYET  BAEE
BERENERREMTEKME
AIFREEHNAXETUNER
b - EAER BREMEIKA -
BEESEHR (WER)EE LA
MEERZRBERAREERS - &
AL 59 3 X AR PR AR, 2 At iR
8 ROmEE BRI AR (R E2(1)
(i) » EAb R FH XN HEEEH
R AR

AR B BB B AR
RiHEH (AR FEHE
R) MBERERSIMR (RHEE2()
(i) - REPELNEE RamiEmn
A RELHRBRRAX -

AERFHARNET EERH
RZEENMGAERFHRE
BOEMIBENG - AR EAE
HARNELEESAHERZ
B - EAE A A
™

-3 54
— B 5E8%F

BHBR R IDESEFRA

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()]

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs,
where applicable. Capitalised development costs are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see Note 2(I)(ii)). Other development expenditure
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is

incurred.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(1)(ii)).
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:
— Software 5 years
— License and Technology 5 - 8 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see Note 2(1)(ii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost (see
Notes 2(k)). Any difference between the initial fair value
and the nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as
additional lease payments made and is included in the cost
of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment” and presents lease liabilities separately in
the statement of financial position. The current portion of
long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present value
of contractual payments that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the reporting period.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(1)

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- Financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade

receivables and other receivables);

- Debt securities measured at FVOCI (recycling).

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including
other financial assets measured at FVTPL are not
subject to the ECLs assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial
assets and trade and other receivables are discounted
using effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof, where the
effect of discounting is material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(1)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs
on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(1)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

= failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling),
for which the loss allowance is recognised in the
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair
value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note
2(x)(iii) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial

asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(1)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an

adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the

issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery

occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- intangible assets;
- other non-current assets; and
- interests in subsidiaries and associates in the

Company’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

A portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (for example, head office building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if the allocation can be done on a reasonable
and consistent basis, or to the smallest group of
cash-generating units if otherwise.
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its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognized in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
units (“CGUs”) (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use
(if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Inventories and other contract costs

(1)

Inventories

Inventories mainly represent raw materials and
supplies to be consumed in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using specific
identification or first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value is the estimated contracted selling price less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are consumed in the rendering of
services, the carrying amount of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any
write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

(if)
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Other contract costs

Other contract costs are the costs to fulfil a contract
with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory
(see Note 2(m)(i)).

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated contract; generate
or enhance resources that will be used to provide
services in the future; and are expected to be
recovered.

Costs that relate directly to an existing contract may
include direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the
customer and other costs that are incurred only
because the Group entered into the contract (for
example, payments to sub-contractors). Other costs
of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognised
to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for the services to which the asset relates,
less (ii) any costs that relate directly to providing
those services that have not yet been recognised as
expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged
to profit or loss when the revenue to which the assets
related is recognised. The accounting policy for
revenue recognition is set out in Note 2(x).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 2(x)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed
for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with
the policy set out in Note 2(l)(i) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional (see Note 2(0)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see Note 2(x)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
Note 2(0)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 2(x)(iii)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.
Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method and including less allowance for credit
losses (see Note 2(l)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance
with the policy set out in Note 2(1)(i).

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



2 EBEXREFEE(HE)

(a)

()

(s)

(1)

E5 REMENRE

B2 REMEN TRV FRAA
BEER - ROFSHERER B
B B A JE A SRR SR S5 AR 5
B BRIFREIRMBE TN - Elt
ERTAZERSRIIE -

B

FTEERSVIEARBERER
SRAGFTE - YIIRHERE - 7T
18 3R DA B B ) 2R K I 2 4 AR AR T
E\Eo

TEERMIA
ﬁi%@l LR AR BEER
AABEREREHRENT

2 iﬁﬁ% nEEzKEmHE
BRI R B ER -

EER

HAEEEAERBERAQRN
M T A - BN AR {7 [ B8 3 A
By RERONREE - P
MRE (BREMEEEEEE
BA (HIBR RIS H)) (E R BRI
BARXREE ARG
B BEERMHBEHRENEST
t'ut c M FEBRHKERR

AR B URAE CRRIER
E&ﬁﬁ%gx%ﬁ$&ﬁﬁﬁ

MEE) T ARRAREA AL
45* e

AR BHFE A 1E R EF B
B WHREAMES P o

R BB IRARMIEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q) Trade and other payables

(r

(s)

®

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair

value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Treasury shares

Where any entities in the Group purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-
back or a share-based payment plan, the consideration
paid,

(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable

including any directly attributable incremental costs

to the owners of the Company as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the
Company.

Shares held by the Company are disclosed as treasury
shares and deducted from other equity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u) Employee benefits

(1)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Equity-settled share-based payments

For equity settled share-based payment transactions,
the fair value of the services received is recognised
as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity
over the vesting period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the equity
instrument. The fair value of the services received is
determined by reference to the fair value of the equity
instrument granted at the date of the grant. At each
reporting date, the number of equity instruments that
are expected to be vested are estimated. The impact
on the revision of original estimates is recognised
as an expense and as a corresponding adjustment
to equity over the remaining vesting period, unless
the revision to original estimates is due to market
conditions. No adjustment is made if the revision or
actual outcome differs from the original estimate due
to market conditions.

The proceeds received from the exercise of the equity
instruments, net of any directly attributable transaction
costs, are credited to share capital when the equity
instruments are exercised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

(v)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the period comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)

Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

227



228

e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 EBEAREFEEE)

(v) FEH (&)

HRMERERE =

TRMERVEE - MR
EHBERKREERNS R
MECHERBEXEED
BARKHE  ZEERR
REREERB KA
BEMBENBHREER
K REE IR BE -

(w) % REEERREESY

(M)

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022

BERZEEE

EREBERBESEMHMA
EERHEERT  BEZ
EBRAEFTERLLER
M - B ER ARG
B 2fEHEE - mER
MEREEX - BEIRE
EEBRAMER MR
BHIER -

WA FERAEFEER L L
B HEBEBEAAUE
et AIEBHRERREA
BE - BRIERLEEN S
WA REMERIE - EFES
ERBEESIREE AR
Z IR R R = R A A]
BREER TREALEER
B BIERB BN
FIREMERIE -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v) Income tax (Continued)

the same taxable entity; or

different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

(w) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts

(M)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(Continued)

(x)

(i)

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received from
the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts are
measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the
net cost of fulfilling the contract. The cost of fulfilling
the contract includes both the incremental costs of
fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs
that relate directly to fulfilling that contract.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises

from the sale of goods or the provision of services in the

ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or

service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has

the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised

consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,

excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and

is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition

policies are as follows:

(M)

Rendering of services

Revenue for services rendered mainly consists of Pre-
IND contract research organization services (including
gene editing services and pre-clinical pharmacology
and efficacy evaluation services) (“Pre-IND CRQO”) and
antibody development.

A performance obligation represents a service (or
a bundle of services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct services that are substantially the same.

Revenue is recognised at the point in time when the
Group transfers the control for services/deliverable
units and has right to payment from the customers for
the services performed upon finalisation, or upon the
delivery and acceptance of the deliverable units.

For antibody development, contracts with customers
may contain more than one performance obligations.
For such arrangements, the transaction price is
allocated to each performance obligation on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Revenue is recognised
with the allocated amounts at a point in time upon
satisfaction of the individual performance obligations.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Sale of goods

Revenue for goods sold mainly consists of animal
models selling.

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
If the
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering

possession of and accepts the products.
other goods and/or services, then the amount of
revenue recognised is an appropriate proportion of the
total transaction price under the contract, allocated
between all the goods and services promised under
the contract on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset

(see Note 2(I)(i)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

(y)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
(iv) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised as
deferred income and subsequently recognised in the
profit or loss over the useful life of the assets. When a
government grant takes the form of a transfer of a non-
monetary asset, such as land or other resources, for
the use of the entity, the Group records both asset and
grant at a nominal amount.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss, except
those arising from foreign currency borrowings used to
hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(y)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or
loss on disposal is recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(z) Related parties

(i)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(b)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(a)

(b)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(f)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i).

(g) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(h) The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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3 EErHETRMGE 3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

BEREDEENAREE - RDZK Note 18, Note 30 and Note 35(e) contains information about
EETEI T ZRAIBROOALBERS the assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair value of
MTAEMNAREERBENRREZRD biological assets, fair value of restricted shares under share
B o AETHEEMNEMEZRIR incentive scheme and fair value of financial instruments. Other
UM key sources of estimation uncertainty is as follows:

MizE18 » BIFE30 R MisE35(e)B 5 B

(a) FRBEERE (a) Impairment of non-current assets

WERRAIERDEENREE

Al g AR - ZEE N BEH R non-current asset may not be recoverable, the asset may
BIERAE] - AR EE2(1)(ii) be considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may
FrtEAERBSEERBEN ST be recognised in accordance with accounting policy for
BRERREER S84 impairment of non-current assets as described in Note 2(I)
HERBCBERAARNEREEB (ii). These assets are tested for impairment whenever the
AR AU IR - RIS B AT events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
RERIE o recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Mz TRELE - REESRDE When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is
AREISEE - IR SEAER R reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable amount

BRI &AL LR EEMRE

HKFREEXRASEERNE

12 B A RO RREL A A

KUK T A B 2 FE of the level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
TR o ZEMFTH R HE Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact
EfREEBELASTATE I on the recoverable amount of the assets and could result in
A 8638 BUR SR HA M IR BB AN E additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
B A EERE - future periods.
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If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a

is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and
PHOReE TEEECRAEER the value in use. In determining the value in use, expected
B ZAEEENERRKES future cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to
MEEARE  FEEDHEK their present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to the level of revenue and amount of operating
ARG - FETHEAIYESEE costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
BIEEN TR - RNEEGH— determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation
TSR ERFHER  BERES of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Expected credit loss for trade receivables

The credit loss for trade receivables and other receivables
are based on assumptions about the expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions
and inputs used, set out in Note 35(a). Changes in these
assumptions and estimated could materially affect the
result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make
additional loss allowance in future periods.

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in providing gene editing
services, pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy evaluation
services, selling animal models, antibody development, and
innovative drugs development. Currently the Group have
no products approved for commercial sale and have not
generated any revenue from sales of innovative drugs.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major service lines is as follows:

HZE12A31ALLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR¥T R ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HERReE Gene editing 61,075 51,146
@ PR B B8 BE T A Pre-clinical pharmacology and

efficacy evaluation 176,069 105,607

BABYIEE Animal models selling 169,328 107,555

ks Antibody development 126,887 88,606

Hth Others 522 1,641

533,881 354,555

HE2022F12A31BEEE -
—ERFHEALENR HEER
SEREMNI10%AE - @BAA
R¥70,000,0007t (20214 :
AER#39,778,0007T) °

R2022F12A31H - =
REEREBEAENTHBREY
EBENRHZGEBLBAARYE
177,111,884 7 (20214 : AR
#166,730,4487T) - ZE ST
BARRIEEARIERAENRETT
AHmERMKE  BENRIFER

7
e ©

For the year ended 31 December 2022, one customer
had transactions with the Group which exceeded 10%
of the Group’s revenue, amounting to RMB70,000,000
(2021:RMB39,778,000).

The aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations under the Group’s
existing contract was RMB177,111,884 as at 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB166,730,448). These amounts represented
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
unsatisfied contracts of antibody development revenue and
were expected to be recognised within 3 years.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following five reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

= Gene editing services

This segment provides the customized gene editing
services based on animals as well as cells to meet
the needs of basic science research and drug
development of the customers.

- Pre-clinical pharmacology and efficacy evaluation

This segment provides the pre-clinical pharmacology
service for drug efficacy and toxicity evaluation.

- Animal models selling

This segment breeds and sells the animal models
for the external and internal use, including set of
genetically engineered mice, disease mouse models
and aged small animals. This segment also out-
licenses certain animal models to customers

- Antibody development

This segment utilizes the Group’s own antibody
discovery platforms to identify antibodies which have
the potential to become our drug candidates and
out-license or collaborate with partners for potential
therapeutic antibody molecules.

- Innovative drugs development

This segment is engaged in research and development
of innovative drugs with a focus on oncology and
autoimmune disease therapeutics.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(1)

Segments results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s most senior executive management monitors
the results attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments. The measure used for reporting segment
result is gross profit.

The Group's other operating income and expenses,
such as other gains and losses, net and selling and
administrative expenses, and assets and liabilities are
not measured under individual segments. Accordingly,
neither information on segment assets and liabilities
nor information concerning capital expenditure,
interest income and interest expenses is presented.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as
well as information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
during the year is set out below.
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4 WamRDHBHE (&) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
(b) Z2BHE (&) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
() ZDEbFEE(E) (i)  Segments results (Continued)
HZ02E12831 BILEE
Year ended 31 December 2022
RRAEE
ERGE By BABYHE hERg At Eh
Pre-clinical
pharmacology Animal
Gene  and efficacy models Antibody
editing evaluation selling  development Others Total

ARETR  ARBTT  ARETR ARETR  ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

RYERINEELS Disaggregated by timing of

revenue recognition
EHE Point in time 61,075 176,069 169,328 126,887 522 533,881
RENPEFHbE Revenue from external customers 61,075 176,089 169,328 126,887 522 533,881
BRIl Inter-segment revenue - - 32,921 - - 32,927
TREAPUE Reportable segment revenue 61,075 176,069 202,255 126,887 522 566,808
TREADER Reportable segment gross profit 26,046 123,373 134,947 107,909 248 392,523
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4 WHERDBHRE (&)

(b) DEBHE (&)
(i) ZDEPEAE ()

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)  Segments results (Continued)

HZ021 F12A31ALER
Year ended 31 December 2021
BRAEE
ERGE By BABYHE nERg At gt
Pre-clinical
pharmacology Animal
and efficacy models Antibody

Gene editing evaluation selling  development Others Total
ARETL  ARETR  AREfR  ARETT  ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RYERINEELS Disaggregated by timing of

revenue recognition
BHE Point in time 51,146 105,607 107,555 88,606 1,641 354,555
RENDEENKE Revenue from external customers 51,146 105,607 107,555 88,606 1,641 354,555
BRIl Inter-segment revenue - - 21,103 - - 21,103
TREAPUE Reportable segment revenue 51,146 105,607 128,658 88,606 1641 375,657
TREPER Reportable segment gross profit 23,964 66,022 86,678 7,10 1,034 248,808
(i) A& EBEFILR (i) Reconciliations of reportable segment gross profit
BZ12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214
2022 2021
ARBTT AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AlREDHBEF Reportable segment gross profit 392,523 248,808
K TBEEF Elimination of inter-segment gross profit (773) (1,368)
A ER Consolidated gross profit 391,750 247,440

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Geographic information

The following tables set out information about the
geographical location of the Group’s revenue from external
customers. The geographical information on the revenue by

Wt ERIT external customers’ respective country/region of domicile is
as follows:
BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®TR ARKEFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
H The PRC 287,736 218,997
EFEREBEHE ([ERH]) The United States of America (‘USA") 178,993 102,118
Hth Others 67,152 33,440
533,881 354,555

FEFRBDEENMBLEER
ZEEMEBRLE (LM% - B
FEREENS) REESREEMN
gEmE (MEVEEMmS) -

The geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in the
case of property, plant and equipment, and the location
of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of
intangible assets.

M12A31H

As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®TR AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
& The PRC 1,453,038 1,387,873
EJe USA 176,693 9,127
1,629,731 1,397,000
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5 HtlhsEREEFHE

5 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022F 20214
2022 2021
ARETR ARETFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
HEWE - BELRZESN Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant
(E18),/ FEFE and equipment (82) 385
ZAREBEFEHEZEHT A Change in fair value of financial assets at
EMERZEMEED FVTPL
N BEZH 19,269 1,507
B U A Interest income 2,167 12,506
BT#B) (B e EEW A#S - Government grants (including amortisation
RHIFE32) of deferred income, see Note 32) 15,076 12,632
PEZAABESEEEES)E Gain on disposal of financial assets at
ANEHER EMEENKE  FVTPL - 627
HEM B AR L2 ARHEZES  Gains on disposal of interests in a subsidiary
Wk (FisE16) and an associate (Note 16) 25,427 -
PTHESBMITECDTIREIRFH  Net realized losses on derivative financial
instruments (2,414) -
P& 5 ek (B518) JF 58 Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 27,374 (1,776)
EHAth Others (107) (312)
86,710 25,569
6 EYEEIABEEDF 6 NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF
BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
EMEERAARBEESFEEFNI Net change in fair value of biological assets represents the

Eﬁiﬁ@@ﬁ%@%%ﬁ o HE 20224
12H31 Emilﬁ . ‘fﬂ“@x@j%

Eﬁ%56,011,000n(2021¢ 3 /\E
#46,206,0007T) : R(i)REHA R
BEEZEHAARY59,934,0007T
(20214 :+ AR¥56,018,0007T) °

difference in fair value from the beginning to the end of the
year. For the years ended 31 December 2022, net fair value
change consists of (i) negative realised fair value changes
of RMB56,011,000 (2021: RMB46,206,000) and (ii) positive
unrealised fair value changes of, RMB59,934,000(2021:.
RMB56,018,000).

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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7 BRBAIEE 7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
BRELATESIE TR (GEA) T35 Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
17 :
(a) BIFERIA (a) Finance costs

BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REER RIBHFE Interest on long-term payables
(Mt E24(b)) (Note 24(b)) 39,916 81,762
HEBEF L (HFFE13) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 13) 12,942 7,663
RITREAMERFE Interest on bank and other loans
(Mi7E28) (Note 28) 3,281
56,139 39,425
(b) EBIMAE (b) Staff costs

HZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022F 20214

2022 2021

AR¥T R AREFT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

e TENMEAMET Salaries, wages and other benefits 371,091 298,687
FERFERRETEIHER Contributions to defined contribution

(B EE) retirement schemes (Notes) 33,491 23,521
DERSEENRMSFAY  Equity-settled share-based payment

(MI5E30(h)) expenses (Note 30(h)) 15,313 27,752

419,895 349,960
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7 BRBIATEE (&)

7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

BIEK(E)
GER

REBTEBEBRT  ARFARESTE
MEARSEEE2MNBETRAE
By R E HFURKETE - RBRF
B ARERZRESHFS  EAR
ETRRE T B DL AZFRRG

IR -

EBME AR AEBREEER—IER
TEMKA01(K)FEEFTEI ([401(k)5T
o 401(KFEREMAZER
W R B E IR AT E IR T AP
FREHB - tboh - REEE401(K)
EIEH TR AR - BB ftREE2
EFHME R = 5% AFTE ©

1

B oY m

/

HE g

(b) Staff costs (Continued)

Notes:

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Company and
its subsidiaries in the PRC participates in a defined contribution
retirement plan organised by municipal and provincial governments
for its employees. The Group is required to make contributions to the
retirement plans at certain percentages of the salaries, bonuses and
certain allowances of the employees during the year.

Subsidiaries in the USA implemented a defined contribution 401(k)
savings plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for U.S. employees. The 401(k)
Plan covers all U.S. employees, and allows participants to defer a
portion of their annual compensation on a pretax basis. In addition,
the Group implemented a matching contribution to the 401(k) Plan,
matching employee’s contribution up to a maximum of 5% of the
participant’s compensation.

(c) Other items

BE12A31HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022F 20214
2022 2021
ARETR AREFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
W BMELZHEITEEA  Depreciation charge on property, plant
(FIzE13) and equipment (Note 13) 171,034 126,481
G EBER A (f5E14)  Amortisation cost of intangible assets
(Note 14) 3,065 1,616
B FRERFIE L M EWFIE Recognition of expected credit losses
KITEEREE BB TR on trade receivables and other
receivables 1,422 3,115
FEREHKRE Impairment of inventories and contract
costs 3,387 1,807
FEKA Cost of inventories 189,259 150,671
2% S RN 7 B Auditors’ remuneration 3,000 -

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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8 FEBZERHMEEBAR 8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
PE TG STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(a) FEBBEREMEZERARPH (a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss
HIEE . and other comprehensive income represents:
BZE12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BN A% 8 Current tax
FANEE Provision for the year (804) -
(804) -
(b) BEMIERBANETENS (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting
TR REER losses at applicable tax rates:
BE12A31ALLEE
Year ended 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
MR AR A Loss before taxation 601,353 545,643
R EDAER R ENBRTIAT Notional tax on profit before taxation
FMEMEEBIE (M) at PRC statutory tax rate (note (i) 150,338 136,411
TRBENB B L Tax effect of different tax rates (notes
(B3 (i) 2 i) (i) and (iii)) (36,716) (34,017)
TABA R ETE Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (9,038) (321)
EABEFERERA Utilization of tax losses not recognised
TRIE 18 in prior years 2,181 1,788
RENVATIIEEE KRR Tax effect of unused tax losses and
TR ERNTGETE temporary differences not recognised (184,768) (145,005)
FEE R BB AMORL (B 5E(iv))  Additional tax deduction on research
and development expenses (note (iv)) 77,199 41,144
(804) -

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

247



248

e M BRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8 HeBEERHMEEIRAXR
PEATEH ()

(if)

(i)

(iv)

AR R R E A o B 7 BB B 2 A
£ 9B 15:25% H) B S e B0 E
B -

REBREBE MK ZIOMERFZEA
BB B PRSI M RIS L » B IR AR
SRENFAR21% » MAGHRE
738% o NGB B S Ak 32 A9 T
B A RIABMEEMSH - BRI
BREESH  FRANGRENHRER
FERTIUWAR15% ~ DEFTFHE
5.5% RIERTVA R 14% ©

(hEARAMBREMREHE) 2 FF
CERFIRHEMEE] (R
M) FE FARERITEL
BEBRDRAEFE16%MEBAMEH

ARBARBREBIHCESIHR
MEEER  AURFRAZFZ15%H)
BEBE -

BREFEMBABRERE  RFER - &
GRS ATEZERXN
75%-100% FESMOE ©

8

INCOME TAX

IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

The Company and its subsidiaries established in the PRC are
subject to PRC Corporate Income Tax rate of 25% during the year.

The subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the USA are subject to
Federal Income Tax and State Income Tax. The federal income tax
rate was 21% and the state income tax rate was 8% during the year.
The subsidiary of the Group incorporated in Germany is subject to
Corporate Income Tax, Solidarity Surcharge and Trade Tax, with the
tax rate at 15% of taxable income, 5.5% of corporate income tax and
14% of taxable income in Heidelberg during the year.

The PRC Corporate Income Tax Law allows enterprises to apply for
certificate of “High and New Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE”), which
entitles the qualified companies to a preferential income tax rate of
15%, subject to fulfilment of the recognition criteria.

The Company and Biocytogen Jiangsu were qualified as a HNTE
and accordingly are entitled to the preferential tax rate of 15%
during the year.

According to the relevant tax rules in the PRC, qualified research
and development expenses are allowed for additional tax deduction
based on 75%-100% of such expenses during the year.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



R BB IRARMIEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9 EEKEEMe 9 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
EMOLUMENTS
ARBEERESFAMSF BN Details of the emoluments of the directors and supervisors of the
™ Company during the year are as followings:
BRANENANALEE
Year ended 31 December 2022
WERES
g3k he 2y WRA%A
Ezhe RENEH MERL  BIGHEER it (H330) i
Salaries, Equity-settled
Directors’ and allowances Retirement share-based
supervisors’ and  Discretionary scheme payments
fee  benefits in kind bonuses contributions Sub-total (Note 30) Total
ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR AREFR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
4iEs Executive directors
fERxt Ms. Ni Jian - - - - - - -
TAERE Mr. Shen Yuelei - 1,890 637 42 2,569 - 2,569
Rigat Ms. Zhang Haichao - 805 - 58 863 - 863
FanEs Non-executive directors
BAREE r. Zhou Kexiang - - - - - - -
REREE r. Wei Yiliang - - - - - - -
RERLL Ms. Zhang Leidi - - - - - - -
BIBRE (005 . Huang Xiaolu

10A17R%E) (resigned on 17 October 2022) - - - - - - -
NE 0 £ Independent non-executive directors
PEELT Ms. Liang Xiaoyan 80 - - - 80 - 80
BEERE (R001E Mr. Li Shoushuang (retired on 5 July 2021)

TR5RER) - - - - - - -
WRERE . Yu Changyuan 80 - - - 80 - 80
EEARE (R0 Mr. Hua Fengmao

TR5REER) (appointed on 5 July 2021) 80 - - - 80 - 80
EZ Supervisors
£ Ms. Li Yan - 386 Wi 45 458 14 472
FRERL Ms. Sun Chunl - 551 117 58 72 - 126
S r. Yao Jiawei - 661 - 58 mn - 9
BHIL (R2022F Ms. Huang Rui (resigned on 29 April 2022)

4R0REA) - 215 - 18 233 - 233

240 4,508 781 279 5,808 14 5,822
AREE(LF)BENEROERAT —B-—F5RK
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9 EEREEME (&)

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

HENNE12A31B IR
Year ended 31 December 2021

WEakE

EE R A LGS
EEE] &R BERL  EREER it (KiiE30) &t

Salaries, Equity-setled

Directors' and allowances Retirement share-based

supenvisors' and  Discrefionary scheme payments
fee  benefits in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-fotal (Note 30) Total

ARETR ARETR ARETTL ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETTL
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

UiEs Executive directors

fifgnt Ms. Ni Jian - - - - - - -
TABRE Mr. Shen Yuelei - 1,884 137 37 2,008 3,731 5789
FERLt Ms. Zheng Heicheo - 7% 166 5 1012 . 1,012
FanEs Non-executive directors

BAEfE r. Zhou Kexiang - - - - - - -
BERAE r. Wei Yiiang - - - - - - -
BBEE . Huang Xiaolu - - - - - - -
BifinEs Independent non-executive directors

PRELT Ms. Liang Xiaoyan 80 - - - 80 - 80
FRERE (R g Ir. Li Shoushuang (retired on 5 July 2021)

TRSBER) 40 - - - 40 - 40
BRERE Mr. Yu Changyuan 80 - - - 80 - 80
ERARE(R021E . Hua Fengmao

1R5REZE) (appointed on 5 July 2021) 40 - - - 40 - 40
gz Supervisors
Ffat Ws. Li Yan - 35 122 40 547 1 561
FEERL Ms. Sun Chunli - 540 103 5 6% - 696
EERT Ms. Huang Rui - 661 133 53 847 - 847

240 4263 661 236 5,400 3,745 9,145

FRN - AEEBERNEETRESIH
e - (EAEBIMARSEBERH
HMAREBRGREE - EARER
WHIE (20214 « &) -

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors or supervisors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2021:nil).

Annual Report 2022
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10 BEEHMAL 10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
HZE2022F12A31HIEFE  AA Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, nil is director
BRI ATFEORESHES (2021 or supervisor for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: one),
F:18)  HMeBEBERWZEI - R whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of the
% (20214 : 4%) ATREFERNME emoluments in respect of the five (2021: four) individuals during
BRI ¢ the year are as followings:

BZ12A31ALLFEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR¥T R AREFTT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

e REMEE Salaries and other emoluments 10,981 7,840
BB TEAL Discretionary bonuses 135 2,645
RIRETEIME K Retirement scheme contributions 387 303
NEREERN A Equity-settled share-based payment 7,519 4,641
19,022 15,429

A (20214F : 4%) ALHBIES S8 The emoluments of the five (2021: four) individuals who are
BRTHEER amongst the five highest paid individuals of the Group are within

the following bands:

BZ12A31BHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022F 20214

2022 2021

A AE

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

2,500,001 7C% 3,000,000/ 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 -
3,000,001 L% 3,500,000/ 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 1
3,500,001 7% 4,000,000/ 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 - -
4,000,001 7LE4,500,000/8 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 2 1
4,500,001% 7L £5,000,000,8 7T HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 - -
5,000,001% 7L £5,500,000,8 7 HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 - 1
5,500,001 L 26,000,000 7T HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 - 1
6,000,001 726,500,000/ 7T HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 1 -
5 4
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11 HibZ2EWA

11 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BZE12A31ALLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR%T ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
MEIFINEEH IS RAMIE L ZE  Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements of foreign
operations 1,441 581
b % Tax effect - _
Fiesem Net-of-tax amount 1,441 581
12 BREE 12 LOSS PER SHARE
(a) BREXEE (a) Basic loss per share

BRERAEBDIBEAARYL
BRBREEEFNBERBARE
601,945,0007T (20214 : AR
¥545,576,00070) R FRE &
TEBRMETEEAE 8

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB601,945,000
(2021:RMB545,576,000) and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated as

U follows:
(b) EBRMEFITH (b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares
A12831H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
P A1BEE BT TR Ordinary shares in issue at 1 January 374,930 360,000
BETETBRTE Effect of ordinary shares issued 6,117 2,411
ALY B EIBE E R Effect of the shares purchased for share
2 incentive plan (43) -
R12A31BEZTHERAL  Weighted average number of ordinary
hniEFHER shares in issue at 31 December 381,004 362,411
(c) SREEER (c) Diluted loss per share
20224 k2021 i & No diluted earnings per share for both 2022 and 2021 were

TR - I E 20 M EFE
NEREERM -

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in
existence during both years.

Annual Report 2022
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13 Y% - BERRE 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(a) BREEYER (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
FRRET EERRE =R KERAM HENZRE fEEaR kBRI el
Machinery Vehicles,
Plant and and fumniture, Leasehold Right-of-use Construction in
buildings equipment and others improvement assels progress Total
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

RMB'000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB'000
RA: Cost:
H01E1A1R At 1 January 2021 621,766 209,261 18,659 44,069 136,372 210,832 1,240,959
e Additions 2,993 93,132 2,780 2781 29,923 21,787 393,39
£)/(8t) Transfer inffout) 113,006 14012 - 119,598 - (250,660) (4,044)
HERHH Disposals or write off - (7,543) (709) - (6,064) - (14316)
EigE Exchange adjusiments - (130) (34) (22) (94) - (280)
20215124318 At 31 December 2021 757,765 308,732 40,6% 166,426 160,137 181959 1615715
e Additions - 74,821 6,916 5,199 169,638 133,308 389,877
g)/(&1) Transfer inffout) 2915 8,408 19 3,386 - (45,867) (6,960)
e Disposals or write off - (3.323) (14,116) (13.313) (3.587) (1,104) (35,443)
EfiAR Reclassifcation (7.787) - 7787 - - - -
kS Exchange adjustments - 1081 162 5 1474 - 2142
20025 12831R At 31 December 2022 776,893 389,689 41,643 161,753 301,662 268,291 1,965,931
ZHERAEE: Accumulated depreciation

and impairment:

Ho021E1 718 At1 January 2021 (5,625) (51,086) (9.243) (24739) (13,775) - (105,368)
FRH Charge for the year (24.970) (45,629) (11518) (19,765) (24.499) - (126.481)
R Disposals or write off - 5,555 649 - - - 6204
ERAE Bxchange adjusiments - 4 19 9 803 - 875
20215124318 At 31 December 2021 (30,59) (92,016) (20,193) (44,495) (37.471) - (224,770)
ERZH Charge for the year (28502) (58,187) (9,619) (39.419) (35,357) - (171,034)
e s Disposels or writg off - 2016 1279 13313 2,167 - 30,288
EfiAR Reclassification (688) - 688 - - - -
EiEE Exchange adjustments - (384) (88) - (864) - (1,3%)
0% 124318 At 31 December 2022 (59,785) (148.521) (16.420) (70,601) (71525) - (366,852)
FEAE: Net book value:
R202512A318 At 31 December 2022 717,108 241,168 25,023 91,152 256,137 268,291 1,099,079
120215128318 At 31 December 2021 721,170 216,716 20,503 121,931 122,666 181959 1,390,945
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13 ¥k - BMERRE (&)

(b) EREEE

A EEMNREFERARE
ERRE WM

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

A12H31H
As at 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREEME  RifE Property leased for own use, carried at
AMANE : depreciation cost:
— T A — Land use right 42,730 43,845
VN - Office buildings 209,900 72,325
e - Machinery and equipment 3,507 6,496
256,137 122,666

(c) REZHINAHREENRX
HESHWTE :

(c) The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

BEZ12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022 20214
2022 2021
ARBTR ARBTFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ZIHEEEERRSIHMERE Depreciation charge of right-of-use
BENEER assets by class of underlying asset:
— i A — Land use right 1,130 3,752
YN - Office buildings 31,017 17,499
— HEs Rk - Machinery and equipment 3,210 3,248
35,357 24,499
HEBENE (ME7a) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) 12,942 7,663
B HAE MEEEEEMRE Expense relating to short-term leases
BRENAX and leases of low value assets 4,027 4,754

HERSRLBEFEREESR
& 89 BN BB R 0 4T 5 B SR BT 7
24(b) & HfzE29 ©

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis
of lease liabilities are set out in Note 24(b) and Note 29,
respectively.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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MA12H31H
As at 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR®TR ARETTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
W1A1H At 1 January 9,586 4,343
EETREA Transfer in from construction in progress 6,960 4,044
NE Additions 20,702 1,199
M®12A31H At 31 December 37,248 9,586
E5g 1o Accumulated amortisation:
®1A1H At 1 January (3,531) (1,915)
FAZH Charge for the year (3,065) (1,616)
®12H318 At 31 December (6,596) (3,531)
BRENFE © Net book value:
W12 H31H At 31 December 30,652 6,055
15 RKE QR HN#ER 15 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
A12H31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARETx ARETIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
M@ AR ERA (MisEa) Investment costs of subsidiaries
GEIO)) (Note a)(Note (i)) 476,457 415,841
FEUSB S & Bk IE (BT E(iT)) Receivables from subsidiaries
(Note (ii)) 712,485 571,914
1,188,942 987,755

(if)

ZeHEeERMBAREERLA
RAFEBRBIAA (FTFE30) - ARER
H a2 E B A RRME RS mEL
MR X NRES - R AR DRE
ZEMBRRELNEE -

KB HT S R IR A A A @)
BARRHENMBEIS - T ER

Notes:

(i) The amount includes share-based payment expenses arising from

the restricted shares of the Company granted to employees of the
subsidiaries (Note 30) in exchange for their services provided to
these subsidiaries, which were deemed to be investments made by
the Company into these subsidiaries.

(i) The amount from subsidiaries represents financial supports provided

by the Company to subsidiaries, which are interest-free and have no

fixed terms of repayment.

BREE(XR)BENZRDERAF
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15 RHB QAR (F)

15 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) FMIBATAE (a) Subsidiaries
TRESHWEFEFEREEE The following list contains only the particulars of
B EBEEXBBEZHBRR subsidiaries which principally affected the results assets or
15 - BRBBEFAEIN - AR liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary
MR RL R - unless otherwise stated.
HERLH
Proportion of ownership interest
HMAY/ EE4E BEf/ 458 mARE  AKEAR
kL] RigERRE HMALAS BHARER L 4 58 55 IEEE
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s Held Held
business and kind of legal  Date of issued/paid-in effective by the bya
Name of company entity incorporation capital interest Company  subsidiary ~ Principal activities
AREE(LR) LOIRARAA ((RREEAR]) HELR FRAT 2014567258 ARH 100% 100% - ENRIREREERE
(Kizk) 15,000,0007C
Biocytogen (Beijing) Biological Engineering Co.,  Beijing, PRC, limited 25 June 2014 RvB 100% 100% - Biotechnology development
Ltd. (‘Biocytogen Daxing’) (note (i) 5 EEE liabiity company 15,000,000 and technical servioes
(AR ENIRERLR
AREETHERENRNERLA REILE BRAT 0145107 14R ARH 100% 100% - ENRERE  RERRLE
([RRERTE) (W3() RN RENEE
Biocytogen Jiangsu Co., Ltd. (‘Biocytogen Jiangsu, PRC, limited 14 October 2014 RVB 100% 100% - Biotechnology development,
Jiangsu') (note (i) EREE TEERE NN liabiity company 1,111,111 technical senvices and
ERAF animal models selling
ERRSBNERHAERAA (i) HEILE BRAT 2016527268 ARH 51% - 5%  BMERRMRE L0
10,000,000 FE RS
Haimen Hechuang Animal Experimental Technology  Jiangsu, PRC, limited 26 February 2016 RvB 51% - 51%  Animal experimental
Co, Ltd (note (i) BESEBIMERMEARRE  liabilty company 10,000,000 technology development,
biotechnology
development and technical
services
ENBERR LR ERAD (AN (HG)  PELR BRAA 016511 A11A AE% 100% 100% - YERIRERARE
17391317
Eucure (Beiing) Biopharma Co. Ltd., (‘Eucure’)  Beijing, PRC, limited 11 November 2016 RVB 100% 100% - Pharmaceutical technology
(note () ERBERR(LR)ERAE liabilty company 1,739,131 development and technical
services

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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15 RSB AR ER (&) 15 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(a) MEBAR (&) (a) Subsidiaries (Continued)
FERLH
Proportion of ownership interest
HRAL/ €E0E B/ 558 mANE  EKEAR
DEER RteRRER HRALAS RAERHE BhER 5] BE IEER
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s Held Held
business and kind of legal  Date of issued/paid-in effective by the bya
Name of company entity incorporation capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
Eucure Biopharma Boston Corp. AR TE - AR 018F5A298 - 100% - 100%  ERSBREERE
Eucure Biopharma Boston Corp. Boston, US., 29 May 2018 - 100% - 100%  Clinical trial and related
limited liability services
company
Biocytogen Boston Corp. AR TE - AR 201856 19A - 100% 100% - ENRNREREGRE
Biocytogen Boston Corp. Boston, US., 19 June 2018 - 100% 100% - Biotechnology development
limited ligbility and technical services
company
EEENER (LR ARAA () RELR BRAT 202053448 ARH 100% 100% - UMY HERERENA
10,000,000 BhmsE
Maple Leaf Pet Hospital (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (note (1)) ~ Beijing, PRC, 4 March 2020 RvB 100% 100% - Animal diagnosis and
BEENER(LR)ERAT limited liabllty 10,000,000 {reaiment, veterinary drugs
company selling, and pets related
goods selling
SEEENR (BN ERAA (TS (MR REIE 5RAF 202159168 N 100% 100% - HERNRARENRR
10,000,00070
Doma Biopharmaceutical (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. Jiangsu, PRC, 16 September RVB 100% 100% - Pharmaceutical technology
("Doma’) (note (i) and (i) limited liability 2021 10,000,000 development and technical
SERENR(EN)ERLA company services
BEBEHR (BN ARAA (B8] (E()R) *TITH BRLE 200252R158 ARH 100% - 100%  BERERERANRS
10,000,000
Xadcera Biopharmaceutical (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. Jiangsu, PRC, 15 February 2022 RMB 100% - 100%  Pharmaceutical technology
(“adcera") (note (i) and (i) limited liability 10,000,000 development and technical
TEBERH(ENERLA company services
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15 RHB QAR (F)

15 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) MEBAR (&) (a) Subsidiaries (Continued)
FERLH
Proportion of ownership interest
HRAL/ €E0E B/ 458 mANE  EKEAR
kL] RteRRER HRALAS REALEE BhER 58 BE IEE
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s Held Held
business and kind of legal  Date of issued/paid-in effective by the bya
Name of company entity incorporation capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
REZE (L) BEHRARDA (Hik() mELE - BRAT 2002557128 AEE 100% 100% - BERIORERENRE
10,000,0007
Biocytogen (Shanghai Biological Engineering Co.,  Shanghai, PRC, limited 12 May 2022 RVB 100% 100% - Pharmaceutical technology
Ltd. BEEE( L8 EEREAR DA (note (1)) liabity company 10,000,000 development and technical
services
Biocytogen Eurape Innovation Center GmbH EASER  ARAA N2F 12828 300,008 100% - 100%  NERE LERGHERK
fitkss
Biocytogen Europe Innovation Center GmbH Heidelberg, Germany, limited 22 December EUR 100% - 100%  Licensing of antibodies,
liability company 2022 300,000 biotechnological

development and technical
services

MEE

() EHEBONEXRBAT
X o WXEIFEHRBR -

(i) K 16FTHEE - AQFE
BEBHRBE(ZHHBER
A1) 2 - TIHRR2022F5
AR ZIHHEGIE -

Notes:

(i) The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English

translation is included for identification purpose only.

(i)  As disclosed in Note 16, the Company has deconsolidated
Doma and Xadcera, the subsidiary of Doma, due to the loss of
control in Doma in May 2022.
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16 REFE QRN ER 16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
M12831H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®TR ARBEFIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
SREYER (L8) BRAF Kactus Biosystems Co., Ltd.
(M) (“Kactus”) - 9,685
RHEE DRI (BN BRAF] Kemai Biological Technology
([&tE]) (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Kemai”) - -
%35 Doma 197,944 -
197,944 9,685

20209 A - ANA RIS FAEYE
B (E®)BRDA ([1EE]) Rigk
WRE ([RREDFTLRELRH -
RERERHE  ARAREREAR
#10,000,0007T * WHEISIRAI6.90%
BRE - £ER2020F10ACHME °
R Liitheg AARAEEZTE
REFERREFETH—F 28R
KRR SARFATHEBROEER
M ARAENERTE  ERRNEFE
BB B R 20204 K 2021412 A
STEEARBERAINERALR -
R2022F 18 - MEHBLAERA R
£ BRARARISRHOREESS
4.81% o IRBFIEERZE - A AFK
EXZARKRESSEFTEN B
KTBABERYE - At - 5F®
REBEZUAALEEBEER - WH2022
F1ABSAREMIERBEE « 815
R EN BN [ H s R E
BEFEIPHERALENE S QA)E

In September 2020, the Company entered into an investment
arrangement with Kactus Biosystems Co., Ltd. (1&tk4E%&
R(EB®)EMRAT]) (“Kactus”) and Kactus's equity holders
(the “original equity holders”). Based on the investment
agreement, the Company agreed to invest RMB10,000,000 to
acquire 6.90% of the equity interest in Kactus which has paid
up in October 2020. Pursuant to the above agreement, the
Company has the right to appoint one out of five directors on
the board of directors of Kactus to participate in the decision-
making process, allowing the Company to exercise significant
influence over Kactus’'s operational and financial directions,
and the above equity investments in Kactus was accounted for
as interests in associates as at 31 December 2020 and 2021.
In January 2022, several new investors invested into Kactus,
which resulted in a dilution of the Company’s equity interest in
Kactus to 4.81%. According to the new investment agreement,
the Company lost the right to appoint director on the board
of Kactus, and ceased to exercise significant influence over
Kactus. As a result, the interests retained in Kactus was
recognised at fair value and was recorded into other non-
current assets since January 2022, the change in carrying
amount of interests in Kactus was recognised as gain on the
disposal of interests in an associate in “Other gains and losses,
net”.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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16 REFE N RNER (&) 16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
202166 A + NRRIEEMIGEE In June 2021, the Company and other investors entered
RIVERELRE LR URBEYR into an investment arrangement to set up Kemai Biological
B (EM)BRAR ([RE]) - BRI Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd (RHEA®RE(ERM)ER A A])
KEME  TXRARAEBEREARE (“Kemai”). Based on the investment agreement, the Company
400,000 U BERHE R 40% Akt - I agreed to invest RMB400,000 to acquire 40% of the equity
202268 AR - RIFE Lt - interest in Kemai and has been fully paid up in August 2022.
AABBREARBEEE -RES Pursuant to the above agreement, the Company has the right to
- 2ERRBRE  S4XQA appoint one out of three directors on the board of directors of
AT RLER L R A INE A Kemai to participate in the decision-making process, allowing
B 2021F98 F HEHIREER the Company to exercise significant influence over Kemai’s
EREE - ARRIERENREEE operational and financial directions. In September 2021, after
£30% ° R20226F12A31H - 1RE several new investors invested into Kemai, the Company’s
BT RAAECRENEIBER equity interest in Kemai has been diluted to 30%. As at 31
EFo December 2022, the interests in Kemai was reduced to zero

after picking up the shares of losses of Kemai.

R2021F 98 » RRARFILIHER A In September 2021, the Company set up a subsidiary, Doma,
%15 BRERXRBARK10B8ET - with a paid-in capital of RMB10 million, holding 100% of the
FEZIE100% 0 & - 12022455 equity of Doma. In May and December 2022, the Company
AKk12A  ARRHETREED R and several investors reached joint investment agreements
ERHARKERZE  ETHREERE respectively, several investors increased the capital of Doma by
BWESHEARBIM40EE L MA a total of RMB940 million and the Company subscribed RMB200
NAINMARBEARK20088TT BH million as well, resulting in the dilution of the Company’s equity
RARAFREZIHERREHR100% 82 in Doma from 100% to 18.26% and a loss of control in Doma.
18.26% W B K ¥ ZIFMIEHI#E - 1B According to the above agreements, the Company has the right
BLEiiths ARRBEERZEZHE to appoint one out of five directors on the board of directors of
EERRESHN—F 2HERER Doma to participate in the decision-making process, allowing
B EARRF A ZHENLE R the Company to exercise significant influence over Doma'’s
ARBENEATE - At - X&EEER operational and financial directions. Therefore, the Group has
#EBHIF - BEBARBERER deconsolidated Doma and the difference between the fair
BzEOEENE Mz REEF value and the book value of Doma is recognized as gain on
BWITHERADLENB QR the disposal of interests in an subsidiary in “Other gains and
o R2022F12A318 * RZIFEW losses, net”. The remaining equity investments in Doma was
R T IRERE ARIIEREE R AH accounted for as interests in associates as at 31 December
TS o 2022.
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16 NEFE AR ERE (&) 16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
FRE LBt & R R R ERE Sk All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
EREREARE - method in the consolidated financial statements.
TRIEHTIAR2022F12A31HHE The following list contains only the particulars of material
REE R BINFE  ZEBE QAN associates as at 31 December 2022, all of which are unlisted
RIELTMATERE  WETISRE - corporate entities whose quoted market price is not available:

BRELA
Proportion of ownership interest

BenaR HEERED HMALREERS  BRG/BEEARE  ASEERED HALARE IERH

Place of Group’s

incorporation Particulars of issued/ effective Held by
Name of associate Kind of legal entity ~ and business paid in capital interest the Company  Principal activity
SERENE (M) BRAA ERER EN ARE1,150,000,0007 18.26% 18.26% EMRIRERK MR
Doma Biopharmaceutical (Suzhou) Co., limited liability Suzhou RMB1,150,000,000 18.26% 18.26% Biotechnology

Lid. ZBEERER (&M ERA development and

technical services
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16 REE QT AER (8)

ERBERTMBENGRE (TS
ABERZEMEZRELAE - LHEE

R

EUBHRERZEEEYR) BEWT

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of the material associates,

adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and

reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial

statements, are disclosed below:

E4
Doma
2022
2022
AR®TR
RMB’ 000
B N R AR Gross amounts of the associates’
MBNEE Current assets 455,837
ERBEE Non-current assets 631,999
mEALE Current liabilities 1,021
FnBas Non-current liabilities 2,864
= Equity 1,083,951
FEFERR M SR Non-controlling interests 30
Wz Revenue -
EEFE Net loss (65,882)
HEt2miiA Other comprehensive income -
ZEBRABEE Total comprehensive income (65,882)
EAEBREE ATESZNYE  Reconciled to the group’s interests in the associates
E AR EEFEBRE Gross amounts of net assets of the associate 1,083,981
REBEREER Group’s effective interest 18.26%
REES(REEAREESE Group'’s share of net assets of the associate 197,944
REBE D (R E A REIE Group’s share of loss of the associate 14,770
A BHRKEREE Carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements 197,944
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17 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

A12H31H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AT e E R ([ ER ) Value-added Tax (“VAT") recoverable - 21,860
BRARBEFEEEZEA Financial assets measured at FVTPL
HEHEREZeMEE
— PSR IR E (M) — equity investment in Kactus (Note i) 52,861 -
52,861 21,860

Mizki: fMIFE16FTIR - B2022F 1 A
B ARERFHER4.81%KHE
AW DB AR AR BENERR
BEAZHERZSMEE - R
2022F 11 R - ETHREBRE
etk » BEMERARRIRIERE
AREEEE 2 4.24% -

Note i:

As described in note 16, since January 2022, the Company held
4.81% of the equity interest in Kactus and the equity interest was
classified as financial assets measured at FVTPL. In November
2022, several new investors invested into Kactus, which further
resulted in a dilution of the Company’s equity interest in Kactus to
4.24%.

EYEE 18 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
AEEMNEYEETEZERFENER The biological assets of the Group mainly include four animal
X B : B-NDG (NOD-Prkdcscid models: B-NDG (NOD-Prkdcscid IL2rgtm1/Bcgen) mice,
IL2rgtm1/Bcgen)/NE - AR{E/DE humanized mice and conventional strain mice which have been
RERRRNE  KEERARTRE developed for different types of medical testing. All mice can be
AMEBEERH - M/ NBrE—FH further separated into mice used to breed other mice (“mice for
EARANEHEEM BN/ R ([ZHE breeding”) and mice to be sold for revenue (“mice for selling”).
/R RAREE BRI ER /N
B([#HERNED -
A12H31H
As at 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
ARBTR AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
—B-NDG - B-NDG 5,083 3,983
— NRIEDE — Humanized mice 67,422 63,628
—EBHmENE — Conventional strain mice 3,993 520
76,498 68,131
AREE(LR)BERNEROBERAT —Z-—FFH
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18 A& E (&) 18 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(a) EEANEREERDNEDIW (a) Analysis of mice for breeding and mice for selling
ZEANE HERME st
mice for mice for
breeding selling Total
AREFTT AREFTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7K2021F1A1H At 1 January 2021 27,789 26,056 53,845
B A Breeding cost* - 67,373 67,373
A 55 RIL T imE Decrease due to sales and mortality (8,571) (54,328) (62,899)
EYMEERAABEED Fair value changes of biological
assets (10) 9,822 9,812
(237 2 Transfer 9,440 (9,440) -
#H2021F12A31H At 31 December 2021 28,648 39,483 68,131
EEM A Breeding cost* - 85,176 85,176
A 855 & Fe T o Decrease due to sales and mortality (15,130) (65,602) (80,732)
EMEERARBEZD Fair value changes of biological
assets (1,403) 5,326 3,923
B Transfer 16,081 (16,081) -
#K2022F12A831H At 31 December 2022 28,196 48,302 76,498
BiEE - Note:
* NEEENBERALTERR . Breeding cost incurred for mice mainly include feeding costs,
FBKA BIRAE - FER staff costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses and
BHATEKES - utilities costs.
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18 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Analysis of mice for breeding and mice for selling
(Continued)

The quantities of different types of mice are summarized as
follows:

M12A31H
As at 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
(8) (%)
(Heads) (Heads)
EVELE For breeding
—B-NDG - B-NDG 15,377 11,713
— NRIEDE — Humanized mice 20,868 23,294
—FBHMRNDER - Conventional strain mice 8,137 -
44,382 35,007
tHE M For selling
—B-NDG - B-NDG 15,389 14,127
— NRIEDE — Humanized mice 45,748 42,285
—BRmENE — Conventional strain mice 25,405 14,812
86,542 71,224
EYEENAAEETE (b) Fair value measurement of biological assets

EMEENAABEFEBRA
REEEBRNE=HR - BEALR
BEERZFAERFHNMT
35(e) °

AEEMNHEERNEREER
INER2022FE 12 A1 BEHH
B - [HEEB L EEM D AT
BHABRABET - REREH
K AEBRS ISR R EE
BB CEGEM REERE
HEZR -

EWMEBEEN AR EBEERTIZA
RRAEETE - stER A BER
ERAEHRREREREYE
ERH (BEFER 115 AR
LRSS T ERE) NH

The fair value measurements of biological assets fall into
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The detailed information
of fair value hierarchy is set out in Note 35(e).

The Group’s mice for selling and mice for breeding were
revalued as at 31 December 2022. The valuations were
carried out by Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal
Limited, an independent valuer. The Group’s finance
manager and chief financial officer have discussed with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results
as at the end of each reporting period.

The fair values of biological assets are determined using
market approach and cost approach. Recent trading price
and adjustment factors based on the characteristics of
the biological assets (including age, gender, breeding
useful life, expected rate of mortality etc.) were used in the
calculations of fair values.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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18 £MEE (&)

(b) EMEENDIAEBEEE)
FRF=RAABEFENE

18 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of biological assets (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements:

EXTABEG LR 2022%12A31H
Significant unobservable inputs 31 December 2022
ZHERE TR BRI E RS FEARBOTEARE4,364T0E248

Mice for breeding
HERNE
Mice for selling

Recent trading price Remaining useful life
THRRERER TR
Recent trading price expected rate of mortality

RMB 40 to RMB4,364 per head 0-24 weeks
BEARBAOTEARE4,364702% - 57%
RMB 40 to RMB4,364 per head 2% - 57%

EXTABREEALE
Significant unobservable inputs

202112 A31H
31 December 2021

ZHERAE

Mice for breeding
HERNE

Mice for selling

TBRXERRERER

Recent trading price Remaining useful life
TR ERRR TR

Recent trading price expected rate of mortality

BEARK249TE ARHK4,643T0ZE 168
RMB249 to RMB4,643 per head 0-16 weeks
FEARKIOTEARYA,643708% - 64%
RMB40 to RMB4,643 per head 8% - 64%

HEHMERELA S T®K -
SHEMEENAABEKNIERE
m/md e

ZHEA/NEREER DR
AABEXEAMELA T
ERIMIG AN, W o ’R20224F 12
A318 R RELEA T
10%  EMEENBH AR EE
A& mA AR #7,649,800
7L (20214 : AR¥6,810,000
TT) °

EMEEN AR BEEZHNGS
BHEXRPEINRIEDEELA
BEEZEFHE] -

JL

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated market
price would result in a significant increase/decrease in the
fair value of the biological assets.

The estimated fair value of mice for breeding and mice for
selling increased/decreased primarily due to an increase/
decrease in the market price. As at 31 December 2022,
if transaction price increases/decreases by 10%, the
estimated fair value of biological assets would have
increased/decreased by RMB7,649,800 (2021:RMB6,810,
000).

The changes in fair value of biological assets are presented
in “Net change in fair value of biological assets” in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



R BB IRARMIEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 &K 19 INVENTORIES
M12H31H
As at 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR®TT ARETTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR B FE Raw materials and consumables 18,604 15,140
B MR E Less: write-down of inventories - -
18,604 15,140
20 EHHEAK 20 CONTRACT COSTS
M12H831H
As at 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
ARETR ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
[EEIDEN Costs to fulfill contracts 44,827 44,641
OB A BRI Less: write-down of contract costs (3,466) (2,829)
41,361 41,812
21 ESEWFE 21 TRADE RECEIVABLES
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
FEBUAT ATHE 5 EKGRIE Trade receivables due from
—%=5 — third parties 114,750 108,719
W EEEE Less: loss allowance (7,068) (5,630)
107,682 103,089

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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21 ESEWFIE (E)
(a) BB

AEBE-—RAEBZEFREHO
EIORMEEH - B 5B YK
BENERT B AR A H

21 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
(a) Ageing analysis

The Group generally provides a credit period of 0 — 90
days to its trade customers. The ageing analysis of trade
receivables, based on the earlier of invoice date or revenue

KB R & W IR R R BB AR recognition date and net of allowance for doubtful debts, is
DT - as follows:
#A12831H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARBTT AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
1F R Within 1 year 97,183 95,412
1224 1 to 2 years 9,157 6,482
2&E3F 2 to 3 years 1,342 1,195
107,682 103,089

22 FENFEREAMEKRRIE

22 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

M12A31H
As at 31 December

20224 20214
2022 2021
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Fa CROMRIS R 3IA

AN A HAR AT AT E R A

Advances to CRO and other service
suppliers 21,885 21,929
Prepayments for costs incurred in

B RIE connection with the issuance of the

Company’s H shares - 29,240

FERI A EHE R IR Advances to materials suppliers 5,127 6,512
AT e 1 (B VAT recoverable 3,445 13,831
Be Deposits 9,153 6,978
Eib Others 1,173 1,545
40,783 80,035

B BB RME Less: loss allowance (451) (414)
40,332 79,621

P A TEAS 3008 J EAth YRR TR AR

—F R EIKER DR

All the prepayments and other receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expense within one year.
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23 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

A12H31H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
RAnBEFEEEZSHFTA Financial assets measured at FVOCI
Hith2ERAZEREETSE Certificate of deposit (Note (i))
(BR=E()) - 100,000
BARBEFEEEZETA Financial assets measured at FVTPL
EHfER s oREELSRE Wealth management products issued
AESETHNEMER by private equity funds 8,198 -
8,198 100,000
BisE Note:

AREABRITEESRER3FY
FE| RIBEGER  ARFTER
AIRREVER - ERRERETMHA -
FROENEEE > N F3.3%=
3.8% BARKE - ANARRER
tteRERNBRIREKRE L
HAenBRHE  AURERGAHE
MREPERBEAABENEREE
AR EERAZEREE

=

(i)

The Company purchase from the bank the financial products of “3-
year certificate of deposits” with the terms that the Company could
not withdraw the deposits in advance but could sell them to others.
The annual interest rates of the deposits are fixed and ranged from
3.3% to 3.8% and the interest is settled monthly. As the Company
manage the above financial products with the objective of both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale, it was recognized as
financial assets measured at FVOCI in the consolidated financial
position.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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24 BT REERE
(a) BERBSZENEE:

24 CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

#A12831H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
EFRS Cash on hand 3 1
RITEE Cash at bank 603,068 466,444
ERFEENZRS (HE>I) Deposits held by the Trust (Note (i) 7,811 -
SR GIRITFER (B FE(G)) Restricted bank deposits (Note (ii)) 15,739 -
B ZRFIRITER Less: restricted bank deposits (15,739) -
FaReRErPHEE R Cash and cash equivalents in the
REEED consolidated statements of cash
flows 610,882 466,445
B EE - Notes:

(i) EREFAMRSBEARAAM
R Rt Bl s (15
1) (RHFEE34(d)(ii) BB
BRARER AR R RDHIE
@ °

(i) ZBRHRTEFERERETHE
ZHRHNEAEETR

(i Deposits held by the Trust include the cash held by the Trust
established by the Company for share award scheme (“the
Trust”) (see Note 34(d)(ii)) for repurchasing the Company'’s
shares.

(i) Restricted bank deposits represent the deposits for letter of
credit issued for certain lease arrangements.
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(b)

METBEENEEHR

TRALAEERETHEED
LEEY BERRENIFREE
@J cBMEBEDELMNAGERS
MEBEDFLARKBSERE
EnGaReRnsxToBRR
BEHHEESRENARE -

R BB IRARMIEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24 CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

BTR
REEMSRE HEEE Htr &M% @it
Long-term Lease Bank and
payables liabilities other loans Total
ARBFT AR¥ETR ARBTT ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
(BEE33) (BeE29) (BeE28)
(Note 33) (Note 29) (Note 28)
M2022%181H At 1 January 2022 519,381 89,799 - 609,180
RMERSREST Changes from financing cash
flows:
BITREMEFFTERE  Proceeds from bank and other
loans - - 209,598 209,598
ERBIREMER Repayments of bank and other
loans - - (29,087) (29,987)
BRHE Interest paid - - (4,057) (4,057)
BEREENTERLFE  Repayments of long-term
payables and interests (17,214) - - (17,214)
ENAEMREHAELIS  Capital element of lease rentals
paid - (21,572) - (21,572)
ENAERELHOFELHS  Interest element of lease rentals
paid - (12,942) - (12,942)
MERGRELAE Total changes from financing
cash flows (17,214) (34,514) 175,554 123,826
Hin# & Other changes:
ARFERBEN Construction cost payables
(Bf5E£33(a)) (Note 33(a)) 43,466 - - 43,466
VAN ZREEMER Construction cost payables
BRMAR settled with bills payable (13,502) - - (13,502)
BN BIRETIR Investment payables for Doma
(Bf5E33(b)) (Note 33(b)) 200,000 - - 200,000
FIEFS (H#7(a)) Interest expenses (Note 7(a)) 39,916 12,942 3,281 56,139
HHEEAL Capitalisation of new leases - 169,638 - 169,638
HE—HINBAR Disposal of an subsidiary - (1,420) - (1,420)
Hih2EBE Total other changes 269,880 181,160 3,281 454,321
72022128318 At 31 December 2022 772,047 236,445 178,835 1,187,327
AREE(LR)BERNEROBERAT —Z-—FFH
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24 RITREFRE (&)

(b)

24 CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND (CONTINUED)

RETHEENAEYHER (&) (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)
i1 R
REBEMFIE HEEE HA &% @it
Long-term Lease
payables liabilities Bank loans Total
AREFT ARETT AREFT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Pg7E33) (Pfi3E29) (PfizE28)
(Note 33) (Note 29) (Note 28)
®2021%F181A At 1 January 2021 479,192 80,918 - 560,110
MERERELE Changes from financing cash
flows:
BERBENFERFE  Repayments of long-term
payables and interests (42,154) - - (42,154)
ENEERESMARLES  Capital element of lease rentals
paid - (14,978) - (14,978)
ENHEEMEHOFEIS  Interest element of lease rentals
paid - (7,663) - (7,663)
RERGRELDEE Total changes from financing
cash flows (42,154) (22,641) - (64,795)
Hi g Other changes:
REIERFRIBE M Addition of long-term payables 50,581 - - 50,581
FBFZ (ME7(a)) Interest expenses (Note 7(a)) 31,762 7,663 - 39,425
MHEEERL Capitalisation of new leases - 29,923 - 29,923
HEBESH Reassessment of lease liability - (6,064) - (6,064)
Hin#shasm Total other changes 82,343 31,522 - 113,865
R2021%F12A31H At 31 December 2021 519,381 89,799 - 609,180

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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25 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

M12A318
As at 31 December
20224 20214F
2022 2021
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ERUATATHE SEMNRIE Trade payables due to
— BAmts - related parties 533 1,609
—%=7 — third parties 104,968 52,283
R Bills payable 40,689 48,549
146,190 102,441
BRiR 24T Ageing analysis

MR2021FE K 2022F 128318 * B 5
FERRRIBENEE B R IRE DT
T

At 31 December 2021 and 2022, the ageing analysis of trade

payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

A12831H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR®TR ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
1FR Within 1 year 145,467 101,785
1FEZBB2FR After 1 year but within 2 years 312 478
2FBBIFR After 2 years but within 3 years 41 87
3F1& After 3 years - 91
146,190 102,441
26 EHAEE 26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
A12831H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
ARBTR ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
7 o K AR 7S AT B 60 R IE Amount received in advance of the
delivery of goods and services
=0 — third parties 56,377 61,581
BREE(LF)BENERMERIE —T-—FFH
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26 EHAE (&) 26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

HZE2022F12A31BLLFE - A&
ERFABERALAFIEHNEED
Iz A AR 28,462,0007T (2021
F: AR#32,830,0007T) °

AREBEEARNR —REERMHEINDA
CROMRTS ~ RAEWIHE LI
AiAZEFPHERENTKIE - N EEE
FEBEARNFRAEESARFE
WEIN RPN KIARNZE TP E®R
A m ek IR R E R o

27 HMENRE

Revenue in the Group recognised during the year that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year is
RMB28,462,000 for the years ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB32,830,000).

Normally, the Group and the Company receives advanced
payments before the provision of Pre-IND CRO services, animal
models selling, and antibody development from customers.
Contract liabilities represent the Group’s and the Company’s
obligations to transfer goods or services to customers for which
the Group or the Company have received advanced payments
received from such customers.

27 OTHER PAYABLES

A12831H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B T ARRAR AN S 3B Payables for staff related costs 36,436 53,661
FEER A AN B R IE (BT E(T)) Payables relating to construction cost
(note (i) 111,680 143,225
E b A TE R 3RIE Payables for other taxes 3,391 5,015
BERERENRE Payables relating to purchases of
equipment 59,542 45,511
HERGERNKIE Payables for professional services 15,183 4,050
Hith Others 4,840 4,178
231,072 255,640
B E Note:

(iy AEELELEMFIEENER
—FEALNH RN RBRANE
o R2022F 12 A31HAMSEAA
R#¥62,688,0007T (20214 : AR
70,827,000) °

B EMENRERARN - FREE
HAREREE -

(i) The amounts of the Group include the current portion of long-term
payables as disclosed in Note 33 which are to be paid within one
year with the amount of RMB62,688,000 as at 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB70,827,000).

All the other payables are expected to be settled within one year
or are repayable on demand.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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28 RITREMERN
RERE IR - RITEHEMT -

28 BANK AND OTHER LOANS

At the end of each reporting period, the details of the bank loans

are as following:

A12H31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARETx ARETIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BITER Bank loans
— S R R (BIEG)) - Unsecured and unguaranteed (note (i)) 119,755 -
HEMER Other loans
— B (M) - Secured(note (ii)) 59,080 -
HEE Total 178,835 -
WeE() RPFERTEREREREERR Note (i) Short-term bank loans included loans from the Bank of Nanjing,

7 LBROERRBRITNE
RHRAEA-F FHNER
3.65%%4.8% °

the Bank of Shanghai and the Bank of Communications, with a
term of one year and an annual interest rate of 3.65% — 4.8%.

BisE(i) R2022F7A  AEEEILETK Note (i) In July 2022, the Group signed sale and leaseback agreements
BERMEMEEGRAE (LT with Beijing Daxing Development Finance Leasing Co., Ltd.
I REER])FTERHEMD (hereinafter referred to as “Daxing Development”) to sell and
HiE  AAEZEREEREHAS
BRAARG0,305,873 THET
WEREE HEBWRNAKRESF
WO BZ - HHIR R —1HIRIS mortgage loan in substance with an annual effective interest rate
ER - BEBRFHNER6.00% ° of 6.00%.

lease back certain machinery and equipment amounting to
RMB60,305,873 to Daxing Development. The rent will be paid
in instalments within the next five years. It is considered as a

RTERERSERITOT - The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank loans is as

follows:

A12H31H
As at 31 December

20224 20214
2022 2021
ARETR AREFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

1FER IR EK

1FRIE2FR
2FREEFR

Within 1 year or on demand 126,665 -

After 1 year but within 2 years 9,879 -

After 2 years but within 5 years 42,291 -

5 Total 178,835 -

BREE(LR)BENZIRHERAE —T=—FFH 275
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29 HEAR 29 LEASE LIABILITIES
TRINTAEEREEBENFHRELD The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of
EHRIER, ¢ the Group's lease liabilities.
®W12A831H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
BEHEE BEHEE RIERE HEEE
NRBEE HRBE N#EE Dt
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
AR®T T AR¥ETR AREFT AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1FR Within 1 year 44,938 46,862 26,897 27,805
1FRE2ER After 1 year but within 2 years 36,104 40,373 25,004 27,927
2FEZBSFER After 2 years but within 5 years 70,053 91,046 24,630 31,272
5414 After 5 years 85,350 152,804 13,268 22,333
191,507 284,223 62,902 81,5632
236,445 331,085 89,799 109,337
W R ERT BT Less: total future interest
expenses 94,640 19,538
HEAERE Present value of lease liability 236,445 89,799
30 UEREENROBRS 30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS
(a) 201584 BB (a) 2015 Share Incentive Scheme
M2015F8A31H == On 31 August 2015, the Board of Directors approved a
E—ERG MBI E ([2015F share incentive scheme (“2015 Share Incentive Scheme”),
AR BENETElD) « BRitt - AR pursuant to which the Company granted restricted shares
BRIRBARESRERERFAD to the eligible directors and employees (the “Participants
(BEREE) MIAKEAARE of 2015") through Beijing Baiao Evergreen Technology
ERkEEB ([2015F28% ) K Development Center (Limited Partnership). The Participants
FRBHIRD o BT XHEE of 2015 are entitled to subscribe the Company’s restricted
20152 MEBRLZMREMERS shares at certain prices (as disclosed below).

REBA R R MR B
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30 ULEZEENNROLR S 30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

(&) TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) 20153 BEETE (&) (a) 2015 Share Incentive Scheme (Continued)
B GRRREEOT The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:
TA#E BERY RHE
Number of Vesting Granted
instruments Conditions prices
BRTFESNZRARE :
Restricted shares granted to directors:
— 20185 12A7H 321,440 TEARE KRS GEG AR0.87T
—on 7 December 2018 No performance and service
321,440 period conditions apply RMBO0.8
—H2019463A12H 6,260 N RI K RS B g AR#0.87T
—on 12 March 2019 No performance and service
6,260 period conditions apply RMBO0.8
— 12019411 A28 H 47,720 TEBRE KRG EGR Y ARK0.97T
—on 28 November 2019 No performance and service
47,720 period conditions apply RMBO0.9
— M2020%12 A10H 4,160 NEARE R R EY AR#0.87T
—on 10 December 2020 No performance and service
4,160 period conditions apply RMBO0.8
BFEENZRHRM
Restricted shares granted to employees:
— 2017512 H26RH 620,000 TEBRE KRG ARM¥0.17T
—on 26 December 2017 No performance and service
620,000 period conditions apply RMBO.1
— R2017412 426 H 752,000 TEARE KRS G AR#0.27T
—on 26 December 2017 No performance and service
752,000 period conditions apply RMBO0.2
— M2017%12 426 H 264,000 N8RRI AR5 B G AR#0.37T
—on 26 December 2017 No performance and service
264,000 period conditions apply RMBO0.3
— 201741226 H 120,000 PR R B AR¥0.47T
—on 26 December 2017 No performance and service
120,000 period conditions apply RMBO0.4
—R2017%12 4268 60,000 PNEBRE KRS AREO05T
—on 26 December 2017 No performance and service
60,000 period conditions apply RMBO0.5
— 20185 12A7H 794,560 TNiE A R 3R RBR S HR 64 ARH0.87T
—on 7 December 2018 No performance and service
794,560 period conditions apply RMBO0.8
—R2019% 11 A28H 97,500 TE R FE &R B G AR#0.97T
—on 28 November 2019 No performance and service
97,500 period conditions apply RMBO0.9
— 1202097 A20H 18,780 TEBRE LRI ERGY AR#0.97T
- on 20 July 2020 No performance and service
18,780 period conditions apply RMBO0.9
T PR AR 19 48 58
Total restricted shares granted 3,106,420

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H

277



e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

0 ULEZHENRORS
(#&)
(b) 2019F R BB B

R2019%7 290 » EE &t
HE—IER G BENE &l ([20194
MR RENETEl]) « Bt - AR
FRIERERERBHERA L
(BRAE) NAARESERES
(M20195F28E ) B TXRH
f&{p - 2019F 2 MEFEIZES
BRARMEAZ7TTREAARMNT
PR HIAR D -

R OB RRRERFT

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) 2019 Share Incentive Scheme

30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

On 29 July 2019, the Board of Directors approved a
share incentive scheme (“2019 Share Incentive Scheme”),
pursuant to which the Company granted restricted shares
to the eligible directors and employees (the “Participants
of 2019") through Beijing Baiao Changsheng Technology
Development Center (Limited Partnership). The Participants
of 2019 are entitled to subscribe the Company’s restricted
shares at RMB13.7 each.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

TA#A BB RHifE
Number Vesting Granted
of instruments Conditions prices
BRFEZNZRERYD
Restricted shares granted to directors:
— 201947 H29H 1,685,746 TR &R &R B AR¥13.7 L
—-on 29 July 2019 No performance and service
1,685,746 period conditions apply RMB13.7
— 202059 H10H 35,319 T8 &R B R AR¥A13.7 L
- on 10 September 2020 No performance and service
35,319 period conditions apply RMB13.7
— 202153/ 15H 5,147 TERAXRRRBHGE ARB137T
—on 15 March 2021 No performance and service
5,147 period conditions apply RMB13.7
— 202154 H23H 6,127 TR &R B R AR¥A13.7 L
—on 23 April 2021 No performance and service
6,127 period conditions apply RMB13.7
— R2021468H12H 12,193 T8RRI &R B R AR¥A13.7 T
—on 12 August 2021 No performance and service
12,193 period conditions apply RMB13.7
BT EENZRERYD
Restricted shares granted to employees:
— 202058 1H 273,773 RBESFE - TERKRRGE  ARBI137
—-on 1 May 2020 Service period 5 years,
273,773 no performance conditions apply RMB13.7
— #2020F9A10H 1,146,048 RIBESFE - TERAKRGNE  ARB137T
—on 10 September 2020 Service period 5 years,
1,146,048 no performance conditions apply RMB13.7
— #R2021F581H 27,880 RBESFE - TEAKRGNE  ARBI137T
—-on 1 May 2021 Service period 5 years,
27,880 no performance conditions apply RMB13.7
PR R I A 47 42 25
Total restricted shares granted 3,192,233

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
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TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c)

2020 Eucure Share Incentive Scheme

30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

On 10 September 2020, the Board of Directors approved
a share incentive scheme (‘2020 Eucure Share Incentive
Scheme”), pursuant to which the Company granted
restricted shares to the eligible directors and employees
(the “Eucure Participants”) through Beijing Eucure
Evergreen Technology Development Center (Limited
Partnership. The Eucure Participants are entitled to
subscribe the Company’s restricted shares at RMB29.82 or
RMB31.93 each.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

TA#A BERY RHfE
Number of Vesting Granted
instruments Conditions prices
BRFEZNZRERYD
Restricted shares granted to directors:
— 2020510 A30H 124,930 THARRERESHGEE ARK29.827T
- on 30 October 2020 No performance and service
124,930 period conditions apply RMB29.82
— 2021568 15H 12,745 THERARRRRBHGE ARK29.827T
—-on 15 June 2021 No performance and service
12,745 period conditions apply RMB29.82
BFEENZRERSD
Restricted shares granted to employees:
— 202059 H10H 213,847 RISESEF - TEBERFAKE ARB29.827T
- on 10 September 2020 Service period 5 years,
213,847 no performance conditions apply RMB29.82
— 20209 A10H 52,818  MRBHBIEA - MERAXRBKNHT ARKE31.937T
- on 10 September 2020 Service period 31 months,
52,818 no performance conditions apply RMB31.93
— 20209 A10H 52,818  MRIHIBBMEA - NMEAXRBKNH ARKE31.931T
- on 10 September 2020 Service period 38 months,
52,818 no performance conditions apply RMB31.93
— 20209 H10H 195,710 RSE4EF - TEBRFKE ARB31.9371T
- on 10 September 2020 Service period 4 years,
195,710 no performance conditions apply RMB31.93
— 20209 H10H 169,851 RISESEF - TEBXRFKE ARK31.937T
—on 10 September 2020 Service period 5 years,
169,851 no performance conditions apply RMB31.93
— R2021F6 A7H 134,673 RIBESF - TERAKXRGNE ARWK31.93T
—on 7 June 2021 Service period 5 years,
134,673 no performance conditions apply RMB31.93
PR BRI A 4 42 25
Total restricted shares granted 957,392
HREEAR)BEMNZRNERRET —ZB-_FFRH
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W UEEEENROXRS
(#&)
(d) 2020F R H B

(e)

R2020F9A23RH  EE gt
HE—IER G BENE & ([20204
BB BETE D) - Bt A2
FE BRI TR E BRI RES
D(BEREE)MEEREER
BB ([2020F28EF )BT
FREIR(D - 2020F 2 EE G
ZERARBI3E3THARE
31.93 TR AR A K Z PR i ik

,T/'\ o

BB GRRRAERFNT

30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) 2020 Share Incentive Scheme

On 23 September 2020, the Board of Directors approved a
share incentive scheme (“2020 Share Incentive Scheme”),
pursuant to which the Company granted restricted shares
to the eligible directors and employees (the “Participants
of 2020”) through Beijing Eucure Changsheng Technology
Development Center (Limited Partnership). The Participants
of 2020 are entitled to subscribe the Company’s restricted
shares at RMB13.53 or RMB31.93 each.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

IA#E BB RHE
Number of Vesting Granted
instruments Conditions prices
RFESENZRERED
Restricted shares granted to directors:
— 202049 23 H 2,143,527 TEREZRKRBRES ARE#13.537T
—on 23 September 2020 No performance and service
2,143,527 period conditions apply RMB13.53
BRTFRENZRERS
Restricted shares granted to employees:
— 202059 A 23H 1,072 RISE4E - TEBRFAKE ARB13.5371T
- on 23 September 2020 Service period 4 years,
1,072 no performance conditions apply RMB13.53
— 4202166 A7H 16,000 RISHSF - MEMAKRRGE ARK31.937%1
—on 7 June 2021 Service period 5 years,
16,000 no performance conditions apply RMB31.93

PR HE 520 61 A £ 4 2K

Total restricted shares granted

2,160,599

12022 5F 3% Y #9 3Z R I AR 47

HZE2022F12A31BILFE -
R IRt B0 S B AT 8% A
238,417 ZRHIR M EE T &
BB M2 - H2023F1 A4
18+ BB HE U H) R IR (5
ERLEFEMETHEERE
B REHRATRSF  BEEK
%o

(e)

Forfeited restricted shares in 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 238,417 restricted
shares granted under the above-mentioned share incentive
schemes were forfeited due to the resignation of several
employees. On 1 January 2023, all forfeited restricted
shares were granted to eligible employees newly selected
by the Board of Directors, with the service period of five
years without performance conditions.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

()

(9)

2022 Share Award Scheme

As described in Note 34(d), on 17 October 2022, the Board
of Directors approved a share award scheme (the “2022
Share Award Scheme”), pursuant to which the Company are
able to grant restricted shares to the eligible directors and
employees of the Group. The 2022 Share Award Scheme
remained in force for a period commencing on 17 October
2022 and ended on 17 October 2032. As at 31 December
2022, the Board of Directors has not granted any restricted
shares under 2022 Share Award Scheme.

Fair value and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for restricted
shares granted was measured by reference to the fair value
of restricted shares granted and the subscription price paid
by the eligible directors and employees. The fair value of
the restricted shares granted is measured at the grant date
referring to the market price offered by the independent
investors or the fair value assessed by an independent
appraiser, both of which were adjusted using the equity
allocation model. Best estimates of key assumptions
are required to be determined by management. Key
assumptions used in determining the fair value of restricted
shares granted are as follows:

20155 i3
BEEE

2015 Share
Incentive Scheme

2019 43

B =&

2019 Share
Incentive Scheme

2020 F A KR
B2

2020 Eucure Share
Incentive Scheme

2020 R 1

bl g

2020 Share
Incentive Scheme

NEtERBNAAER

Fair value at measurement date

TEE KR

Expected volatility
BRI =

Risk-free interest rate

ARE27860E
AR®67.577L
RMB27.86 -
RMB67.57
46.48% - 57.47%
46.48% - 57.47%
2.67% - 3.74%
2.67% - 3.74%

AR¥529970%
AR¥122.407C
RMB52.99 -
RMB122.40
46.48% - 56.26%
46.48% - 56.26%
2.67% - 2.97%
2.67% - 2.97%

ARK6757LE
AR#122.407C
RMB67.57 -
RMB122.40
46.48% - 49.28%
46.48% - 49.28%
2.67% - 2.95%
2.67% - 2.95%

AR¥67.57LE
AE#122.407T
RMB67.57 -
RMB122.40
46.48% - 49.28%
46.48% - 49.28%
2.67% - 2.95%
2.67% - 2.95%

Tz AT 15% - 20% 15% - 20% 15% 15%
Lack of marketability discount 15% - 20% 15% - 20% 15% 15%
BREEIAR)BENEROVERART =FBZ-FFR
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30 ULEZEENNRLR S 30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

(4&) TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(h) FARGEERRBERANUAZER (h) Equity-settled share-based payment expenses
HENROZABX recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or

loss during the year:

BE12A31BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2022 20214

2022 2021

AR¥F R AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

e % Research and development expenses 9,751 15,453

— B RITHAX General and administrative expenses 4,901 11,320

HEREHAX Selling and marketing expenses 661 979

15,313 27,752

31 MBRRERPWHAEBH 31 INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) HEMBMRRFRADABENE (a) Movements of current taxation in the consolidated
B statements of financial position are as follows:

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR¥T R AREFT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

M1 A1BERRETH Income tax payable at 1 January - -

FANEE Provision for the year 804 -

B ATSE Income tax paid - -

W12 31 BREN SR Income tax payable at 31 December 804 -

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



31

MBRRRPHOAEH (&)

(b)

(c)

31

R BB IRARMIEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX

IN THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

ERIANEEHREEERERE (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized
EffEY  WEMER
EAREE EERER HEEHE HEAE #E
Revaluation
Right- of biological Deductible
of-use  assets and cumulative Lease
assets Kactus  tax losses liabilities Total
ARBTT  AREFT ARETT ARETT ARBTx
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
EERERE Deferred tax arising from:
202161818 At 1 January 2021 (12,460) (6,931) 6,342 13,049 -
RixEERER (Charged)/credited to the
(108) /3 A consolidated statements of
profit or loss (2,201) (1,472) 73 3,600 -
202112 A31A & At 31 December 2021 and
202291 A1H 1 January 2022 (14,661) (8,403) 6,415 16,649 -
PEAERR (0B),/  (Charged)/credited to the
A consolidated statements of
profit or loss (37,655) (7,017) 3,348 41,324 -
1202246124310 At 31 December 2022 (52,316) (15,420) 9,763 57,973 -

AERANEEHEEE

HRM 2B 5T BER - A%
B RN 2022412831H A
AR#2,339,644,0007T (2021
F: AR®1,435,228,0007T)
HRTEEEERECHELE -
REAREERAEETHEER
REEBARRT KR BENT
FEANBAEERE - ARFRE
REBIHESSMEMEEE
BIEMTIIEE B B EEEIBE
HEEAF - MEMREKBRR
HFIEEE A ELEERERE
AF - ZEREEKBARB
BEEEE TRHIT T &R S
[

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note
2, the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of tax losses of 2,339,644,000 as at 31 December
2022 (2021:RMB1,435,228,000), as the directors consider it
is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses of the Company and
Biocytogen Jiangsu can be carried forward for ten years
from when the loss incurred after they were qualified as a
HNTE, while the tax losses of other subsidiaries in the PRC
can be carried forward for five years from when the loss
incurred. The tax losses of the subsidiaries in the U.S. and
Germany can be carried forward without expiry date under
certain limitation.
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31 BBMRRRFWAES (&)

(c) REIWELHBEEE (&)
REER A AR B ABIRE B 0 B

31

INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised (Continued)

The expiry of unused tax losses not recognised is as

BERENE - follows:
A12H31H
As at 31 December

2022 20214
2022 2021
AR% T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FEEH Year of expiry
20224 2022 - 71,205
20234 2023 92,751 96,237
2024 F 2024 43,043 43,043
2025 2025 82,947 82,947
20264F 2026 151,005 151,005
2027 2027 300,916 26,197
20284 2028 26,833 37,050
20294 2029 38,652 21,073
20304 2030 235,322 235,322
20314 2031 559,452 574,401
20324 2032 691,274 -
mEEH Without expiry date 117,449 96,748
2,339,644 1,435,228

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022



32 EEWA

R BB IRARMIEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32 DEFERRED INCOME

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR%T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
M1A1H At 1 January 92,797 90,121
NE Additions - 7,232
FFABR Credit to profit or loss (2,863) (4,556)
W12HA31H At 31 December 89,934 92,797

AEBERTER AT 2EREEY
¥ BEAREBEESORTME - &
RIEBEENETAIEAFRETH
i e 2 B2 S 1R ER | RERR

33 REAEFIE

Deferred income of the Group mainly represents government
grants received in relation to the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment, which would be recognised in “Other gains and
losses, net” over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets.

33 LONG-TERM PAYABLES

MA12A31H

As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARBTR AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REVERNITIER Long-term construction payables 562,847 519,381
REFERIEER Long-term investment payables 209,200 -
o 1T ERER TR Less: construction payables within 1 (62,688) (70,827)

(R MzE27) year (see Note 27)

709,359 448,554
AREE(LR)BERNEROBERAT —Z-—FFH
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33 REIEMNE ()
(a) RHMENIEX

REENIRREZAR()EM
—HIEE - (Ii))BMZHEA R
(i)t R KHIE B B EZ R IERE
PIZBINEBEEBR AT ([
Il REBEEEZRTREERA
Al ([FA@mAE]) RIE - 715
U

() REILARERIHS
FIZEAE B e TE (L
REZHEAREERE -
BREETIHBELRITR
ERFREEHERMAX
BEREERD R TR
BE o FEUbzA ARE
BI#%RREINZFER
B o R TEAMNEHESE
ﬂfﬁi%/\iﬁ’] 28

DRRBRERAINE%
%9% - BFIZHITEBE R
MR2020F 9 A% T A2

BEREBEEI&KER - 2
EERIXMERARE
245,923,0007T °

(i) MBCERAREEILH
BFI=ZHEENEIE
- RERMEAAEE B
B ARBEIIHERN R
THREBFRAMBLEIM
ERBERARK25B8
THOHER - ERER
ANERAXO8% - 1
20224 12A318 + BM=
HIERINERR BRE
BUT&# AT A BB R T &
HREFER

33 LONG-TERM PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

long-term construction payables

The long-term construction payables are primarily due to
Haimen Haoluokai Industry Corporation (BPIZZESNE ¥
BBR2ATF], herein referred to as “Haoluokai’) and Nantong
Shihua Construction Engineering Co., Ltd (FI@#EER
TiEBMRATA, herein referred to as “Nantong Shihua”) for
the construction of (i) Haimen Phase Il Project, (ii) Haimen
Phase Il Project and(iii) Beijing Daxing Project. The details

are as following:

(i) Haoluokai is the constructor of Haimen Phase Il
Project of Biocytogen Jiangsu and funds the project
during the construction period in advance. Biocytogen
Jiangsu will obtain the certification of property and
land use right after paying off the total construction
expenditures at the sixth year after completion. Before
that, Biocytogen Jiangsu pays management fee to
Haoluokai at 8% of the total construction expenditures
in the first to fourth years, and 9% of the total
construction expenditures in the fifth to sixth years
after completion, respectively. Haimen Phase Il Project
was completed and transferred to Biocytogen Jiangsu
for use in September 2020. The total construction
expenditure was agreed at RMB245,923,000.

(i) Nantong Shihua is the constructor of Haimen Phase Il
Project of Biocytogen Jiangsu and funds the project
during the construction period in advance. Biocytogen
Jiangsu should pay a management fee in addition
to RMB25 million instalment repayment each year to
Nantong Shihua after completion. Management fee is
at 8% of unpaid construction expenditure. As at 31
December 2022, Haimen Phase Il Project is still under
construction. Biocytogen Jiangsu can apply for the
certification of property after completion of the project.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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(a)

(b)

REENIRER(Z)

(i) ABTETRAAREEAX
FiLRAEIBEMETLE
il RERBHEAERER
Z - AREBKNEENE
THEFHMEBLTESZN
EREERARKSEE T
WoHER - BEEE AKX
MEEFATHE% ° LHEK
HI5H 25202046 A%
TEBRERERKNEF
A #BZRAIHEAA
K#119,051,0007T ° &
REBAKEDN2021F4
AEBEEE -

REIEM I RRIZEMZHIE
B BM=HEE kIt R KHE
BEMENBEESR  HHE
RERKRPEFNEENE &
B FIE D B £8.99% » 8.33% &
8.31% o M T Al - EEIRIEER
EEBERIREREMNEIEN
FIEALR o

REENREN

MK E16 AT - AR R RE
LB REINEME R ARKE200
BET - BEBERBIRERE

RAEHERARELEERR S
FrEl AR TR =@ AR T
BR2025F3 A31 HX M E
e B - ARRINEEX MR
EERGE  BEEARBIIR
BEEHEFE0.05% KIETEHE T

st
H o
It

BEZERHENZRNE KRR
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33 LONG-TERM PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

long-term construction payables (Continued)

(iii) Nantong Shihua is also the constructor of Beijing
Daxing Project of Biocytogen Daxing and funds the
project during the construction period in advance.
Biocytogen Daxing will pay a management fee
in addition to RMB8 million instalment repayment
each year to Nantong Shihua after completion.
Management fee is at 8% of unpaid construction
expenditure. Beijing Daxing Project was completed
and transfer to Biocytogen Daxing for use in June
2020. The total construction expenditure was agreed
at RMB119,051,000. Biocytogen Daxing have obtained
the property right certification in April 2021.

The long-term construction payable is measured at present
value of total management fee, instalment repayment
and final repayment payable for Haimen Phase Il Project,
Haimen Phase Ill Project and Beijing Daxing Project with
effective interest rate at 8.99%, 8.33%, 8.31%, respectively.
Prior to the completion, the Group records the constructions
in progress and payables to constructors in accordance
with its percentage of completion.

long-term investment payables

As disclosed in Note 16, the Company subscribed the
additional registered capital of Doma amounting to RMB200
million. According to the relevant investment agreement, the
Company promised to pay the investment within 3 months
after the issuance of A shares on the Sci-Tech Innovation
Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange or no later than 31
March 2025. Meanwhile, the Company also agreed to pay a
deferred capital premium, which is calculated based on the
daily interest rate at 0.05% and the deferred period.

For contractual undiscounted cash out flow for these
long-term payables, please refer to Note 35(b).
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34 EXK#E
DA D2 E (a)

(a)

AEBRAERSHEKEDH
MERRERERHEN RS EER
R - A0 A E R AR
DRFNEFRBEANED
B

Movements in components of equity

34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing

balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated

equity is set out in the consolidated statements of changes

in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s individual

components of equity between the beginning and the end

of the year are set out below:

BRf
EBam it
B ROEE  HENRH RtefE  (B8B)/ k& @zt
Shares held
Share Share for share Other  Accumulated
capital premium award scheme reserve  (losses)/gains Total
ARETT  ARETR ARETT  ARETR AREFT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(FiE34(c))  (RiEE34(d)) (FeE34(d))  (REE34(a))
(Note 34(c)) ~ (Note 34(d))  (Note 34(d))  (Note 34(d))
W2021%1A1RMES  Balance at 1 January 2021 360,000 1,219,464 - 8,509 30,888 1,618,861
021 FREZD Changes in equity for 2021:
ENFERZERALE  Loss and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - (293,798) (293,798)
& (HEE34(c)i)) Capital injection (note 34(c)(i)) 14,930 296,110 - - - 311,040
EAROZA Recognition of share-based payment - - - 27752 - 27,752
2021512431 BR%EE Balance at 31 December 2021 374930 1,515,574 - 36,261 (262,910) 1,663,855
#20251 18§48  Balance at 1 January 2022 374930 1,515,574 - 36,261 (262,910) 1,663,855
0202FREET Changes in equity for 2022:
FRBBRZENALE  Loss and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - (2719,640)  (279,640)
STE (MEE34(c)(i) Capital injection (note 34(c)(ii)) 24,468 476,228 - - - 500,696
?”W“ ff Recognition of share-based payment - - - 15,313 - 15,313
“i’i@] SHEBEZAS  Purchase of own shares for share
Rin (MzE34(d)) award scheme (note 34(d)) - - (18,986) - - (18,986)
7 Mv%’ FEMERES Share of reserve change of an
associate - - - 2,538 - 2,538
12022512831 B4 Balance at 31 December 2022 399,398 1,991,802 (18,986) 54,112 (542,550) 1,883,776
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)
(b) Dividends

No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2022 (2021:nil).

(20214 : #&) o
[N (c) Share capital
ZEREE B
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital
Fh ARETT
‘000 RMB’000
ERTRHRE : Issued and fully paid:
20211811 At 1 January 2021 360,000 360,000
BITHARD (1) Issue of new shares (i) 14,930 14,930
H2021F12A31H At 31 December 2021 374,930 374,930
BEATHEIRRAD (i) Issue of new shares (ii) 24,468 24,468
H2022F12A831H At 31 December 2022 399,398 399,398

(M)

(if)

M2021F5H31H * AR
AR U R X WA HZ -
Bt ZEEBUBEEEA
R#311,040,000 T RHE
AR EIHI14,930,000 B &
A% - AR% 14,930,000
TR AR296,110,000
L5 AlEt AR B /9 B AR
KR 5EE -

2022498 F RAITAHE
RAFBEITHEINLETINE
A% (HP%) 24,468,5008% -
WHEBRAER ETR
5 o BB RATREH TS
IB4A%E 5617,095,570
BT (HERARE
542,064,6557T) * AR
AIREN R ATIS S IB 48 EE (31
Brigm G ETRY) AA
R#500,696,8197T © &
P AR24 468,500 T
RBARA o

(i)

(if)

On 31 May 2021, the Company entered into the cross-
over round investment agreement, pursuant to which
the investors subscribed 14,930,000 ordinary shares of
the Company at a total investment of RMB311,040,000,
with RMB14,930,000 and RMB296,110,000 credited
to the Company’s share capital and share premium
respectively.

In September 2022, the Company completed the initial
public offering of 24,468,500 overseas listed foreign
shares (H shares), which were listed and traded on
the main board of the Stock Exchange. The gross
proceeds received from the Stock Exchange was
HK $617,095,570(equivalent to RMB542,064,655),
and the gross proceeds received by the Company
net of the listing expense attributed to equity was
RMB500,696,819, of which RMB24,468,500 was
recognised as share capital.
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34 BEXRK#AE ()
REHEERE &

(d)
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MN20224E10 4170 - &
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AEBEEREERER
BEZREIRG o 20224
IR 17 S Eh 5T &l B 20224 10
HA17 B#£ZE2032410 A
17 B I BRI ER A (M
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FEEB AR REE
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(1)

(i)

Share premium

Share premium included the net proceeds received
in excess of the total amount of the par value of
shares issued in relation to the conversion into a joint
stock company, the Cross-over Round net proceeds
received in excess of share capital and the net
proceeds received from initial public offering in Stock
Exchange in excess of share capital as disclosed Note
34(c)(ii).

Shares held for share award scheme

On 17 October 2022, the Board of Directors approved
a share award scheme (the “2022 Share Award
Scheme”), pursuant to which the Company are able
to grant restricted shares to the eligible directors
and employees of the Group. The 2022 Share Award
Scheme remained in force for a period commencing
on 17 October 2022 and ended on 17 October 2032
(Note 30(f)).

The Company has appointed a trustee for
administration of the 2022 Share Award Scheme
(the “Trustee”). The principal activity of the Trustee
is administrating and holding the Company’s shares
for the Share Award Scheme for the benefit of the
Company’s eligible employees. Pursuant to the 2022
Share Award Scheme, the Company’s shares will be
purchased by the Trustee in the market out of cash
contributed by the Company and held in the Trust for
relevant employees until such shares are vested in the
relevant beneficiary in accordance with the provisions
of the 2022 Share Award Scheme at no cost.

As at 31 December 2022, total number of shares held
by the Trustee was 828,500 at a total cost (including
related transaction costs) of RMB18,986,324, which is
reflected as shares held for share award scheme of
the Company.
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34 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iii)  Other reserve

Other reserve mainly comprises the following:

Capital premium of the Company before conversion
into a joint stock company, representing the net
proceeds of capital contribution received in excess
of the paid-in capital (less the amount of financial
liabilities recognised), the portion of the grant date fair
value of restricted shares granted to the employees
of the Group that has been recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in Note 2(u)(ii).

(iv) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into RMB. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy
set out in Note 2(y).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
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ESENIE
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate risks and currency risk

arise in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

()

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial institutions with
a minimum credit rating assigned by the management of
the Group, for which the Group considers to have low credit
risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
At 31 December 2022, 8% of the total trade receivables
were due from the Group’s largest debtor (2021: 15%),
and 21% of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group's five largest debtors (2021: 32%).

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 90 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The expected credit
loss rates of trade receivables are estimated using a
provision matrix calculated based on the historical credit
loss experience of each entity of the Group, adjusted for
factors specific to the debtors, as well as the Group’s
assessment of future economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables:

BZE2022F12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

BHEBERR HAREE EREE

Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% AR T AR T
% RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

R Collective assessment
— DR1EF — less than 1 year 1% 98,596 1,413
— 1324 - 11to 2 years 15% 10,771 1,614
—2ZE3F - 210 3 years 53% 2,828 1,486
— HiA3F — Over 3 years 100% 2,555 2,555
114,750 7,068
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35 RIEKREERERMTIAN 35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

AREHE(E) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(a) EERRE) (a) Credit risk (Continued)
BZEWE (E) Trade receivables (Continued)

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE
Year ended 31 December 2021

AHEEE HRERE(E BB

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% ARETT ARETT
% RMB’000 RMB’000
BRI Collective assessment
— D1F — less than 1 year 1% 96,376 964
—1ZE2F - 11to 2 years 15% 7,626 1,144
—2FE34F -2 to 3 years 57% 2,778 1,583
— HiB3F — Over 3 years 100% 1,939 1,939
108,719 5,630
FREME S EKGIENBER Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
HEREFHMT - receivables during the year is as follows:
BE12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
A1 A1 B S Balance at 1 January 5,630 2,748
FANERANTEHREEEE Expected credit loss recognised
during the year 1,385 2,890
REERROE R Z58 Exchange differences on translation
of financial statement 53 (8)
K12 A31 B Balance at 31 December 7,068 5,630
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at 31 December 2021 and 2022 of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,

based on rates current at the end of each reporting period)

and the earliest dates the Group can be required to pay:

#2022%12831H
As at 31 December 2022
ENRERRER
Contractual undiscounted cash flow

1R/ BB1E BiB2E
RER BRE2E BFE5E 5L @t REE

More than More than

Within 1yearbut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Over Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
REER A Long-term payables 71,685 78,245 779,333 109,200 1,038,463 772,047
HEsE Lease liabilities 48,405 40,373 91,046 152,804 332,628 236,445
RITRERER Bank and other loans 129,350 10,900 53,323 - 193,573 178,835
EHEMAFERENEE  Trade and bills payables 146,190 - - - 146,190 146,190
AtERTE Other payables 168,384 - - - 168,384 168,384
564,014 129,518 923,702 262,004 1,879,238 1,501,901
BREE(LF)BEMNERHERAT —ZE-__FFRH
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35 SREREEREMIAN
AREE (E&)

(b) REVMEREER (E)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

20214124318
As at 31 December 2021
BORHBRERE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
TR BB1E hiBoE
REX BF5)2% 87555 5EME @5t FaE
More than More than
Within Tyearbut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Over Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
ARETL  AREFTR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETr  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
REEMFE Long-term payables 78,525 86,576 334,420 256,990 756,511 519,381
RERRE Lease liabilities 27,805 21,927 31,272 22,333 109,337 89,799
BHRAFERERNSE  Trade and bills payables 102,441 - - - 102,441 102,441
EftERE Other payables 184,813 - - - 184,813 184,813
393,584 114,503 365,692 279,323 1,153,102 896,434

(c) R=Ep

MEREBESHRIAHNAREE
FARRBEREGETIHFIRE
HIKE W ERE - AEEMF X
Rl E2RERITER HEE
BEREHRAFOR -

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash

flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate

risk arises primarily from bank loans, lease liabilities and
long-term payables.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c)

TRAMSRERREAE
EREmAENER -

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk profile

The following table details the profile of the Group’s

interest-bearing financial liabilities at the end of each

reporting period.

R2022512831H #2021F 128318
As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021
1 il ¢8 TS £
Effective Effective
interest rate Amounts interest rate Amounts
% ARBTR % ARETR
% RMB’000 % RMB'000
EEFEEE Fixed rate borrowings
- ROTREMER - Bank and other loans 3.65% - 4.80% 119,755 N/A -
@A
-HEEE - Lease liabilities 6.01% - 8.00% 236,445 8.00% 89,799
- REERTE - Long-term payables 8.31% - 18.25% 772,047 8.31% - 8.99% 519,381
FENFIEER Variable rate borrowings
- BAREMER - Bank and other loans 6.00% 59,080 N/A -
TEH
EREE Total borrowings 1,187,327 609,180
B HEERGER Fixed rate borrowings as
LR a percentage of total
borrowings 95% 100%
FHNEERERR Variable rate borrowings
EIER as a percentage of total
borrowings 5% -
BREE(LF)BEMNERHERAT —ZE-__FFRH
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35 TRIAMEEREMITAN
DR EE (&)

(c) F=EmB (&)

(1)

MW2022F12A318 ' &
AR REE LA TR
S0MEES - fEfrB HiME
ERFTENERLT - &
SEFANEBEERRER
1R M AR
2,954,0007T °

tRgRESTETR - &
g YEERAREHE
REB A L7 w8
REAEEEE AL EE
MERBOEEIA K
SEMFAERE (RZFE
18) Rig A E LR
FEs - MASEERES
HRFF B RZE M EIET
ETEAMEANRERE
MEREBME @ HAKHE
FRAER(RZEFEER) X
FAaRENTEDBHR
BN EESHHN L
FRAFLFE -

MR AEERK 2021512 7
B1ERBFEFIERMER -
B utd |G E @ EE
REVBURE DT

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s loss for the year and
accumulated losses by approximately RMB2,954,000.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s loss for the year
(and accumulated losses) and the consolidated equity
that would arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to remeasure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s
loss for the year (and accumulated losses) and the
consolidated equity is estimated as an annualized
impact on interest expense or income of such a
change in interest rates.

Since the Group did not have variable-rate borrowings
at 31 December 2021, no sensitivity analysis about
interest rates risk is prepared.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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(d) E%ER
REBMEZRUMS REERT

PN
BEE

BZINNEETHENR S -

N TR I R S BRIR A RV SH
i e 5 E R o SRR
BBIBEARIT(IETD -

(7)

B E LSO
TRAMAKNEENHEH
KRG B AR S R B
BIhEE B 2 N B # G
ENCHEREEXAEM
EEXNEERREKOD - H
REJNBEH - BASEN
AR®IIR  EREFER
AHMEIHERBRE - F
BIEE R FEINET B 5
RMERAEBZIER
MmELREN Z5 -

R BB IRARMIEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily due to cash,
receivables and payables balances that are denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currency gives rise to
this risk is primarily US Dollar (“USD”).

(i)  Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group's exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,
translated using the spot rates at the respective year
end dates. Differences resulting from the translation
of financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

MM2A31A
As at 31 December

A0F  0NF  02F  02F  W0F  0nF  0AF  020F
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
3 AE 7 B E B B X7
GBP JPY EUR HKD usb JPY HKD usb

ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETL ARETI

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB0OO

FIREER S Cash at bank and on hand - - - 123249 294,079 - - 152,359
EHEUTE Trade receivables - - - 3% 40,698 - 66 14,841
LSENTERENEE Trade and bills payables (5,876) (45) (182) (1,343  (997) () - (5666)
BEDEAERBEELH Gross exposure arising from

BERHA recognized assets and liabilities (5,876) (45) (132) 122242 324,806 3) 66 161,534

AREE(LR)BENEROBRAT —B--FFER 299
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35 TRIEMEERSMIAN 35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

AREE (&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(d) E¥ERE) (d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) BBEZHT (i) ~ Sensitivity analysis

TRINREREERHRE
HA oK T R 22 K AL g O B R
RZBAZBENBERT &K
SENFEER(RRFE
18) BB R M =8 (R
HPTE H A A] & &
HBRTE) -

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss for the year (and accumulated
losses) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

HEEFERRRGTBERNZE

Effect on loss for the year

and accumulated losses

M12A831H
As at 31 December
fE =
EH(TEE) 20224 20214
Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign
exchange rates 2022 2021
ARTR AR%TT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
EP usb 5% 16,240 8,077
-5% (16,240) (8,077)
BT HKD 5% 6,112 3
-5% (6,112) (3)
BT EUR 5% (7) -
-5% 7 -
H JPY 5% (2) -
-5% 2 -
HEE GBP 5% (294) -
-5% 294 -

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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(i)

BRE R HT ()

EREIWDOTERRY
AEEREBREANE
TAENFEBEERZ
BEMERZEEM - I
R27 B8R M E R
RITEXMEBARE -

BRESTBRREXZE
EAREHMFEAEER
BEMRFENSAEHE
A SMNE [ B B B T
H BHEUERASER
AR B Z N E
FHER A KB A A R fE R
SRR B RIE - AT
TRIEEKEIEB T
BHREREEXNAEEZT]
BERMELNEZR  Z#H
BHURN AR & BUA S 2
EONE - RBE AR EE D
BEEFEERE -RNF
A - DITIRIAREELETT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ loss for the year
and accumulated losses measured in USD, translated
into RMB at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-
company payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The
analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency,
which depends on the foreign currencies the Group
is exposed to, may or may not have an effect on the
Group’s net assets. The analysis is performed on the
same basis during the year.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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35 TRIAREEREMTAN
D REE (&)

(e) AREEE

(7)

BAREBETSBHTHEE

ERBBEFESREER
BEMNAAEBERERN
BERGABBENAE A E
M BZEeREENA
BOR=MEHR - AR E
BEERBATHR -

s FM:HEREEKE
BERERT S
BB (R4

HE)

CREAE &
MIREN - B
EXRETE
#% (BAME) =
Mz (B ER
) BEK
BARE - R

EESARY
FERABER
kg ¢ 30k
ABE (TR
SRABUR) -

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair values measurement
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities
into three levels based on the relative reliability of
significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of
these financial assets and liabilities. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

° Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets and
liabilities;

° Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

° Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value (Continued)

(#&)
W12A31H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
Fair value
measurements
Fair value measurements categorised
categorised into into Level 2
28R 28R DER
-t 1 E=RE AR
ARBEEGE AAEEHE QA EGHE
Level 2 Level 3
AR¥T R AR®TF R ARBFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BARBEFEAHEESHFIA  Financial assets at FVOCI - - 100,000
E2ERAZ 2REE - certificate of deposit
e
BARBEFEEEZEHIA  Financial assets at FVTPL -
EHEG eREE
- LEREESETH - wealth management products 8,198 - -
B Em issued by private equity funds
— RIBRE IR IR B — equity investment in Kactus - 52,861 -
8,198 52,861 100,000

REN - E—HREE R
2L EER  TWEE
ARBEHE=F - X&EH
MBRZERIAEBERER
ZHHNBERBELEERN
R BRRTER -

During the year, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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35 TRIAMEEREMITAN
DR EE (&)

(e) AARMBEEFE(E)
(i) BAAEESBHEHEE

(%)
BHE_—RIAEEE
HEH

FERLEREESET
WEPMEMO QR EER
RELMEHE -

BEHE=ZRAAEE
s

B8 B A D A 1B
ENERTRR S ERE

.
E °

7L

Ty
]

(i) FLHERAAEBETENE
BEEREBEN L IEE

NEE KRR FHRE AR K
BHREATENSRIA
HARE EE KR 2021 F K&
2022F 12 A31 B AR E
Bz EERER -

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value (Continued)
Information about Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of certificate of deposit and wealth
management products issued by private equity funds
are calculated based the annualized interest rate.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of equity investment in Kactus is
determined using recent transaction price.

(i) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortized cost are not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 December 2021 and 2022.

36 &iE 36 COMMITMENTS
RAEVBBRRPRELBEONRE Capital commitments outstanding at the end of the reporting
MRRBITHERFAENT period not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
were as follows:
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARBTR AREFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BRIFE - Construction projects:

B =Hi1A A Haimen Phase Il Project 8,838 52,575

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES

E2 953 L (a) Names and relationships of the related parties that had
material transactions with the Group
B A8 2RES
Name of related party Relationship
L AERE THIT RITESR
Mr. Shen Yuelei Controlling party and executive director
R fiE 2+ THIT RITESR
Ms. Ni Jian Controlling party and executive director
IRBERESREERPL (BRE&R)(ARES]) &R
Beijing Bio Changqging Technology Development Shareholders

Center (limited partnership) (“Bio Changging”)
IRBERESHEERDL(BRER)

Hﬁi AK N Ej

ZIFR BRI (M) ARAA /N

Doma Biopharmaceutical (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Doma”) An associate

BBE AR (M) ARAR ([RE]) Bs & N BRI B A 7

Xadcera Biopharmaceutical (Suzhou) Co., Ltd A subsidiary of an associate
(“Xadcera”) B iEE SR (&R M) BRA A

e kNG|

Kemai An associate

(21N NS Ed))

Kactus An associate (Note i)

MiEEi : Ot EE16FTt - B 20224 1
AR - BHETERARARMN

NS

Note i: As described in note 16, since January 2022, Kactus is no
longer an associate of the Company.

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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37V EXRBEBAIRZIREH

(&)

(b) EHEHEEBATHRS

37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties

HE12AMBLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

ARTR AREFIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

RALARH (BYEED Provision of services (Note i) 71,741 49
BEER Purchase of goods 388 6,025
A2 sz (B 3T Interest expense (Note ii) 9,200 -

B

B &Eii -

RERBEEFEBENR
BOTERERAARK
70,000,0007T * HECE R
ERNETHRBEOEENR
5B A AR 20,000,000
TL o ERBABEH - MBE
HEBEEET AN
DFHREFEIMNERE - KK
E IR RE R 2 S0 RS
D F L B U R
RE WHEEDIERER
1A o

FAAH 33 (b) AR EE - A
BRXEZBNENRELE
Ky B (ERE AN KR RE
EHR) -

Note i:

Note ii:

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022

Provision of services includes antibody molecule transfer
income with Xadcera of RMB70,000,000, the transaction
price allocates to the remaining performance obligations
under relevant contracts was RMB20,000,000. According to
the relevant contracts, the Group may also receive royalties
at commercialization of such antibody molecules transferred
and be entitled to share the proceeds if Xadcera out-
licenses its right of the antibody molecules transferred to
others in the future.

As disclosed in Note 33(b), the interest expense represents
the accrued deferred capital premium for Doma, based on
the daily interest rate and the deferred period.
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37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(c) Balances with related parties

The Group’s balances with related parties as at the end of

HEERATN ¢ each reporting period are as follows:
A12H31H
As at 31 December
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR%T ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Z SR R0E (M5E25) Trade payables (Note 25)
— &R (HEED - Kactus (Note i) - 1,609
REAFER 308 (FIE33) Long-term payables (Note 33)
— %35 - Doma 209,200 -
MizEi : $2022F 128318 B

TN B S EMKERA
R#1,674,0007T °

P FEREHSE 77 1O E 5 e 5 5RIR
YRESME -

(d) FEBSEEIEABHEM

AEEHBRERASNTH (2
B THZIORBENARES
EHEFIORBENE TR HE
BRRIE) T

Note i:
RMB1,674,000.

As at 31 December 2022, trade payables to Kactus is

All trade payables due to related parties are in trade nature.

(d) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the

Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors

as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest paid

employees as disclosed in Note 10, is as follows:

BZ12A31ALLFE
Year ended 31 December

2022 20214

2022 2021

ARBT T AREFT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

e kHEMMe Salaries and other emoluments 22,194 21,307
IETEAT Discretionary bonuses 1,035 5,613
RIRET SR Retirement scheme contributions 892 977
AR A E R A Equity-settled share-based payment 9,683 10,041
33,804 37,938

BNt AP RE7(0)M [ B THK
ZNI

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” in Note 7(b).
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W EXRBABIRZ RERK 37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(#&) AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)
(e) HEEXZEENLTRAZE (e) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected
At transactions

LR T R B TEN LR
BIFE14ABPTRENRER H K

None of the above related party transactions falls under the

definition of connected transaction or continuing connected

transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

38 AR TEEBEMRE 38 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

M12H831H
At 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
BT ARET AREFT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME - BE MRE Property, plant and equipment 282,087 280,644
E|ILEE Intangible assets 26,985 5,765
AT A Al R Interests in subsidiaries 15 1,188,942 987,755
REE N RIRER Interests in associates 197,944 9,685
HEmIEme&E Other non-current assets 52,861 10,205
1,748,819 1,294,054
REEE Current assets
FE Inventories 11,964 11,588
AR Contract costs 30,778 34,185
EUEE Biological assets 1,543 491
Z 5 WG IE Trade receivables 302,913 262,471
TEA 3B I E Ath FE U RRTE Prepayments and other receivables 16,075 48,992
EthemEE Other financial assets - 100,000
BITRETFRS Cash at bank and on hand 439,756 257,318
803,029 715,045
ik =R Current liabilities
B RNZIBRENEE Trade and bills payables 62,714 80,924
afarE Contract liabilities 20,895 29,047
HAtb A 3RI8 Other payables 93,647 73,120
RITREMER Bank and other loans 82,800 -
HEAE Lease liabilities 17,844 17,483
277,900 200,574
REEEFE Net current assets 525,129 514,471
REERRBAR Total assets less current liabilities 2,273,948 1,808,525

308 Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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38 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

M12H831H
At 31 December
2022 20214
2022 2021
Bt AR®TT ARETT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
REAE OB Long-term payables 209,200 -
EEWA Deferred income 83,284 86,002
HEAE Lease liabilities 45,518 58,668
BITREMER Bank and other loans 52,170 -
390,172 144,670
EERE NET ASSETS 1,883,776 1,663,855
A12831H
At 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
Mo AR%T ARETT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BRRHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
&7 Share capital 34 399,398 374,930
(ki Reserves 34 1,484,378 1,288,925
R TOTAL EQUITY 1,883,776 1,663,855

39 REHRFAESEE

R2023F3A6H + RRRIRITES
TEE  BEBRTARYR EEES
RSFBIAIR £ o BITARBFAR
RABRERAEARTEAEFHEEER
ZEERLEBELRGAHEE A
AMEE ©

39 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE

REPORTING PERIOD

On 6 March 2023, the Company held a board meeting to propose
issue of A Shares and listing on the Sci-Tech Board of the

Shanghai Stock Exchange. The issue of A Shares will be subject

to the approval by the shareholders of the Company, as well as

the approvals by the China Securities Regulatory Commission

and the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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40 HERRRERTS

41

BERAKREER2022F12A31H
MEERTRIEHH ALEE R
i °

© 78 5 1B 1A 5 79 e AR AE Y
1E5] - MEARZRE TR/
B/

a

BEARETIZAN - B GsrEA2
EECHEMBIRERT - el AR
BRIERT - ¥R R BRERNFAREARE
B BARRERE MBS MR RN -

RUTEARZ
=tk
HEEXR

B &5t ERIE 1955
il RIEDEER
BE I

2023%1A1H

Bl &t ERIE 155 R
B B R E
BRWEEFEET
BRI BE

202351 H1H

B &5 ERIE 8T
i BAthAT 2 EE

20231 H1H

BIfR &5t ERIE 123715
i) BE-XGESL
HEER R EIERH
BAHR

2023%1A1H

Bl BRI E 17
£ REEH

20231 H1H

REB LA EZFER] - #a]ER
KRB B IR ERE A EK
22581 AEENERRZ B
RN AR RS R A B IR ENE

=275
& o

40

41

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTIES

As at 31 December 2022, the directors consider the immediate
and ultimate controlling parties of the Group to be Mr. Shen and
Ms. Ni.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR

Up to the date of issue of this report, the IASB has issued a
number of amendments, new standards and interpretations
which are not yet effective for the year and which have not been
adopted in the consolidated financial statements.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to IAS 1, Classification of 1 January 2023

liabilities as current or non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting

1 January 2023

policies

Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of Accounting 1 January 2023

Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a

1 January 2023

Single Transaction

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far
the Group has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidation financial
statements.

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Financial Summary

AEERBE=ZAVREE* ZEBEURE A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
EXBEME (Ha BN BER K for the last three financial years*, as extracted from the audited
K ) HMT ¢ financial information and financial statements, is set out below:

BZ12A31BLLEE
For the year ended December 31,

20224 20214 20204

2022 2021 2020

AR®T R AREFT AREFT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000

& Revenue 533,881 354,555 253,542
EA Gross profit 391,750 247,440 166,993
BREE R 1R Loss before taxation (601,353) (545,643) (476,691)
FREE Loss for the year (602,157) (545,643) (476,691)

AR B RE R IR (L Loss for the year attributable to equity
FREE shareholders of the Company (601,945) (545,576) (428,091)
FREEBALE Total comprehensive income for the year (600,716) (545,062) (474,788)
BREBEANEE (ARE) Loss per share basic and diluted (RMB) (1.58) (1.51) (1.68)
R12831H
As at December 31,

20224 20214 20204

2022 2021 2020

AR¥BTRT ARETr ARBTET

RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000

WEE Total assets 2,799,832 2,302,783 2,326,518
BERE Total liabilities 1,649,016 1,050,812 868,277
BEFE Net assets 1,150,816 1,251,971 1,458,241
B Total equity 1,150,816 1,251,971 1,458,241
* ARATIHIER 20229 A1 HIEE * The H Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock

HFBIE+ NAS RS F AR T o Exchange under Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules on September 1, 2022.
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Definition

[ADC]

“ADC”

[E=S 1=k
“Adoption Date”

[FEERAE]
“‘AGM”
[EXEY

“animal model”

[EF2MA ] sk [ A=A ]
“Articles” or “Articles of

Association”

=% 3
“Astral”

(Bt LB
“Audit Committee”

[ 42 |

“Award”

[ S2EN A7
“Awarded Share(s)”

[BAlME ]

“B-cell” or “B cell”

MEBEDEEY  BES D FREERS AR ENEEEELNNUSREY
G BRKASTRBENEEDF

antibody-drug-conjugates, a new class of highly potent biological drugs built by
attaching a small molecule anticancer drug or another therapeutic agent to an
antibody, with either a permanent or a labile linker

PRER HE /R0 2 DT B 8) R 8] - B120224F11 A7 H
the date on which the Share Awards Scheme is approved by the Shareholders, i.e.
November 7, 2022

KARER2023F5 A25 B RITHFEERRERE
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 25, 2023

BEMARTAEAEDRE - B ABRBRNS AT MAESHERERERKEEN - ZEMN
SRR E R

a non-human species used in medical research to mimic aspects of a disease
found in humans, so as to obtain information about a disease and its prevention,
diagnosis, and treatment

PN/ oF R
the articles of association of the Company from time to time

Astral Eminent Limited
Astral Eminent Limited

EEgHEILET
the audit committee of the Board

BEEERBAERAUMAEES R EHRER
an award of H Shares by the Board to a Selected Employee pursuant to the
Scheme Rules

HRABEEMS  EFEBETTREEAZERERENEHEHREA
in respect of a Selected Employee, such number of H Shares determined by the
Board and granted to such Selected Employee

BREHEREXREBARIEMELMENNOKRSHARTRNEMAR  aEELNE

a type of white blood cell that differs from other types of lymphocytes by
expressing B cell receptors on its surface, and responsible for producing
antibodies
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[BRE®E]

“Baiao Changsheng”

(BEEE]

“Baiao Evergreen”

IEES 3=
“BioVeda”

[Exg]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[CD40]

“CD40”

[CDMO]

“CDMO(s)”

[{ZEEIESFRI
“CG Code”

[FE

“China” or “the PRC”

[CMC]
‘cMc”

Definition

IREARERBEERTO (ARAERE)  R2019F6 A24AEFRBEKINARER - Ik
HEAEE—ZEBEBA  E—BTHALHKE

Beijing Baiao Changsheng Technology Development Center (Limited Partnership)*
(AtRAREEMEEREPL (ARAE)), a limited partnership established in the PRC
on June 24, 2019, of which Dr. Shen is the sole general partner, and a member of
a Concert Party

IRARESREERFTO (BRAERE)  R2016F412AEFREKRINARER - Ik
BT AEE—EBRERBA  BE—BTHALHKE

Beijing Baiao Evergreen Technology Development Center (Limited Partnership)* (3t
FARESRIBEERESL (BRAE)), a limited partnership established in the PRC
on April 12, 2016, of which Dr. Shen is the sole general partner, and a member of
a Concert Party

BioVeda China Fund Il RMB, Limited
BioVeda China Fund Il RMB, Limited

ARAEEE

the board of directors of the Company

M AEEA - ENREZMM FRRNOARBERD - ENBRE RAE R ERSRA
9\
Cluster of Differentiation 40, a costimulatory protein found on antigen-presenting

cells, essential in mediating immune and inflammatory responses

ERMBEEDLE  REVNEELSBETEHMARIRHEYRBEZENEESHFAR
BH R A

contract development manufacturing organization(s), a company that serves
other companies in the pharmaceutical industry on a contract basis to provide
comprehensive services from drug development through drug manufacturing

ETARAI SR 14T E > B AP A
the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

MEARANE  EERARESRIEMELEMNS - BXESEMEN  TRETE -
RPIRRIITRIE R A&

the People’ s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this announcement and
for geographical reference only and except where the context requires, excluding
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

182 - HE RE|

Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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Definition

[AARR[AREE ]

“Company”, “our Company” or
“the Company”

[—HTBALI

“Concerted Parties”

4577 ]

“Controlling Parties”

[#Z O EEm ]
“Core Products”
[CROJ

“CRO(s)”

GRSy
“CSRC”

[CTLA-4]

“CTLA-4"

[E%]

“Director(s)

»

[ A& R

“Domestic Share(s)”

BRERE (ER) BEMERHERLQE - R2009F11 B 1I3HEFBEAMKZINERA
8] - R2020F 12 29 Bl AR A B MK IMRGBERLE - IS RIRAREER
EREYMEMER QA

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (BREB (dt57) B ER RN
BBR/AF]), a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC on November 13,
2009 and converted into a joint stock limited liability company incorporated in the
PRC on December 29, 2020 whose predecessor was Beijing Biocytogen Gene
Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (It R B REEEEAAMEMT AR AAR])

EEIRBETHANE —SARREEKES - ARG REERETE  SA—&[—
BITEHAL

refers to members of the single largest group of Shareholders immediately prior
to the completion of the Global Offering, namely, the Controlling Parties and the
Employee Incentive Platforms, each a “Concert Party”

MELREEL  RREEFHAEENEERELHNBEAA  BRE—SRAKRREH
Dr. Shen and Dr. Ni, being the natural persons ultimately controlling the
management and operations of our Group, and members of our single largest
group of Shareholders

YHO001 & YH003 * E#RAIE 18AEFT R ERIIETE [T OEM ]
YHO0O1 and YHO0O3, the designated “core products” as defined under Chapter 18A
of the Listing Rules

SRMAEE - NRENEEIIBRERGOEAMRE - EYRMMERBEMITER
HEFRFH AT

contract research organization(s), a company which provides support to the
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and medical device industries in the form of
research and development services outsourced on a contract basis

TEESEEEEERS

the China Securities Regulatory Commission (FEIB S EEERELE

)

A

mo
S

ETAR AR RENERLRE  (FRARNREARRREREER - L THRRE
P

a protein receptor expressed constitutively on T cells that functions as an immune
checkpoint and downregulates immune responses

RKRAREE
the director(s) of the Company

RARBETHNEREBARE1.0TAUNARERE S AT @R
ordinary share(s) issued by our Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.0 each,
which are subscribed for or credited as paid in Renminbi
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[MEE& |
“Employee(s)”

“Excluded Employee(s)

[ AT A

“Employee Incentive Platforms”

[ B T3

“Employee Incentive Schemes”

(PRI RE ]

“Eucure Changsheng”

[hMES

“Eucure Evergreen”

[FDA]
‘FDA”

Definition

AEBEAKERARNENERES (TRIEEARIMEE)
any full-time employee (excluding any Excluded Employee) of any member of the
Group

(WREERLEBR - REAXEENERSHNTAANARBRERE AR EX5E
EBRTEIFNEAES (RIFEFSREBERERZRBBERTE) @ d((i)VREEER
AR RER - MMERBEZE BN R E R D EHRGO & NGB REREERGD
WERREE  HFBFERAXAA(RBEAME) RERETEMEREZEZRER M THA
ZEEBUESRENEIMES

(i) at the time of the proposed grant of an Award, any Employee whose service
in the Group does not exceed 1 year from the expiry date of his probationary
period as stated in his employment contract with the Group, except as otherwise
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion on a case by case basis, or (ii)
any Employee who is resident in a place where the award of the Awarded Shares
and/or the vesting and transfer of the Awarded Shares pursuant to the terms of the
Scheme is not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or where
in the view of the Board or the Trustee (as the case may be), compliance with
applicable laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient to
exclude such Employee

BERES BERER HNESRENER
Baiao Evergreen, Baiao Changsheng, Eucure Evergreen and Eucure Changsheng

ERSHERMNNARREE S BB TS
the employee incentive schemes of our Company approved and adopted by the
Board

IEREFMERBMEERDP O (BRE®)  R2020F9 A1 BEFRBEKINEREE - L
BERHEE-—LEBABA  E—BITHAL

Beijing Eucure Changsheng Technology Development Center (Limited Partnership)*
(AtEHRAMEERREZEREDL (BRAHE)), a limited partnership established in the
PRC on September 1, 2020, of which Dr. Shen is the sole general partner, and a
Concert Party

IFENESREERP O (ARERE) - R2020F5 A9REFREKINBERER Ik
BrRHEE—LT@EABA  B—BITSHAL

Beijing Eucure Evergreen Technology Development Center (Limited Partnership)*
(AEERHRMESREZEREPL (BRAE)), a limited partnership established in the
PRC on May 9, 2020, of which Dr. Shen is the sole general partner, and a Concert
Party

4

P

AN O 7y O BE A &S
RmEnEEEeER

Food and Drug Administration
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Definition

[FIH]
“FIH"

MR EEFEEEZBEA

=R

“FVTPL”

[GCP]
‘GCP”

[RUiEEe L]
“GeneQuantum”

[ZIREE]
“Global Offering”

[GMP]
‘GMP”

(ARG T3P

“Group,” “our Group,”

“we” or “us”

[HCC]
‘HCC”

[T
“HK$” or “HKD”

(&%

“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[HA

“H Share(s)”

[gG]
“19G”

EPNN: Bt

first-in-human

fair value through profit or loss

EYEBRRHBEEEERD
Good Clinical Practice

REBERR (M) ARQE - BAORRAENESHENENTREIF SRR
GeneQuantum Healthcare (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (BUEEEZERIE (FM) AR AT,
innovative high-tech enterprise dedicated to the development of new hlgh—end
biological drugs in China

RARHRRER IR IREE
the global offering of the Company’s H Shares on the Stock Exchange

BEREETSEERE
Good Manufacture Practices

KRR REWE AR
our Company and our subsidiaries

B ikiap

hepatocellular carcinoma

BRNEEEREET

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

HEEB R RIITR R
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

RRABRAFFREBEARE1.0THIFEIN ETINERR - ISAETREREELENES
B 2 P -7

overseas listed foreign share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a nominal
value of RMB1.0 each, which is/are subscribed for and traded in HK dollars and
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

REMREAG MABRPHRT RORERE - HMFBMAMEEMER
Immunoglobulin G, the most common type of antibody found in blood circulation,
created and released by plasma B cells
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MgG1J

“1gG1”

[gG2]
“1gG2”

[IND]
“IND”

[BE=7]
“independent third party(ies)”

[R1i ]

“in situ”

s

“in vitro”

(R = R Em]
“KOL(s)"

[ 7]
“Listing”

[ ETHE
“Listing Date”

Definition
BEREAG AIVBFRLEEMIgCEE RN EBHYRSRRENNERESH

BE
Immunoglobulin G1, the most abundant IgG subclass in human sera and is
important for mediating antibody responses against viral pathogens

REMEAG2  TEAFHHARKES BB EEYIgGRE
Immunoglobulin G2, predominantly responsible for anticarbohydrate 1gG responses
against bacterial capsular polysaccharides

W KA 55 PR BT S sk BR R I ST R 26 ER 55+ B B T8 R ER IR sl iR FR 35
investigational new drug or investigational new drug application, also known as
clinical trial application in China

WHARFEEAL (EEREELTRA) NEMERIAL
any entity(ies) or person(s) who is not a connected person of our Company within
the meaning of the Hong Kong Listing Rules

BRRESUE (R BRERAMIAZICE N &8 H B
in the normal location (site of origin) and has not invaded neighboring tissue or
gone elsewhere in the body

MAMEY - AR EY S FEREIEREYIRFINETH —HHATIHNT
a category of study conditions which are performed with microorganisms, cells, or
biological molecules outside their normal biological context

WEESNEYRIAE CBERDY (BREAR) MEY) RS EEENZ RN —8
HFTiRtt - BRI BSR4 M BT TR IR (28 5

a category of study conditions in which the effects of various biological entities are
tested on whole, living organisms or cells, usually animals, including humans, and
plants, as opposed to a tissue extract or dead organism

R E R A
Key Opinion Leader(s)

HARPA B BB R P AR LT
listing of the H Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

HERR BB P E I E/E B E A A B R20229F9 A1 R

September 1, 2022, being the date on which our H Shares are listed and from
which dealings therein are permitted to take place on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange
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Definition

[EHRAI [ EE EHHRA
“Listing Rules” or
“Hong Kong Listing Rules”

(B sk EREnE]
“mAb”or “monoclonal antibody”
[F1R ]

“Main Board”

[12%E=<FA ]
“Model Code”

[MRCT]
“‘MRCT(s)”

[NK]
“NK”

[BREES ]
“NMPA’

[REZRBE

“Nomination Committee”

[BIREE R B 8% )
“NRDL”

[NSCLC]
“‘NSCLC”

[ B REAC A

“Over-allotment Option”

[ox40/
“OX40”

BEBRAESF ETRA STRHER] - BRIUARAMTT Bk
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

mig B — SRR EN AR 2R ARE LN
antibodies that are made by identical immune cells which are all clones belonging
to a unique parent cell

EEBMRMECHRER G5 (TREPETS) - HBYNEBHZMIGEMT 5l &
HAITEE

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

EHRAIMER10PTEE) E BT ABETETES R HHIRETA
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

multi-regional clinical trial(s)

BARGHAK  RAFLRSHEBEESAROREE MK RARE —BIHR
natural killer cell, the human body’s first line of defense due to their innate ability to
rapidly seek and destroy abnormal cells

BREMEEERER
National Medical Products Administration

EEeRE%RES

the nomination committee of the Board

B B R B B 8%
National Reimbursement Drug List

JE/INAR AR 7B

non-small-cell lung carcinoma

RRRIF BB ER T B 6 857 60 A FE A AR #E
the over-allotment option granted by the Company to the international underwriters
in connection with the Global Offering

R CATAR FRENTE - AT RERRBEFRETARS X RESE
a receptor expressed on activated T cells which gives costimulatory signals to
promote T cell division and survival
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[PD-1]

“PD-1"

[PD-L1]

“PD-L1”

[k AR A58

“Phase | clinical trial”

115 e PR =t e |

“Phase Il clinical trial”

[FEHRE]
“Pls”

[TEEH

“Project Integrum”

[BRER]

“Prospectus”

[RC118]

‘RC118"

[ 773 |
‘R&D”

B

Definition

BEMARETERI1REFMEILTRE1 —EETHNR  BARMEWANR - REN
RREBEHTLE - PD-1NEFRESHEMATARNENEERE - BILRESERGN
BRENEMRRAR ETARKRENPD-1HEFFARSRAREONELEELEES
B - TARM Bt & RARA B AR SL AR R BE 11

programmed cell death protein 1 or programmed death receptor 1, an immune
checkpoint receptor expressed on T cells, B cells and macrophages. The normal
function of PD-1 is to turn off the T cell mediated immune response as part of the
process that stops a healthy immune system from attacking other pathogenic cells
in the body. When PD-1 on the surface of a T cell attaches to certain proteins on
the surface of a normal cell or a cancer cell, the T cell turns off its ability to kill the cell

PD-1EC#81  —BUNEFARSBEARKRENED  BTARKEAMNPD-1ASSEET
AR 8 B LR SE TR A B D A

PD-1 ligand 1, which is a protein on the surface of a normal cell or a cancer cell
that attaches to PD-1 on the surface of the T cell that causes the T cell to turn off
its ability to kill the cancer cell

MRAABERE—PBHATPARA - BERLEEYIBENME - MRAEFHENL
2 BEXZEESHE - LHETAER

a study in which the researchers test an experimental drug or treatment in a small
group of people for the first time. The researchers evaluate the treatment’s safety,
determine a safe dosage range, and identify side effects

HEEZ NIAERMEDIFEANTRERTERIE — Pl EE L2 N
a study in which the experimental drug or treatment is given to a larger group of
people to see if it is effective and to further evaluate its safety

TEMRE
principal investigators

TEBMMN2020F3 A/ME - AARKRATNEHIRE

Project Integrum (FE&E#1) launched in March 2020, a large-scale in vivo antibody
discovery program

RREFEERFEER 202248 A 19 A RIS BRETR
the prospectus published by the Company on August 19, 2022 in relation to the

Global Offering

YHO05 ADC
YHO05 ADC

T 7% B A B
research and development
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Definition

[EREEY]

“RemeGen”

[FrEEZEZE e

“Remuneration and

Evaluation Committee”

[RenLite ]

“RenLite”

[RenMab |

“RenMab”

[RenNano |

“RenNano”

[ 5= 2

“Reporting Period”

[RERG |

e

“Returned Shares”

[ARY |
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[RP2D]
‘RP2D”

KEEYRE(BE)ROHBRAR - —HKROBM (RMHARIE - 9995) R LBEHFRH
BT (R 5% - 688331) FHHIAR B —REALEARNELERNEYMRENT - &
HRER  HAENEZRLCANY ARENEYE  BRARTRNEZEEHZEERS
KA MR B & RZ - EERIBRYRRE

RemeGen Co., Ltd. (REEMEE (Ea) RNBBRAF), a listed company in the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 9995) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 688331), a commercial-stage biopharmaceutical company committed to the
discovery, development and commercialization of innovative and differentiated
biologics for the treatment of autoimmune, oncology and ophthalmic diseases with
unmet medical needs in China and globally

EERFMEEZEES
the remuneration and evaluation committee of the Board

RAFWFES - FEARenLite NEERZERM NS OEFEENERERFEEADC
a platform of the Company, using RenLite mice to produce diverse bi-specific
antibodies with high affinity and to generate bi-specific ADCs

AARMTE FREA2ARZENHEEFERenMab/NE - £ FFERANBABRE A
BEERERE  DURZEAESENN - BR2ERMERRIFKEERN 2 AR

a platform of the Company, using transgenic RenMab mice with full human
variable region, which allows for the natural in vivo pairing of human heavy and
light chains for the development of fully human antibodies with high affinity, low
immunogenicity, and favorable developability

£ FARenNano/NELARenMab/ NE AR AESENEN T A - U ESEEETEREE
E—HHEW

a platform uses RenNano mice to produce heavy chain antibodies on the basis of
RenMab mice with further modification on antibody heavy chain constant region

2022F 1 A1HZE2022F12A318FE
the year from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022

RIEZETEIOER T THB R, S8 a2 AR SABRA IR » SUARIREZ T8I A2 5T
IR EVRF AR RIRE IR AR 19

such Awarded Shares or related income which are not vested and/or forfeited in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme, or such Shares being deemed to be
Returned Shares in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and the Trust Deed

TREMEEEEARE

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China

HRHEBEI =

recommended Phase Il dose
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[RSV]
‘RSV”

5811k AR fh BB ET & (HAR) |
“Scheme” or “Share Award
Scheme (H Shares)”

[SHEIRA

“Scheme Rules”

[E14% |

“Sbic”

[BI4& 2K |
“SDIC Ningbo”
[EI4% 0% ]

“SDIC Shanghai”

[ BRI ]
“SDIC Shenzhen”

[NEEE]
“Selected Employee(s)

[E5H R HE G ]
“SFO”

A5 )
“Share(s)”

[A& ]
“Shareholder(s)”

(B2 P ] 3 [ BB R PR
“Stock Exchange” or
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Definition

SSRGS
respiratory syncytial virus

FTEFR AR E R AR E [E B R =R TS
the “Employees’ Share Award Scheme” of the Company constituted by the Scheme
Rules

BEE RN B BIAE ATE R HE RIRB SR IBEA R SR T N RIERT BT 28R AR A
the rules relating to the Scheme, as approved and adopted by the Board on the
Adoption Date in its present form or as amended from time to time in accordance
with the provisions hereof

FEFEREESEEFRAR
State Development & Investment Group Co., Ltd.

Bl (B B RECAIEREESAB LR (ARER)
State Development & Investment Corporation (SDIC) VC Fund (Ningbo) of
Technology Transfer and Commercialization (Limited Partnership)

Bl (8) B RELAIEREES X (AREH)
State Development & Investment Corporation (SDIC) VC Fund (Shanghai) of
Technology Transfer and Commercialization (Limited Partnership)

B Em#H ORI BIEREES (ARER)
State Development & Investment Corporation (SDIC) Gaoxin (Shenzhen) VC Fund
(Limited Partnership)

EXEerERNETRER R SINEMAESR
Employee(s) selected by the Board pursuant to the Board’s absolute discretion to,
from time to time, select any Employee for participation in the Scheme

BEEEDESTIEZFRAEIED - BARER]
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended from time to time

ARBRAFERMEARE1.0THEBR - 2EELTRG RHR
ordinary share(s) in the capital of our Company with a nominal value of RMB1.0
each, comprising our Unlisted Shares and H Shares

BROEEA
holder(s) of the Share(s)

EEBMARHMERAR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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Definition

[BMEREES
“Strategy Development
Committee”

[SUPCE]
“SUPCE”

(%]

“Supervisor(s)”

[E%e

“Supervisory Committee”

[T#AM

“T-cell” or “T cell”

[TCR]

“TCR”

[TGA]
‘“TGA”

RELA

“Trust”

[ZFEA

“Trustee”

[{E5ERI% ]
“Trust Deed”

EXguREREES

the strategy development committee of the Board

TRAR/IMEEREE T2 RS - —BEFERBRASMN
Size-unlimited and Precise Chromosome Engineering System, a genetic
manipulation technique

RAREEGKE

member(s) of the supervisory committee of the Company

ARAEEE

the supervisory committee of the Company

—TEREAENR  BRREASINTIVERGE2EERRE AR EREREZZD
1ER - AR AT LSRR AR M R E R RO T 48 AR ﬁ B2 B3 A AN ED 4R PR (B ARRB FINK 4R R ) (&
A HR

a lymphocyte of a type produced or processed by the thymus gland and actively
participating in the immune response, which plays a central role in cell-mediated
immunity. T-cells can be distinguished from other lymphocytes, such as B cells
and NK cells, by the presence of a T-cell receptor on the cell surface

TARERE  URTARKRAN -EEAEESY  BEZNRTIZEBHETHEARY
FrRENTRMA R

T-cell receptor, a protein complex found on the surface of T cells that is

responsible for recognizing fragments of antigen as peptides bound to major

histocompatibility complex molecules

EAMEEYEIRRF  BANEBTH Y SoaREEEE
The Therapeutic Goods Administration, the medicine and therapeutic regulatory
agency of the Australian Government

ERERIBER 2 E
the trust constituted by the Trust Deed

BEKEETBRAE » KHAR R TEREUNERZ TSN EMETAR
CMB Wing Lung (Trustee) Limited, or other trustee corporations to be appointed by
the Company for the administration of the Scheme from time to time

AARHEZFEAREZEZTEABTEZEIMA LHEFERE (BTRER - fHxR{ER])
a trust deed to be entered into between the Company and the Trustee (as restated,
supplemented and amended from time to time) in respect of the appointment of
the Trustee for the administration of the Scheme
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[MEFERn |

“Trust Share(s)”

[ LAt

“Unlisted Share(s)”

i
‘Usp”

[YHOO1]
“YHOO1"

['YHOO02]

“YH002"

['YH003]
“YH003"

['YHO004 ]

“YHO04"

['YHOO06 ]
“YHO06"

['YH008 ]
“YHO008"

['YHO09]

“YH009"

[YHO10]
“YH010”

Definition

REERBRD  XEATBARRBEES BN FREANR TS LBANER
H AR DA % B 5% 25 H i A8 B8 O R AR AR 1) AL AR

any H Share purchased by the Trustee on the market out of cash arranged to be
paid by the Company out of the Company’s funds to the Trustee, together with in
each case any scrip Shares or bonus Shares referable to those H Shares, for the
purposes of settlement of the Awarded Shares

ARABETHERAEBARBE1.0THEBER VMNEREEFGUAAREAINEE R B
SRR BN BN EMELRR S EH) RNER

ordinary share(s) issued by our Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.0 each,
which is/are subscribed for or credited as paid in a currency other than Renminbi,
held by foreign investors and not listed on any stock exchange, and Domestic
Shares

EREEEEBET
United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

YHOO1 B EHANRIEIMCTLA-4 IgG1 B R fEfEE
YHOO1 is a recombinant humanized anti-CTLA-4 IgG1 monoclonal antibody

YH0022 —1EAATEOX40X B8 B3I M EHR ARILIgG1 18
YHO0O02 is a recombinant humanized IgG1 antibody that targets the human OX40
receptor

YHO03 2 —EE A AR HEB AR DL E401gG2 B R FE T EE
YHO003 is a recombinant, humanized agonistic anti- Cluster of Differentiation 40
IgG2 monoclonal antibody

YH004 = — & AR1E1gG1414-1BBEEN |
YHO004 is a humanized IgG1 anti-4-1BB Agonists

YH006 28 & & B2 BH CTLA-4/OX40 & Fr 2 1 471 88
YHO0O06 is a CTLA-4/0OX40 bi-specific antibody for the treatment of solid tumors

YHO08 2 JAEE AR FPD-1/CD40E 2 H s
YHOO08 is an anti-PD-1/CD 40 bi-specific antibody for the treatment of solid tumors

YHOOORA AR EAMBEL — AN ERERE - 7] ANEN TUARRSVER
YHOO09 is an innovative monoclonal antibody that the Company is developing for
the prevention and treatment of RSV infection

YHO10 2R BB REEA 2 AJRPD-L1/IL- 128 2 g

YHO10 is a fully human PD-L1/IL-12 bi-specific antibody for the treatment of solid
tumors

BREE(LR)BEMNEROERLIE —T--FF5H
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Definition

['YHO12] % [YHO13]
“YHO12" and “YH013"

[ FRERAK & 555
“Zhaoyin Chengzhang Qihao”

[ R RIS

“Zhaoyin Chengzhang Shijiuhao”

[ AR RARE |
“Zhaoyin Langyao”

[4-1BB]

“4-1BB”

- XS]]

* For identification purpose only

YHO12 & YHO132F fIHIRenLite F £ FEMMEEFEIEADC @ HAEIANEERRE
YHO012 and YHO13 are two bi-specific ADCs developed using our RenlLite platform,
which are intended for the treatment of solid tumor

BIEKREFIRE ORI AR EE (BRER)
Zhaoyin Chengzhang Qihao Investment (Shenzhen) Partnership (Limited
Partnership)

RYTRIBKRARFREREE SR RE (BERER)
Shenzhen Zhaoyin Chengzhang Shijiuhao Equity Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership)

YT RBREREESABEE (BRAR)
Shenzhen Zhaoyin Langyao Growth Equity Investment Fund Partnership (L.P.)

EECTARERNKARRENTE Al EEHFBEREETARS A RFE - BEH
MR R I B B T A RS IR T 4R AR

a receptor expressed on activated T cells and NK cells which gives costimulatory
signals to promote T cell division and survival, activate cytotoxic effects and help
form memory T cells

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2022
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Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing)

Co., Ltd.*
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DB

http://www.biocytogen.com.cn

REEBEER

% 0 010-56967601
f5H : 010-56967666-8067
W : ir@bbctg.com.cn

DNFEH

Corporate Information

CHINESE NAME
BREEE () BEMERHERAF

ENGLISH NAME

Biocytogen Pharmaceuticals (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*

LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE
Dr. Shen Yuelei

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Dr. Shen Yuelei

HEAD OFFICES AND PRINCIPLE PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA

12 Baoshen South Street

Daxing Bio-Medicine Industry Park
Daxing District, Beijing

PRC

REGISTERED OFFICE

12 Baoshen South Street

Daxing Bio-Medicine Industry Park
Daxing District, Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Center
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.biocytogen.com.cn

CONTACT INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

Tel.: 010-56967601
Fax: 010-56967666-8067
Email: ir@bbctg.com.cn
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Shen Yuelei
(Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and General Manager)
Dr. Ni Jian
Dr. Zhang Haichao (Senior Operation Director of Animal Center)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Yiliang
Dr. Zhou Kexiang
Ms. Zhang Leidi

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hua Fengmao
Dr. Yu Changyuan
Ms. Liang Xiaoyan

SUPERVISORS

Ms. Li Yan
Ms. Sun Chunli
Dr. Yao Jiawei

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Liang Xiaoyan (Chairman)
Mr. Hua Fengmao

Dr. Yu Changyuan

Mr. Wei Yiliang

REMUNERATION AND EVALUATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Hua Fengmao (Chairman)
Ms. Liang Xiaoyan

Dr. Yu Changyuan

Dr. Ni Jian
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Yu Changyuan (Chairman)
Mr. Hua Fengmao

Ms. Liang Xiaoyan

Dr. Shen Yuelei

NEER

Corporate Information

STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Dr. Shen Yuelei (Chairman)
Dr. Zhou Kexiang

Mr. Wei Yiliang

Ms. Zhang Leidi

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wang Yongliang

Ms. Au Wai Ching (associate member of The Hong Kong

Chartered Governance Institute and The

Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Shen Yuelei
Ms. Au Wai Ching

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Construction Bank Beijing Economic and Technological

Development Zone Sub-branch
No. 2, Jingyuan North Street
Daxing District

Beijing, PRC

China Merchants Bank, Beijing Yizhuang Sub-branch

1/F, Building 8, Libao Plaza
No. 8 Ronghua Middle Road
Daxing District

Beijing, PRC
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B 134X 5%

02315

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Guotai Junan Capital Limited
27/F, Low Block

Grand Millennium Plaza

181 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS TO HONG KONG LAW

Davis Polk & Wardwell

10th Floor, The Hong Kong Club Building

3A Chater Road, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
02315
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